

DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME

Cristina Valle Hita

ADVERTIMENT. L'accés als continguts d'aquesta tesi doctoral i la seva utilització ha de respectar els drets de la persona autora. Pot ser utilitzada per a consulta o estudi personal, així com en activitats o materials d'investigació i docència en els termes establerts a l'art. 32 del Text Refós de la Llei de Propietat Intel·lectual (RDL 1/1996). Per altres utilitzacions es requereix l'autorització prèvia i expressa de la persona autora. En qualsevol cas, en la utilització dels seus continguts caldrà indicar de forma clara el nom i cognoms de la persona autora i el títol de la tesi doctoral. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció o altres formes d'explotació efectuades amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva comunicació pública des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX. Tampoc s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant als continguts de la tesi com als seus resums i índexs.

ADVERTENCIA. El acceso a los contenidos de esta tesis doctoral y su utilización debe respetar los derechos de la persona autora. Puede ser utilizada para consulta o estudio personal, así como en actividades o materiales de investigación y docencia en los términos establecidos en el art. 32 del Texto Refundido de la Ley de Propiedad Intelectual (RDL 1/1996). Para otros usos se requiere la autorización previa y expresa de la persona autora. En cualquier caso, en la utilización de sus contenidos se deberá indicar de forma clara el nombre y apellidos de la persona autora y el título de la tesis doctoral. No se autoriza su reproducción u otras formas de explotación efectuadas con fines lucrativos ni su comunicación pública desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR. Tampoco se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al contenido de la tesis como a sus resúmenes e índices.

WARNING. Access to the contents of this doctoral thesis and its use must respect the rights of the author. It can be used for reference or private study, as well as research and learning activities or materials in the terms established by the 32nd article of the Spanish Consolidated Copyright Act (RDL 1/1996). Express and previous authorization of the author is required for any other uses. In any case, when using its content, full name of the author and title of the thesis must be clearly indicated. Reproduction or other forms of for profit use or public communication from outside TDX service is not allowed. Presentation of its content in a window or frame external to TDX (framing) is not authorized either. These rights affect both the content of the thesis and its abstracts and indexes.



Dietary factors and kidney function: insights from a population of older Mediterranean adults with overweight or obesity and metabolic syndrome





DOCTORAL THESIS 2024

Cristina Valle Hita

Dietary factors and kidney function: insights from a population of older Mediterranean adults with overweight or obesity and metabolic syndrome

DOCTORAL THESIS

Thesis supervised by Dr. Nancy Babio, Dr. Nerea Becerra-Tomás, and Dr. Andrés Díaz-López



UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA i VIRGILI

Human Nutrition Unit Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology Rovira i Virgili University Reus, Tarragona 2024



Nancy Elvira Babio Sánchez, Associate Professor at the Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology of Rovira i Virgili University. 2017

Nerea Becerra-Tomás, Distinguished Researcher (Beatriz Galindo) at the Department of Basic Medical Sciences of Rovira i Virgili University.

Andrés Díaz-López, Serra Húnter Tenure - Eligible Lecturer at the Department of Basic Medical Sciences of Rovira i Virgili University,

I STATE:

That the present study, entitled "Dietary factors and kidney function: insights from a population of older Mediterranean adults with overweight or obesity and metabolic syndrome", presented by Cristina Valle Hita for the award of the degree of Doctor, has been carried out under my supervision at the Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology of this university and it is currently up for an international distinction.

Reus, 3rd of April 2024

Dr. Nancy Elvira Babio Sánchez Human Nutrition Unit Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology Rovira i Virgili University Dr. Nerea Becerra-Tomás Nutrition and Mental Health Basic Medical Sciences (NUTRISAM) Rovira i Virgili University Dr. Andrés Díaz-López Nutrition and Mental Health Basic Medical Sciences (NUTRISAM) Rovira i Virgili University

Doctoral Thesis Supervisors

> A mis pilares fundamentales, quienes me enseñaron a volar, mi madre y mi padre

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Después de estos casi cuatro años, podría decir que la tesis doctoral ha sido como subir a una montaña rusa, con subidas, bajadas y mil emociones diferentes a lo largo del trayecto. Echando la vista atrás, creo que esta experiencia no sólo me ha hecho crecer a nivel profesional, sino que también, y podría ser que incluso más, a nivel personal. Ha sido así, en gran parte, gracias a las personas que han estado a mi lado durante estos años, literalmente a unos centímetros, o a varios (bastantes) kilómetros de distancia. Sin lugar a dudas, no podría haber llegado hasta aquí sin ese apoyo. Por lo que no quería dejar pasar la oportunidad de agradeceros en estas páginas el que me hayáis acompañado en esta emocionante e intensa atracción que ha sido el doctorado. Muchas gracias a todos y todas por haber estado ahí.

Me gustaría comenzar agradeciendo a mis directoras y director de tesis, la Dra. Nancy Babio, la Dra. Nerea Becerra y el Dr. Andrés Díaz, por haber confiado en mi para realizar este trabajo, por el esfuerzo en la dirección de esta tesis y por haberme guiado en el proceso, cuando apenas conocía STATA o como escribir un artículo científico. Sois un ejemplo a seguir de perseverancia y esfuerzo. Gracias por vuestro apoyo, paciencia y consejos, tanto profesionales como personales, por lo que me habéis enseñado y por haberme transmitido vuestra grandísima pasión por la nutrición, la investigación y la enseñanza. Para continuar, me gustaría extender mi agradecimiento al jefe del grupo el Prof. Jordi Salas. Gràcies por haberme acogido en tu grupo de investigación y haberme permitido trabajar en el estudio PREDIMED-Plus. A pesar de no haber sido mi director de tesis, siempre he contado con tu valiosa opinión. Tu dedicación por la ciencia y tu apoyo a la figura del dietista-nutricionista en la ciencia y en la clínica durante todos estos años es de admirar.

Continuaré agradeciendo a todos mis compañeros y compañeras de la Unitat de Nutrició, la *HNU* para nosotros, con los que he compartido el día a día durante estos intensos años. Gracias por, de una manera u otra, haberme ayudado a superar mis momentos de agobios (que no han sido pocos), y por todos los momentos compartidos de cafés, quedadas, comilonas y muchísimas risas. Sin duda, habéis contribuido a que esta experiencia haya sido más agradable. ¡Mil gracias! A María, por haberme aguantado no sólo en el trabajo, sino también en el piso, por tu apoyo y tantos momentos compartidos, sobre todo de risas (de esas que llevan incluida alguna *gotica* de pis). Irse lejos de casa puede resultar duro a veces, especialmente cuando no conoces a nadie, gracias a ti fue más fácil. A Sara y Susana, por tener un detector de cómo me siento, por vuestras palabras y abrazos que siempre me han hecho sentir como en casa. A Júlia, por haberme adentrado en el *peligroso* mundo del crossfit, por haber seguido ahí apoyándome y animándome a pesar de la distancia. A María Pascual, por ser la *millor* compi de mesa, por tus consejos, tus clases exprés de nutrición y catalá, y las risas entre medias. A María Ángeles e Indira. Que suerte he

tenido de compartir el despacho con vosotras. Gracias por vuestro apoyo durante toda la tesis, especialmente este último año, incluso cuando estuve de estancia. Vuestros consejos y abrazos, así como ser espectadora de vuestra dedicación y esfuerzo, han contribuido a que mi motivación no se bajara del carro. A Jesús, por tus consejos y el efecto tranquilizante de tu *no te preocupes*. A Santi, por las *charletas*, tus ayudas estadísticas y las tantísimas risas. A Jiaqi, por los ratitos gestionando prácticas, las dudas, estadísticas y no estadísticas, y todas las risas. A Hernando, por ser un gran apoyo, por hacerme reír tanto. A Irene y Nadine, por las conversaciones y tener siempre una sonrisa para mí. Thanks to Steph and Sangeetha, for being so kind to me, for your help and wisdom. A Tany, Claudia, Adrián, Estefanía, Carlos, Carles, Claudia M, Sonia, Pablo, Silvia, Leyre y Laia por algún que otro momento y charla compartida, de la cual estoy segura me habéis enseñado algo.

Una de las grandes experiencias que he vivido durante el doctorado ha sido la estancia en Dinamarca. Moltes gràcies a la Dra. Marta Guasch, por haberlo hecho posible acogiéndome en tu grupo de investigación, por haber confiado en mí, por las enseñanzas y oportunidades durante esos meses y a posteriori. Thank you to all the wonderful people I met in the EPI section, for being so kind and helpful. Especialmente me gustaría agradecer a Marta Trius, gràcies por tu paciencia, incluso antes de llegar a Copenhague, por haber cuidado de mí, esos meses, y hacer el día a día ameno y divertido. Tampoco me puedo olvidar del grupito de doctorandas, Lorena, Marta, Alicia e Irene. Si esta experiencia se me hizo tan fugaz fue también gracias a vosotras.

No me gustaría dejar de agradecer a las personas que he ido conociendo en la FMCS y en el Hospital Sant Joan de Reus durante estos años, las cuales han aportado algo a mi persona en mayor o menor medida en ese tiempo. Una mención especial va para Anna Varela. Gràcies por tu apoyo, tu sentido del humor y enseñanzas durante mis primeros años como doctoranda. También a Youssef por las risas, los cafés y los *carrot cakes* compartidos. A Alicia, por las quedadas, tu risa contagiosa, y tus ánimos. A Blanca, por los ratitos compartidos, por escucharme y aconsejarme.

Mi vida en Reus no habría sido ni de lejos igual sin los entrenos en Crossfit Lambda y las personas tan geniales que he podido conocer allí. Agradecer a los *coaches*, por vuestra atención y consejos, que casi siempre se podían aplicar más allá del deporte. Especialmente me gustaría agradecer a mis *papis adoptivos*, Eva y David, al mejor combo mami e hija, Toñi y Anna, y a Daniela. Haberos conocido ha sido una suerte enorme. Gracias por ser la mejor compañía de sudor (¿O lágrimas? No lo tengo aún claro), de *gym* y de *ñam*, por haber llenado mis días de risas y de momentos para recordar, sobre todo esos días que tenían alguna *nubecilla* de más.

También me gustaría extender estos agradecimientos a Laura Ruiz, una gran profesional. Gracias por tu paciencia, por acompañarme en el proceso, por todas las herramientas que me has ido enseñando, por tu tiempo, que en más de una ocasión ha traspasado las sesiones, y que valoro mucho.

En esta última parte, quiero agradecer a esas personitas que, a pesar de la distancia, las he sentido muy cerca. A lo mejor que me dio Granada y Madrid, mis amigas Meris, Fany, Helena, Giulia, Gal·la, Pilar y Liz. Gracias por haberme dado fuerzas, por haberme impulsado a seguir, por haber descolgado el teléfono siempre que lo he necesitado, porque a pesar de que no nos vemos tanto como queremos, cuando quedamos me recargáis las pilas. A Lucía, por además haber ilustrado tan increíblemente la portada de esta tesis.

A mis amigas de toda la vida, Marta y Ana, por haber estado y seguir estando tras todos estos años. Por seguirme allá donde vaya, por vuestra opinión sincera y ser un hombro donde apoyarme. ¡Ah! Y por vuestra enorme paciencia, porque mantenerme al día de lo que pasa en *Guada,* para que se me olvide un poco después, no debe ser nada fácil. A Carlos, Zule, Elena, María y Marta, por preocuparos por mí, por hacerme reír, ya sea a la distancia o cada vez que vuelvo a casa, por apoyarme y escuchar mis rollos sobre nutrición.

A toda mi familia, por vuestro apoyo, porque, a pesar de que no teníais claro que hacía todavía en la universidad, siempre habéis tenido oídos para mí. Me gustaría dedicar especialmente el esfuerzo destinado en la elaboración de esta tesis a dos mujeres que han sido, y serán, ejemplos de fortaleza para mí, mis abuelas. Os echo de menos, ojalá pudierais presenciar como concluye esta etapa, seguro estaríais orgullosas. Por último, mi mayor agradecimiento va dirigido a las personas más importantes de mi vida, mis padres. Gracias por vuestro apoyo incondicional desde que me trajisteis al planeta tierra, por todas las oportunidades que he tenido gracias a vosotros, por vuestro esfuerzo para cuidarme, guiarme y respetarme, por ser el pilar principal que me sostiene en momentos de viento y lluvia. No os lo digo demasiado, pero que quede aquí, jos quiero *una jartá*!

Para finalizar, esta tesis no hubiera sido posible sin la buena voluntad de todos los participantes de los estudios en los que he estado involucrada durante el doctorado: los estudios PREDIMED-Plus, Led-Fertyl y DNBC, así como sin el apoyo de todas las fuentes de financiación. Es por ello que me gustaría concluir dándoles mi más sincero agradecimiento.

ABBREVIATIONS

A

ACEIs, Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors ARBs, Angiotensin receptor blockers

B

BMI, Body mass index

С

CIs, Confidence intervals CKD, Chronic kidney disease CKD-EPI, Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration CVD, Cardiovascular disease CysC, Cystatin C

D

DASH, Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension

Ε

eGFR, Estimated glomerular filtration rate erMedDiet, Energy-reduced Mediterranean diet

F

FFQ, Food frequency questionnaire

G

g/d, grams per day GFR, Glomerular filtration rate

Η

HDL-C, High-density lipoprotein-cholesterol HRs, Hazard Ratios

K

KDIGO, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes **kg**, kilograms

L

LDL-C, Low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol

Μ

m, meters

MDRD, Modification of Diet in Renal Disease

MedDiet, Mediterranean Diet

MET, Metabolic equivalent of task

MetS, Metabolic syndrome

\mathbf{N}

NEAP, Net endogenous acid production

0

ORs, Odd Ratios

Р

PREDIMED-Plus, PREvención con Dieta MEDiterránea Plus study

PRAL, Potential renal acid load

R

RAAS, Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

S

SCr, Serum creatinine

Т

T2D, Type 2 diabetes

U

UARC, Urinary albumin/creatinine ratio **UPF,** Ultra-processed food

W

WHO, World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

English

The gradual deterioration of kidney function can eventually lead to chronic kidney disease (CKD), an emerging public health concern affecting approximately 9-13% of the worldwide population. The significant morbidity and mortality associated with CKD, closely related to cardiovascular disease, as well as the high socioeconomic and healthcare burden emphasize its importance as a critical global health problem. Several lifestyle behaviors have been suggested as modifiable risk factors for CKD, especially dietary habits, that appear to play an important role in kidney function. In fact, healthy dietary patterns have been associated with better levels of kidney function, as determined by the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR). However, there has been a recent global shift towards a greater consumption of a Western diet, characterized by a high consumption of ultra-processed foods (UPF), which may contribute to an increase in the dietary acid load. This change in diet has been related to the worldwide progressive increase in non-communicable diseases, including CKD. Unfortunately, scientific evidence specifically focused on the impact of diet on populations at high risk of developing CKD, such as people of older age with underlying comorbid conditions, is relatively limited.

The principal objective of this thesis was to assess the association between certain modifiable dietary factors - dietary patterns, dietary acid load, and UPF - and kidney function in an older adult population with overweight or obesity and metabolic syndrome (MetS). The current dissertation was conducted within the frame of the PREvención con DIeta MEDiterránea-Plus (PREDIMED-Plus) study, an ongoing parallel-group, multi-center, randomized controlled clinical trial conducted in Spain for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. The different statistical analyses were performed using data from this study as if it was an observational prospective cohort study.

The results of the current doctoral research showed a statistically significant association between changes towards a greater adherence to the 17-item energy-reduced Mediterranean Diet (erMedDiet) score and higher eGFR after one-year of follow-up, together with lower odds of eGFR decline. However, the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) score was not significantly associated with eGFR, and the Protein Diet Score was negatively associated. In addition, dietary acid load was associated with the two primary markers of kidney function. After one-year of follow-up, higher potential renal acid load (PRAL) index was associated with lower eGFR levels as well as higher odds of eGFR decline, and urinary albumin/creatinine ratio increase, whereas net endogenous acid production (NEAP) index was only associated with eGFR. Finally, there was also a statistically significant inverse association between UPF consumption and eGFR at baseline and over 3-years of follow-up.

In conclusion, the findings of this thesis support the potential benefits of a Mediterranean diet on kidney function in older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS. In addition, the results suggest that higher dietary acid load and consumption of UPF might contribute to the deterioration of kidney function. Further long-term and interventional studies are warranted to confirm our findings before they can be incorporated into future dietary guidelines for the prevention of CKD.

Castellano

El deterioro progresivo de la función renal puede conducir con el tiempo a la enfermedad renal crónica (ERC), un problema de salud pública emergente que afecta alrededor del 9-13% de la población mundial. Su gran morbilidad y mortalidad, estrechamente relacionada a la enfermedad cardiovascular, así como su alta carga socio-económica y sanitaria, resalta su importancia como un problema de salud global crítico. Varios hábitos de vida han sido sugeridos como factores de riesgo modificables para la ERC, especialmente hábitos dietéticos, que parecen desempeñar un papel esencial en la función renal. De hecho, algunos patrones dietéticos saludables se han asociado con mejoras en la función renal, determinada a través de tasa de filtración glomerular estimada (TFGe). No obstante, recientemente se ha producido un cambio mundial hacia un mayor consumo de una dieta tipo occidental, rica en alimentos ultra-procesados (AUP), que podrían contribuir al incremento de la carga ácida de la dieta. Este cambio en la dieta se ha relacionado con el aumento progresivo a nivel mundial de las enfermedades no transmisibles, entre las cuales se incluye la ERC. Desafortunadamente, la evidencia científica centrada específicamente en el impacto de la dieta en poblaciones con alto riesgo de desarrollar ERC, como las personas mayores con comorbilidades asociadas, es relativamente limitada.

El objetivo principal de esta tesis fue evaluar las asociaciones entre ciertos factores dietéticos modificables (patrones dietéticos, la carga ácida de la dieta y los AUP) y la función renal en una población de adultos mayores con sobrepeso u obesidad y síndrome metabólico (SM). La presente tesis se llevó a cabo en el contexto del estudio *PREvención con DIeta MEDiterránea-Plus* (PREDIMED-Plus), un ensayo clínico paralelo, controlado, aleatorizado y multicéntrico llevado a cabo en España para la prevención primaria de las enfermedades cardiovasculares. Se realizaron múltiples análisis estadísticos utilizando los datos de este estudio como si se tratara de un estudio de cohortes prospectivo observacional.

Los resultados de la presente investigación doctoral mostraron una asociación estadísticamente significativa entre los cambios hacia una mayor adherencia a la dieta Mediterránea (17-item erMedDiet) y una mayor TFGe después de un año de seguimiento, así como también, una menor probabilidad de declive en la TFGe. Sin embargo, la dieta DASH (*Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension*) no se asoció significativamente con la TFGe y la puntuación de dieta proteica (*Protein Diet Score*) se asoció negativamente. Además, la carga ácida de la dieta se asoció con los dos marcadores principales de la función renal. Después de un año de seguimiento, un índice más alto de PRAL (*potential renal acid load*) se asoció con

niveles más bajos de la TFGe, así como con mayores probabilidades de declive en la TFGe y de incremento del cociente de albúmina creatinina en orina. En cambio, el índice NEAP (*net endogenous acid production*) solo se asoció con los resultados relacionados con la TFGe. Finalmente, también se observó una asociación estadísticamente significativa e inversa entre el consumo de AUP y la TFGe al inicio del estudio y durante los 3 primeros años de seguimiento.

En conclusión, los hallazgos de esta tesis apoyan los posibles beneficios de la dieta Mediterránea sobre la función renal en adultos mayores con sobrepeso u obesidad y SM. Asimismo, los resultados apuntan a que una mayor carga ácida de la dieta y el consumo de AUP podrían contribuir al deterioro de la función de los riñones. Sin embargo, se necesitan más estudios de seguimiento a largo plazo y estudios de intervención para confirmar estos hallazgos, previo a que puedan ser incorporados en las guías dietéticas para la prevención de la ERC.

Català

El deteriorament progressiu de la funció renal pot conduir amb el temps a la malaltia renal crònica (MRC), un problema de salut pública emergent que afecta al voltant del 9-13% de la població mundial. La seva gran morbiditat i mortalitat, estretament relacionada a la malaltia cardiovascular, així com la seva alta càrrega socioeconòmica i sanitària, ressalta la seva importància com un problema de salut global crític. Diversos hàbits de vida han estat suggerits com a factors de risc modificables per a la MRC, especialment hàbits dietètics, que semblen exercir un paper essencial en la funció renal. De fet, alguns patrons dietètics saludables s'associen amb millores en la funció renal, determinats a través de la taxa de filtració glomerular estimada (TFGe). No obstant això, recentment hi ha hagut un canvi mundial cap a un major consum d'una dieta tipus occidental, rica en aliments ultra-processats (AUP), que podrien contribuir a un increment de la càrrega àcida de la dieta. Aquest canvi en la dieta s'ha relacionat amb l'augment progressiu a nivell mundial de les malalties no transmissibles, entre les quals s'inclou la MRC. Malauradament, l'evidència científica centrada específicament en l'impacte de la dieta en poblacions amb alt risc de desenvolupar MRC, com les persones majors amb comorbiditats associades, és relativament limitada.

L'objectiu principal d'aquesta tesi va ser avaluar les associacions entre certs factors dietètics modificables (patrons dietètics, la càrrega àcida de la dieta i els AUP) i la funció renal en una població d'adults majors amb sobrepès o obesitat i síndrome metabòlica (SM). La present tesi es va dur a terme en el context de l'estudi *PREvención con DIeta MEDiterránea-Plus* (PREDIMED-Plus), un assaig clínic paral·lel, controlat, aleatoritzat i multicèntric dut a terme a Espanya per a la prevenció primària de les malalties cardiovasculars. Es van realitzar múltiples anàlisis estadístiques utilitzant les dades d'aquest estudi com si es tractés d'un estudi de cohorts prospectiu observacional.

Els resultats de la present tesi doctoral van mostrar una associació estadísticament significativa entre els canvis cap a una major adherència a la dieta Mediterrània (17-item erMedDiet) i una major TFGe al cap d'un any de seguiment, així com també, amb una menor probabilitat de declivi en la TFGe. No obstant això, la dieta DASH (*Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension*) no es va associar significativament amb la TFGe i la puntuació de la dieta proteica (*Protein Diet Score*) es va associar negativament. A més, la càrrega àcida de la dieta es va associar amb els dos marcadors principals de la funció renal. Al cap d'un any de seguiment, un índex més alt de PRAL (*potential renal acid load*) es va associar amb nivells més baixos de la TFGe, així com amb majors probabilitats de declivi en la TFGe i d'increment del quocient

d'albúmina creatinina en orina. En canvi, l'índex NEAP (*net endogenous acid production*) només es va associar amb els resultats relacionats amb la TFGe. Finalment, també es va observar una associació estadísticament significativa i inversa entre el consum de AUP i la TFGe a l'inici de l'estudi i durant els 3 primers anys de seguiment.

En conclusió, els resultats d'aquesta tesi donen suport als possibles beneficis de la dieta Mediterrània sobre la funció renal en adults majors amb sobrepès o obesitat i SM. Així mateix, els resultats apunten al fet que una major càrrega àcida de la dieta i el consum d'AUP podrien contribuir al deteriorament de la funció dels ronyons. No obstant això, es necessiten més estudis de seguiment a llarg termini i estudis d'intervenció per a confirmar aquests resultats, previ al fet que puguin ser incorporats en les guies dietètiques per a la prevenció de la MRC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION	29
1. Chronic kidney disease	29
1.1. Definition and diagnosis of chronic kidney disease	29
1.1.1. Glomerular filtration rate	30
1.1.2. Urinary albumin/creatinine ratio	32
1.2. Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease	33
1.3. Physiopathology of chronic kidney disease	34
1.4. CKD as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, anemia, and mineral and	d bone
disorder	36
2. Risk factors for chronic kidney disease	
2.1. Non-modifiable risk factors	38
2.1.1. Genetic factors and family history	38
2.1.2. Ethnicity	39
2.1.3. Age	39
2.1.4. Sex	40
2.1.5. Low birth weight	41
2.2. Modifiable risk factors	
2.2.1. Obesity	41
2.2.2. Diabetes mellitus	42
2.2.3. Hypertension	43
2.2.4. Smoking	44
2.2.5. Physical activity	45
2.2.6. Dietary habits	45
3. A focus on dietary components related to kidney function and CKD	47
3.1. Dietary patterns	47
3.2. Dietary acid load	49
3.3. Ultra-processed food	51
II. JUSTIFICATION	57
III. HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS	61
IV. MATERIAL AND METHODS	65
1. The PREDIMED-Plus study	65

1.1. Main objective of the PREDIMED-Plus study 65
1.2. Study design
2. Study population for the analyses
2.1. Study design and participant selection
2.2. Data collection
2.2.1. Dietary assessment
2.2.2. Ascertainment of the kidney function
2.2.3. Assessment of other lifestyle and clinical variables71
3. Statistical analyses73
V. RESULTS
1. Chapter 1. Prospective associations between a priori dietary patterns adherence
and kidney function in an elderly Mediterranean population at high
cardiovascular risk79
2. Chapter 2. Longitudinal association of dietary acid load with kidney function
decline in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome
3. Chapter 3. Associations between ultra-processed food consumption and
kidney function in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome 121
VI. DISCUSSION
1. General discussion
2. Strengths and limitations
VII. CONCLUSIONS 147
VIII. GLOBAL AND FUTURE INSIGHTS 151
IX. REFERENCES 155
X. APPENDICES
1. Scientific contributions
2. Participation in national and international conferences
3. Mobility
4. Food frequency questionnaire. PREDIMED-Plus Study

LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 1. The function of the kidneys.
- Figure 2. Prevalence of CKD in Spain by region.
- Figure 3. Anatomy of the kidney and nephron.
- Figure 4. Acid or base-producing potential of specific food.
- Figure 5. The NOVA classification system.
- Figure 6. Design of the PREDIMED-Plus study.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Criteria for CKD diagnosis (either of the following present for a minimum of 3months).

Table 2. Chronic kidney disease prognosis according to categories of GFR and albuminuria.

Table 3. 17-item questionnaire of adherence to an energy-reduced Mediterranean Diet.

Table 4. CKD-EPI equations for estimating glomerular filtration rate according to serum creatinine or cystatin C biomarkers.

Table 5. Data collection in the PREDIMED-plus Study visits.

Table 6. Reference, impact factor, category and journal rank of the publications presented

 in the current doctoral thesis.

I. Introduction



I. INTRODUCTION

The human body is endowed with a pair of kidneys, which are integral components of the renal system, along with the two ureters, the bladder, and the urethra. The kidneys are crucial organs with primary functions (see **Figure 1**) that include maintaining the transport balance of electrolytes and water, preserving essential nutrients, expelling by products of metabolism, and regulating the acid-base balance of the body^{1,2}. Furthermore, kidneys are actively involved in the regulation of blood pressure, the production of erythropoietin, and bone-mineral metabolism³. The impairment of kidney function may give rise to an unstable environment for normal physiological procedures.



Figure 1. The function of the kidneys. Adapted from: Naber T, Purohit S. Chronic Kidney Disease: Role of Diet for a Reduction in the Severity of the Disease. Nutrients. 2021;13(9):3277. doi:10.3390/nu13093277

1. Chronic kidney disease

1.1. Definition and diagnosis of chronic kidney disease

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is defined as "abnormalities of kidney structure or function, present for a minimum of three months, with implications for health", according to the latest update of the Clinical Practice Guidelines for Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease by the Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO)⁴. The established criteria for CKD diagnosis (see **Table 1**) include a decreased glomerular filtration rate (GFR) or evidence of one or more markers of kidney damage⁴.

Criteria	Description	
Decreased GFR	GFR lower than 60 ml/min/1.73m ²	
Markers of kidney damage (one or more)	GFR lower than 60 ml/min/1.73m ² Albuminuria (defined as UARC greater than or equal 30 mg/g or 3 mg/mmol) Persistent hematuria Urine sediment abnormalities Electrolyte and other abnormalities due to tubul disorders Abnormalities detected by histology Structural abnormalities detected by imaging History of kidney transplantation	

Table 1. Criteria for CKD diagnosis (either of the following present for a minimum of 3 months)

Adapted from KDIGO guidelines.

GFR, Glomerular Filtration Rate; UARC, urinary albumin/creatinine ratio.

1.1.1. Glomerular filtration rate

The GFR corresponds to the plasma filtration per unit of time, predominantly executed by nephrons - the functional units of the kidneys². Therefore, the sum of the GFR of each nephron corresponds to the total GFR⁵. Despite the inability to directly measure GFR in clinical practice, this index of kidney function can be easily estimated through equations based on serum levels of endogenous filtration biomarkers, with serum creatinine (SCr) or cystatin C (CysC) being the most frequently used^{6–8}. Both compounds are considered small molecular weight proteins which, under normal kidney function conditions, are generally filtered, reabsorbed, and metabolized by the glomerulus membrane and the tubule - integral structures within the kidneys. Consequently, SCr and CysC have been considered appropriate biomarkers of GFR⁹. However, the estimated GFR equations described later in this section are proposed to be more reliable than using solely the biomarker concentration for kidney function assessment. Hence the estimated GFR method is recommended for assessing kidney function in clinical practice and research settings⁴.

SCr is an amino acid metabolite derived from the breakdown of protein in muscles, as well as from the digestion of dietary proteins. This metabolite circulates throughout total body water, undergoes filtration by the glomerulus, experiences secretion by the tubule, is excreted in the urine, and can also be degraded by gut bacteria⁶.

CysC is a glycosylated low molecular mass protein generated by all nucleated cells of the human body. By contrast, this protein circulates within the extracellular fluid, but it is also filtered by the glomerulus and degraded by the tubule and is minimally excreted in the urine and through other extra-renal pathways^{6,9}. In contrast with SCr, CysC is less affected by

certain factors such as muscle mass, diet, age, and sex. However, glucocorticoids, smoking, thyroid dysfunction, inflammation, and adiposity have been suggested as factors influencing CysC concentrations^{6,9}.

During the last decades, several formulas have been developed for estimating GFR utilizing SCr and/or CysC concentrations. For GFR based on SCr estimation, MDRD (Modification of Diet in Renal Disease) Study and CKD-EPI (Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration) equations are the ones that have currently gathered the most evidence and validation. The MDRD Study equation was initially developed in 1999 and it was improved in 2006. A few years later, in 2009, CKD-EPI SCr equation was created to address the limitations of the MDRD formula. Despite, both equations accounting for SCr concentration, age, sex and ethnicity, the CKD-EPI SCr equation has been demonstrated to be more accurate and presents with less bias than the MDRD Study equation^{6,8,10}. Accordingly, the CKD-EPI SCr equation has been stated as the primary SCr-equation choice, especially in populations from Europe, North America, and Australia⁸. Considering CysC, the CKD- EPI CysC and SCr-CysC equations were developed for the first time in 2012⁶. These equations are based on each corresponding biomarker, age, and sex. Furthermore, ethnicity is also considered in the CKD-EPI SCr-CysC formula. Previous evidence comparing the capacity of all CKD-EPI equations suggests that the CKD-EPI CysC equation is the one which entails less bias and the CKD-EPI SCr-CysC equation is the most accurate in comparison with the singlebiomarkers formulas⁶⁻⁸. Moreover, the CysC-based CKD-EPI equations⁹ have shown to be particularly meaningful in the older adults since this population eventually presents with lower muscle mass and SCr levels¹¹. Nonetheless, in the KDIGO guidelines, it is suggested to use the CKD-EPI SCr equation for the initial estimation of GFR. These guidelines also recommend performing the CKD-EPI SCr-CysC formula when the GFR estimation based on SCr is less accurate (i.e., conditions or diseases contributing to muscle loss) and GFR affects making clinical decisions⁴.

Regarding the levels of GFR, according to the latest report by KDIGO, a threshold of less than 60 ml/min/1.72m² for more than three months has generally been agreed as indicative of decreased kidney function and CKD. KDIGO has classified GFR levels into six groups (see **Table 2**), ranging from normal kidney function to kidney failure⁴.

	Albuminuria			
	(mg/g or mg/mmol)			
CER categories	A1: Normal to mildly	A2: Moderately	A3: Severely increased	
$(m1/min / 1.73m^2)$	inground	increased	(>300 or >30)	
(111/1111/ 1./311-)		$(20 \pm 200 \pm 22 \pm 20)$	(~300 01 ~30)	
	(<30 or <3)	(30 to 300 or 3 to 30)		
Gl:	- · ·	Moderately increased	High	
Normal or high	Low risk	risk	risk	
(≥ 90)				
G2:		Moderately increased	High	
Mildly decreased	Low risk	wielz	r ingli mialz	
(60-89)		r18K	115K	
G3a:				
Mildly to moderately	Moderately increased	High	Very high	
decreased	risk	risk	risk	
(45-59)				
G3b:				
Moderately to severely	High	Very high	Very high	
decreased	risk	risk	risk	
(30-44)				
G4:	T7 1 1 1	X7 1'1	X7 1 1 1	
Severely decreased	Very high	Very high	Very high	
(15 -29)	risk	risk	risk	
G5:				
Kidney failure	Very high	Very high	Very high	
(<15)	risk	risk	risk	
(~15)				

Table 2. Chronic kidney disease prognosis according to categories of GFR and albuminuria

Adapted from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group. KDIGO 2024 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease. Kidney Int. 2024 Apr;105(4S):S117-S314. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2023.10.018. PMID: 38490803.

1.1.2. Urinary albumin/creatinine ratio

Albuminuria is considered an indicator of the severity and progression of kidney damage, reflecting the capacity of the glomerular capillary wall to be permeable to certain macromolecules⁵. Furthermore, albuminuria has been closely linked to cardiovascular disease risk and early diabetic nephropathy¹². Although the measurement of total urinary protein or proteinuria has traditionally been used to assess kidney damage, the significance of albuminuria has increased in recent years, given that albumin is the predominant protein present in urine and its accumulation in the tubules may indicate damage in these structures and even glomerulosclerosis^{5,12} – the scarring of the tiny blood vessels in the kidneys, known as glomeruli². The changeable configuration of the albumin molecule has made it challenging to establish an appropriate approach to evaluate albuminuria. However, urinary albumin/creatinine ratio (UACR) measured in an early morning urine sample has currently become the most recommended method^{5,12}.

Microalbuminuria and *macroalbuminuria* terms have typically been defined as albuminuria between 30-300 mg/dL and greater than 300 mg/dL, respectively¹³. Nevertheless, KDIGO

guidelines discourage the continued use of this terminology in their 2012 report¹⁴. Instead, they have proposed a novel albuminuria classification (see **Table 2**) comprising of three groups: a) normal to mildly, b) moderately, and c) severely increased albuminuria⁴.

Based on both markers, GFR and albuminuria, a well-established classification of the prognosis of CKD (see **Table 2**) was first introduced in the 2012 KDIGO guidelines report¹⁴. Since then, it has been the subject of various reviews and studies^{5,15–18}. In fact, this classification has been maintained in the recent updated KDIGO report of 2024⁴. The level of risk of CKD is thereby determined by the six GFR categories and the three albuminuria categories. Furthermore, whether the cause of the disease is a primary kidney disease or a systemic disease should also be considered for this prognosis classification^{4,14}.

1.2. Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease

CKD represents a substantial global health concern. It has been suggested that, over the last decade, the number of individuals affected by this disease ranges from approximately 9 to 13% of people worldwide. This implies that globally around 700 million to one billion individuals have CKD^{19–22}. When examining CKD stages, categories G1 and G2 combined with A2 or A3 are the most prevalent, accounting for approximately 5%, followed by stages G3a and G3b, which present a prevalence of approximately 4%²¹. In 2017, it was also reported that CKD appeared to be more prevalent in women than in men²¹. Nevertheless, this sex difference was not observed in a recent study focused on estimating CKD across 11 countries around the world²⁰. Additionally, in this study, the average age for individuals with this chronic disease was estimated to be between 74 and 75 years²⁰.

Estimates of mortality attributable to CKD stand at around 7.6%^{20,21}. In the global list of causes of death, CKD has climbed from being the 36th leading cause in 1990¹⁹ to the 11th in 2017⁴. Subsequently, it has been estimated that this disease will occupy the 5th place on the mortality risk list by 2040^{19,21,23}. It is worth mentioning that this epidemiological information should be taken with caution, as the definition of CKD may vary among studies. However, regardless of the precision with which CKD prevalence is understood, it still poses a significant burden on healthcare systems, particularly when CKD progresses to an advanced stage, needing expensive and complex treatments such as dialysis or kidney transplantation²⁰.

This becomes particularly significant since, during the early years of CKD, individuals often do not experience any symptoms, and treatments or preventive measures are lacking. In fact, it has been estimated that only 10% of individuals with CKD are aware of their condition^{4,24}. Therefore, by the time symptoms begin to appear, the disease is so advanced that it requires kidney replacement therapy^{3,4}.

In the Spanish context, the prevalence of CKD has been estimated to be approximately 15%, which corresponds to one in seven adults²⁵, surpassing the global estimate. According to the 2020 survey conducted by the *Instituto Nacional de Estadística* (INE, the National Statistical Institute), CKD affects 279.9 thousand people in Spain, with women being more affected than men. The regions with the highest prevalence were observed to be Catalunya, Andalusia, and the Valencian Community (see **Figure 2**)²⁶.

Figure 2. Prevalence of CKD in Spain by region. Source: Instituto Nacional de Estadística (INE, National Statistical Institute of Spain). Encuesta de discapacidad, autonomía personal y situaciones de dependencia (Survey on disability, personal autonomy and situations of dependency). 2020



The 2023 INE report on mortality by cause of death estimated that kidney impairment contributed to 8,117 deaths in 2020²⁷. Additionally, CKD is expected to represent the second major cause of mortality in Spain within the next 60-70 years²⁸. Furthermore, it has been reported that Spain is one of the European countries with the highest hospital healthcare costs for CKD²⁰.

1.3. Physiopathology of chronic kidney disease

In brief, CKD physiopathology could be summarized as progressive decline in kidney function due to a disruption of the self-regulation mechanisms targeted at protecting the kidneys. For a better understanding of these mechanisms, which have been extensively described in previous scientific literature^{3,29}, it would be crucial to consider the structure and anatomy of the kidney and nephron (see **Figure 3**).



Figure 3. Anatomy of the kidney and nephron. Adapted from: NIH: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases

The damage of the kidney's structures can be initiated by sustained inflammatory or immune reactions, exogenous toxic substances, and endogenous compounds including glucose and certain proteins, as well as specific kidney conditions such as genetic defects^{3,29,30}. Consequently, the injured nephrons are unable to perform their usual function, and the remaining `survivor' nephrons will take over, leading to their hypertrophy and a status of hyperfiltration. An increase in the arterial pressure within the nephrons will follow, causing damage to the glomerular structure and podocytes^{30–32} – the specialized epithelial cells that constitute the glomerular basement membrane, and play an essential role in the glomerular filtration barrier³³. Finally, the compromised filtration system, deposition of the extracellular matrix, nephron sclerosis, and loss of kidney function become evident^{30–32}.

Therefore, the progression of kidney disease is marked by kidney inflammation, reduced capillary vascularization, tubular atrophy, and, most significantly, glomerulosclerosis and tubulointerstitial fibrosis. These histopathological changes ultimately lead to end-stage kidney disease³.

Glomerulosclerosis, characterized as the scarring of the glomerulus, has been linked to the injury and loss of function of endothelial cells, which, along with the glomerular basement membrane, form the glomerular filtration barrier. Moreover, podocyte damage, alterations in their actin cytoskeleton, and their detachment or apoptosis are also considered contributors to glomerulosclerosis. Matrix production and accumulation by mesangial cells -
stromal contractile cells within the glomerulus of the kidneys³⁴, are further suggested to be factors in this process³.

Tubulointerstitial fibrosis can be defined as the excessive accumulation of extracellular matrix in the interstitial space of the kidney's tubule. This process involves the release of chemotactic factors, infiltration of inflammatory cells, activation of fibroblasts and pericytes, generation and activation of myofibroblasts, excessive production of extracellular matrix, defects in its degradation and over-deposition in the interstitium, tubular apoptosis and atrophy, microvascular rarefaction, culminating in kidney dysfunction³.

Some of the signaling cascades and molecules that have been detected as taking part in the physiopathology of CKD, include the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System (RAAS), oxidative stress, TGF- β , Wnt– β -catenin pathway, mTOR signaling, microRNAs and hypoxia-induced factor³. The RAAS may deserve special attention as angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) are nowadays commonly prescribed for kidney disease^{35,36}. Aldosterone and angiotensin II appear to be related to pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidant processes, generation of extracellular matrix, and dysfunction of the endothelium. In addition, angiotensin II is a known vasoconstrictor which can contribute to glomerular hypertension. Hence, RAAS is intricately linked to tubulointerstitial fibrosis, kidney dysfunction, and CKD^{3,29,32}.

1.4. CKD as a risk factor for Cardiovascular Disease, Anemia, and Mineral and Bone Disorder

According to the WHO, cardiovascular disease (CVD) is considered the primary cause of mortality worldwide and encompasses a group of disorders affecting the blood circulatory system, involving the heart and blood vessels³⁷. It has been widely recognized that CKD is a relevant risk factor for CVD; thus, low levels of GFR and albuminuria have been suggested to be strong and independent CVD indicators^{10,14,28}. In the latest KDIGO guidelines, it was stated that all individuals suffering from CKD should be considered at a high risk for CVD⁴. The burden of CVD due to CKD has been estimated to be around 7%. Additionally, the global age-standardized rate of disability-adjusted life-years resulting from CVD attributable to impaired kidney function in 2017 was approximately 318.3 disability-adjusted life-years per 100,000 population²¹. In addition, sudden cardiac death accounts for 59 deaths per 1000 person-years, representing 26% of total mortality in people with CKD. In contrast, these figures are notably lower in the general population, with one death per 1000 person-years,

accounting for 6 to 13% of total mortality³⁸. It has been indicated that the risk of experiencing a CVD event, including CVD-related death, is much higher than the progression from impaired kidney function to end-stage kidney disease^{14,38}. Left ventricular hypertrophy is the most common myocardial disease associated with CKD³, along with cardiac failure and myocardial fibrosis. Moreover, arteriosclerosis and atherosclerosis are the main remarkable arterial vascular pathologies in CKD^{3,14,38,39}.

Several risk factors for CVD in people with CKD have been identified and are typically classified into traditional and non-traditional risk factors. Hypertension, diabetes and smoking habits are considered the major traditional risk factors. In addition, modifications in blood lipids have been observed in CKD, characterized by an atherogenic profile with an increase in blood triglycerides and a decrease in high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C)^{38,39}. Therefore, dyslipidemia has also been considered a traditional risk factor. Regarding non-traditional factors, vascular calcification, anemia, calcium-phosphorus metabolism alterations^{3,10,39}, oxidative stress, low-grade inflammation, and proteinuria^{3,39}, as well as elevated activity of the RAAS system and sympathetic nerve, along with vitamin D deficiency, have been suggested³⁸.

Anemia and CKD-mineral and bone disorder are usual complications as kidney function declines, along with metabolic acidosis¹⁴. According to the WHO, an anemia condition is defined by a lower number of red blood cells or hemoglobin concentration than normal⁴⁰. The peritubular interstitial cells of the kidneys are involved in erythropoietin production. Consequently, diminished erythropoiesis has usually been reported in populations experiencing GFR declining conditions^{14,31}. The mineral and bone disorder in CKD is a systemic complication affecting the bones, heart, and blood vessels, which typically develops in individuals at advanced stages of kidney disease. This disorder results from alterations in serum levels of calcium, phosphate, and other related hormones, such as the parathyroid hormone, the fibroblast growth factor 23, and calcitriol - the active hormonal form of vitamin D^{14,41-43}. High concentrations of phosphate in serum and vitamin D deficiency are common among individuals with CKD^{14,38}. The combination of these complications ultimately contributes to a higher risk of bone fractures, cardiovascular events, poorer quality of life, and mortality when kidney function becomes impaired^{14,41-43}. Regarding metabolic acidosis, maintaining the acid-base balance is one of the principal functions of the kidney. Therefore, the continuous decrease in GFR may be accompanied by low concentrations of

serum bicarbonate, which ultimately could exacerbate not only the progression of CKD but also inflammation, and cardiovascular, and bone problems^{14,44}.

Several interventions have been recommended to prevent complications of CKD, particularly the onset of CVD. These interventions align with general population recommendations and include smoking cessation, regular physical activity^{3,13,14,28,38}, adopting a healthy diet while monitoring dietary sodium and protein intake³⁸, addressing anemia, and managing blood pressure, blood glucose, and lipid levels, inflammation, as well as disorders of calcium and phosphorus metabolism^{3,13,14,28,38}.

2. Risk factors for chronic kidney disease

Several factors have been postulated as predisposing individuals to kidney dysfunction and CKD, which can be classified as non-modifiable and modifiable. The latter, often related to lifestyle and environmental factors, requires special attention, as it is essential to identify and incorporate them into preventive measures to maintain proper kidney health and avoid the onset or progression of CKD. An overview of the multifactorial etiology of CKD, in which various non-modifiable and modifiable risk factors are potentially coexisting and synergistically acting, is described in detail below.

2.1. Non-modifiable risk factors

2.1.1. Genetic factors and family history

Previous evidence suggests a heritable component in the development of CKD⁴⁵. Genetic variations in genes such as APOL1 and MYH9 have been related to a higher risk of CKD⁴⁵, particularly in populations of African ancestry^{46–48}. The APOL1 risk variant has been associated with up to a 10 to 17-fold higher risk of end-stage kidney disease in individuals with hypertension or glomerulosclerosis, respectively^{49,50}.

Other variants in genes which have been associated with CKD are GPX1, GSTO1, GSTO2, UMOD, and MGP, as reported by *Corredor et al.* in their study where 38 single nucleotide polymorphisms from 31 candidate genes were genotyped in Spanish individuals. Moreover, they also identified genes related to biomarkers of kidney function such as GPX1, GSTO1, KL, ICAM-1, and MGP for GFR, as well as genes associated with other risk factors of CKD, such as hypertension, with variants in GPX4, CYP11B2, ERCC4 genes⁵¹.

Furthermore, polymorphisms in genes of the renin–angiotensin system have been previously suggested, specifically ACE-A2350G and AGTR1-C573T^{49,52}. In addition, mutations in the uromodulin gene, encoding the protein named Tamm-Horsfall, have been extensively associated as the main cause of one of the subtypes of autosomal dominant tubulointerstitial kidney diseases, establishing a connection to kidney function and CKD^{49,53,54}.

Therefore, a family history of CKD can be considered a risk factor for this disease, given the fact that gene variations may be inherited, and culture and lifestyle habits pass down through generations. Irrespective of the motive, previous studies examining the familial history of CKD in individuals undergoing dialysis treatment and/or with end-stage kidney disease have shown a relationship between CKD risk and having close family members with kidney disease^{49,55,56}.

2.1.2. Ethnicity

CKD appears to vary across ethnicities, as previously alluded to above. African American individuals have shown a greater decline in GFR worldwide^{57–59}. Previous evidence has also indicated a higher risk of CKD or even end-stage kidney disease in African Americans compared to other ethnic groups, such as Caucasians^{49,60,61}.

However, despite the evidence found in relation to the APOL1 gene and African populations^{50,60}, it has been suggested that differences in certain risk factors such as socioeconomic status, unhealthy behaviors, or inadequate control of glycemia and blood pressure are primarily behind these disparities beyond ethnicity^{58,61}. In fact, recent results from The REasons for Geographic And Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) Study reported that the higher incidence of CKD and decreased GFR in Black individuals compared to White participants were attenuated after adjusting for other traditional risk factors such as blood pressure, body mass index (BMI), or history of diabetes⁶². Thus, it is worth mentioning that ethnicity and race in relation to CKD have been a matter of debate in recent years⁶³.

2.1.3. Age

The aging process substantially affects all organs and their function. As individuals age, structural changes occur in the kidneys, resulting in a decrease in the size and number of the nephrons, modifications in the interstitial tubule and membrane, and the development of glomerulosclerosis^{64,65}. These alterations related to age are termed nephrosclerosis and may

contribute to a decline in the function of the kidneys, primarily manifesting as a lower GFR and increased albuminuria^{14,64}. The classification of these changes in kidney function as either part of the 'normal aging' process or indicative of CKD is a subject of controversy^{64–66}. However, there is supporting evidence suggesting that these changes go beyond the natural aging process; for example, whereas some older adults exhibit abnormal GFR and albuminuria levels, others maintain levels within the normal range^{14,66}. Furthermore, it has been asserted that screening for CKD should be conducted in individuals with risk factors for this disease and those aged over 50 to 60 years^{67–69}.

The average GFR level has been estimated at approximately 78-80 ml/min/1.73m² in individuals aged 65 years^{65,70}. Moreover, the decline in GFR appears to be around 0.7–0.9 ml/min/1.73m² per year in populations aged between 30 and 75 years and might be even faster beyond the age of 75 years⁷¹. One of the largest systematic reviews and meta-analyses estimating CKD prevalence in observational studies based on data from general populations, observed an age-related increase in CKD prevalence. Specifically, this study found a CKD prevalence of 27.6% and 34.3% in people aged 60 and 70 years, respectively²². Consistent with these findings, the prevalence of CKD was estimated in the Spanish population according to age, revealing a rate of 37.3% in those aged 65 years or older²⁵.

2.1.4. Sex

Awareness of the role of sex in different medical disciplines, along with the incorporation of gender perspective in medicine is currently on the rise. Although there has been some progress, there is still a long way to go, particularly in the field of kidney disease, where comparative prevalence studies and gender-based risk analysis are limited and needed for a more comprehensive understanding⁷².

Some findings have pointed out that women seem to show lower GFR¹⁷ and, as mentioned above, a higher prevalence of CKD⁷³ than men. By contrast, the progression from CKD to end-stage kidney disease has been observed to be faster in men than in women^{72–76}. In addition, different potential predictors of kidney function according to sex have been identified; better kidney function seems to be related to waist circumference and total cholesterol/HDL-C ratio in men, whereas triglycerides appear to be related in women⁷⁷. Several factors have been postulated to contribute to these sex-related disparities, including differences in kidney physiology and hemodynamics, sex hormones, psycho-socioeconomic

and cultural components, lifestyle and dietary habits as well as disparities in healthcare utilization^{72-74,78}.

However, it should be additionally mentioned that there is a lack of agreement between studies regarding the contribution of sex to kidney health since not all studies have not found significant differences in CKD risk among women and men^{20,73,79}.

2.1.5. Low birth weight

The *Barker hypothesis*, also known as the fetal programming hypothesis, argues that adverse conditions during intrauterine development, such as malnutrition, or preterm birth may lead to growth deficit of particular organs, with low birth weight as a major indicator. This condition has been related to the development of non-communicable chronic diseases later in life^{80–83}. Consequently, birth weight has been potentially presented as another risk factor for CKD. Low birth weight has been linked to a lower number of nephrons, contributing to an increased vulnerability to kidney dysfunction and CKD^{80,84}. Prior findings have indicated that there is an association between low birth weight, lower GFR levels^{85,86}, and higher risk of CKD^{87–89}. Silverwood et al. estimated that GFR levels increase by approximately 2.13 ml/min/1.73 m² per kg increase in birth weight, in a British cohort⁹⁰.

2.2. Modifiable risk factors2.2.1. Obesity

The WHO defines obesity as an abnormal or excessive accumulation of fat with health implications, often measured through BMI. Where obesity is commonly defined as a BMI greater than 30 kg/m² ⁹¹. In this context, waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio are additional valuable tools for evaluating fat distribution⁹². Obesity has been extensively discussed to have an important role in CKD as a risk factor^{4,32,49,78,93–97}. In the meta-analysis of individual participant data by Chang et al., which included data from 40 countries, higher BMI, waist circumference, and waist-to-height ratio were found to be independent risk factors for GFR decline and death in people with normal or even decreased GFR⁹⁸. There is also evidence supporting the fact that obesity being a contributor to the risk of end-stage kidney disease^{49,99,100}.

Obesity and adiposity have been related to hyperfiltration, hypertrophy, and, consequently, glomerulopathy^{49,67,78,95,101}, as well as increased RAAS activity and synthesis of hormones and other pro-inflammatory compounds, which contribute to oxidative stress, endothelial

dysfunction, vasoconstriction, and inflammation^{32,95,101,102}. These mechanisms may underline the direct impact of obesity on kidney function. Furthermore, obesity may indirectly contribute to CKD development through its association with lipotoxicity, insulin resistance, adipokine dysregulation⁸⁹, diabetes, and hypertension^{89,101}. In fact, both diabetes and hypertension will be discussed in detail below as they are the most common risk factors for the development and progression of CKD.

In the Obesity Atlas 2024, approximately 2.2 billion people worldwide, comprising over 42% of the population, were affected by overweight or obesity in 2020, with this figure projected to rise to 3.3 billion by 2035¹⁰³. Concerning kidney disease, it has been estimated that obesity accounts for 20 to 25% of the global burden of CKD¹⁰¹. Obesity prevalence is rapidly increasing and poses a significant health concern, particularly due to its association with several diseases, including CKD. As such, interventions focused on weight loss and based on diet and physical activity are suggested as appropriate measures to improve kidney function^{89,95,104}. Other proposed strategies include RAAS blockade, weight loss drugs, bariatric surgery, melatonin, prebiotic and symbiotic^{89,95}.

Given that some of the pathways linking obesity and kidney dysfunction are components of metabolic syndrome (MetS), the potential association between MetS and CKD is increasingly being explored^{95,105,106}. MetS, which affects approximately 30% of the worldwide population¹⁰⁷, is a cluster of the following metabolic conditions: abdominal adiposity, high blood pressure, elevated triglycerides levels, reduced HDL-C concentrations, and high fasting glucose. Criterion has been established that indicates the presence of MetS when at least three of these five components mentioned above are present¹⁰⁸. It has been reported that MetS appears to be related to a higher risk of CKD beyond any of its five components that had been individually associated with kidney function^{105,106,109}. In fact, it has been estimated that individuals affected by MetS may face a 2.5-fold higher risk of CKD¹⁰⁵.

2.2.2. Diabetes mellitus

Type 2 diabetes (T2D), the most common type of diabetes mellitus, is a metabolic disorder characterized by chronic hyperglycemia – elevated levels of glucose in the blood, which often develops in individuals over the age of 40 years, primarily because of insulin resistance^{110,111}.

Currently, diabetes is considered the principal leading cause of CKD worldwide, as stated in numerous scientific articles^{19,31,49,94,110}. In a large systematic review and meta-analysis of

observational studies by Shen et al., it was demonstrated that T2D was a strong risk factor for CKD, as well as for end-stage kidney disease¹¹². The most widely accepted mechanisms by which hyperglycemia might lead to diabetic nephropathy involve hyperfiltration, hypertrophy of the kidney, thickening of the glomerular filtration barrier, and subsequent damage, along with tubulointerstitial changes and inflammation procedures^{3,49,113}.

The simultaneous existence of T2D and CKD, coupled with poorly controlled management of both diseases, can contribute to the onset of several complications, such as retinopathy, diabetic foot issues, end-stage kidney disease, and different cardiovascular outcomes (ischemia, arrhythmia, myocardial infarction, or heart failure)¹¹⁴. Maintaining glycosylated hemoglobin levels below approximately 7% has been recommended as a means of controlling levels of blood glucose in individuals with CKD^{114,115}.

According to the International Diabetes Federation (IDF), 537 million people worldwide had diabetes in 2021, and over 90% of them had T2D¹¹⁶. It has been estimated that among adults with T2D, 25% to 40% have CKD⁹⁴. Moreover, other studies have indicated that nephropathy is expected to develop in up to 50% of the individuals having T2D, and kidney function decline is expected in 10%^{49,113}. As both T2D and CKD are rapidly increasing⁹⁴, it would be crucial to identify and manage the common lifestyle and modifiable risk factors, which will be extensively discussed further below.

2.2.3. Hypertension

Hypertension, also referred to as high blood pressure, is widely recognized as one of the primary causes of kidney function decline and CKD^{31,49,96,117}. Previous evidence has shown that hypertension is associated with the risk of CKD and end-stage kidney disease, with that risk being higher in men than in women¹¹⁸. In addition, hypertension and CKD are intricately interconnected since kidney dysfunction can lead to complications in the control of blood pressure^{3,119}. Therefore, hypertension may be both a risk factor for CKD and an outcome in individuals with CKD.

The transmission of systemic hypertension to the intraglomerular capillaries is presented as a potential mechanism behind the impact of hypertension on CKD. It is supposed that initially, increased blood pressure causes a vasoconstrictor response in the afferent arterioles to maintain normal levels of kidney blood pressure. However, if this condition persists, the initial protective process becomes pathological, resulting in glomerulosclerosis^{32,96},

endothelial complications, changes in the hormonal system¹²⁰, and ultimately, loss of kidney function⁹⁶.

Controlling blood pressure is suggested as a suitable intervention to help halt or slow the progression of CKD. According to the KDIGO guidelines, maintaining systolic blood pressure levels below 120 mm Hg is recommended for individuals with CKD^{4,121}. Dietary modifications, such as reducing the intake of sodium or following the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet have been proposed to manage blood pressure⁹⁶. Besides, considering the common elevation of angiotensin II levels in individuals with CKD and hypertension, ACEIs or ARBs are the preferred first-line pharmacotherapy for treating hypertension in CKD individuals, which should not be taken in combination^{96,119,121}. Preceding studies have observed that reducing blood pressure may offer protection against CKD progression^{122,123}.

2.2.4. Smoking

Tobacco smoking has been widely recognized as a leading cause of preventable deaths worldwide, as well as a risk factor for non-communicable diseases^{124,125}. In fact, smoking habits have been identified as a potentially detrimental factor to kidney function^{14,49,78,126–128}. In the meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies conducted by Xia et al., a significant association was reported between cigarette smoking and an increased risk of CKD and end-stage kidney disease compared with non-smokers in the general population. Moreover, a decreased risk of CKD was observed upon cessation of smoking; even though this risk persisted for many years in the former smokers¹²⁶. Other studies have estimated that smoking approximately 25 to 49 packs of cigarettes per year could increase the risk of CKD by up to 42%⁷⁸, and this risk appears to be accumulative with increased smoking^{126,129,130}. Additionally, it has been suggested that not only active smoking, but also passive smoking (i.e., second-hand smoke) could be relevant¹³¹.

The potential mechanisms by which tobacco smoking could damage kidney function may include endothelial dysfunction, vascular permeability, production of extracellular matrix, tubular atrophy, glomerulosclerosis as well as pro-inflammation, oxidative stress, and insulin resistance^{126,132}. Considering the clear relationship between smoking and CKD, global guidelines, such as those from KDIGO, recommend quitting smoking along with other lifestyle modification advice to prevent CKD or even avoid its progression⁴. Some public health strategies have been proposed to assist people in smoking cessation, which include

social network and media campaigns for smoking cessation, in combination with tobacco advertising restrictions, warnings in the packets of cigarettes, increased cigarette taxes, and limitations on smoking in public areas and workplaces⁹⁴.

2.2.5. Physical activity

The beneficial impact of physical activity and exercise on health is well-known, as it has been extensively related to a reduced risk of various chronic diseases and complications¹³³. These benefits have been specifically documented concerning obesity, diabetes, and hypertension, among others^{134,135}, which were discussed above as important risk factors for kidney function decline and CKD. Hence, physical inactivity could be considered a modifiable and relatively addressable risk factor of CKD^{128,136,137}. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies has suggested that physical activity diminished the risk of CKD in the general population. In addition, physical activity has also been observed to be associated with better kidney function in individuals already suffering from CKD¹³⁸, and provides a more favorable prognosis in terms of mortality risk in populations with pre-dialysis CKD^{130,140}. Implications on the modulation of insulin resistance, blood pressure, inflammation, oxidative stress procedures, endothelial function, adiposity, and adipocytokines production, such as adiponectin, are among the potential explanations for how performing physical activity could contribute to the protection of kidney function^{141,142}.

Although the ideal intensity and frequency of physical activity to prevent CKD has not been yet determined, the KDIGO guidelines have stated a recommendation for individuals with CKD to prevent its progression; thus, a minimum of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week, taking into consideration cardiovascular health and tolerance, has been indicated⁴. However, further, more specific, advice includes the following: engage in daily physical activity, if possible; incorporate balance, flexibility, and strength activities at least two days per week; moderate-intensity aerobic activities for 150 minutes per week, vigorous-intensity activities for 75 minutes per week, or a combination of both; and include standing or light physical activity to avoid prolonged periods of inactivity¹⁴³.

2.2.6. Dietary habits

There has been a global shift in dietary intake trends over the past few decades, resulting in lower consumption of fresh foods such as fruits, vegetables, and legumes, and conversely, a notable increase in the consumption of ultra-processed food (UPF)^{144–146}. As a result, this

global change has entailed a diet rich in added sugars, salt, saturated and trans fatty acids, while simultaneously being low in fiber, vitamins, phytochemicals, antioxidants, and minerals^{147,148}. This nutritional transition has been observed to coincide with the rising development of non-communicable diseases^{144,145}. As a result, the potential impact of diet, along with the other lifestyle factors discussed in this dissertation, on people's health is attracting scientific interest and is becoming increasingly evident. This is crucial for the implementation of appropriate preventive measures.

In the context of kidney function, there is growing evidence supporting the significant effect of the diet^{149,150}. Indeed, nutritional therapy is currently a fundamental part of the treatment for the control and delay of the progression of CKD to end-stage kidney disease¹⁵¹. Nevertheless, dietary recommendations seem to vary slightly depending on the specific goal, whether it is to address the onset of CKD, its progression, or end-stage kidney disease¹²⁸. Unfortunately, efforts directed towards preventive measures to avoid CKD are more limited, as most scientific research on kidney function is conducted in individuals with some degree of impaired kidney function or those having CKD^{4,128,152}. Independently, the role of the diet as a risk factor for CKD appears to be clear. In fact, it has been estimated that dietary factors could account for more than 24% of the cases of CKD¹⁵³. Previous studies have highlighted both positive and negative health effects of specific food groups in the general population. For instance, vegetables, fruits, legumes, nuts, whole grains, and low-fat dairy have been identified as beneficial, while sugar-sweetened beverages, and red and processed meat are considered detrimental^{149,150}. Nevertheless, scientific literature is placing greater emphasis on investigating the diet as a whole (i.e., dietary patterns), as dietary choice involves the consumption of a wide variety of foods and nutrients that are not naturally consumed in isolation. Thus, this approach could properly capture the combined synergistic impact of all the components comprising the diet on kidney function¹⁴⁹. Soltani et al. have suggested that adhering to a healthier dietary pattern is associated with approximately 30% lower risk of kidney disease in the general population¹⁵⁰. In addition, certain plant-based diets, such as the Mediterranean diet (MedDiet)^{154,155}, the DASH diet^{155,156}, or the vegetarian diet¹⁵⁵, have been related to improved kidney function or a reduced risk of CKD. The latest 2020 KDOQI report on clinical practice guidelines for nutrition in CKD has recommended these dietary patterns, particularly the MedDiet, as a reno-protective measure in all stages of this disease, in contrast to the restrictive dietary practices that have prevailed in the past¹⁵⁷. Recommending adherence to these types of diets could convey a simple message to the general population and be more easily feasible to follow, offering beneficial effects not only

for kidney disease prevention but also for overall health. Furthermore, this could be particularly relevant considering that, as noted above, the shift in global nutrition trends has resulted in a decrease in adherence to these types of healthy dietary patterns in favor of westernized diets^{144,146}. These healthy diets are predominantly plant-based and, in contrast to those rich in animal-origin foods, present a low dietary acid load, which has been related to GFR and CKD¹⁵⁸. In addition, the consumption of UPF, which is a hallmark of Western diets, can displace the consumption of healthy fresh foods and may contribute to an increase in dietary acid load, with several health consequences, including alterations in kidney function¹⁴⁷.

3. A focus on dietary components related to kidney function and CKD

In view of the current relevance of dietary patterns, dietary acid load, and UPF on kidney function and CKD, this section of the doctoral thesis will provide detailed scientific evidence on these specific dietary components.

3.1. Dietary patterns

Traditionally, nutrition recommendations have been based on individual nutrients or food groups. However, this approach has posed some challenges as the overall diet consists of a combination of various nutrients and food groups that may interact with each other, potentially having synergistic or antagonistic effects on health. Accordingly, there has been a shift towards studying dietary patterns, which is considered more appropriate as it takes into consideration not only the potential interactions between nutrients but also cultural and societal eating habits. Moreover, as following advice on specific nutrients can be difficult for individuals, dietary patterns could serve as a more useful guide for dietary recommendations¹⁵⁹.

A priori numerical indexes are commonly used in nutritional epidemiology to evaluate dietary patterns. These indexes are predefined based on previous evidence and may involve different scoring criteria depending on the population's food intake or specific cutoffs in line with recommended food intakes. Certain variations of the same *a priori* dietary pattern have been also described. Among all the *a priori* dietary patterns outlined in the scientific literature, the MedDiet and the DASH diet have accumulated the most evidence regarding kidney function¹⁵⁹.

The traditional MedDiet has its origins in the social behaviors and lifestyle of the Mediterranean Sea regions. This dietary pattern is characterized by a high intake of fresh, seasonal plant-based foods, including fruits, vegetables, legumes, nuts, and minimally refined cereals and seeds. Virgin or extra virgin olive oil is used as the primary source of fat, with a moderate intake of dairy products and eggs, and a low-to-moderate intake of fish and poultry. Red meat intake is limited, and red wine may be consumed in moderation during meals¹⁶⁰. The DASH diet was developed almost 30 years ago as a potential treatment for lowering blood pressure¹⁶¹. This diet includes a high intake of fruits, vegetables, legumes, nuts, whole grains, low-fat dairy products, and fish; while limiting red and processed meat, sweets, added sugars, saturated fats, and sodium intake^{162,163}. Therefore, both dietary patterns are mainly based on plant-origin foods, which are typically rich in unsaturated fats, fiber, plant protein, vitamins, and minerals with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties^{160,163}. Numerous studies have suggested that both the Mediterranean and DASH diets may have potential benefits for various health outcomes, which include CVD, mortality, obesity or overweight, hypertension, MetS, T2D^{160,164,165}, CKD¹⁶⁶, and even cancer or cognitive function, among others¹⁶⁰.

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have reported that healthy plant-based dietary patterns, such as the Mediterranean and DASH diets, are significantly associated with improved kidney function¹⁶⁷, reduced risk of CKD¹⁶⁸, lower incidence of CKD and albuminuria¹⁶⁹ and a lower risk of mortality among individuals with end-stage kidney disease¹⁷⁰. In the updated meta-analysis of observational studies conducted by He et al., participants with a higher adherence to healthy dietary patterns had 20% lower odds of having CKD (Odd Ratio (OR)=0.69; 95 % confidence intervals (CIs) (0.57, 0.84); I²=83%; n=17)¹⁶⁸.

It is worth mentioning that dietary recommendations have primarily been directed towards individuals with CKD rather than towards preventing kidney dysfunction. Conventionally, these recommendations have focused on controlling the intake of specific nutrients. Specifically, it has been recognized for many years that monitoring the amount of protein, organic and inorganic phosphorus, potassium, and sodium intake could be crucial for individuals with some degree of kidney impairment^{151,153,171}. However, the foods constituting the Mediterranean and DASH diets, which have been linked to several kidney benefits, are significant sources of organic phosphorus and potassium¹⁷¹. In this context, both minerals are supplied by plant-based foods, and it is well-documented that the phytate content of these types of foods can inhibit the gastrointestinal absorption of organic phosphorus^{171,172}.

Moreover, plant-based food should not be excluded from a diet aimed at improving or maintaining kidney function, as it may help manage hyperkalemia; in fact, some previous studies have reported that the treatment of CKD-related metabolic acidosis with fruit and vegetable consumption could be better than the standard treatment based on sodium bicarbonate supplementation^{173,174}. In addition, restriction of protein intake has generally been the focus of dietary practice and trials in people with CKD^{153,171}. Although high protein intake has been suggested to increase intraglomerular hypertension and, thus, may contribute to hyperfiltration and glomerular damage^{153,175}, the source of protein has become more relevant to kidney function than the total quantity of this macronutrient¹⁵³. This shift is mainly a consequence of the potentially beneficial relationship that has been reported between CKD and dietary patterns, such as the Mediterranean or DASH, which contain higher amounts of plant-derived protein in contrast to reduced animal protein^{153,156}. Therefore, while restricting protein intake in the management of CKD progression is controversial, it should not be a concern from a preventive standpoint, as long as the source of this protein is plant-based.

3.2. Dietary acid load

Diet is one of the main components affecting the acid-base balance of the human body; since as a result of the metabolism procedure, dietary components can act as precursors of acids or alkalis^{158,176,177}. After food ingestion, hydrogen ions are released by the stomach, while the digestive system releases alkalis. Subsequently, sulfur-containing amino acids and alkaline salts are absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract and oxidized in the liver and other metabolically active tissues. This process leads to the release of protons and alkalis, which are considered responsible for modifying the acid-base balance^{158,176}. Acid-producing foods are those that contain phosphorus, sulfur, and cationic amino acids, such as cysteine, methionine, taurine lysine, or arginine. In contrast, alkaline-inducing foods are characterized by their potassium, magnesium, calcium, and bicarbonate content¹⁷⁶. Therefore, this means that diets high in processed animal products and cereals, and low in fruit and vegetables may contribute to the acidification of the environment¹⁷⁶ (see **Figure 4**). The modern Western diet, as opposed to the Mediterranean or the DASH diet, represents a clear example of such an acid-producing diet, commonly characterized by a wide selection of UPF, which ultimately exacerbates this acidic effect¹⁷⁸.



Figure 4. Acid or base-producing potential of specific food. Source: Medium: How can nutrition balance the body's pH levels?

In addition, as previously mentioned, kidneys are the primary organs maintaining the acidbase balance, along with the lungs and the buffer system. The lungs remove carbon dioxide (CO₂), working in conjunction with the kidneys, which reabsorb bicarbonate (HCO3⁻), and eliminate ammonium (NH4⁺) through urine. When this mechanism functions properly, the arterial pH is maintained within optimal ranges, typically between 7.35 to 7.45. An alteration in this acid-base balance, characterized by a decrease in arterial pH lower than 7.35 or a reduction of HCO3⁻ concentrations, is defined as metabolic acidosis^{176,179}. This complication has been associated with some adverse effects, including impaired glucose tolerance, increased muscle wasting and sarcopenia, decreased bone mineralization and increased bone fractures, high blood pressure, and acceleration of the progression of CKD^{176,180}, many of which are recognized risk factors for CVD^{176,179,180}.

There are two main methods to assess dietary acid load, the net endogenous acid production (NEAP) and the potential renal acid load (PRAL)¹⁵⁸. The NEAP corresponds to the total amount of acid that must be excreted in urine to maintain acid-base balance. Thus, NEAP can be measured directly in urine or estimated through dietary intake. Specifically, the equation for calculating this index involves the amount of protein and potassium intake¹⁸¹.

NEAP (mEq/d) =
$$\frac{54.5 \times \text{Protein } (\text{g/d})}{\text{Potassium } (\text{mEq/d})} - 10.2$$

This index interprets increased or diminished values as high or low dietary acid load, respectively.

PRAL could be described as the quantity of diet-derived acids and alkalis, which can be estimated for individual foods as well as for the whole diet. PRAL is computed using a

mathematical model that incorporates the content of protein, phosphorus, potassium, calcium, and magnesium in the diet¹⁸².

Positive values of PRAL are indicative of acidic foods or a high acid load in the diet; conversely, a negative value indicates basic foods or a low acid load in the diet¹⁷⁶.

Previous evidence has indicated that dietary acid load appears to have a relevant impact on the risk, progression, and morbidity of CKD^{158} . Mofrad et al. led a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies evaluating the association between dietary acid load, kidney function, and risk of CKD. These authors found that acid load in the diet was significantly associated with a higher risk of CKD (1.31; 95 % CIs (1.06 to 1.62); I²=77%; n=8)¹⁸³. However, there was a high between-study heterogeneity, which reduced the confidence in the effect estimates. Given that most of the research has been conducted on populations consisting of healthy young, middle-aged, or people with advanced CKD, and that there is limited evidence in high-risk populations, coupled with the fact that all these studies are observational, there is a considerable need for further research. This is especially important if recommendations based on a diet low in acid load are to be included in future guidelines for the prevention of CKD.

3.3. Ultra-processed food (UPF)

UPF was defined as 'formulations of ingredients, mostly of exclusive industrial use, that result from a series of industrial processes' in the 2018 report by Monteiro et al. for the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations¹⁸⁴. Therefore, UPF is obtained through sophisticated industrial processing techniques, such as hydrogenation, hydrolysis, extrusion, molding, or pre-frying. In addition, this procedure typically involves the addition of various components such as simple sugars or non-caloric artificial sweeteners, oils and fats, salt, artificial colors, flavors, emulsifiers, stabilizers, and other additives. Consequently, this type of food has some notable characteristics, including high palatability, which could potentially lead to addictive eating behavior, long shelf-life, relative microbiological safety, and convenience as ready-to-consume, affordable, and accessible products¹⁸⁴.

Industrial food processing began almost two centuries before the definition of UPF, with the development of techniques such as pasteurization and canning, which aimed to produce more shelf-stable products. However, concerns have arisen in recent decades due to the high degree of processing that alters the food matrix, resulting in UPF with a high energy density and poor nutritional quality¹⁷⁸. Hence, consuming this type of food generally results in a higher intake of total energy, total, saturated and trans-fats, free sugar, and salt. In contrast, it leads to a lower intake of dietary fiber, unsaturated fats, vitamins, minerals, and other beneficial phytochemicals^{178,184}. Furthermore, there has been a significant shift in dietary habits over the last few decades. The westernization of diets has led to a problematic increase in the consumption of UPF and a decrease in the consumption of less-processed foods worldwide¹⁴⁷. This fact has coincided with the increasing prevalence of non-communicable diseases, suggesting a potential role of UPF in their development. In particular, previous evidence has shown significant associations between UPF and various health conditions, including all-cause and cause-specific mortality, CVD, diabetes, cancer, cognitive impairment, gastrointestinal disorders, overweight, obesity, body composition, and fat deposition^{147,178,185,186}.

Several methods have been proposed to categorize foods based on their degree of industrial processing^{147,184}. However, the NOVA classification system has been considered a more precise, clear, and practical tool than other classification systems, which may partially explain its widespread use in nutritional epidemiological research^{184,186}. This system classifies food into four groups (see **Figure 5**):



Figure 5. The NOVA classification system. Source: Crimarco A, Landry MJ, Gardner CD. Ultra-processed Foods, Weight Gain, and Co-morbidity Risk. Curr Obes Rep. 2022;11(3):80-92. doi:10.1007/s13679-021-00460-y

- <u>NOVA Group 1 Unprocessed and minimally processed foods</u>: Unprocessed or natural foods are the parts of plants, animals, fungi, algae, and water, which have been sourced as is from nature. Minimally processed foods are natural foods slightly altered by removing inedible or unwanted parts, as well as through processes such as drying, crushing, fractioning, filtering, roasting, boiling, non-alcoholic fermentation, pasteurization, and vacuum packaging, among others^{184,186}.
- <u>NOVA Group 2 Processed culinary ingredients:</u> Substances obtained directly from group 1 foods or from nature through industrial processes, such as pressing, refining, grinding, or drying^{184,186}.
- <u>NOVA Group 3 Processed foods</u>: Products that have undergone preservation techniques, such as canning, bottling, and non-alcoholic fermentation, and to which salt, oil, sugar, or other substances from group 2 to group 1 food have been added^{184,186}.
- <u>NOVA Group 4 UPF</u>: The definition of UPF was presented at the beginning of this section. This group includes foods such as baked goods (pastries, cookies, biscuits, cakes), dairy products (ice-cream, sugar or artificial sweetened yoghurts, ultra-processed cheese), reconstituted meat products (sausages, burgers, nuggets), sugary products (candies), sugar-sweetened beverages, industrial pizzas, noodles, instantaneous soups, dessert, etc.^{184,186}.

In the last few years, a special interest has emerged regarding the potential relationship between UPF consumption and kidney health. Although the evidence to date is limited, findings suggest that consuming UPF is associated with lower levels of GFR^{187,188} and increased risk of decline in kidney function^{188,189} and incidence of CKD^{188,190-192}. However, similar to the uncertainty surrounding dietary acid load, it is unclear whether this relationship also applies to older adults at high risk, as most studies have been conducted in other populations and utilized an observational design. It would be particularly important to clarify the potential impact of UPF on kidney health, considering that recommendations to reduce the consumption of UPF could be a simple and understandable message to spread to the general population.

II. Justification



II. JUSTIFICATION

The gradual decline in kidney function can eventually lead to developing CKD. As previously stated, CKD has emerged as a major public health concern over the last few decades, affecting a growing and substantial number of people around the world. The mortality rate associated with CKD is also steadily increasing and is predicted to become one of the leading causes of death in the coming years. In addition, CKD is considered an important risk factor for CVD, which is currently the biggest cause of mortality globally. CKD has also been related to a reduced quality of life and life expectancy. Beyond its health impact, it is worth noting that CKD also represents a huge economic burden on healthcare, mainly because it is a clinically silent disease that goes undetected in the early stages, yet requires more invasive and costly treatments and even hospitalization when symptoms manifest. Therefore, it is imperative to promptly address this health issue by identifying potential modifiable risk factors for the decline in kidney function to be able to implement effective and appropriate evidence-based preventive strategies.

Scientific evidence has identified several lifestyle factors, such as diet, smoking, and physical activity, as modifiable risk factors affecting the development of CKD. These factors may directly or indirectly impact kidney function, since they are also linked to hypertension, T2D, obesity, and MetS, which are widely recognized as the main risk factors of CKD. Consequently, adopting healthier lifestyle behaviors could be the key to preventing not only the onset of CKD, but also the progression to more advanced stages and ultimately end-stage kidney disease.

Among these lifestyle risk factors, dietary habits appear to play a crucial role in the prevention and management of CKD. In the past, nutritional epidemiology research has focused mainly on individual nutrients or foods, overlooking the potential interactions between the different components of the overall diet. However, in recent years, there has been a shift towards evaluating dietary patterns as a more comprehensive approach to assessing diet and how it may contribute to a particular health condition or disease outcome. Few epidemiological studies have suggested that healthy dietary patterns, such as the Mediterranean or the DASH diets, are associated with better kidney function and lower risk of CKD. These dietary patterns are characterized by a low dietary acid load due to their food composition. Accumulating evidence has also reported a statistically significant association between dietary acid load and kidney function as well as CKD risk. Unfortunately, the nutrition transition has resulted in a change from more nutritious, locally-sourced, and traditional home-cooked diets to Western diets with significant amounts of UPF, which in turn have a high dietary acid load. The consumption of UPF has been considered harmful for various noncommunicable diseases, such as CVD, hypertension, diabetes, and cancer. However, only a few studies in the last two years have investigated the possible relationship between UPF and kidney function or CKD, suggesting that UPF may also contribute to damaging kidney function.

It is crucial to have solid scientific evidence before promoting specific dietary patterns or diets with a particular level of dietary acid load as well as recommending a reduction in UPF consumption with a view to benefit kidney function. Even though there is a growing body of epidemiological studies evaluating the associations between these dietary factors and kidney function decline or CKD, most of the studies have focused on healthy young or middle-aged adults, or people with established CKD. Furthermore, the findings of these studies have been inconclusive, with some showing significant results and others not. There is therefore a need for further in-depth research, especially in older adult populations who may have additional underlying comorbidities that increase their risk of developing kidney disease.

Global dietary guidelines for kidney health have traditionally been based on quantities of individual nutrients or foods, such as protein, phosphorus, potassium, or sodium, and have primarily been aimed at individuals with kidney dysfunction or diagnosed with CKD. However, primary prevention is fundamental not only to reduce the comorbidities and mortality related to CKD but also to diminish the huge social and healthcare economic costs (derived from the invasive and costly treatments). Besides, advice that focuses on a certain amount of specific nutrients may be more challenging for the general population to follow than the simple message of adhering to a healthy eating pattern or emphasizing the consumption of unprocessed or minimally processed foods.

Therefore, taking into consideration what has been discussed in this section, the current doctoral thesis sought to provide new insights into the potential role of certain modifiable dietary factors - including dietary patterns, dietary acid load, and UPF - on kidney function, using data from the PREDIMED-Plus trial, as an observational cohort study. This trial represents an excellent opportunity to thoroughly investigate these associations in older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS, who are also at increased risk of CKD.

III. Hypothesis and aims



III. HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS

Hypothesis 1: High adherence to *a priori* healthy dietary patterns might be associated with better kidney function in a Mediterranean population of older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS.

- **Objective 1:** To evaluate the association between one-year changes in the adherence to three *a priori* dietary patterns (17-item energy-reduced Mediterranean Diet (erMedDiet) Score, Trichopoulou-MedDiet and DASH) and kidney function decline after one-year of follow- up.
- **Objective 2:** To assess the association between one-year changes in the Protein Diet Score and kidney function after one-year of follow- up.

<u>Hypothesis 2</u>: Higher dietary acid load might be associated with worse kidney function in a Mediterranean population of older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS.

• **Objective 1:** To investigate the association between baseline PRAL and NEAP and one-year changes in kidney function.

<u>Hypothesis 3</u>: Consumption of UPF might decrease kidney function in a Mediterranean population of older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS.

- **Objective 1:** To assess the association between UPF consumption and kidney function at baseline.
- **Objective 2:** To evaluate the association between one-year changes in UPF consumption and kidney function over 3-years of follow-up.

IV. Material and methods



IV. MATERIAL AND METHODS

The current doctoral thesis is a compendium of three original articles published in international peer-reviewed scientific journals in the field of nutritional epidemiology. All chapters within this thesis encompass a blend of cross-sectional and prospective observational studies conducted as part of the PREDIMED-Plus clinical trial.

1. The PREDIMED-Plus study

1.1. Main objective of the PREDIMED-Plus study

The PREDIMED-Plus (trial registration number: ISRCTN89898870) study is an ongoing 8year parallel-group, multi-center and randomized controlled clinical trial conducted in 23 Spanish centers, aiming to assess the effect of an intensive lifestyle weight loss intervention, based on an energy-restricted MedDiet, physical activity promotion and motivational behavior changes, on CVD morbi-mortality in a population of older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS. This intervention group is compared to a control group with usual care advice, which involves a healthy energy non-restricted MedDiet. The project was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of each participating center in accordance with the ethical principles on human research established in the Declaration of Helsinki, and written informed consent was provided by all participants before starting the study.

The primary outcomes of the trial include to evaluate the incidence of CVD events (nonfatal myocardial infarction, non-fatal stroke, or cardiovascular death) and weight change, which includes both weight loss and long-term weight-loss maintenance. Other secondary outcomes involve assessing waist circumference and adiposity-related conditions, such as total mortality, myocardial infarction, stroke, heart failure, atrial fibrillation, peripheral artery disease, T2D, incidence of overall and some specific types of cancer (breast, colorectal, and stomach), osteoporotic fractures, cholelithiasis, prostate, lung cataracts. neurodegenerative disorders (dementia and Parkinson's disease), unipolar depression, and eating behavior disorders. In addition, intermediate outcomes including overall dietary patterns and nutrient intake, blood pressure, several biochemical indicators such as serum lipid concentrations, fasting plasma glucose, C-reactive protein, glycosylated hemoglobin, kidney function, uric acid, liver function, pharmacological treatment, quality of life, and psychopathological symptoms, are also evaluated in this trial.

1.2. Study design

The participants were recruited between October 2013 and December 2016 by different research institutes, universities, hospitals and primary health care centers located in Alicante, Barcelona, Córdoba, Granada, Jaén, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, León, Madrid, Málaga, Navarra, Palma de Mallorca, Reus, Sevilla, Valencia, and Vitoria. The study included community-dwelling men (aged 55 to 75 years) and women (aged 60 to 75 years) who were free from CVD at enrollment, but at high CVD risk. The **inclusion criteria** were having overweight or obesity (BMI 27–40 kg/m²) and meeting at least three components of the MetS criteria, in accordance with the guidelines from the American Heart Association, the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute and the International Diabetes Federation¹⁰⁸.

Moreover, the following exclusion criteria were considered:

- Previous history of CVD (angina pectoris, myocardial infarction, stroke, symptomatic peripheral artery disease, ventricular arrhythmias, uncontrolled atrial fibrillation, congestive heart failure, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and aortic aneurism).
- Cancer diagnosis, whether in the present or past, within the last 5 years (excluding non-melanoma skin cancer).
- Previous weight-loss surgery or plans to undergo bariatric surgery within the next 12 months.
- History of small or large bowel resection or inflammatory bowel disease.
- Obesity with a recognized endocrine origin, excluding treated hypothyroidism.
- Immunodeficiency or HIV-positive status.
- Cirrhosis or severe liver failure.
- Severe psychiatric disorders: schizophrenia, bipolar disease, eating disorders, or depression with hospitalization within the last 6 months.
- Co-morbidity condition with limited life expectancy less than one year.
- History of vital organ transplantation.
- Acute infection or inflammation (e.g., pneumonia) resolution within the last 3 months.
- Concurrent treatment with immunosuppressive drugs, cytotoxic agents, or corticosteroids.
- Present use of weight loss medication.

- Chronic alcoholism, problematic use of alcohol or total alcohol intake >50 g/d, or illegal drug abuse within the past 6 months.
- Illiteracy, inability or unwillingness to give written consent or communicate with the study staff.
- Impossibility to follow the recommended diet due to religious reasons, swallowing problems or food allergy with hypersensitivity to any of the components of the dietary intervention.
- Inability to attend the scheduled intervention visits.
- Limited likelihood of modifying dietary habits according to the Prochaska and DiClemente stages of change model.
- Enrollment in another weight loss program with >5kg weight loss within 6 months before the selection visit.
- Participation in another ongoing randomized clinical trial.
- Any additional condition that could interfere with compliance to the study protocol.

The design of the PREDIMED-Plus study is depicted in **Figure 6**. The **recruitment process** started by identifying potential participants from the clinical records through physicians at primary health care centers. After giving their consent, the names and telephone numbers of the candidates were sent to the PREDIMED-Plus investigators, who contacted them and briefly explained the study by a telephone call. If they were still interested in participating, a face-to-face interview was scheduled, where a more detailed description of the characteristics and objectives of the study was provided.



Figure 6. Design of the PREDIMED-Plus study

During this **first screening visit**, if the candidates finally agreed to participate, written informed consent was obtained, and blood pressure, anthropometric measurements (including height, weight, and waist circumference), lifestyle habits and medical history were collected. Additionally, trained staff were responsible for conducting a 3-day prospective food record on two working days and one non-working, questionnaires on physical activity, clinical-psychopathology and quality of life, and provided self-monitoring records on body weight, waist and hip circumference to be completed and returned at the last screening visit. Finally, if the eligibility criteria were met and candidates correctly fulfilled and returned the administered questionnaires and records in the **last screening visit**, an invitation to attend the baseline visit was scheduled.

A total of 6874 participants attended the **baseline visit** and were randomly and equally assigned in a 1:1 ratio to one of the two intervention groups, using a centrally controlled, computer-generated random number system. Stratification by center, sex, and age group (<65, 65-70, >70 years) was performed for the random assignment of participants, and couples both meeting the eligibility criteria and living in the same household were randomized together as clusters.

Briefly, the participants of the PREDIMED-Plus trial underwent:

- Intervention group: An energy-reduced MedDiet, with a 30% energy reduction (~600 kcal/day according to each participant's basal metabolic rate and physical activity level) to promote weight loss, in combination with physical activity promotion and behavioral support.
- **Control group:** An energy non-restricted traditional MedDiet advice.

Trained PREDIMED-Plus dieticians were mainly responsible for the dietary interventions and conducted periodical group sessions of informative talks regarding lifestyle-related topics and motivational aspects. Moreover, participants were provided, free of charge, extra virgin olive oil and raw nuts to reinforce their adherence and compliance to the intervention, regardless of the assignment group.

2. Study population for the analyses

2.1. Study design and participant selection

For the present dissertation, data from all randomized PREDIMED-plus participants was used as if it was an observational cross-sectional or prospective cohort study:

Sample for analyses considering dietary patterns as an exposure: A total of 5,675 participants were included. Participants without completed food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) information (n=777) and reporting implausible total energy intake (<800 and >4,000 kcal/day in men and <500 and >3,500 kcal/day in women) (n=160) at baseline and at a one-year of follow-up were excluded. Moreover, individuals with missing data on SCr (n=262) at baseline and at a one-year of follow-up to determine kidney function were additionally excluded.

Sample for analyses considering dietary acid load as an exposure: From all the participants randomized to the PREDIMED study, a total of 5,874 participants were included in the estimated-GFR (eGFR) analysis and 3,639 in the UACR analysis. Those individuals without completed FFQ information and reporting implausible total energy intake (n=254) at baseline were excluded. Moreover, participants with missing data on SCr (n=746) or urine albumin and creatinine (n=2,981) at baseline and at one-year of follow-up to estimate eGFR or UACR biomarkers of kidney function, respectively, were excluded.

Sample for analyses considering UPF as an exposure: A total of 1,851 participants were included in the cross-sectional analysis and 1,700 participants in the longitudinal analysis. Those participants who did not complete the FFQ and who also reported implausible total energy intakes according to the predefined limits applied in both previous analyses at baseline (n=58) and at one-year of follow-up (n=209) were excluded. We also excluded individuals with missing data on CysC at baseline (n=4,965) to determine kidney function.

2.2. Data collection

2.2.1. Dietary assessment

Dietary intake was assessed at baseline and yearly during the follow-up using a validated 143item semi-quantitative FFQ¹⁹³ (see **Appendix 4**). During a face-to-face interview, trained dieticians asked the participants about their frequency of consumption of food items over the preceding year. The nine possible answers, ranging from never or almost never to more than six times per day, were recorded in standard portion sizes and subsequently converted to grams per day by multiplying serving sizes according to their frequency of consumption and dividing the findings by the assessed period. Total daily intake of energy, nutrients, and food groups were calculated using Spanish food composition tables^{194,195}.

A validated 17-item erMedDiet questionnaire¹⁹⁶ was used to assess the degree of adherence to an erMedDiet (see **Table 3**). Each item in this erMedDiet questionnaire was assigned a

score of 1 or 0 points, based on whether the criterion was met or not, respectively. Consequently, the overall score ranged from 0 to 17 points, indicating either no adherence or the highest adherence to an erMedDiet, respectively.

Foods and frequency of consumption	Criteria for 1 point
1. Do you use extra-virgin olive oil as the main culinary fat?	Yes
2. How many servings of vegetables do you consume per day? (Count garnish and side servings as ½ point; 1 serving=200g)	≥ 2
3. How many pieces of fruit or 100% natural fruit juice do you consume per day?	≥ 3
4. How many servings of red meat, hamburgers, or meat products (ham, sausages, etc.) do you consume per week? (1 serving=100-150g)	≤ 1
5. How many servings of butter, margarine, or cream do you consume per week? (1 serving=12g)	< 1
6. How many sugar-sweetened beverages (sodas, tonic waters, energy drinks, fruit juices with added sugar) do you consume per week?	< 1
7. How many servings of legumes do you consume per week? (1 serving=150g)	≥ 3
8. How many servings of fish/shellfish do you consume per week? (1 serving=100- 150g, or 4 – 5 pieces of fish, or 200g of shellfish)	≥ 3
9. How many times per week do you consume pastries, such as cookies, sweets, or cakes?	< 3
10. How many times per week do you consume nuts? (1 serving=30g)	≥ 3
11. Do you preferentially consume chicken, turkey, or rabbit meat instead of beef, pork, hamburgers, or sausage?	Yes
12. How many times per week do you consume vegetables, pasta, rice, or other dishes seasoned with sofrito (sauce made with tomato and onion, leek or garlic and simmered with olive oil)	≥ 2
13. Do you add sugar to beverages (coffee, tea)?	No/use of artificial sweeteners
14. How many servings of white bread do you consume per day? (1 serving=75 g)	≤ 1
15. How many servings of whole grains (bread, rice, pasta) do you consume per week?	≥ 5
16. How many servings of refined bread, rice, and/or pasta do you consume per week?	< 3
17. Do you drink wine? How much do you consume per week? (One glass=100ml)	Men: 2-3 glasses/day Women:1-2 glasses/day

Table 3. 17-item questionnaire of adherence to an energy-reduced Mediterranean Diet

2.2.2. Ascertainment of the kidney function

Fasting blood samples were obtained at baseline and at years 1 and 3 by PREDIMED-Plus nursing staff. After collection, blood samples were immediately centrifuged, processed, and stored at -80°C according to the study protocol. Urinary creatinine and albumin concentrations were determined using routine laboratory methods from spot morning urine samples collected at baseline and one-year following overnight fasting. SCr levels were determined by the enzymatic creatinine assay method (coefficient of variation < 4%). CysC concentrations were determined by Siemens Atellica NEPH 630 (Siemens Healthineers, Marburg, Germany) nephelometer using the Atellica CH CYSC_2 (Siemens Healthcare

GmbH) assay with a limit of quantitation of 0.25 mg/L and an intra- and interassay coefficient of variation <10%.

The eGFR was indirectly estimated from SCr (chapter 1 and 2) or CysC (chapter 3) using the CKD-EPI equation^{8,197} for Caucasian individuals (see **Table 4**).

Table 4. CKD-EPI equations^{8,197} for estimating glomerular filtration rate according to serum creatinine or cystatin C biomarkers

CKD-EPI formula for SCr biomarker		
Women with SCr $\leq 0.7 \text{ mg/dL}$	$eGFR = 144 \text{ x} (SCr/0.7)^{-0.329} \text{ x} 0.993^{Age}$	
Women with SCr $\geq 0.7 \text{ mg/dL}$	$eGFR = 144 \text{ x} (SCr/0.7)^{-1.209} \text{ x} 0.993^{Age}$	
Men with SCr $\leq 0.9 \text{ mg/dL}$	$eGFR = 141 \text{ x} (SCr/0.9)^{-0.411} \text{ x} 0.993^{Age}$	
Men with SCr $\geq 0.9 \text{ mg/dL}$	$eGFR = 141 \text{ x} (SCr/0.9)^{-1.209} \text{ x} 0.993^{Age}$	
CKD-EPI formula for CysC biomarker		
Women with CysC $\leq 0.8 \text{ mg/dL}$	$eGFR = 133 \text{ x} (SCr/0.8)^{-0.499} \text{ x} 0.996^{Age} \text{ x} 0.932$	
Women with CysC $\geq 0.8 \text{ mg/dL}$	$eGFR = 133 \ge (SCr/0.8)^{-1.328} \ge 0.996^{Age} \ge 0.932$	
Men with CysC $\leq 0.8 \text{ mg/dL}$	$eGFR = 133 \text{ x} (SCr/0.8)^{-0.499} \text{ x} 0.996^{Age}$	
Men with CysC $\geq 0.8 \text{ mg/dL}$	$eGFR = 133 \text{ x} (SCr/0.8)^{-1.328} \text{ x} 0.996^{Age}$	

eGFR, Glomerular Filtration Rate; CysC, Cystatin C; SCr, Serum Creatinine.

One-year changes in eGFR were performed by subtracting eGFR at one-year minus eGFR at baseline. Decreased kidney function was defined as eGFR lower than 60 ml/min/1.73m². Decline in eGFR ($\geq 10\%$) was estimated using the following formula:

$$\frac{\text{Baseline eGFR - One-year eGFR}}{\text{Baseline eGFR}} \times 100$$

Urinary creatinine and albumin concentrations were determined using routine laboratory methods spot morning urine samples collected at baseline and at one-year, following the overnight fasting. UACR was calculated by dividing urine albumin (mg/l) by urine creatinine concentrations (mg/l). One-year changes in UACR were also calculated by subtracting values at one-year minus values at baseline. UACR increase ($\geq 10\%$) was estimated by applying the formula:

$$\frac{\text{Baseline UACR- One-year UACR}}{\text{Baseline UACR}} \times 100$$

2.2.3. Assessment of other lifestyle and clinical variables

At baseline, 6 months, and yearly during the follow-up, PREDIMED Plus-trained staff collected personal and medical data including age, education level, socioeconomic status, occupation, family history of disease, history of illnesses, cardiovascular risk factors, smoking and alcohol use, medication use, new-onset cardiovascular events, and other medical
conditions through general and follow-up questionnaires as well as by reviewing medical records.

The validated REGICOR (Registre Gironí del Cor) Short Physical Activity Questionnaire for adult population¹⁹⁸ adapted from the Minnesota Leisure Time Physical Activity Questionnaire (MLTPAQ) was used to record not only the type of physical activity but also its frequency (number of days) and duration (minutes per day). The sum of frequency and duration was calculated, and the result was subsequently divided by 30 to obtain daily physical activity in minutes. The intensity of specific activities (in metabolic equivalent task, MET) was assigned based on the 2015 Compendium of Physical Activity. Finally, physical activity was further classified into three levels: light (< 4.0 MET), moderate (4 \pm 5.5 MET), and vigorous (\geq 6.0 MET).

Anthropometric measurements and blood pressure were collected during the interviews by study dieticians using standardized techniques and calibrated scales. Weight (in kg) and height (in m) were measured with light clothing and without shoes or accessories, using calibrated scales and a wall-mounted stadiometer, respectively. Subsequently, BMI (in kg/m²) was calculated by dividing the weight by the square of the height. Waist circumference (in cm) was also collected by identifying the midpoint between the lowest rib and the iliac crest using an anthropometric tape. A validated oscillometer (Omron HEM705CP, Hoofddorp, Netherlands) was used to measure blood pressure in triplicate, awaiting a 5 minutes interval between each measurement, and then, the mean of these values was recorded.

As previously mentioned, biological samples were collected after an overnight fast. In addition to the determinations of kidney function biomarkers, a complete blood count and routine biochemical measurements were performed. These included glucose, glycosylated hemoglobin, total cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C, triglycerides, calcium, sodium, potassium, uric acid, urea, albumin, C-reactive protein, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, and hepatic function biomarkers (bilirubin, alkaline phosphatase, and transaminases).

An overview of the PREDIMED-Plus data collection scheduled per visit, which was used for the current doctoral dissertation, is presented below (see **Table 5**).

	Screening	Baseline	Year 1	Year 3
Eligibility questionnaire	Х			
General questionnaire		Х	Х	Х
Anthropometric measurements	Х	Х	Х	Х
143-item FFQ		Х	Х	Х
17-items erMedDiet questionnaire		Х	Х	Х
Physical activity questionnaire	Х	Х	Х	Х
Blood pressure measurement	Х	Х	Х	Х
Blood sample collection		Х	Х	Х
Urine sample collection		Х	Х	Х

Table 5. Data collection in the PREDIMED-plus Study visits

Anthropometric measurements included weight, height, waist and hip circumference.

Abbreviations: FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; erMedDiet, energy-reduced Mediterranean Diet.

3. Statistical analyses

A comprehensive explanation of the statistical analyses performed in the current doctoral thesis has been described in the results section of each respective publication. All statistical analyses were conducted using STATA statistical software, versions 14.0 and 17.0 (StataCorp, Texas, USA). The level of significance for all statistical tests was P < 0.05 for bilateral contrast.

In brief, in all the papers,

- ANOVA and Pearson chi-square tests were used to compare the differences between continuous and categorical variables among the study participants, respectively.
- Multivariable linear (β-coefficients and 95% confidence intervals (CIs)) or logistic (ORs and 95% CIs) regression models adjusted for potential confounder factors were performed to assess the association between the main exposures (dietary patterns, dietary acid load, ultra-processed food) and kidney function.
- Linear mixed-effects linear (β-coefficients and 95% CIs) regression models with random intercepts at recruitment center, cluster family and participant level were conducted to assess the longitudinal associations between the specific exposure and kidney function over time.
- Tests for linear trend were conducted by assigning the median value to each category and modeling it as a continuous variable
- Statistical interactions between categories of exposure and covariates were explored by means of likelihood ratio tests, comparing the most adjusted model with and without cross-product terms (all interactions, p > 0.05).

-



V. Results

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME Cristina Valle Hita

V. RESULTS

The three published original articles which are part of the results of this thesis are presented

in Table 6.

Table 6. Reference, impact factor, category and journal rank of the publications presented in the current doctoral thesis

Reference	Impact factor	Category	Journal rank
Chapter 1			
<u>Valle-Hita C</u> , Díaz-López A, Becerra-Tomás N, et al. Prospective associations between a priori dietary patterns adherence and kidney function in an elderly Mediterranean population at high cardiovascular risk. Eur J Nutr. 2022;61(6):3095- 3108. doi:10.1007/s00394-022-02838-7	5.0	Nutrition & dietetics	28/88 (Q2)
Chapter 2			
Valle-Hita C, Becerra-Tomás N, Díaz-López A, et al. Longitudinal association of dietary acid load with kidney function decline in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome. Front Nutr. 2022;9:986190. Published 2022 Sep 30. doi:10.3389/fnut.2022.986190	5.0	Nutrition & dietetics	28/88 (Q2)
Chapter 3			
Valle-Hita C, Díaz-López A, Becerra-Tomás N, et al. Associations between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome. Clin Nutr. 2023;42(12):2302-2310. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2023.09.028	6.3	Nutrition & dietetics	14/88 (Q1)

Q, Quartile

Accessed date: February 28th, 2024 (Journal Citation Reports of the ISI web of Knowledge, Thompson Reuters).

Chapter 1. Prospective associations between a priori dietary patterns adherence and kidney function in an elderly Mediterranean population at high cardiovascular risk.

Cristina Valle-Hita, Andrés Díaz-López, Nerea Becerra-Tomás, Miguel A. Martínez-González, Verónica Ruiz García, Dolores Corella, Albert Goday, J. Alfredo Martínez, Ángel M. Alonso-Gómez, Julia Wärnberg, Jesús Vioque, Dora Romaguera, José López-Miranda, Ramon Estruch, Francisco J. Tinahones, José Lapetra, Luís Serra-Majem, Naomi Cano-Ibáñez, Josep A. Tur, María Rubín-García, Xavier Pintó, Miguel Delgado-Rodríguez, Pilar Matía-Martín, Josep Vidal, Sebastian Mas Fontao, Lidia Daimiel, Emilio Ros, Estefania Toledo, José V. Sorlí, C. Roca, Iztiar Abete, Anai Moreno-Rodriguez, Edelys Crespo-Oliva, Inmaculada Candela-García, Marga Morey, Antonio Garcia-Rios, Rosa Casas, Jose Carlos Fernandez-Garcia, José Manuel Santos-Lozano, Javier Diez-Espino, Carolina Ortega-Azorín, M. Comas, M. Angeles Zulet, Carolina Sorto-Sanchez, Miguel Ruiz-Canela, Montse Fitó, Jordi Salas-Salvadó and Nancy Babio.

Overview of the novelty and significance of this publication

What is already known?

- Healthy dietary patterns, mainly those based on food from plant sources, are inversely associated with the incidence of CKD or kidney function decline. However, inconsistent results are found in those studies focusing on the relationship between *a priori* dietary patterns (MedDiet or DASH) and kidney function.
- Most of these epidemiological studies have not been conducted in high-risk populations such as the elderly or individuals with cardiometabolic comorbidities.

What does this study add?

- For the first time, a prospective study examined the association between adherence to different *a priori* defined dietary patterns and kidney function in Mediterranean older adults at high cardiovascular risk and found that changes towards greater adherence in the 17-item erMedDiet score were positively associated with eGFR and with 38% lower odds of eGFR decline. In contrast, no associations were observed with the other dietary patterns evaluated.
- Vegetables, legumes, wine and the *sofrito* sauce were the individual components of the Mediterranean Score that were associated with better kidney function.

Conclusion:

- Our findings suggest that improvements in dietary habits, through adherence to a MedDiet, contribute to maintaining better kidney health. Additionally, this could be taken into consideration in future guidelines for CKD prevention.

European Journal of Nutrition https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-022-02838-7

ORIGINAL CONTRIBUTION



Prospective associations between a priori dietary patterns adherence and kidney function in an elderly Mediterranean population at high cardiovascular risk

Cristina Valle-Hita^{1,2,3} · Andrés Díaz-López^{1,2,4,5} · Nerea Becerra-Tomás^{1,2,4,6} · Miguel A. Martínez-González^{4,7,8} · Verónica Ruiz García^{1,9} · Dolores Corella^{4,10} · Albert Goday^{4,11} · J. Alfredo Martínez^{4,12,13} . Ángel M. Alonso-Gómez^{4,15} · Julia Wärnberg^{4,16} · Jesús Vioque^{17,18} · Dora Romaguera^{4,19} · José López-Miranda^{4,20} · Ramon Estruch^{4,21} · Francisco J. Tinahones^{4,22} · José Lapetra^{4,23} · Luís Serra-Majem^{4,24} · Naomi Cano-Ibáñez^{18,25} . Josep A. Tur^{4,19,26} · María Rubín-García²⁷ · Xavier Pintó^{4,28,29} · Miguel Delgado-Rodríguez^{18,30} · Pilar Matía-Martín³¹ · Josep Vidal^{32,33} · Sebastian Mas Fontao³⁴ · Lidia Daimiel¹⁴ · Emilio Ros^{4,35} · Estefania Toledo^{4,7} · José V. Sorlí^{4,10} . C. Roca^{4,11} · Iztiar Abete^{4,12} · Anai Moreno-Rodriguez^{4,15} · Edelys Crespo-Oliva^{4,16} · Inmaculada Candela-García³⁶ · Marga Morey^{4,19} · Antonio Garcia-Rios^{4,20} · Rosa Casas^{4,21} · Jose Carlos Fernandez-Garcia²² · José Manuel Santos-Lozano^{4,23} · Javier Diez-Espino^{4,7,37} · Carolina Ortega-Azorín^{4,10} · M. Comas^{4,11} · M. Angeles Zulet^{4,12} · Carolina Sorto-Sanchez^{4,15} · Miguel Ruiz-Canela^{4,7} · Montse Fitó^{4,11} · Jordi Salas-Salvadó^{1,2,3,4} ·

Received: 10 August 2021 / Accepted: 11 February 2022

© The Author(s) 2022

Nancy Babio^{1,2,3,4}

Abstract

Purpose To assess the association between three different a priori dietary patterns adherence (17-item energy reduced-Mediterranean Diet (MedDiet), Trichopoulou-MedDiet and Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH)), as well as the Protein Diet Score and kidney function decline after one year of follow-up in elderly individuals with overweight/obesity and metabolic syndrome (MetS).

Methods We prospectively analyzed 5675 participants (55–75 years) from the PREDIMED-Plus study. At baseline and at one year, we evaluated the creatinine-based estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) and food-frequency questionnaires-derived dietary scores. Associations between four categories (decrease/maintenance and tertiles of increase) of each dietary pattern and changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73m²) or $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline were assessed by fitting multivariable linear or logistic regression models, as appropriate.

Results Participants in the highest tertile of increase in 17-item erMedDiet Score showed higher upward changes in eGFR (β : 1.87 ml/min/1.73m²; 95% CI: 1.00–2.73) and had lower odds of \geq 10% eGFR decline (OR: 0.62; 95% CI: 0.47–0.82) compared to individuals in the decrease/maintenance category, while Trichopoulou-MedDiet and DASH Scores were not associated with any renal outcomes. Those in the highest tertile of increase in Protein Diet Score had greater downward changes in eGFR (β : – 0.87 ml/min/1.73m²; 95% CI: – 1.73 to – 0.01) and 32% higher odds of eGFR decline (OR: 1.32; 95% CI: 1.00–1.75).

Conclusions Among elderly individuals with overweight/obesity and MetS, only higher upward change in the 17-item erMedDiet score adherence was associated with better kidney function after one year. However, increasing Protein Diet Score appeared to have an adverse impact on kidney health. Trial Registration Number: ISRCTN89898870 (Data of registration: 2014).

Keywords Dietary patterns \cdot Mediterranean diet \cdot DASH diet \cdot Protein diet score \cdot Kidney function \cdot Glomerular filtration rate

CI

Cristina Valle-Hita and Andrés Díaz-López these authors contributed equally to this work.

CKD

Extended author information available on the last page of the article

Confidence interval

DASH	Dietary approach to stop hypertension
E	Energy
FFQ	Food frequency questionnaire
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate
MedDiet	Mediterranean diet
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
METS	Metabolic equivalent task
PREDIMED	Prevención con dieta Mediterránea
SCr	Serum creatinine
CKD-EPI	Chronic kidney disease epidemiology
	collaboration equation for caucasian
	individuals
OR	Odds ratios

Introduction

Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) is an increasing global public health problem, which affects about 9.1% of the worldwide population and 35% of those over 70 years [1]. CKD is characterized by abnormalities in kidney structure and a decline in its function [2], often accompanied by several comorbidities, decreased quality of life and premature mortality [1–3]. In fact, this heterogeneous condition is accelerated at older ages when comorbidities such as obesity, diabetes, hypertension and/or cardiovascular disease are present [1, 4]. As this disease involves a huge health and economic burden, preserving renal function, especially in old people, it is essential to ensure the well-being and reduce adverse health outcomes [1]. Accordingly, effective strategies to deal with the spread of CKD and its harmful consequences are urgently needed.

Among the lifestyle risk factors of CKD, diet may play an important role as potential modulator of kidney function decline and CKD progression [5]. However, most of the investigations have been predominantly focused on single nutrients [6, 7] or food groups [5, 8] instead of dietary patterns, hence it is likely to not exhibit the synergistic effect between its dietary components. Thus, considering that meals are composed by a combination of foods and nutrients, analysis of diet as a whole could be a more allinclusive approach not only to assess dietary exposure but also to examine its relationship with kidney health [3, 9, 10].

In this regard, results of a recent meta-analysis of prospective studies reported that a healthy dietary pattern characterized by a high consumption of plant-based food was associated with reduced incidence of CKD or albuminuria, but not with glomerular filtration rate (GFR) decline [11]. When studies are focused on particular dietary patterns such as the Mediterranean diet (MedDiet) or the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH), which are the most commonly investigated a priori dietary scores in the context of CKD [3, 12], there are inconsistent results. Whereas some studies reported a decrease in GFR decline [13], microalbuminuria or lower CKD risk [14], others failed to demonstrate any relationship between these dietary patterns and kidney outcomes [15, 16]. It is noteworthy that most of these epidemiologic studies were conducted in healthy young or middle-aged individuals, instead of high-risk participants such as elders or people with cardiometabolic comorbidities.

Furthermore, MedDiet and DASH diet are characterized by a high plant protein content and, even though protein intake has been previously associated with kidney function deterioration [17], this potential harmful effect could depend on the protein source. Accordingly, it may be of interest to investigate the association between not only the quantity but also the quality of dietary protein and renal function using specific tools as the recently developed Protein Diet Score [18].

Consequently, in view of the above, further research is required to clarify whether specific healthy dietary patterns could preserve kidney function and even prevent its decline in elderly population with underlying comorbid conditions. Therefore, the main aim of the present study was to prospectively evaluate the association between changes towards an increase in the adherence to three a priori dietary patterns (17-item erMedDiet Score, Trichopoulou-MedDiet and DASH) and kidney function decline after 1 year of followup in a large Spanish cohort of middle-aged individuals with overweight/obesity and metabolic syndrome (MetS). Secondarily, we evaluated the association between changes in the Protein Diet Score and kidney function.

Material and methods

Study design and participants

In the present study, data was analyzed using an observational prospective design conducted within the framework of the Prevención con Dieta Mediterránea (PREDIMED)-Plus trial, which included 6874 older adults enrolled between 2013 and 2016 by 23 Spanish centers working in collaboration with primary care clinics. The study design and protocol have been described in detail elsewhere [19], and are available at http://www.predimedplus.com. In brief, the PRED-IMED-Plus study is an ongoing, 8-year, parallel-group, randomized and controlled clinical trial which combines dietary and physical activity intervention with behavioral support for primary cardiovascular prevention. Eligible participants were men (55-75 years) and women (60-75 years) with overweight or obesity (BMI \geq 27 kg/m² and <40 kg/m²) and free from cardiovascular disease who satisfied at least 3 criteria for the MetS definition [20]. More specific details of inclusion/exclusion criteria have been previously reported [19]. All participants provided written informed consent and

European Journal of Nutrition

the Institutional Review Boards of each participating center approved the final study protocol and procedures, which followed the standards of the Declaration of Helsinki. The trial was registered in 2014 at the International Standard Randomized Controlled Trial registry (https://www.isrctn.com/ ISRCTN89898870).

For the current analysis, we excluded 777 participants who did not complete food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) at baseline and after a 1 year of follow-up; 160 participants with extreme total energy intake (women < 500 and > 3500 kcal/day, and men < 800 and > 4000 kcal/day) [21]; and 262 participants with missing creatinine data at baseline and after 1 year of follow-up. Consequently, the final sample for the present study was 5675 participants. Supplementary table S3 depicts the baseline characteristics by included and excluded participants.

Dietary assessment

Dietary intake was evaluated at baseline and yearly during the follow-up using a 143-item semi-quantitative FFQ [22]. Trained dieticians asked the participants about their frequency consumption of each specific item during the preceding year in a face-to-face interview. There were nine possible answers ranging from never or almost never to more than six times per day. Each item answer was collected in standard portion sizes and then transformed to g/day. Total daily intake of energy, nutrients and food groups were estimated using Spanish food composition tables [23, 24].

Moreover, in order to assess the degree of adherence to an energy reduced-MedDiet of each participant, a recently validated 17-item test (17-items erMedDiet Score) [25] was filled in every visit. This questionnaire specifically asked about the frequency consumption of extra virgin olive oil, other fats (butter, margarine, or cream), fruits and fruit juices, vegetables, meat, legumes, fish, nuts, pastries, "sofrito", non-caloric artificial sweeteners, refined grains, wholegrains, and wine. Each item of the questionnaire is scored with 1 or 0 points, when the criterion is met or not met respectively, ranging the overall score from 0 to 17 points, with 0 meaning no adherence and 17 meaning maximum adherence. Hence, this pre-defined questionnaire has the remarkable characteristic of being based on the scientific knowledge on what is a health level of intake and not on the study population distribution, unlike other indices that are calculated based on specific cut-off points (mean or quintiles) of the population included for each item of the score.

We also constructed the Trichopoulou-MedDiet Score and the DASH Score following previous detailed description in the scientific literature [26, 27]. Briefly, Trichopoulou-MedDiet Score, one of the most used MedDiet scores in nutritional epidemiological studies, is comprised of nine components and a sex-specific cutoff point, based on the median of each item consumption (g/day), is established. Components which consumption is highly recommended were 1 point scored when their consumption was equal to or greater than the median (vegetables, fruits and nuts, legumes, cereals and potatoes, fish and others, monounsaturated: saturated ratio) and zero otherwise. Non favourable components were scored with 0 when their intake was equal to or greater than the median (meat and meat products, dairy) and one otherwise. With regard to alcohol, it has been recommended a moderate consumption; therefore, the consumption of 10-50 g/day in men and 5-25 g/day in women was scored with 1 point. Alcohol consumption above or below these limits was assigned a score of 0. The total final score ranged from 0 to 9 points. For DASH Score, study population was classified into quintiles according to each score item (g/day). A progressive score from 1 to 5 was given to each quintile in case of highly recommended foods (fruits, vegetables, legumes and nuts, low-fat dairy, and whole grains). Nevertheless, an inverse score was assigned to components quintiles whose consumption is not recommended (sodium, red and processed meats, and sweetened-sugar beverages). Thus, the total score after summing up every single component ranged from 8 to 40 for DASH score.

We also included the pre-defined Protein Diet Score in our analyses [18]. The study population was divided in 11 strata according to total protein intake (E%) and in another 11 strata according to plant to animal protein ratio. Subjects in the highest stratum received 10 points and those in the lowest stratum received 0 points. Therefore, the overall score could range from 0 to 20 points, with 0 meaning the lowest total protein intake (E%) and lowest plant to animal protein ratio, and 20 meaning the highest total protein intake (E%) and the highest plant to animal protein ratio. Each component of the score was also considered separately.

Ascertainment of renal function

For the present study, we considered as main outcomes of interest, absolute changes in eGFR and $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline after 1 year of follow-up. For this purpose, eGFR was estimated indirectly from serum creatinine (SCr) at baseline and after a 1 year of follow-up using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equation for Caucasian individuals (CKD-EPI) [28]. Fasting blood samples were collected and SCr levels were determined by the enzymatic creatinine assay method (coefficient of variation <4%). Decline in eGFR ($\geq 10\%$) was estimated using the following formula: (one-year eGFR- baseline eGFR)/(baseline eGFR)*100. Participants were categorized in those with $a \geq 10\%$ eGFR decline [29].

European Journal of Nutrition

Assessment of other covariates

At baseline and after 1 year of follow-up, socio-demographic (age, sex, educational level) and lifestyle (physical activity, smoking habits) information, medication use and history of disease were collected by PREDIMED-Plus-trained staff through several questionnaires or reviewing medical records. Anthropometric measurements as weight, height or waist circumference were assessed following the study protocol. Body Mass Index (BMI) was calculated by dividing the weight (in kg) by the square of the height (in meters). For weight change after 1 year of follow-up, we constructed a new covariate by subtracting weight at 1 year minus weight at baseline. Resting blood pressure was measured in triplicate by an automated digital device (Omron-HEM297705C).

Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed using the available PREDIMED-Plus database updated to December 2020. Participants were categorized in four categories according to changes in dietary pattern scores after 1 year of follow-up: decrease or maintenance of changes and tertiles of increasing changes. Baseline characteristics of the study population were compared among categories of dietary patterns changes by using one-way ANOVA and Chi-square, as appropriate. Values were presented as percentages and numbers for categorical variables and means \pm standard deviations for continuous variables.

Multivariable linear regression models were fitted to evaluate associations between categories of changes in dietary patterns and changes in eGFR ($ml/min/1.73m^2$); results were expressed as β -coefficients and their 95% confidence interval (CI). Besides, logistic regression models were used to assess the association between categories of changes in dietary patterns and eGFR decline ($\geq 10\%$); results were expressed as odds ratios (OR) and their 95% CI. In both regression models, the first category (decrease or maintenance of changes) was used as reference. Changes in dietary pattern exposures were also modeled as continuous per 1-point increase. All regression models were adjusted for several potential confounders: Model 1 was adjusted for sex and age; model 2 was additionally adjusted for BMI (kg/m²), smoking habits (never, current or former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education or graduate), leisure time physical activity (METS/min/week), diabetes prevalence (yes/ no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group and energy intake (kcal/day); and model 3, additionally adjusted for each baseline dietary pattern score and 1-year changes in body weight. All linear regression models were further adjusted for baseline eGFR ($ml/min/1.73m^2$).

We used the robust variance estimators to account for intra-cluster correlations in all regression models. The p for linear trend was calculated assigning the median value of each category and modelling it as a continuous variable.

We also evaluated whether the associations observed between categories of changes in dietary pattern scores and changes in eGFR could be modified by sex, age, diabetes, and intervention group. Interaction was tested with the likelihood ratio tests, which involved comparing models with and without cross-product terms.

An additional analysis was included to assess the importance of each individual item of the 17-item erMedDiet Score on changes in eGFR and \geq 10% decline in eGFR. Following a previous described method [30], each item was consecutively removed one at a time from the total score. The exclusion of each item reduced the total score to 16 items. Therefore, to assure comparability with the original score, which could have a maximum punctuation of 17, we multiplied the estimated β -coefficients and the logarithm of the estimated odds ratios by 16/17. The latest was backtransformed to the original scale through exponentiation.

Statistical analyses were performed with Stata/SE software, version 14.0 (StataCorp, College Station, TX). All tests were considered significant at a 2-tailed p value < 0.05.

Results

Baseline characteristics of the study population according to 1-year changes categories (decrease/maintenance vs. tertile 3) of 17-item erMedDiet, Trichopoulou-MedDiet and DASH dietary pattern scores are presented in Table 1. Participants located in the highest tertile of increase in the 17-item erMedDiet score were less likely to be older, women and physically active, had less prevalence of diabetes, had more energy intake and consumed less proteins. Participants with higher increase in the Trichopoulou-MedDiet score adherence were more likely to exercise, had higher hypertension prevalence, less energy intake and consumed more proteins. Those individuals with higher increase in the DASH score were younger and mainly men. They had a higher energy intake and consumed less protein. Furthermore, differences in smoking status and education level were also observed. Regarding baseline scores of each dietary pattern, participants who most changed their adherence to the corresponding dietary pattern after one year of follow-up showed lower points at the beginning of the study. Baseline characteristics of the population under study according to the four categories of changes of each dietary pattern and Protein Diet Score are displayed in Supplementary Tables 1 and 2.

The mean eGFR of the study population at baseline was $84.2 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$. Over the first year of follow-up, the mean eGFR change was -0.94 mL/min/1.73 m².

European Journal of Nutrition

 Table 1
 Baseline characteristics according to categories of changes in the Mediterranean diet (17-item erMedDiet score and Trichopoulou) and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) scores after 1 year of follow-up in the PREDIMED-PLUS cohort

2	Δ Medíterranean o Díet score)	díet (17-ítem er M ed-	p value	Δ Medíterranean (diet (Trichopoulou)	p value	Δ Díetary approac síon (DASH)	hes to stop hyperten-	p value
	Decr/maint	T3		Decr/maint	T3		Decr/maint	T3	
	n=1124	n=1423		n=3408	n=534		n=2793	n=852	
Baseline 17-item erMedDíet score, poínts	10.5±2.5	6.5±1.9	< 0.01	8.7±2.7	7.7±2.6	< 0.01	9 ± 2.7	7.4±2.4	< 0.01
Baselíne Trícho- poulou Med- Diet, poínts	4.6±1.6	4.2±1.6	< 0.01	5±1.5	2.7±1.3	< 0.01	4.7±1.6	3.8±1.6	< 0.01
Baselíne DASH, poínts	25.3 ± 5.2	22.6 ± 4.9	< 0.01	24.7±5.1	21.9 ±5	< 0.01	26.2±4.8	19.3±3.8	< 0.01
Age, years	65.3±5	64.6±4.8	< 0.01	65.2 <u>+</u> 4.9	64.8 <u>+</u> 4.9	0.09	65.3 <u>+</u> 4.9	64.7 <u>±</u> 4.8	< 0.01
Women, $\%(n)$	51.4 (578)	43.6 (621)	< 0.01	48.2 (1643)	47.6 (254)	0.91	51.2 (1431)	37.8 (322)	< 0.01
BMI, kg/m ²	32.5 ± 3.5	32.6 ± 3.5	0.19	32.5 ± 3.4	32.6 ± 3.5	0.45	32.5 ± 3.5	32.7 ± 3.5	0.35
PA, METS/min/ week	2622.5±2468.1	2375.8 ±2321.4	0.01	2534.7±2296.4	2745 ± 2615.5	0.04	2597.5 ± 2322.2	2413.6±2202.9	0.16
Energy íntake, kcal/d	2347.9 <u>±</u> 549.5	2423 ± 544	< 0.01	2409.6±542.8	2311.4 ± 551.8	< 0.01	2355.9 ± 533.7	2476.8 ± 559.8	< 0.01
Proteín íntake, % energy	17±2.8	16.3 ± 2.7	< 0.01	16.6±2.7	17.1 ±2.9	< 0.01	16.9 <u>+</u> 2.8	16.4±2.8	< 0.01
Smokíng status, % (n)			0.39			0.89			0.02
Never smoked	45.3 (509)	43 (612)		44.9 (1530)	42.7 (228)		45.9 (1283)	40.6 (346)	
Former smoker	40.9 (459)	44.6 (634)		42.9 (1463)	43.6 (233)		41.2 (1150)	47.3 (403)	
Current smoker	13.9 (156)	12.4 (177)		12.2 (415)	13.7 (73)		12.9 (360)	12.1 (103)	
Education level, % (n)			0.20			0.27			0.02
Prímary educa- tíon	51.4 (578)	48.6 (692)		49.4 (1684)	50.4 (269)		51.1 (1427)	49.4 (421)	
Secondary education	26 (292)	30.9 (439)		28.3 (965)	31.7 (169)		27 (754)	30.6 (261)	
Academíc or graduate	22.6 (254)	20.5 (292)		22.3 (759)	18 (96)		21.9 (612)	20 (170)	
eGFR, mL/ mín/1.73m ²	83.4±14.4	84.7 ± 13.5	0.12	84.1 ±13.9	83.6±14.3	0.72	84.4±13.8	84.1±14.2	0.46
$\operatorname{CKD}, \mathcal{N}\left(n\right)$	7.4 (83)	6.1 (87)	0.42	6.6 (224)	7.5 (40)	0.76	6.3 (176)	7 (60)	0.43
Type 2 diabetes, % (n)	31.2 (351)	27.1 (385)	0.01	30.7 (1047)	27.5 (147)	0.38	30.8 (859)	28.8 (245)	0.21
Hypertension, $\%(n)$	83.9 (943)	85.2 (1212)	0.58	83.8 (2856)	86 (459)	0.02	83.2 (2324)	86 (733)	0.17
Hypercholester- olemía, % (n)	68.8 (773)	70.6 (1004)	0.50	69.6 (2372)	70.6 (377)	0.83	70.1 (1959)	69.1 (589)	0.55

Values are presented as percentages (n) for categorical variables and means \pm standard deviations for continuous variables. p value for the comparison among all categories was calculated by chi-square or one-way analysis of variance test for categorical and continuous variables, respectively

Decr/Maint, Decrease/Maintenance; T, tertile; MedDiet, Mediterranean Diet; BMI, Body mass index; PA, Physical activity; eGFR, estimated Glomerular filtration rate; CKD, Cronic kidney disease (eGFR < 60 mL/min/1.73m²)

Multivariable linear regression analyses for the associations between categories of changes in the adherence to the different dietary patterns and changes in eGFR at one year are depicted in Table 2. In the fully adjusted model, one year 17-item erMedDiet score changes were directly associated with eGFR changes (β : 0.78; 95% CI: 0.12–1.44 for T1 *vs.* decrease/maintenance; β : 1.06; 95% CI: 0.31–1.82 for T2 *vs.* decrease/maintenance; and β : 1.87; 95% CI: 1.00–2.73 for T3 vs. decrease/maintenance). Similar results were observed when we modeled this dietary pattern as continuous variable (β : 0.23; 95% CI: 0.13–0.32 for each 1-point increment). Changes in the Trichopoulou-MedDiet and DASH scores were not associated with eGFR changes neither when analyzed as categories nor in continuous manner, in any of the adjusted models.

	Δ Mediterran	ean diet (17-item erMedDiet s	score)		
	Decr/Maint	T1	T2	T3	p for trend
	(<i>n</i> =1124)	(n=1917)	(n=1211)	(<i>n</i> =1423)	
Δ 17-item erMedDiet score	-1.2 ± 1.4	2.1±0.8	4.5 ± 0.5	7.5±1.6	
Δ eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ^{2a}	- 1.92 (- 2.49 to - 1.34)	- 1.10 (- 1.5 to - 0.71)	- 0.83 (- 1.29 to - 0.37)	- 0.03 (- 0.55-0.48)	
β (95% CI)					
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	0.41 (- 0.23-1.05)	0.54 (- 0.14-1.22)	$1.02 {(0.35 - 1.69)}^{*}$	0.003
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	0.45 (- 0.19-1.08)	0.5 (- 0.20-1.19)	0.96 (0.25–1.68)*	0.010
Model 3	0 (Ref.)	0.78 (0.12–1.44)*	$1.06 (0.31 \text{ to } 1.82)^*$	$1.87 (1.00 - 2.73)^{*}$	< 0.001
	Δ Mediterran	ean diet (Trichopoulou)			
	(n=3408)	(n=1055)	(n=678)	(n=534)	
Δ Trichopoulou-MedDiet	-1.2 ± 1.2	1 ± 0	2 ± 0	3.5 ± 0.7	
Δ eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ^{2a}	- 1.11 (- 1.41 to - 0.81)	- 0.56 (- 1.07 to - 0.05)	- 0.75 (- 1.42 to - 0.08)	- 0.81 (- 1.57 to - 0.05)	
β (95% CI)					
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	0.41 (- 0.17-1.00)	0.23 (- 0.49-0.95)	0.23 (-0.52-0.98)	0.258
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	0.48 (- 0.1-1.07)	0.25 (- 0.47-0.97)	0.19 (- 0.57-0.95)	0.253
Model 3	0 (Ref.)	0.56 (- 0.05-1.16)	0.35 (- 0.41-1.11)	0.33 (- 0.52-1.18)	0.169
	Δ Dietary app	proaches to stop hypertension	(DASH)		
	(n=2793)	(n=1131)	(n=899)	(n=852)	
Δ DASH	-3.7 ± 3.3	2.0 ± 0.8	4.9 ± 0.8	9.6±2.7	
Δ eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ^{2a}	- 0.98 (- 1.33 to - 0.62)	- 0.74 (- 1.2 to - 0.28)	- 1.03 (- 1.62 to - 0.45)	- 0.98 (- 1.63 to - 0.33)	
β (95% CI)					
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	0.24 (- 0.32-0.80)	0.07 (- 0.58-0.73)	0.19 (- 0.47-0.86)	0.536
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	0.25 (- 0.31-0.81)	- 0.00 (- 0.67-0.66)	0.06 (- 0.62-0.75)	0.819
Model 3	0 (Ref.)	0.22 (- 0.37- 0.81)	- 0.06 (- 0.78-0.66)	- 0.04 (- 0.84-0.77)	0.957

Table 2Multivariable adjusted β -coefficients and 95% CI for changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73m²) across categories of changes to the Mediter-
ranean Diet (17-item erMedDiet score and Trichopoulou) and DASH Diet adherence after 1 year of follow-up in the PREDIMED-PLUS cohort

Decr/Maint, Decrease/Maintenance; T, tertile; eGFR, Estimated glomerular filtration rate; MedDiet, Mediterranean Diet; DASH, Dietary approaches to stop hypertension

Linear regression models were used to assess changes in eGFR by categories of changes in dietary patterns score. Model 1 was adjusted for baseline eGFR, sex and age. Model 2 was additionally adjusted for BMI, smoking habits (never, current or former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education, graduate), leisure time physical activity (METS/min/week), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group and energy intake (kcal/day). Model 3 was additionally adjusted for each baseline dietary pattern score and 1-year changes in body weight

^aMultivariable adjusted mean changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73m²) after 1 year of follow-up

p value < 0.05

No statistically significant interactions were observed between sex, age, diabetes status or intervention group and the changes in the dietary patterns scores mentioned above in relation to changes in eGFR (data not shown).

Table 3 shows the association between changes in dietary patterns and ORs of $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline after 1 year of follow-up. Changes in the 17-item erMedDiet score showed a significant graded association with eGFR decline in the

fully adjusted model (OR: 0.75; 95% CI: 0.61–0.92 for T1 of increase vs. decrease/maintenance; OR: 0.68; 95% CI: 0.53–0.87 for T2 of increase vs. decrease/maintenance; OR: 0.62; 95% CI: 0.47–0.82, for T3 of increase vs. decrease/maintenance). No significantly associations were observed between changes in the Trichopoulou-MedDiet neither in the DASH score and $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline after 1 year. When these dietary patterns were modeled as continuous variables,

European Journal of Nutrition

 Table 3
 Multivariable adjusted odd ratios and 95% CI for eGFR decline (>10%) across categories of changes to the Mediterranean Diet (17item erMedDiet score and Trichopoulou) and DASH Diet after 1 year of follow-up

	Δ Mediterranea	n diet (17-item erMedDie	et score)		
	Decr/Maint	T1	T2	T3	p for trend
	(<i>n</i> =1124)	(n=1917)	(n=1211)	(n=1423)	
Δ 17-item erMedDiet score	-1.2 ± 1.4	2.1±0.8	4.5 ± 0.5	7.5 ± 1.6	
eGFR decline, $\%$ (n)	18.33 (206)	15.86 (304)	15.03 (182)	15.11 (215)	
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	0.84 (0.69–1.02)	$0.80\left(0.64{-}0.99 ight)^{*}$	$0.80 (0.65 \text{ to } 0.99)^*$	0.052
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	0.81 (0.66–0.99)*	$0.77 \left(0.61 – 0.97 ight)^{*}$	$0.76~(0.60$ to $0.96)^{*}$	0.029
Model 3	1 (Ref.)	$0.75 {(0.61 - 0.92)}^{*}$	$0.68 \left(0.53 {-} 0.87 ight)^{*}$	$0.62~{(0.47~{ m to}~0.82)}^{*}$	0.001
	Δ Mediterranea	n diet (Trichopoulou)			
	(n=3408)	(n=1055)	(n = 678)	(n=534)	
Δ Trichopoulou-MedDiet	-1.2 ± 1.2	1 ± 0	2 ± 0	3.5 ± 0.7	
eGFR decline, $\%$ (n)	16.08 (548)	16.30 (172)	14.90 (101)	16.10 (86)	
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.02 (0.85-1.24)	0.92 (0.73-1.16)	1.01 (0.79-1.29)	0.809
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.00 (0.83-1.21)	0.91 (0.72–1.15)	1.00 (0.77-1.29)	0.686
Model 3	1 (Ref.)	1.02 (0.84–1.25)	0.94 (0.73–1.20)	1.05 (0.79–1.39)	0.998
	Δ Dietary appr	oaches to stop hypertensio	on (DASH)		
	(n=2793)	(n=1131)	(n=899)	(n=852)	
Δ DASH	-3.7 ± 3.3	2.0±0.8	4.9±0.8	9.6±2.7	
eGFR decline, $\%$ (n)	16.36 (457)	14.41 (163)	17.02 (153)	15.73 (134)	
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	0.87 (0.72–1.05)	1.06 (0.87-1.30)	0.97 (0.78-1.20)	0.872
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	0.85 (0.70-1.04)	1.04 (0.84–1.28)	0.95 (0.76-1.18)	0.685
Model 3	1 (Ref.)	0.85 (0.70-1.05)	1.05 (0.83-1.32)	0.97 (0.74–1.26)	0.862

Logistic regression models were used to assess eGFR decline (>10%) by categories of dietary patterns score changes. Model 1 was adjusted for sex and age. Model 2 was additionally adjusted for BMI, smoking habits (never, current or former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education, graduate), leisure time physical activity (METS/min/week), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group and energy intake (kcal/day). Model 3 was additionally adjusted for each baseline dietary pattern score and 1-year changes in body weight

Decr/Maint, Decrease/Maintenance; T, tertile; eGFR, Estimated glomerular filtration rate; MedDiet, Mediterranean Diet; DASH, Dietary approaches to stop hypertension

p value < 0.05

similar associations were obtained, being only the 17-item erMedDiet score associated with lower odds of $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline (OR: 0.95; 95%: CI 0.92–0.98 for 1-point increment). Similar results were observed after excluding 378 participants with CKD at baseline from the main analysis, which are depicted in Supplementary Table 4.

Figure 1 displays the association between changes in Protein Diet score and eGFR changes and $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline after one year of follow-up. We observed a significant association between this score and both renal outcomes. Compared to participants without changes or with a decrease in the Protein Diet score, those in the highest tertile of increase had greater downward changes in eGFR (β : - 0.87; 95% CI: - 1.73 to - 0.01) and a 32% higher odds of eGFR decline (OR: 1.32; 95% CI: 1.00-1.75) in the fully adjusted model. When each component of this score was examined separately, only the change in total protein intake (E%) score presented a significant inverse association with eGFR changes (β : - 1.04; 95% CI: - 1.88 to - 0.21; for T3 *vs*. decrease/maintenance) in the multivariate adjusted model.

Table 4 shows the additional analysis after the alternatively removal of each individual component of the 17-item erMedDiet score modeled as continuous in the regression models. The results remained consistent with those from the main analyses for both eGFR changes and $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline. We observed that the greatest contributors to the association between changes in 17-item erMedDiet score and eGFR changes after 1 year of follow-up were the consumption of ≥ 2 units/day of vegetables, ≥ 3 servings/week of legumes (13% reduction in the association after removing these items from the total score); the use of sofrito ≥ 2 times/ week (17% reduction) and moderate consumption of wine (22% reduction). Similar results were obtained when we



Fig. 1 Associations between changes in Protein Diet score and kidney function. A Multivariable adjusted β -coefficients and 95%CI for changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73m²) across categories of changes to the protein diet score adherence after 1 year of follow-up. B Multivariable adjusted odd ratios and 95% CI for eGFR decline (>10%) across categories of changes to the protein diet score adherence after 1 year of follow-up. Decr/Maint, Decrease/Maintenance; eGFR, Estimated glomerular filtration rate; Decr/Maint, Decrease/Maintenance. ^aMean changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73m²): Decr/Maint (- 0.71; -1.02 to -0.41), tertile 1 of changes (-1.05; -1.52 to -0.57), tertile 2 of changes (-1.31; -1.96 to -0.65), tertile 3 of changes

performed the same removing items procedures for $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline as an outcome variable.

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first prospective study examining the association between different a priori defined dietary patterns adherence and kidney function in elderly individuals with overweight/obesity and MetS. We found that a higher upward change in the adherence to a 17-item erMedDiet score was associated with improvements in eGFR changes and with 38% lower odds of eGFR decline after controlling for potential confounders. However, changes in the adherence to the Trichopoulou-MedDiet and DASH Score were not associated with changes in eGFR, neither with $a \ge 10\%$ eGFR decline. Regarding the Protein Diet Score, higher changes toward a greater adherence were associated with a worsening of eGFR.

Previous studies have reported that MedDiet adherence is inversely associated with eGFR decline [31], incidence of CKD [32, 33], and risk of end-stage of kidney disease (ESKD) [34] in populations of youth to middle-age with apparently preserved eGFR. Our results regarding the prespecified 17-item Med Diet score are in line with two prior randomized clinical trials, the PREDIMED in Spain [35] and the DIRECT [36] in Israel, in which MedDiet improved



European Journal of Nutrition

(-1.61; -2.38 to -0.84). ^bPercentage of participants with eGFR decline(>10%): Decr/Maint (n = 507; % = 15.54), tertile 1 of changes (n=196; %=16.27), tertile 2 of changes (n=106; %=15.57), tertile 3 of changes (n=98; %=18.60). All models were adjusted for baseline eGFR (except for eGFR decline > 10%), sex, age, BMI, smoking habits (never, current or former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education, graduate), leisure time physical activity (METS/ min/week), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group and energy intake (kcal/day) and 1-year changes in body weight

levels of eGFR in participants with overweight/obesity, whereas the data-driven by the Trichopoulou score not. In the Lifelines cohort study conducted on apparently healthy middle-aged adults of Netherlands, an inverse association between the MedDiet adherence according to Trichopoulou and eGFR decline was reported in men, but not in women [31]. Besides, in the Uppsala Longitudinal Study of Adult Men cohort (ULSAM), conducted in middle-age men, it was observed that a greater adherence to the MedDiet according Trichopoulou was significantly associated with lower odds of having CKD when it was estimated by cystatine C, but not by creatinine estimation [33]. In our study, the analysis was performed in the whole study population because we did not observe any interaction with sex. However, considering that previous evidence has reported significant associations in men but not in women, future studies stratifying by sex are needed to shed new light on whether the MedDiet could have a different role in kidney function in men than women. In the Northern Manhattan Study (NOMAS), a prospective multiethnic cohort conducted in 3298 middle-age participants with no previous history of stroke, no significant association were observed across their four categories of Trichopoulou-MedDiet adherence and eGFR decline, neither change in eGFR [15]. The apparent disagreement between 17-MedDiet and Trichopoulou-MedDiet Scores in our study reveals the disparities between both tools concerning the items included. The inclusion of more food groups

European Journal of Nutrition

Table 4 Association between 1-point increment in the 17-item erMedDiet score and changes in eGER $(m!/m!n!1, 73m^2)$ and		β -coefficient (95%CI Δ eGFR	Reduction/ increase (%)	OR (95%CI) eGFR decline (>10%)
eGFR decline (>10%) after alternate subtraction of each of	17-item erMedDiet score overall	0.23 (0.13–0.32)		0.95 (0.92–0.98)
its dietary components	Minus item 1	0.21 (0.12-0.30)	- 8.70	0.96 (0.93-0.98)
	Minus item 2	0.20 (0.11-0.30)	- 13.04	0.96 (0.93-0.99)
	Minus item 3	0.22 (0.12-0.31)	- 4.35	0.96 (0.93-0.99)
	Minus item 4	0.24 (0.14-0.33)	4.35	0.96 (0.92-0.99)
	Minus item 5	0.22 (0.13-0.31)	- 4.35	0.95 (0.93-0.98)
	Minus item 6	0.22 (0.12-0.31)	- 4.35	0.96 (0.93-0.98)
	Minus item 7	0.20 (0.10-0.29)	- 13.04	0.96 (0.93-0.99)
	Minus item 8	0.22 (0.13-0.31)	- 4.35	0.95 (0.92-0.98)
	Minus item 9	0.24 (0.15-0.34)	4.35	0.95 (0.92-0.98)
	Minus item 10	0.24 (0.15-0.34)	4.35	0.95 (0.92-0.98)
	Minus item 11	0.21 (0.12-0.31)	- 8.70	0.95 (0.92-0.98)
	Minus item 12	0.18 (0.09-0.28)	- 17.39	0.96 (0.93-0.99)
	Minus item 13	0.24 (0.15-0.34)	4.35	0.95 (0.92-0.98)
	Minus item 14	0.23 (0.13-0.33)	0	0.95 (0.92-0.98)
	Minus item 15	0.22 (0.12-0.32)	- 4.35	0.95 (0.92-0.98)

0.28 (0.18-0.38)

0.20 (0.11-0.29)

Minus item 16 Minus item 17

Models were adjusted for baseline eGFR (only for β -coefficient), sex, age, BMI, smoking habits (never, current or former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education, graduate), leisure time physical activity (METS/min/week), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group and energy intake (kcal/day), 1-year changes in body weight, baseline dietary pattern score and changes in corresponding subtracted components

13.04

-21.73

eGFR, Estimated glomerular filtration rate; MedDiet, Mediterranean diet; Item I, use only extra virgin olive oil for cooking; Item 2, consume ≥ 2 of vegetables units/day; Item 3, consume ≥ 3 fruits units/day; Item 4, consume ≤ 1 serving/week of red meat and processed meats; Item 5, consume < 1 serving/week of butter, margarine or cream; Item 6, drink <1 sugar-sweetened beverage or fruit juice/week; Item 7, consume \geq 3 servings/week of legumes; Item 8, consume \geq 3 servings/week of fish or shellfish; Item 9, consume <3 times/week commercial sweets or pastries; Item 10, consume \geq 3 servings/week of nuts; Item 11, consume preferentially lean meats; Item 12, consume ≥ 2 times/week dishes seasoned with sofrito (tomato, onion, leek or garlic sauce simmered in olive oil); Item 13, add preferentially noncaloric artificial sweeteners to beverages; Item 14, consume ≥ 1 servings/day of white bread; Item 15, consume ≥ 5 times/week whole grain cereals and pasta; Item 16, consume <3 times/week refined pasta or white rice; Item 17, moderate consume of wine /day (2-3 glasses in men/1-2 in women)

into the 17-MedDiet Score screener tool maybe would imply a more representative assessment of diet to observe changes in eGFR. Additionally, scoring criteria are quite different; while the 17-item erMedDiet uses absolute values derived from a predefined questionnaire, the Trichopoulou-MedDiet score is assigned according to gender-specific medians of food group consumption of the study population [26]. The later may hinder comparability with other publications where particular cultural and dietary habits are present. Likewise, these issues may explain the controversial results observed between both MedDiet scoring methods in our sample. Of note, this is the first study so far analyzing the association between the adherence to the MedDiet, using the 17-MedDiet score screener tool, and renal function. Further studies, considering both scores (Trichopoulou-MedDiet and 17-item erMedDiet) are needed to clarify and strengthen our results.

0.93 (0.90-0.96)

0.96 (0.93-0.99)

Although the DASH diet has been formerly associated with better kidney function outcomes such as rapid eGFR decline [13] or CKD incidence [37], a recent meta-analysis did not confirm such associations [11], which is partly agreed with our findings. In fact, in the Healthy Aging in Neighborhoods of Diversity across the Life Span (HAN-DLS) study [16], the authors not only reported a lack of association between this dietary pattern and eGFR decline or incident CKD but also even greater risk of rapid kidney function decline among the group of middle-age individuals with hypertension after 5 years of follow-up. Whether a plant-based diet like the DASH, which is apparently similar to the MedDiet, is not associated with a better kidney

Reduction/

increase

(%)

-20-20- 20 -200 -20- 20 0 0 0 0 -200 0 0

40

-20

function, despite being protective against hypertension [38], which in turn is a well-known risk factor for kidney disease, needs to be further investigated.

The underlying biological mechanisms whereby changes toward a greater adherence to a plant-based diet as the Med-Diet, but not the DASH diet, could preserve or improve kidney function are not entirely clear. When we analyzed individual components of the 17-item erMedDiet Score, vegetables, legumes, wine and the traditional Mediterranean tomato and olive oil sauce (*sofrito*) were associated with better renal function. These foods represent the main differences between the two dietary aforementioned patterns and are rich in some beneficial nutrients such as fiber, antioxidants and anti-inflammatory compounds that may play a protective role by reducing the levels of inflammatory biomarkers, improving endothelial function, plasma lipid profiles and insulin resistance, lowering high blood pressure, and preserving a low glycemic index and load [6, 39–45].

Both Mediterranean diet and DASH, which has been usually associated with better markers of kidney function, are rich in plant-protein. Despite some evidence has raised concerns about the detrimental effects of high-protein intake on kidney damage [46], it seems that besides the quantity, the source of protein intake might be considered when analyzing these associations. Likewise, its long-term effects in vulnerable elderly individuals are still unknown. Our results regarding the Protein Diet Score are not in line with those of a previous cross-sectional study based on three cohort [18], NQplus, Lifelines, and the Young Finns Study, where a positive association between the protein score and eGFR was repy, by assuming that participants with renal dysfunction have already changed their protein intake [18]. Besides, our results from each component of the Protein Diet Score suggest that increased protein total intake could be the major drive for the deleterious renal association observed. Further research with long duration is warranted using this score to clarify its potential implication in kidney function and damage.

Limitations of the current study must be considered when interpreting the results. Firstly, eGFR measurement was estimated using SCr, as in most of epidemiologic studies, but other more optimal biomarkers exist. However, the procedures of those biomarkers are expensive, time consuming and difficult to be used in large population studies. Secondly, although the FFQ is an appropriate tool to assess usual dietary intake when it is carefully administered by trained staff, recall bias could not be ruled out. Thirdly, this study was conducted in elderly Mediterranean individuals with overweight/obesity and MetS; consequently, our findings cannot be extrapolated to other study populations. Fourthly, PRED-IMED-Plus study is a randomized controlled trial; therefore, the lifestyle advice in turn could affect our findings. Nevertheless, we adjusted our analyses by the intervention group. Finally, SCr has a well-known biological variability and as we only measured it at baseline and 1 year (at short term), some degree of misclassification could be present. The present study also has notable strengths, which deserve to be mentioned, such as its prospective design, the relatively large sample size and the inclusion of different dietary patterns in main analyses. Moreover, we adjusted our models for a substantial number of covariates which could affect renal function, to try to control for potential bias. Even so, as in any observational study, we cannot rule out the possibility of residual or unmeasured confounding.

Conclusion

In summary, changes towards a greater adherence in the 17-item erMedDiet score after 1 year of follow-up were associated with better eGFR and lower odds of $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline in an elderly population with MetS. Not significant results were observed with regards to the Trichopoulou-MedDiet and DASH Score. These discrepancies could be partially explained by their differences in the calculation of the score, which in contrast to the 17-item erMedDiet depends on cut-off points based on the study population distribution of each item. Future studies in the renal function field should consider including the 17-item erMedDiet score in their analyses to clarify and strengthen our findings. Besides, the Protein Diet Score was associated with changes towards a worse eGFR and higher odds of $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline. Our results provide further insights to the evidence concerning a priori dietary patterns associated with kidney function in populations at high cardiovascular risk and reinforce the role of a plant-protein-based healthy diet in preserving renal function, particularly among this vulnerable population group. Therefore, improving dietary habits following a MedDiet could lead to a better kidney function, and even it could be considered an appropriate and safe preventive strategy against the onset or progression of CKD. However, these findings should be confirmed by future long-term studies and randomized controlled trials before including this kind of diet in the prevention and management guidelines of CKD.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-022-02838-7.

Acknowledgements The authors would especially like to thank the PREDIMED-Plus participants for their enthusiastic collaboration, the PREDIMED-Plus personnel for their outstanding support and the personnel of affiliated primary care centers for their exceptional effort. CIBEROBN, CIBERESP and CIBERDEM are initiatives of ISCIII, Madrid, Spain. We also thank the PREDIMED-Plus Biobank Network, part of the National Biobank Platform of the ISCIII for storing and managing the PREDIMED-Plus biological samples.

European Journal of Nutrition

Author's contributions CV-H, AD-L, NB-T, MAM-G, VR-G, DC, AG, JAM, AMA-G, JW, JV, DR, JLM, RE, FJT, JL, LS-M, NC-I, JAT, MR-G, XP, MD-R, PM-M, JV, SM-F, LD, ER, ET, JV-S, CR, IA, AM-R, EC-O, IC-G, MM, AG-R, RC, JCF-G, JMS-L, JD-E, CO-Z, MC, MAZ, CS-S, MR-C, MF, JS-S, and NB designed and conducted the research. CV-H, AD-L and NB-T- analysed the data. CV-H, AD-L, NB-T, and NB wrote the article. All authors revised the manuscript for important intellectual content and read and approved the final manuscript. The corresponding author attests that all listed authors meet authorship criteria and that no others meeting the criteria have been omitted. CV-H and NBT are the guarantors of this work and, as such, had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Funding Open Access funding provided thanks to the CRUE-CSIC agreement with Springer Nature. This work was supported by the official Spanish Institutions for funding scientific biomedical research, CIBER Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y Nutrición (CIBEROBN) and Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), through the Fondo de Investigación para la Salud (FIS), which is co-funded by the European Regional Development Fund (six coordinated FIS projects leaded by JS-S and JVi, including the following projects: PI13/00673, PI13/00492, PI13/00272, PI13/01123, PI13/00462, PI13/00233, PI13/02184, PI13/00728, PI13/01090, PI13/01056, PI14/01722, PI14/00636, PI14/00618, PI14/00696, PI14/01206, PI14/01919, PI14/00853, PI14/01374, PI14/00972, PI14/00728, PI14/01471, PI16/00473, PI16/00662, PI16/01873, PI16/01094, PI16/00501, PI16/00533, PI16/00381, PI16/00366, PI16/01522, PI16/01120, PI17/00764, PI17/01183, PI17/00855, PI17/01347, PI17/00525, PI17/01827, PI17/00532, PI17/00215, PI17/01441, PI17/00508, PI17/01732, PI17/00926, PI19/00957, PI19/00386, PI19/00309, PI19/01032, PI19/00576, PI19/00017, PI19/01226, PI19/00781, PI19/01560, PI19/01332, PI20/01802, PI20/00138, PI20/01532, PI20/00456, PI20/00339, PI20/00557, PI20/00886, PI20/01158); the Especial Action Project entitled: Implementación y evaluación de una intervención intensiva sobre la actividad física Cohorte PRED-IMED-Plus grant to JS-S; the European Research Council (Advanced Research Grant 2014-2019; agreement #340918) granted to MÁM-G.; the Recercaixa (number 2013ACUP00194) grant to JS-S; grants from the Consejería de Salud de la Junta de Andalucía (PI0458/2013, PS0358/2016, PI0137/2018); the PROMETEO/2017/017 and the PROMETEO 21/2021 grant from the Generalitat Valenciana; the SEMERGEN grant; the Boosting young talent call grant program for the development of IISPV research projects 2019-2021 (Ref.: 2019/ IISPV/03 grant to AD-L); the Societat Catalana d'Endocrinologia i Nutrició (SCEN) Clinical-Research Grant 2019 (IPs: JS-S and AD-L). Collaborative Nutrition and/or Obesity Project for Young Researchers 2019 supported by CIBEROBN entitled: Lifestyle Interventions and Chronic Kidney Disease: Inflammation, Oxidative Stress and Metabolomic Profile (LIKIDI study) grant to AD-L. Jordi Salas-Salvadó, gratefully acknowledges the financial support by ICREA under the ICREA Academia programme. M.R.-G., is supported by the Ministry of Education of Spain (FPU17/06488). None of the funding sources took part in the design, collection, analysis, interpretation of the data, or writing the report, or in the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

Declarations

Conflict of interest JS-S reported receiving research support from the Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia, Departament de Salut Pública de la Generalitat de Catalunya, the European Commission, the California Walnut Commission, Patrimonio Comunal Olivarero, La Morella Nuts, and Borges S.A; receiving consulting fees or travel expenses from California Walnut Commission, Eroski Foundation, Instituto Danone, Abbott Laboratories and Mundifarma, receiving nonfinancial support from Hojiblanca, Patrimonio Comunal Olivarero, and Almond Board of California; serving on the board of and receiving grant support through his institution from the International Nut and Dried Foundation and the Eroski Foundation; and grants and personal fees from Instituto Danone. ER reported receiving grants, personal fees, and nonfinancial support from the California Walnut Commission during the conduct of the study and grants, personal fees, nonfinancial support from Alexion; personal fees from Amarin; and nonfinancial support from the International Nut Council outside the submitted work. RE reported receiving grants from Instituto de Salud Carlos III and olive oil for the trial from Fundacion Patrimonio Comunal Olivarero\during the conduct of the study and personal fees from Brewers of Europe, Fundación Cerveza y Salud, Interprofesional del Aceite de Oliva, Instituto Cervantes, Pernaud Richar, Fundación Dieta Mediterránea, Wine and Culinary International Forum; nonfinancial support from Sociedad Española de Nutrición and Fundación Bosch y Gimpera; and grants from Uriach Laboratories outside the submitted work. XP reported receiving grants from ISCIII during the conduct of the study; receiving consulting fees from Sanofi Aventis, Amgen, and Abbott laboratories; receiving lecture personal fees from Esteve, Lacer and Rubio laboratories. All other authors have no relevant financial or non-financial interests to disclose.

Ethical approval The study protocol and procedures were approved according to the ethical standards of the Declaration of Helsinki by the Institutional Review Boards (IRBs) of all the participating institutions.

Consent to participate Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

Consent for publication All authors have approved this manuscript for publication.

Availability of the data and materials There are restrictions on the availability of data for the PREDIMED-Plus trial, due to the signed consent agreements around data sharing, which only allow access to external researchers for studies following the project purposes. Requestors wishing to access the PREDIMED-Plus trial data used in this study can make a request to the PREDIMED-Plus trial Steering Committee chair: predimed_plus_scommitte@googlegroups.com. The request will then be passed to members of the PREDIMED-Plus Steering Committee for deliberation.

Code availability Not applicable.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

1. Bikbov B, Purcell CA, Levey AS et al (2020) Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 395:709–733

- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group (2013) KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int 3:1–150
- Ajjarapu AS, Hinkle SN, Li M, Francis EC, Zhang C (2019) Dietary patterns and renal health outcomes in thegeneral population: a review focusing on prospective studies. Nutrients. https://doi. org/10.3390/nu11081877
- 4. O'Sullivan ED, Hughes J, Ferenbach DA (2017) Renal aging: causes and consequences. J Am Soc Nephrol 28:407–420
- 5. van Westing AC, Küpers LK, Geleijnse JM (2020) Diet and kidney function: a literature review. Curr Hypertens Rep 22:1–9
- Yuzbashian E, Asghari G, Mirmiran P, Hosseini FS, Azizi F (2015) Associations of dietary macronutrients with glomerular filtration rate and kidney dysfunction: Tehran lipid and glucose study. J Nephrol 28:173–180
- Lin J, Hu FB, Curhan GC (2010) Associations of diet with albuminuria and kidney function decline. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 5:836–843
- Nettleton JA, Steffen LM, Palmas W, Burke GL, Jacobs DR (2008) Associations between microalbuminuria and animal foods, plant foods, and dietary patterns in the Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Am J Clin Nutr 87:1825–1836
- 9. Hu FB (2002) Dietary pattern analysis: a new direction in nutritional epidemiology. Curr Opin Lipidol 13:3–9
- Xu SS, Hua J, Huang YQ, Shu L (2020) Association between dietary patterns and chronic kidney disease in a middle-aged Chinese population. Public Health Nutr 23:1058–1066
- Bach KE, Kelly JT, Campbell KL, Palmer SC, Khalesi S, Strippoli GFM (2019) Healthy dietary patterns and incidence of CKD: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 14:1441-1449
- Quintela BCSF, Carioca AAF, de Oliveira JGR, Fraser SDS, da Silva Junior GB (2021) Dietary patterns and chronic kidney disease outcomes: a systematic review. Nephrology 26:603–612
- Lin J, Fung TT, Hu FB, Curhan GC (2011) Association of dietary patterns with albuminuria and kidney function decline in older white women: a subgroup analysis from the nurses health study. Am J Kidney Dis 57:245–254
- 14. Hu EA, Coresh J, Anderson CAM et al (2021) Adherence to healthy dietary patterns and risk of CKD progression and allcause mortality: findings from the CRIC (Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort) Study. Am J Kidney Dis 77:235–244
- 15. Khatri M, Moon YP, Scarmeas N, Gu Y, Gardener H, Cheung K, Wright CB, Sacco RL, Nickolas TL, Elkind MSV (2014) The association between a mediterranean-style diet and kidney function in the northern manhattan study cohort. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 9:1868–1875
- Liu Y, Kuczmarski MF, Miller ER, Nava MB, Zonderman AB, Evans MK, Powe NR, Crews DC (2017) Dietary habits and risk of kidney function decline in an urban population. J Ren Nutr 27:16–25
- Jee Ko G, Obi Y, Tortorici AR, Kalantar-Zadeh K (2017) Dietary protein intake and chronic kidney disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 20:77–85
- Møller G, Sluik D, Ritz C et al (2017) A protein diet score, including plant and animal protein, investigating the association with hba1c and eGFR-The PREVIEW project. Nutrients 9:1–14
- Martínez-González MA, Buil-Cosiales P, Corella D et al (2019) Cohort profile: design and methods of the PREDIMED-Plus randomized trial. Int J Epidemiol 48:387–3880
- Alberti KGMM, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, Fruchart JC, James WPT, Loria CM, Smith SC (2009) Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim

statement of the international diabetes federation task force on epidemiology and prevention; National heart, lung, and blood institute; American heart association; World heart federation; International. Circulation 120:1640–1645

- Willett WC, Howe R, Kushi LH (1997) Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. Am J Clin Nutr 65:12208-S1228
- 22. Fernández-Ballart JD, Piñol JL, Zazpe I, Corella D, Carrasco P, Toledo E, Perez-Bauer M, Martínez-González MÁ, Salas-Salvadó J, Martín-Moreno JM (2010) Relative validity of a semi-quantitative food-frequency questionnaire in an elderly Mediterranean population of Spain. Br J Nutr 103:1808–1816
- 23. Mataix Verdú J (2003) Tabla de composición de alimentos [Food Composition Tables]. Granada, Spain
- Moreiras O, Carvajal A, Cabrera L CC (2005) Tablas de composición de alimentos" Food Composition Tables" Pirámide, Madrid, Spain
- Schröder H, Zomeño MD, Martínez-González MA et al (2021) Validity of the energy-restricted Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener. Clin Nutr. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CLNU.2021.06.030
- Trichopoulou A, Costacou T, Bamia CTD (2003) Adherence to a Mediterranean diet and survival in a Greek population. N Engl J Med 348:2599–2608
- Fung TT, Chiuve SE, McCullough ML, Rexrode KM, Logroscino G, Hu FB (2008) Adherence to a DASH-Style diet and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke in women. Arch Intern Med 168:713-720
- 28. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH et al (2009) A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med 150:604–612
- 29. Levey AS, Inker LA, Matsushita K, Greene T, Willis K, Lewis E, De Zeeuw D, Cheung AK, Coresh J (2014) GFR decline as an end point for clinical trials in CKD: a scientific workshop sponsored by the national kidney foundation and the US food and drug administration. Am J Kidney Dis 64:821–835
- Trichopoulou A, Bamia C, Trichopoulos D (2009) Anatomy of health effects of Mediterranean diet: Greek EPIC prospective cohort study. BMJ 339:26-28
- 31. Cai Q, Dekker LH, Bakker SJL, de Borst MH, Navis GJ (2020) Dietary patterns based on estimated glomerular filtration rate and kidney function decline in the general population: the lifelines cohort study. Nutrients. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12041099
- 32. Hu EA, Steffen LM, Grams ME, Crews DC, Coresh J, Appel LJ, Rebholz CM (2019) Dietary patterns and risk of incident chronic kidney disease: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. Am J Clin Nutr 110:713–721
- Huang X, Jiménez-Molén JJ, Lindholm B, Cederholm T, Ärnlöv J, Risérus U, Sjögren P, Carrero JJ (2013) Mediterranean diet, kidney function, and mortality in men with CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 8:1548–1555
- 34. Geng T-T, Jafar TH, Neelakantan N, Yuan J-M, van Dam RM, Koh W-P (2021) Healthful dietary patterns and risk of end-stage kidney disease: the Singapore Chinese Health Study. Am J Clin Nutr 113:675–683
- 35. Díaz-López A, Bulló M, Martínez-González MÁ, Guasch-Ferré M, Ros E, Basora J, Covas MI, Del Carmen L-S, Salas-Salvadó J (2012) Effects of mediterranean diets on kidney function: a report from the PREDIMED trial. Am J Kidney Dis 60:380–389
- 36. Tirosh A, Golan R, Harman-Boehm I et al (2013) Renal function following three distinct weight loss dietary strategies during 2 years of a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care 36:2225-2232
- 37. Rebholz CM, Crews DC, Grams ME, Steffen LM, Levey AS, Miller ER, Appel LJ, Coresh J (2016) DASH (Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension) Diet and risk of subsequent kidney disease. Am J Kidney Dis 68:853–861

European Journal of Nutrition

- Appel LJ, Moore TJ, Obarzanek E et al (1997) A clinical trial of the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure. N Engl J Med 336:1117-1124
- 39. Esposito K, Marfella R, Ciotola M, Di Palo C, Giugliano F, Giugliano G, D'Armiento M, D'Andrea F, Giugliano D (2004) Effect of a Mediterranean-style diet on endothelial dysfunction and markers of vascular inflammation in the metabolic syndrome: a randomized trial. J Am Med Assoc 292:1440–1446
- 40. Holt EM, Steffen LM, Moran A, Basu S, Steinberger J, Ross JA, Hong CP (2009) Fruit and vegetable consumption and its relation to markers of inflammation and oxidative stress in adolescents. J Am Diet Assoc 109:414–421
- Farhadnejad H, Asghari G, Mirmiran P, Yuzbashian E, Azizi F (2016) Micronutrient intakes and incidence of chronic kidney disease in adults: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study. Nutrients 8:1–10

- Slavin J, Beate L (2012) Health benefits of fruits and vegetables. Adv Nutr 3:506–516
- 43. Letourneau P, Bataille S, Chauveau P, Fouque D, Koppe L (2020) Source and composition in amino acid of dietary proteins in the primary prevention and treatment of CKD. Nutrients 12:1–21
- Apetrii M, Daniel Timofte LV, Covic A (2021) Nutrition in chronic kidney disease—the role of proteins and specific diets. Nutrients 13:956
- Widmer RJ, Flammer AJ, Lerman LO, Lerman A (2015) The Mediterranean diet, its components, and cardiovascular disease. Am J Med 128:229–238
- King AJ, Levey AS (1993) Dietary protein and renal function. J Am Soc Nephrol 3:1723–1737

Authors and Affiliations

Cristina Valle-Hita^{1,2,3} · Andrés Díaz-López^{1,2,4,5} · Nerea Becerra-Tomás^{1,2,4,6} · Miguel A. Martínez-González^{4,7,8} · Verónica Ruiz García^{1,9} · Dolores Corella^{4,10} · Albert Goday^{4,11} · J. Alfredo Martínez^{4,12,13} . Ángel M. Alonso-Gómez^{4,15} · Julia Wärnberg^{4,16} · Jesús Vioque^{17,18} · Dora Romaguera^{4,19} · José López-Miranda^{4,20} · Ramon Estruch^{4,21} · Francisco J. Tinahones^{4,22} · José Lapetra^{4,23} · Luís Serra-Majem^{4,24} · Naomi Cano-Ibáñez^{18,25} . Josep A. Tur^{4,19,26} · María Rubín-García²⁷ · Xavier Pintó^{4,28,29} · Miguel Delgado-Rodríguez^{18,30} · Pilar Matía-Martín³¹ · Josep Vidal^{32,33} · Sebastian Mas Fontao³⁴ · Lidia Daimiel¹⁴ · Emilio Ros^{4,35} · Estefania Toledo^{4,7} · José V. Sorlí^{4,10} . C. Roca^{4,11} · Iztiar Abete^{4,12} · Anai Moreno-Rodriguez^{4,15} · Edelys Crespo-Oliva^{4,16} · Inmaculada Candela-García³⁶ · Marga Morey^{4,19} · Antonio Garcia-Rios^{4,20} · Rosa Casas^{4,21} · Jose Carlos Fernandez-Garcia²² · José Manuel Santos-Lozano^{4,23} · Javier Diez-Espino^{4,7,37} · Carolina Ortega-Azorín^{4,10} · M. Comas^{4,11} · M. Angeles Zulet^{4,12} · Carolina Sorto-Sanchez^{4,15} · Miguel Ruiz-Canela^{4,7} · Montse Fitó^{4,11} · Jordi Salas-Salvadó^{1,2,3,4} .

- ⊠ Nerea Becerra-Tomás nerea.becerra@urv.cat
- ¹ Department of Biochemistry and Biotechonology, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Human Nutrition Unit, Carrer Sant Llorenç, 21, 43201 Reus, Spain
- ² Institut d'Investigació Sanitària Pere Virgili (IISPV), 43204 Reus, Spain
- ³ University Hospital of Sant Joan de Reus, Nutrition Unit, 43201 Reus, Spain
- ⁴ Consorcio CIBER, M.P. Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y la Nutrición (CIBERObn), Institute of Health Carlos III, 28029 Madrid, Spain
- ⁵ Serra Hunter Fellow, Nutrition and Mental Health Research Group (NUTRISAM), Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 43201 Reus, Spain
- ⁶ Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College London, St Mary's Campus, Norfolk Place, London W2 1PG, UK
- ⁷ Department of Preventive Medicine and Public Health, University of Navarra, IdiSNA, 31008 Pamplona, Spain
- ⁸ Department of Nutrition, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA 02115, USA
- ⁹ University Hospital of Tarragona Joan XXIII, 43005 Tarragona, Spain

- ¹⁰ Department of Preventive Medicine, University of Valencia, 46010 Valencia, Spain
- ¹¹ Cardiovascular Risk and Nutrition Research Group (CARIN), Hospital del Mar Research Institute (IMIM), Departament de Medicina, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08003 Barcelona, Spain
- ¹² Department of Nutrition, Food Science and Physiology, University of Navarra, IdiSNA, 31008 Pamplona, Spain
- ¹³ Precision Nutrition Program, CEI UAM + CSIC, IMDEA Food and Health Sciences, 28049 Madrid, Spain
- ¹⁴ CEI UAM + CSIC, Nutritional Control of the Epigenome Group, IMDEA Food, 28049 Madrid, Spain
- ¹⁵ Bioaraba Health Research Institute, Osakidetza Basque Health Service, Araba University Hospital, University of the Basque Country UPV/EHU, 01009 Vitoria-Gasteiz, Spain
- ¹⁶ Department of Nursing, University of Málaga, Institute of Biomedical Research in Malaga (IBIMA), 29071 Málaga, Spain
- ¹⁷ Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria y Biomédica de Alicante, Miguel Hernandez University (ISABIAL-UMH), 46020 Alicante, Spain
- ¹⁸ CIBER de Epidemiología y Salud Pública (CIBERESP), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, 28029 Madrid, Spain
- ¹⁹ Health Research Institute of the Balearic Islands (IdISBa), 07120 Palma de Mallorca, Spain

European Journal of Nutrition

- ²⁰ Department of Internal Medicine, Maimonides Biomedical Research Institute of Cordoba (IMIBIC), Reina Sofia University Hospital, University of Cordoba, 14004 Cordoba, Spain
- ²¹ Department of Internal Medicine, Institutd'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi Sunyer (IDIBAPS), Hospital Clinic, University of Barcelona, 08036 Barcelona, Spain
- ²² Department of Endocrinology, Virgen de la Victoria Hospital Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Málaga (IBIMA), University of Málaga, 29010 Málaga, Spain
- ²³ Department of Family Medicine, Research Unit, Distrito Sanitario Atención Primaria Sevilla, 41013 Sevilla, Spain
- ²⁴ Preventive Medicine Service, University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Research Institute of Biomedical and Health Sciences (IUIBS), Centro Hospitalario Universitario Insular Materno Infantil (CHUIMI), Canarian Health Service, 35016 Las Palmas, Spain
- ²⁵ Department of Preventive Medicine, University of Granada, 18071 Granada, Spain
- ²⁶ Research Group On Community Nutrition and Oxidative Stress, University of Balearic Islands, 07122 Palma de Mallorca, Spain
- ²⁷ Institute of Biomedicine (IBIOMED), University of León, 24071 León, Spain

- ²⁸ Lipids and Vascular Risk Unit, Internal Medicine, Hospital Universitario de Bellvitge-IDIBELL, Hospitalet de Llobregat, 08907 Barcelona, Spain
- ²⁹ University of Barcelona, 08007 Barcelona, Spain
- ³⁰ Division of Preventive Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Jaén, 23071 Jaén, Spain
- ³¹ Department of Endocrinology and Nutrition, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Hospital Clínico San Carlos (IdISSC), 28040 Madrid, Spain
- ³² Departament of Endocrinology, IDIBAPS, Hospital Clínic, University of Barcelona, 08036 Barcelona, Spain
- ³³ CIBER Diabetes y Enfermedades Metabólicas (CIBERDEM), Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), 28029 Madrid, Spain
- ³⁴ Department of Endocrinology and Nutrition, University Hospital Fundación Jimenez Díaz, Instituto de Investigaciones Biomédicas IISFJD, 28040 Madrid, Spain
- ³⁵ Department of Endocrinology and Nutrition, Lipid Clinic, Hospital Clínic, Institut d'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi Sunyer (IDIBAPS), 08036 Barcelona, Spain
- ³⁶ Centro de Salud Santa Pola, 03130 Alicante, Spain
- ³⁷ Atención Primaria, Servicio Navarro de Salud, Osasunbidea, Pamplona, Spain

Supplementary table 1. Baseline characteristics according to categories of changes in the Mediterranean diet (17-item erMedDiet score and Trichopoulou) adherence after 1 year of follow-up

	Δ Medite	rranean Diet (17-item erMedI	Diet score)		ΔM	editerranean Di	et (Trichopoulo	(n	
Dec	ec/Maint	T1	T2	T3		Dec/Maint	T1	T2	T3	
n-	n=1124	n=1917	n=1211	n=1423	p-value	n=3408	n=1055	n=678	n=534	p-value
Baseline 17-item erMedDiet score, 10. points	0.5 ± 2.5	9.1 ± 2.4	8 ± 2.2	6.5 ± 1.9	<0.01	8.7 ± 2.7	8.3 ± 2.6	8.1 ± 2.6	7.7 ± 2.6	<0.01
Baseline Trichopoulou-MedDiet, points 4.0	4.6 ± 1.6	4.5 ± 1.6	4.3 ± 1.7	4.2 ± 1.6	<0.01	5 ± 1.5	3.9 ± 1.3	3.4 ± 1.3	2.7 ± 1.3	<0.01
Baseline DASH, points 25.	5.3 ± 5.2	24.5 ± 5.2	23.7 ± 5.1	22.6 ± 4.9	<0.01	24.7 ± 5.1	23.4 ± 5.2	22.7 ± 5.2	21.9 ± 5	<0.01
Baseline Protein Diet, points 10	10.3 ± 3	10 ± 3	10 ± 3	9.7 ± 2.9	<0.01	10.3 ± 3	9.9 ± 3	9.6 ± 2.9	9.1 ± 2.9	<0.01
Age, years 65	65.3 ± 5	65.3 ± 4.8	64.9 ± 4.9	64.6 ± 4.8	<0.01	65.2 ± 4.9	64.8 ± 4.8	64.8 ± 4.9	64.8 ± 4.9	0.09
Women, % (n) 51.	1.4 (578)	49.5 (949)	47.3 (573)	43.6 (621)	<0.01	48.2 (1643)	48.1 (507)	46.8 (317)	47.6 (254)	0.91
BMI, kg/m ² 32.	2.5 ± 3.5	32.4 ± 3.4	32.5 ± 3.4	$32.6\pm\ 3.5$	0.19	32.5 ± 3.4	32.4 ± 3.3	32.7 ± 3.5	$32.6\pm\ 3.5$	0.45
PA, METS/min/week 26	$2622.5 \pm$	$2618.7 \pm$	$2519.6 \pm$	$2375.8 \pm$	0.01	$2534.7 \pm$	$\textbf{2553.8} \pm$	$2361.6 \pm$	2745 ±	0.04
0	2468.1	2280.7	2316.8	2321.4	10.0	2296.4	2456	2108.2	2615.5	0.04
Energy intake, kcal/d 23	2347.9 ±	$2344.7 \pm$	$2373.8 \pm$	2423 ± 544	<0.01	$2409.6 \pm$	2311 ±	$2318.9 \pm$	$2311.4 \pm$	~0.01
4.1	549.5	542.8	563.3		10.02	542.8	544.2	574.2	551.8	10.02
Protein intake, % energy 17	17 ± 2.8	16.9 ± 2.9	16.8 ± 2.8	16.3 ± 2.7	<0.01	16.6 ± 2.7	16.9 ± 2.8	17 ± 3	17.1 ± 2.9	<0.01
Smoking status, % (n)					0.39					0.89
Never smoked 45.	5.3 (509)	45.5 (872)	43.5 (527)	43 (612)		44.9 (1530)	43.6 (460)	44.5 (302)	42.7 (228)	
Former smoker 40.	0.9(459)	42.1 (807)	44.4 (538)	44.6 (634)		42.9 (1463)	43.1 (455)	42.3 (287)	43.6 (233)	
Current smoker 13.	3.9 (156)	12.4 (238)	12.1 (146)	12.4 (177)		12.2 (415)	13.3 (140)	13.1 (89)	13.7 (73)	
Education level, % (n)					0.20					0.27
Primary education 51.	1.4 (578)	49.5 (948)	49.5 (599)	48.6 (692)		49.4(1684)	50.8 (536)	48.4 (328)	50.4 (269)	
Secondary education 26	26 (292)	28.6 (548)	29.9 (362)	30.9(439)		28.3 (965)	29.1 (307)	29.5 (200)	31.7 (169)	
Academic or graduate 22.	2.6 (254)	22 (421)	20.6 (250)	20.5 (292)		22.3 (759)	20.1 (212)	22.1 (150)	18 (96)	
eGFR, mL/min/1.73m ² 83. ⁴	3.4 ± 14.4	84.1 ± 13.9	84.3 ± 14.2	84.7 ± 13.5	0.12	84.1 ± 13.9	84.4 ± 13.9	84.4 ± 14	83.6 ± 14.3	0.72
CKD, % (n) 7.	7.4 (83)	6.3 (120)	7.3 (88)	6.1 (87)	0.42	6.6 (224)	6.9 (73)	6.1 (41)	7.5 (40)	0.76
Type 2 diabetes, % (n) 31.	1.2 (351)	32.1 (616)	31.1 (376)	27.1 (385)	0.01	30.7 (1047)	31.6 (333)	29.7 (201)	27.5 (147)	0.38
Hypertension, % (n) 83.	3.9 (943)	84.4 (1618)	83.2 (1008)	85.2 (1212)	0.58	83.8 (2856)	82.7 (872)	87.6 (594)	86 (459)	0.02
Hypercholesterolemia, % (n) 68.	8.8 (773)	70.3 (1347)	68.3 (827)	70.6 (1004)	0.50	69.6 (2372)	70.1 (739)	68.3 (463)	70.6 (377)	0.83

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME

Cristina Valle Hita

Supplementary table 2. Baseline characteristics according to categories of changes in the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) and the Protein Diet adherence after 1 year of follow-up in the PREDIMED-PLUS cohort

Cristina Valle Hita

Decr/Maint $n=2793$ Baseline 17-item erMedDiet score, 9 ± 2.7 points 9 ± 2.7 points 9 ± 2.7 Baseline Trichopoulou-MedDiet, points 4.7 ± 1.6 Baseline DASH, points 26.2 ± 4.8 Baseline DASH, points 10.5 ± 3 Age, years 65.3 ± 4.9 Women, % (n) $51.2 (1431)$ BMI, kg/m² 32.5 ± 3.5 PA, METS/min/week 2322.2	T1 n= 1131 8.4 ± 2.6 8.4 ± 2.6 4.3 ± 1.6 23.5 ± 4.6 10 ± 2.9 64.8 ± 4.8 47.9 (542) 32.5 ± 3.4 25.77	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{T2} \\ \mathbf{n} = 899 \\ 8.1 \pm 2.5 \\ 8.1 \pm 2.5 \\ 4.1 \pm 1.6 \\ 22.0 \pm 4.4 \\ 9.5 \pm 3 \\ 64.8 \pm 5 \\ 64.8 \pm 5 \\ 77.4.056 \end{array}$	T3 n= 852	p-value	Decr/Maint	T1	T2	T3	
$n=2793$ Baseline 17-item erMedDiet score, 9 ± 2.7 points 9 ± 2.7 points 9 ± 2.7 Baseline Trichopoulou-MedDiet, points 4.7 ± 1.6 Baseline DASH, points 26.2 ± 4.8 Baseline Protein Diet, points 10.5 ± 3 Age, years 65.3 ± 4.9 Women, % (n) 51.2 (1431)BMI, kg/m² 32.5 ± 3.5 PA, METS/min/week 2322.2	n= 1131 8.4 ± 2.6 8.4 ± 2.6 4.3 ± 1.6 23.5 ± 4.6 10 ± 2.9 64.8 ± 4.8 47.9 (542) 32.5 ± 3.4 2547 ± 2543	$\begin{array}{c} n = 899 \\ 8.1 \pm 2.5 \\ 4.1 \pm 1.6 \\ 22.0 \pm 4.4 \\ 9.5 \pm 3 \\ 64.8 \pm 5 \\ 77.4.05 \end{array}$	n= 852	p-value					
Baseline 17-item erMedDiet score, 9 ± 2.7 points 9 ± 2.7 pointsBaseline Trichopoulou-MedDiet, pointsBaseline DASH, points 4.7 ± 1.6 Baseline DASH, points 26.2 ± 4.8 Baseline Protein Diet, points 10.5 ± 3 Age, years 65.3 ± 4.9 Women, % (n) 51.2 (1431)BMI, kg/m² 32.5 ± 3.5 PA, METS/min/week 2322.2	8.4 ± 2.6 4.3 ± 1.6 23.5 ± 4.6 10 ± 2.9 64.8 ± 4.8 47.9 (542) 32.5 ± 3.4 254.7	$\begin{array}{c} 8.1 \pm 2.5 \\ 4.1 \pm 1.6 \\ 22.0 \pm 4.4 \\ 9.5 \pm 3 \\ 64.8 \pm 5 \\ 47.4.65 \end{array}$							p-value
Baseline Trichopoulou-MedDict, points 4.7 ± 1.6 Baseline DASH, points 26.2 ± 4.8 Baseline Protein Dict, points 10.5 ± 3 Age, years 65.3 ± 4.9 Women, % (n) 51.2 (1431)BMI, kg/m ² 32.5 ± 3.5 PA, METS/min/week 2322.2	$\begin{array}{c} 4.3 \pm 1.6\\ 23.5 \pm 4.6\\ 10 \pm 2.9\\ 64.8 \pm 4.8\\ 47.9\ (542)\\ 32.5 \pm 3.4\\ 2547 + 2\\$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.1 \pm 1.6\\ 22.0 \pm 4.4\\ 9.5 \pm 3\\ 64.8 \pm 5\\ 47.4(476)\end{array}$	1.4 ± 2.4	<0.01	8.7 ± 2.7	8.4 ± 2.7	8.2 ± 2.6	7.9 ± 2.5	<0.01
Baseline DASH, points 26.2 ± 4.8 Baseline Protein Dict, points 10.5 ± 3 Age, years 65.3 ± 4.9 Women, % (n) 51.2 (1431)BMI, kg/m ² 32.5 ± 3.5 PA, METS/min/week 2327.2	23.5 ± 4.6 10 ± 2.9 64.8 ± 4.8 $47.9 (542)$ 32.5 ± 3.4 75.7 ± 3.4	$22.0 \pm 4.4 \\ 9.5 \pm 3 \\ 64.8 \pm 5 \\ 47.4(476)$	3.8 ± 1.6	<0.01	4.6 ± 1.6	4.2 ± 1.6	4.1 ± 1.6	3.9 ± 1.6	<0.01
Baseline Protein Diet, points 10.5 ± 3 Age, years 65.3 ± 4.9 Women, % (n) $51.2 (1431)$ BMI, kg/m ² 32.5 ± 3.5 PA, METS/min/week 2322.2	$10 \pm 2.9 \\ 64.8 \pm 4.8 \\ 47.9 (542) \\ 32.5 \pm 3.4 \\ 75.72 $	9.5 ± 3 64.8 ± 5 47.4 (476)	19.3 ± 3.8	<0.01	24.6 ± 5.2	23.5 ± 5.2	22.9 ± 5.2	22.2 ± 4.9	<0.01
Age, years 65.3 ± 4.9 Women, % (n) 51.2 (1431) BMI, kg/m ² 32.5 ± 3.5 PA, METS/min/week 2397.5 ± 2322.2	64.8 ± 4.8 47.9 (542) 32.5 ± 3.4 $7547 \pm$	64.8 ± 5	9 ± 2.8	< 0.01	-2.3 ± 2.1	1.5 ± 0.5	3.5 ± 0.5	6.3 ± 1.7	<0.01
Women, % (n) 51.2 (1431) BMI, kg/m ² 32.5 ± 3.5 PA, METS/min/week 2597.5 ± 2322.2 2322.2	$47.9 (542) 32.5 \pm 3.4 7547 \pm 324 $	47 4 (476)	64.7 ± 4.8	<0.01	65.2 ± 4.9	65.1 ± 4.8	64.8 ± 4.9	64.7 ± 5	0.12
BMI, kg/m ² 32.5 ± 3.5 PA, METS/min/week 2597.5 ± 2322.2	32.5 ± 3.4	(071) +	37.8 (322)	<0.01	48 (1566)	49.1 (591)	46.8 (319)	46.5 (245)	0.71
PA, METS/min/week 2597.5 ± 2322.2	7547 +	32.4 ± 3.3	32.7 ± 3.5	0.35	32.4 ± 3.4	32.6 ± 3.5	32.6 ± 3.5	32.6 ± 3.4	0.24
2322.2	- 7 - C7	$2461.8 \pm$	$2413.6 \pm$	7 I U	$2583.4 \pm$	$2527.8 \pm$	$2455.4 \pm$	$2379.9 \pm$	0.21
	2381.2	2452.5	2202.9	0.10	2349.9	2373.3	2270.3	2267.7	
Energy intake, kcal/d $2303.9 \pm$	$2317.8\pm$	$2385.9 \pm$	$2476.8 \pm$	10.07	2364.8 ± 552	$2379.8 \pm$	$2390.9 \pm$	$2365.9 \pm$	0.64
533.7	563.5	558.3	559.8	10.0>		542.1	534.5	571.8	
Protein intake, % energy 16.9 ± 2.8	16.7 ± 2.8	16.6 ± 3	16.4 ± 2.8	< 0.01	17 ± 2.8	16.5 ± 2.8	16.4 ± 2.7	15.9 ± 2.7	< 0.01
Smoking status, % (n)				0.02					0.40
Never smoked 45.9 (1283)	44.5 (503)	43.2 (388)	40.6 (346)		44.0(1436)	44.8 (540)	48.0 (327)	41.2 (217)	
Former smoker 41.2 (1150)	44.3 (501)	42.7 (384)	47.3 (403)		43.1 (1407)	42.8 (516)	40.4 (275)	45.5 (240)	
Current smoker 12.9 (360)	11.2 (127)	14.1 (127)	12.1 (103)		12.8 (419)	12.4 (540)	11.6 (327)	13.3 (70)	
Education level, % (n)				0.02					0.07
Primary education 51.1 (1427)	48.4 (547)	46.9(422)	49.4 (421)		50.7 (1654)	49.1 (591)	48 (327)	46.5 (245)	
Secondary education 27 (754)	29.1 (329)	33.0 (297)	30.6 (261)		27.3 (889)	30.4 (366)	31.3 (213)	32.8 (173)	
Academic or graduate 21.9 (612)	22.6 (255)	20.0(180)	20 (170)		22 (719)	20.6 (248)	20.7 (141)	20.7 (109)	
eGFR, mL/min/1.73 m^2 84.4 ± 13.8	84.1 ± 13.8	83.6 ± 14.5	84.1 ± 14.2	0.46	84.5 ± 13.7	83.6 ± 13.9	83.8 ± 14.4	84.1 ± 14.9	0.29
CKD, % (n) 6.3 (176)	6.4 (72)	7.8 (70)	7 (60)	0.43	6.1 (197)	7.7 (93)	6.6 (45)	8.2 (43)	0.11
Type 2 diabetes, % (n) 30.8 (859)	32.4 (366)	28.7 (258)	28.8 (245)	0.21	30.8(1003)	30.8 (371)	30.3 (206)	28.1(148)	0.66
Hypertension, % (n) 83.2 (2324)	84.9 (960)	85 (764)	86 (733)	0.17	84.8 (2766)	83.7 (1009)	83.4 (568)	83.1 (438)	0.60
Hypercholesterolemia, % (n) 70.1 (1959)	70.2 (794)	67.7 (609)	69.1 (589)	0.55	69.6 (2271)	69.6 (839)	69.8 (475)	69.5 (366)	1.00
Abbreviations: Decr/Maint, Decrease/Maintenance; MedDiet,	, Mediterranean	1 Diet; BMI, Bo	dy Mass Index;	PA, Physice	al activity; eGFR,	estimated Glome	srular Filtration	Rate; CKD, Croi	nic Kidney
Disease (eGFR<60 mL/min/1.73m ²).									

for categorical and continuous variables, respectively.

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME

Supplementary table 3. Baseline characteristics of excluded vs included individuals for analysis

	PREDIMED-P	lus participants	
	Excluded	Included	
	n=4002	n=5675	p-value
Baseline 17-item erMedDiet score, points	8.5 ± 2.7	8.5 ± 2.7	0.535
Baseline Trichopoulou MedDiet, points	4.3 ± 1.6	4.4 ± 1.6	0.512
Baseline DASH, points	23.8 ± 5.2	24.0 ± 5.2	0.271
Age, years	65.5 ± 5.1	65.0 ± 4.9	< 0.01
Women, % (n)	53.05 (2123)	47.95 (2721)	< 0.01
BMI, kg/m ²	32.9 ± 3.5	32.5 ± 3.4	< 0.01
PA, METS/min/week	2109.5 ± 2080.9	2537.3 ± 2338.3	< 0.01
Energy intake, kcal/d	2636.2 ± 906.1	2371.2 ± 549.6	< 0.01
Protein intake, % energy	16.7 ± 2.8	16.7 ± 2.8	0.849
Smoking status, % (n)			< 0.01
Never smoked	48.6 (1945)	44.41 (2520)	
Former smoker	38.6 (1544)	42.9 (2438)	
Current smoker	12.8 (513)	12.6 (717)	
Education level, % (n)			< 0.01
Primary education	45.2 (540)	49.6 (2817)	
Secondary education	28.9 (345)	28.9 (1641)	
Academic or graduate	25.9 (309)	21.4 (1217)	
eGFR, mL/min/1.73m ²	84.8 ± 14.3	84.2 ± 13.9	0.167
CKD, % (n)	5.7 (63)	6.7 (378)	0.229
Type 2 diabetes, % (n)	30.4 (365)	30.5 (1728)	0.996
Hypertension, % (n)	79.5 (3182)	84.3 (4781)	< 0.01
Hypercholesterolemia, % (n)	69.8 (2795)	69.6 (3951)	0.817

Abbreviations: Decr/Maint, Decrease/Maintenance; T, tertile; MedDiet, Mediterranean Diet; BMI, Body M Index; PA, Physical activity; eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; CKD, Cronic Kidney Dise (eGFR<60 mL/min/1.73m²).

Values are presented as percentages (n) for categorical variables and means \pm standard deviations for continuvariables. P-value was calculated by chi-square or one-way analysis of variance test for categorical and continuvariables, respectively.

Cristina Valle Hita

CI for eGFR decline (>10%) across categories of changes to the Mediterranean Diet (17-item erMedDiet score and Trichopoulou) and DASH Diet adherence in Supplementary table 4. Multivariable adjusted β -coefficients and 95% CI for changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73m²) and multivariable adjusted odd ratios and 95% participants without CKD (eGFR >60 m/min/1.73m2) at baseline after 1 year of follow-up (n=5297)

		A Mediterrane	an Diet (17-item er MedDiet 9	score)	
	Decr/Maint	LL	T2	T3	p for trend
	(n = 1041)	(n = 1797)	(n = 1123)	(n = 1336)	4
Δ 17-item erMedDiet score	-1.2 ± 1.4	2.1 ± 0.8	4.5 ± 0.5	7.5 ± 1.5	
Δ eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ^{2,a}	-2.30 (-2.88 to -1.71)	-1.44 (-1.84 to -1.03)	-1.29 (-1.74 to -0.83)	-0.64 (-1.16 to -0.12)	
Multivariable model (β -coefficients and 95% CI)	0 (Ref.)	0.86 (0.19 to 1.53)	1.01 (0.24 to 1.78)	1.65 (0.77 to 2.54)	<0.001
eGFR decline $>10\%$, $\%$ (n)	19.2 (200)	15.9 (286)	15.4 (173)	15.0 (200)	
Multivariable model (OR and 95% CI)	1 (Ref.)	0.72 (0.58 to 0.88)	0.67 (0.52 to 0.86)	0.59 (0.44 to 0.79)	0.001
		Δ Medite	rranean Diet (Trichopoulou)		
	(n = 3184)	(n = 982)	(n = 637)	(n = 494)	
∆ Trichopoulou-MedDiet	-1.2 ± 1.2	1 ± 0	2 ± 0	3.5 ± 0.7	
Δ eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ^{2,a}	-1.49 (-1.80 to-1.19)	-1.03 (-1.54 to -0.52)	-1.42 (-2.11 to -0.73)	-1.22 (-2.00 to -0.44)	
Multivariable model (β -coefficients and 95% CI)	0 (Ref.)	0.46 (-0.14 to 1.07)	0.07 (-0.70 to 0.84)	0.27 (-0.60 to 1.15)	0.386
eGFR decline $>10\%$, $\%$ (n)	16.1 (514)	16.7 (164)	15.5 (99)	16.6 (82)	
Model 3 (OR and 95% CI)	1 (Ref.)	1.06 (0.86 to 1.29)	0.99 (0.77 to 1.28)	1.10 (0.82 to 1.48)	0.605
		A Dietary Appr	aches to Stop Hypertension ((DASH)	
	(n = 2617)	(n = 1059)	(n = 829)	(n = 792)	
Δ DASH	-3.7 ± 3.3	2.0 ± 0.8	4.9 ± 0.8	9.5 ± 2.6	
Δ eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ^{2,a}	-1.37 (-1.72 to -1.01)	-1.12 (-1.58 to -0.65)	-1.34 (-1.94 to -0.74)	-1.78 (-2.44 to -1.13)	
Multivariable model (β -coefficients and 95% CI)	0 (Ref.)	0.25 (-0.35 to 0.85)	0.03 (-0.70 to 0.76)	-0.42(-1.22 to 0.39)	0.520
eGFR decline $>10\%$, $\%$ (n)	16.5 (432)	14.7 (156)	17.25 (143)	16.2 (128)	
Multivariable model (OR and 95% CI)	1 (Ref.)	0.89 (0.72 to 1.09)	1.10(0.87 to 1.39)	1.04 (0.80 to 1.36)	0.702
Abbreviations: Decr/Maint, Decrease/Maintenance;	; T, tertile; eGFR, Estimated g	glomerular filtration rate; Mec	IDiet, Mediterranean Diet; DA	SH, Dietary Approaches to Sto	p Hypertension.
^a Multivariable adjusted mean changes in eGFR (ml/i	/min/1.73m ²) after 1 year of f	ollow-up.			
Linear regression models were used to assess change	ges in eGFR by categories of	changes in dietary patterns sc	ore. Logistic regression models	s were used to assess eGFR de	cline (>10%) by

categories of dietary patterns score changes. Multivariable model was adjusted for baseline eGFR (except for logistic regression model), sex, age. BMI, smoking habits (never, current or

former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education, graduate), leisure time physical activity (METS/min/week), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group, energy intake (kcal/day), each baseline dietary pattern score and 1-year changes in body weight. *p-value < 0.05

Chapter 2. Longitudinal association of dietary acid load with kidney function decline in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome.

Cristina Valle-Hita, Nerea Becerra-Tomás, Andrés Díaz-López, Zenaida Vázquez-Ruiz, Isabel Megías, Dolores Corella, Albert Goday, J Alfredo Martínez, Ángel M Alonso-Gómez, Julia Wärnberg, Jesús Vioque, Dora Romaguera, José López-Miranda, Ramon Estruch, Francisco J Tinahones, José Lapetra, Lluís Serra-Majem, Aurora Bueno-Cavanillas, Josep A Tur, Vicente Martín-Sánchez, Xavier Pintó, José J Gaforio, Pilar Matía-Martín, Josep Vidal, Angela Amengual-Galbarte, Lidia Daimiel, Emilio Ros, Ana García-Arellano, Rocío Barragán, Montse Fitó, Patricia J Peña-Orihuela, Alberto Asencio-Aznar, Enrique Gómez-Gracia, Diego Martinez-Urbistondo, Marga Morey, Rosa Casas, Eva María Garrido-Garrido, Lucas Tojal-Sierra, Miguel Damas-Fuentes, Estibaliz Goñi, Carolina Ortega-Azorín, Olga Castañer, Antonio Garcia-Rios, Cristina Gisbert-Sellés, Carmen Sayón-Orea, Helmut Schröder, Jordi Salas-Salvadó and Nancy Babio.

Overview of the novelty and significance of this publication

What is already known?

- The relationship between dietary acid load and kidney function has been evaluated in several cross-sectional studies, but in few prospective studies. Given the disparities in findings between studies, it is difficult to confirm the apparently negative association that some of the investigations have pointed out.
- These analyses have barely been evaluated in Mediterranean populations at high cardiovascular risk.

What does this study add?

- This was the first prospective study assessing the association between dietary acid load and kidney function by concurrently using eGFR and UACR, the main complementary markers of kidney function.
- We found that higher dietary acid load was associated with changes toward worse eGFR and higher odds of eGFR decline and UACR increase.

Conclusion:

- This study provides further evidence to recommend a diet low in acid load to improve kidney function and, even prevent CKD onset and its progression among older individuals with underlying comorbid conditions.



frontiers | Frontiers in Nutrition

TYPE Original Research PUBLISHED 30 September 2022 DOI 10.3389/fnut.2022.986190

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sorayya Kheirouri, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Golaleh Asqhari. Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences Iran Fabiana Baggio Nerbass, Fundacão Pró-Rim, Brazil Elnaz Daneshzad, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

*CORRESPONDENCE Andrés Díaz-López andres.diaz@urv.cat

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 04 July 2022 ACCEPTED 02 September 2022 PUBLISHED 30 September 2022

Longitudinal association of dietary acid load with kidney function decline in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome

Cristina Valle-Hita^{1,2,3†}, Nerea Becerra-Tomás^{1,4†}, Andrés Díaz-López D^{1,2,3,5*}, Zenaida Vázquez-Ruiz^{3,6}, Isabel Megías¹, Dolores Corella^{3,7}, Albert Goday^{3,8}, J. Alfredo Martínez^{3,9,10}, Ángel M. Alonso-Gómez^{3,11}, Julia Wärnberg^{3,12}, Jesús Vioque^{13,14}, Dora Romaguera^{3,15}, José López-Miranda^{3,16}, Ramon Estruch^{3,17}, Francisco J. Tinahones^{3,18}, José Lapetra^{3,19}, Lluís Serra-Majem^{3,20}, Aurora Bueno-Cavanillas^{14,21}, Josep A. Tur^{3,15,22}, Vicente Martín-Sánchez^{14,23}, Xavier Pintó^{3,24,25}, José J. Gaforio^{14,26}, Pilar Matía-Martín²⁷, Josep Vidal^{28,29}, Angela Amengual-Galbarte³⁰, Lidia Daimiel³¹, Emilio Ros^{3,28}, Ana García-Arellano^{3,6,32}, Rocío Barragán^{3,7}, Montse Fitó^{3,8}, Patricia J. Peña-Orihuela^{3,16}, Alberto Asencio-Aznar³³, Enrique Gómez-Gracia^{34,35}, Diego Martinez-Urbistondo³⁶, Marga Morey^{3,15}, Rosa Casas^{3,17}, Eva María Garrido-Garrido³⁷, Lucas Tojal-Sierra^{3,11}, Miguel Damas-Fuentes^{3,18}, Estibaliz Goñi⁹, Carolina Ortega-Azorín^{3,7}, Olga Castañer^{3,8}, Antonio Garcia-Rios^{3,16}, Cristina Gisbert-Sellés³⁸, Carmen Sayón-Orea^{3,6}, Helmut Schröder^{8,14}, Jordi Salas-Salvadó^{1,2,3} and Nancy Babio^{1,2,3}

¹Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Unitat de Nutrició Humana, Reus, Spain, ²Institut d'Investigació Sanitària Pere Virgili (IISPV), Reus, Spain, ³Consorcio CIBER (Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red), Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y la Nutrición (CIBERObn), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain, ⁴Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College London, St Mary's Campus, London, United Kingdom, ^sSerra Hunter Programme, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Nutrition and Mental Health Research Group (NUTRISAM), Reus, Spain, ⁶Department of Preventive Medicine and Public Health, University of Navarra, IdiSNA (Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria de Navarra), Pamplona, Spain, ⁷Department of Preventive Medicine, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain, ⁸Cardiovascular Risk and Nutrition Research Group (CARIN), Hospital del Mar Research Institute (IMIM), Departament de Medicina, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, ⁹Department of Nutrition, University of Navarra, Food Science and Physiology, IdiSNA (Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria de Navarra), Pamplona, Spain, ¹⁰Precision Nutrition Program, IMDEA (Institutos Madrileño de Estudios Avanzados) Food, CEI UAM (Comité de Ética para la Investigación-Universidad Autónoma de Madrid) + CSIC (Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas), Madrid, Spain, ¹¹Bioaraba Health Research Institute, Osakidetza Basque Health Service, Araba University Hospital, University of the Basque Country/Euskal Herriko Unibertsitatea UPV/EHU, Vitoria-Gasteiz, Spain,

Valle-Hita et al.

10.3389/fnut.2022.986190

¹²Department of Nursing, University of Málaga, Institute of Biomedical Research in Malaga (IBIMA), Málaga, Spain, ¹³Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria y Biomédica de Alicante, Miguel Hernandez University (ISABIAL-UMH), Alicante, Spain, ¹⁴CIBER de Epidemiología y Salud Pública (CIBERESP), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain, ¹⁵Health Research Institute of the Balearic Islands (IdISBa), Palma de Mallorca, Spain, ¹⁶Department of Internal Medicine, Maimonides Biomedical Research Institute of Cordoba (IMIBIC), Reina Sofia University Hospital, University of Cordoba, Cordoba, Spain, ¹⁷Department of Internal Medicine, Institutd'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi Sunyer (IDIBAPS), Hospital Clinic, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, ¹⁸Department of Endocrinology, Virgen de la Victoria Hospital, Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Málaga (IBIMA), University of Málaga, Málaga, Spain, ¹⁹Department of Family Medicine, Research Unit, Distrito Sanitario Atención Primaria Sevilla, Sevilla, Spain, ²⁰Preventive Medicine Service, Research Institute of Biomedical and Health Sciences (IUIBS), Centro Hospitalario Universitario Insular Materno Infantil (CHUIMI), Canarian Health Service, University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Las Palmas, Spain, ²¹Department of Preventive Medicine, University of Granada, Granada, Spain, ²²Research Group on Community Nutrition and Oxidative Stress, University of Balearic Islands, Palma de Mallorca, Spain, 23 Institute of Biomedicine (IBIOMED), University of León, León, Spain, ²⁴Lipids and Vascular Risk Unit, Internal Medicine, Hospital Universitario de Bellvitge-IDIBELL (Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Bellvitge), Hospitalet de Llobregat, Barcelona, Spain, ²⁵University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, ²⁶Department of Health Sciences, Instituto Universitario de Investigación en Olivar y Aceites de Oliva, University of Jaén, Jaén, Spain, 27 Department of Endocrinology and Nutrition. Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Hospital Clínico San Carlos (IdISSC), Universidad Complutense, Madrid, Spain, ²⁸Departament of Endocrinology, Institut d'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi Sunyer (IDIBAPS), Hospital Clínic, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, ²⁹CIBER Diabetes y Enfermedades Metabólicas (CIBERDEM), Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), Madrid, Spain, ³⁰Department of Endocrinology, Rey Juan Carlos University Hospital, Móstoles, Spain, ³¹Nutritional Control of the Epigenome Group, IMDEA (Institutos Madrileño de Estudios Avanzados) Food, CEI UAM (Comité de Ética para la Investigación-Universidad Autónoma de Madrid) + CSIC (Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas), Madrid, Spain, ³²Emergency Department, Hospital Universitario de Navarra, Servicio Navarro de Salud-Osasunbidea, Pamplona, Spain, ³³Primary Health Care Center Muchamiel, Alicante, Spain, ³⁴Department of Preventive Medicine and Public Health, School of Medicine, University of Málaga, Málaga, Spain, ³⁵Institute of Biomedical Research in Malaga-IBIMA, Málaga, Spain, ³⁶Department of Internal Medicine, Clini University of Navarra, Pamplona, Spain, ³⁷Primary Care Center Zaidín-Center, Servicio Andaluz de Salud, Granada, Spain, ³⁸Primary Health Care Center San Vicente del Raspeig, Alicante, Spain

Background: Diets high in acid load may contribute to kidney function impairment. This study aimed to investigate the association between dietary acid load and 1-year changes in glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) and urine albumin/creatinine ratio (UACR).

Methods: Older adults with overweight/obesity and metabolic syndrome (mean age 65 ± 5 years, 48% women) from the PREDIMED-Plus study who had available data on eGFR (n = 5,874) or UACR (n = 3,639) at baseline and after 1 year of follow-up were included in this prospective analysis. Dietary acid load was estimated as potential renal acid load (PRAL) and net endogenous acid production (NEAP) at baseline from a food frequency questionnaire. Linear and logistic regression models were fitted to evaluate the associations between baseline tertiles of dietary acid load and kidney function outcomes. One year-changes in eGFR and UACR were set as the primary outcomes. We secondarily assessed $\geq 10\%$ eGFR decline or $\geq 10\%$ UACR increase.

Results: After multiple adjustments, individuals in the highest tertile of PRAL or NEAP showed higher one-year changes in eGFR (PRAL, β : – 0.64 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: –1.21 to –0.08 and NEAP, β : –0.56 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: –1.13 to 0.01) compared to those in the lowest category. No associations with changes in UACR were found. Participants with higher levels of PRAL and NEAP had significantly higher odds of developing \geq 10% eGFR decline (PRAL, OR: 1.28; 95% CI: 1.07–1.54 and NEAP, OR: 1.24; 95% CI: 1.03–1.50) and \geq 10 % UACR increase (PRAL, OR: 1.23; 95% CI: 1.04–1.46) compared to individuals with lower dietary acid load.

Valle-Hita et al.

Conclusions: Higher PRAL and NEAP were associated with worse kidney function after 1 year of follow-up as measured by eGFR and UACR markers in an older Spanish population with overweight/obesity and metabolic syndrome.

kidney function, chronic kidney disease (CKD), glomerular filtration rate (GFR), net endogenous acid production (NEAP), potential renal acid load (PRAL), dietary acid load, albuminuria, renal nutrition

Introduction

Impaired renal function is a common condition in older individuals with comorbidities as diabetes, hypertension or obesity that usually predicts the onset of Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) (1). In the last few years, there has been a growing concern about this disease since it has a huge impact worldwide affecting around 700 million people (2). In addition, CKD is linked to several complications, such as cardiovascular events, hospitalization and/or premature death (2, 3). Consequently, appropriate and affordable prevention measures are required to preserve renal function, especially in high-risk populations (1). Prevention measures could also reduce the severe impact of CKD on the wellbeing of individuals and health systems (3–5).

Dietary habits appear to be one of the major modifiable risk factors markedly influencing renal impartment and its progression to CKD (5, 6). Additionally, the role of diet in preserving the acid-base balance of the body has recently become more relevant, given the emerging evidence linking dietary acid load with the development of different chronic diseases (7, 8), including CKD (9). It has been previously documented that healthy dietary patterns provide an alkaline environment in the body (10, 11) since plantbased food such as vegetables, fruit and some nuts or legumes have the capacity of inducing a basic environment (12). However, red and processed meats as well as ultraprocessed foods are acid-producing (9, 12). Thus, these foods might be implied in the onset of a low-grade metabolic acidosis state, thereby, resulting in faster progression of kidney disease (11, 13). Overall, potential renal acid load (PRAL) and net endogenous acid production (NEAP) are the most common and suitable indexes used to estimate the acid load of the diet (9, 11). Considering the aforementioned evidence, following a healthy diet characterized by a low acid load may be a useful preventive strategy against kidney dysfunction.

To date, results from epidemiological studies focused on dietary acid load and kidney function or CKD development are inconsistent (9) and this relationship needs to be further explored. In some studies, an association between higher levels of PRAL and/or NEAP indexes and an estimatedglomerular filtration rate (eGFR) decline or higher risk of incident CKD (14-18) has been reported, but others have observed no such associations (19, 20). Also, the quality of evidence is moderate as most of the studies were mainly crosssectional (14-17, 21, 22), and only a few were longitudinal studies (18-20). Furthermore, since most research has been conducted in healthy young or middle-aged individuals or in patients with advanced CKD, little is known about the potentially harmful association between dietary acid load and kidney function of older populations with underlying comorbid conditions. In addition, analyses assessing dietary acid load on kidney function have rarely been conducted in Mediterranean populations at high cardiovascular risk. Hence, as more scientific evidence and longitudinal studies in this field are required, we prospectively investigated the association between PRAL and NEAP and 1-year changes in two markers of kidney function decline, eGFR and Urine Albumin/Creatinine Ratio (UACR), in a large Spanish cohort of older adults with overweight/obesity and metabolic syndrome (MetS).

Materials and methods

Study population and design

The present study is a prospective analysis of baseline and 1-year data within the framework of the PREvención con DIeta MEDiterránea (PREDIMED)-Plus trial. Briefly, the PREDIMED-Plus is an ongoing, parallel-group, randomized and controlled clinical trial aiming to assess the effect of an intensive weight loss intervention on cardiovascular disease (CVD) morbidity and mortality. An energy-restricted Mediterranean diet (MedDiet), physical activity promotion and behavioral support are compared to usual care advice in 6,874 older adults enrolled between 2013 and 2016 by 23 Spanish recruitment centers. Eligible participants were

Abbreviations: BMI, Body Mass Index; CKD, Chronic Kidney Disease; CI, Confidence Interval; E, Energy; FFQ, Food Frequency Questionnaire; GFR, Glomerular Filtration Rate; MedDiet, Mediterranean Diet; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome; METS, Metabolic Equivalent Task; NEAP, Net Endogenous Acid Production; PRAL, Potential Renal Acid Load; PREDIMED, Prevención con Dieta Mediterránea; SCr, Serum Creatinine; CKD-EPI, Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equation for Caucasian individuals; OR, Odds Ratios; UACR, Urine Albumin/Creatinine Ratio.

Valle-Hita et al.

10.3389/fnut.2022.986190

men aged 55–75 years and women aged 60–75 years with overweight or obesity [Body Mass Index (BMI) 27–40 kg/m²], who satisfied at least 3 criteria for the MetS (23). Further details of the inclusion and exclusion criteria and the study design have been described elsewhere (24). A detailed explanation of the protocol is also available at https:// www.predimedplus.com. This trial was registered on the International Standard Randomized Controlled Trial registry (https://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN89898870) with number 89898870 in July of 2014. The final study protocol and procedures were approved following the standards of the Declaration of Helsinki by the Institutional Review Boards of participating centers and all participants provided written informed consent.

For the current study, participants without completed food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) information and reporting implausible total energy intake (men < 800 and >4,000 kcal/day and women < 500 and >3,500 kcal/day) at baseline were excluded (n = 227) from the analyses (25). We also excluded participants who died (n = 11) or were lost to follow-up (n = 16) during the first year. Moreover, participants with missing data on eGFR (n = 746) or UACR (n = 2,981) at baseline and/or at the 1-year assessment were excluded when eGFR or UACR were the outcomes, respectively. Therefore, a final sample of 5,874 participants for eGFR and 3,639 participants for UACR were analyzed (Supplementary Figure 1).

Assessment of dietary intake and dietary acid load

To evaluate dietary intake, trained dieticians administered a 143-item FFQ, based on a previously validated one for the Spanish population (26), in face-to-face interviews at baseline. Each participant was asked about their frequency of consumption during the preceding year of each specific item, which had nine possible answers ranging from never to more than 6 times per day. The typical portion size of each item was subsequently transformed into grams or milliliters per day, as appropriate. Two Spanish food composition databases were referenced to calculate total daily energy and nutrient intake (27, 28).

Dietary acid load was estimated at baseline using individual nutritional data obtained from the FFQ. Previously published methods proposed by Remer and Manz (29) and Frassetto et al. (8) were applied for the calculation of PRAL and NEAP scores, respectively. PRAL (mEq/day) = $0.4888 \times$ protein intake (g/day) + $0.0366 \times$ phosphorus (mg/day) - $0.0205 \times$ potassium (mg/day) - $0.0125 \times$ calcium (mg/day) - $0.0263 \times$ magnesium (mg/day). NEAP (mEq/day) = 54.5 \times protein (g/day)/potassium (mEq/day) – 10.2.

Ascertainment of the outcome

Serum creatinine (SCr) levels and urinary creatinine and albumin concentrations were determined using routine laboratory methods from blood and spot morning urine samples collected at baseline and 1-year following overnight fasting. For the current study, 1-year changes in eGFR and UACR were considered our primary outcomes. We indirectly determined eGFR from SCr using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equation for Caucasian individuals (CKD-EPI) (30) and the UACR was calculated by dividing urine albumin (mg/l) by urine creatinine concentrations (mg/l). UACR values were truncated at 500 mg/g to minimize the influence of outliers. There were 21 observations > 500 mg/g at baseline and 24 at 1 year that were >500 mg/g and subsequently set to 500 mg/g. One-year changes in both eGFR and UACR were calculated by subtracting values at 1 year minus values at baseline. Secondary outcomes were \geq 10% eGFR decline and \geq 10% UACR increase following a 1-year follow-up. These were estimated by applying the formula: [(1-year eGFR or UACR - baseline eGFR or UACR)/baseline eGFR or UACR]*100. Participants were categorized as those with a $\geq 10\%$ or < 10% eGFR decline (31) or with a \geq 10% or <10% increase in UACR.

Covariate assessment

At baseline, trained PREDIMED-Plus staff collected socio-demographic and lifestyle information including age, sex, educational level, physical activity, smoking status, as well as medication use and history of disease using several questionnaires or reviewing medical records. Moreover, adherence to the energy-reduced MedDiet was evaluated using a validated 17-item MedDiet questionnaire (32). Compliance with each item of the MedDiet questionnaire was scored with one point and non-compliance with 0. Thereafter, a cut-off point based on the median of the score was determined by dividing individuals into those with high adherence to a MedDiet (≥ 9 points) or a low adherence (<9 points). Moreover, other cut-off points were tested arbitrarily and defined as the highest tertiles or quartiles (in both cases high adherence was observed to be \geq 12 points). Total daily energy intake and sodium intake were estimated according to data from the FFQ. Anthropometric variables were measured in duplicate and resting blood pressure was measured in triplicate using an automated digital device (Omron-HEM297705C). BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters. In our analysis, white blood cell count was used to assess inflammation (leucocytes > 10×10^9 /L).

Valle-Hita et al.

Statistical analyses

For the present report, we used the PREDIMED-Plus database generated in December 2020. Participants were categorized into tertiles of PRAL and NEAP. One-way ANOVA and chi-square tests were used to evaluate differences among tertiles of PRAL and NEAP for the baseline characteristics of the study population. Descriptive data were expressed as means \pm SD for continuous variables and percentages (%) and numbers for categorical variables.

Multivariate linear regression models were performed to examine the associations between tertiles of PRAL and NEAP at baseline and 1-year changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m²) and UACR (mg/g). For these associations, PRAL and NEAP were also analyzed as continuous variables (both for each 1-SD increase). β-coefficients and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were assessed using two different models: Model 1 was adjusted for sex and age; and Model 2 was further adjusted for study center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group (treatment/control), BMI (kg/m²), smoking status (never/current/former smoker), educational level (primary education/secondary education/graduate), leisure-time physical activity (METs/min/week, tertiles), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors (ACEis) (yes/no), angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs) (yes/no), MedDiet adherence (high/low adherence), energy intake (kcal/day, tertiles), sodium intake (mg/day, tertiles) and high leukocyte levels (yes/no). Moreover, odds ratios (OR) and their 95% CIs were calculated for the association between tertiles of NEAP and PRAL and ≥10% eGFR decline and ≥10% UACR increase at 1-year of follow-up adjusting for the same confounders as mentioned in model 2. The first tertile was used as a reference category in all regression models. Additionally, linear regression models were further adjusted for baseline eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m²) or baseline UACR (mg/g) depending on the main outcome. Variance inflation factors (VIFs) were used to assess collinearity for the multivariable models and, as VIFs were <2.5, none of the covariates needed to be removed. All analyses were conducted with robust estimates of the variance to correct for possible intra-cluster correlation. Intra-cluster was defined as the participants who shared the same household. To assess the linear trend, the median value of each tertile of PRAL and NEAP were modeled as continuous variables.

We also conducted subgroup analyses for the 1-year changes in eGFR and UACR stratifying by baseline categories of eGFR (\geq 90; 60–90; <60 ml/min/1.73 m²) and UACR (<30; \geq 30 mg/g). Interaction between tertiles of PRAL and NEAP with categories of eGFR, UACR, and energy-reduced MedDiet adherence (high/low), as well as the intervention/control group were checked in the fullest multivariable model using likelihood ratio tests and non-significant results were observed. In a 10.3389/fnut.2022.986190

sensitivity analysis, we repeated our main analysis investigating the association between PRAL and NEAP with 1-year changes in eGFR and UACR after excluding individuals with eGFR < 60 ml/min/1.73 m² or with UACR > 300 mg/g at baseline. In addition, as a supplementary analysis, we evaluated the association between dietary acid load and \geq 5% eGFR decline and \geq 5% UACR increase following the same procedure mentioned previously. Statistical analyses were conducted using Stata/SE software, version 14.0 (StataCorp, College Station, TX) and significance level was set at a 2-tailed p < 0.05.

Results

Table 1 shows the baseline characteristics of the study population according to tertiles of PRAL and NEAP. In general, participants with higher values of PRAL and NEAP at baseline were more likely to be younger, men, have a higher BMI, smoke, have a higher educational level, and were less likely to exercise. Participants in the highest tertiles of PRAL and NEAP also had higher levels of creatinine and eGFR than those in the lowest tertile. In terms of mediations, participants in the highest tertiles of PRAL and NEAP were more likely to have used insulin, ACEis treatment, and took less antihypertensive and ARB drugs. Furthermore, individuals in the highest tertile of NEAP were more likely to have type 2 diabetes. However, no significant differences were observed between tertiles of PRAL nor NEAP regarding the UACR or CKD. Concerning dietary assessment, adherence to an energy-reduced MedDiet was lower in individuals with higher dietary acid load levels than those in the lowest tertile of PRAL and NEAP. Moreover, participants in the highest tertile of PRAL and NEAP had a lower intake of vegetable/animal protein ratio, carbohydrates and fiber while they had a higher energy, protein and fat consumption than those with low values of both dietary acid load indexes. Similar trends were observed when baseline consumption of food groups across tertiles of PRAL and NEAP were analyzed (Supplementary Table 1). Supplementary Table 2 presents further information regarding macronutrient and micronutrient intake, especially those related to dietary acid load, at 1-year of follow-up. Baseline characteristics according to included and excluded participants from the eGFR or UACR analyses are described in Supplementary Table 3.

The association (β -coefficient; 95% CI) between tertiles of PRAL and NEAP and 1-year changes in eGFR and UACR are displayed in Table 2. In the most adjusted model, PRAL showed a significant inverse association with 1-year changes in eGFR (β : -0.17 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -0.71 to 0.36 for T2 vs. T1, β : -0.64 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -1.21 to -0.08 for T3 vs. T1). We found similar results when PRAL and NEAP were analyzed as continuous variables (PRAL: β : -0.25 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -0.47 to -0.03 for each

Cristina Valle Hita

Valle-Hita et al.

			PRAL (mEq/d)				NEAF (mEq/a)		
	Total	Τı	T2	Т3		T1	T2	T3	
	n = 5,874	n = 1,958	n = 1,958	n = 1,958	<i>p</i> -value	n = 1,958	n = 1,958	n = 1,958	<i>p</i> -value
PRAL, mEq/day	-5.4 ± 15.6	I	1	I	I	-21.4 ± 11.3	-5.0 ± 5.4	10.1 ± 8.7	< 0.01
NEAP, mEq/day	36.9 ± 8.1	29.0 ± 3.8	36.4 ± 2.8	45.6 ± 6.0	< 0.01	I	I	I	I
Age, years	65.0 ± 4.9	65.7 ± 4.7	65.1 ± 5.0	64.2 ± 4.9	< 0.01	65.7 ± 4.7	65.3 ± 4.9	64.1 ± 4.9	< 0.01
Women, % (n)	48.0 (2,818)	52.7(1, 31)	49.1 (961)	42.2 (826)	< 0.01	56.0 (1,097)	48.9 (957)	39.0 (764)	< 0.01
Intervention group, % (n)	49.4(2,901)	49.3 (966)	50.3 (984)	48.6(951)	0.57	50.0 (978)	49.9 (976)	48.4(947)	0.54
BMI, kg/m ²	32.5 ± 3.4	32.4 ± 3.4	32.4 ± 3.4	32.8 ± 3.5	< 0.01	32.3 ± 3.4	32.5 ± 3.4	32.7 ± 3.5	< 0.01
PA, METS/min/week	$2,528.0 \pm 2,350.4$	$2,740.2 \pm 2,483.6$	$2,526.2 \pm 2,342.2$	$2,317.7 \pm 2,198.8$	< 0.01	$2,681.7 \pm 2,434.1$	$2,547.4 \pm 2,373.8$	$2,355.1 \pm 2,228.2$	< 0.01
Smoking status, % (n)					< 0.01				< 0.01
Never smoked	44.4 (2,605)	47.9 (939)	45.5 (891)	39.6 (775)		49.9 (976)	44.7 (875)	38.5 (754)	
Former smoker	43.0 (2,528)	40.3 (789)	42.3 (828)	46.5(911)		38.6 (756)	43.0(842)	47.5 (930)	
Current smoker	12.6 (741)	11.8 (230)	12.2 (239)	13.9 (272)		11.5 (226)	12.3 (241)	14.0 (274)	
Education level, $\%$ (n)					< 0.01				< 0.01
Primary education	49.22 (2,891)	54.9 (1,075)	49.2 (963)	43.6 (853)		54.0(1,058)	50.0 (979)	44.6 (854)	
Secondary education	29.18(1,714)	25.2 (494)	28.9 (565)	33.4 (655)		25.6 (501)	28.3 (555)	33.6 (658)	
College/university	21.60(1,269)	19.9 (374)	22.0 (430)	23.0 (450)		20.4(399)	21.7(424)	22.8 (446)	
Creatinine	0.8 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.2	0.9 ± 0.2	< 0.01	0.8 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.2	0.9 ± 0.2	< 0.01
eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m ²	84.2 ± 13.9	83.6 ± 13.6	84.7 ± 13.9	84.3 ± 14.4	0.04	83.5 ± 13.6	84.9 ± 13.7	84.1 ± 14.5	< 0.01
UACR, mg/g	16.8 ± 48.9	16.2 ± 45.0	16.8 ± 50.0	17.5 ± 51.5	0.78	16.4 ± 46.4	15.9 ± 47.0	18.2 ± 53.1	0.42
GKD , % (η)	4.4 ± 3.7	6.5 (126)	6.5(128)	6.8 (133)	0.79	6.6 (129)	5.8 (113)	7.6 (145)	0.10
Type 2 diabetes, % (n)	30.6 (1,797)	28.9 (567)	30.7 (601)	32.1 (629)	0.10	28.8 (564)	30.4 (595)	32.6 (638)	0.04
Hypertension, % (n)	84.1 (4,941)	85.1 (1,666)	84.5 (1,654)	82.8(1,621)	0.13	85.1(1,667)	84.4 (1,653)	82.8 (1,621)	0.12
Hypercholesterolemia, % (n)	69.7 (4,096)	(9.4(1,359)	69.2(1,356)	70.5(1,381)	0.63	70.2 (1,375)	69.3 (1,356)	69.7 (1,365)	0.80
Hypertriglyceridemia, % $(n)^*$	39.7 (2,327)	40.7 (795)	39.1 (763)	42.5 (831)	0.10	40.8 (795)	39.2 (765)	42.4 (829)	0.13
Low HDL, % $(n)^{y}$	40.8 (2,389)	38.5 (751)	39.4 (768)	41.3(808)	0.18	39.1 (763)	39.0 (760)	41.1(804)	0.30

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of the study population with data on eGFR at 1-year follow-up by tertiles of PRAL and NEAP (n = 5,874).

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI

OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME

DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY F	FUNCTION: INSIGHTS E	FROM A POPULATION OF	OLDER MEDITERRANEAN	ADULTS WITH
OVERWEICHT OR OBESITV AND ME	FURBOILC SYNDROME			

Valle-Hita et al.

Cristina Valle Hita

10.338	9/fnut	.2022	986190

			PRAL (mEq/d)				NEAF (mEq/u)		
	Total $n = 5,874$	T1 n = 1,958	T2 n = 1,958	T3 n = 1,958	<i>p</i> -value	T1 <i>n</i> = 1,958	T2 $n = 1,958$	T3 $n = 1,958$	<i>p</i> -value
Medication use $\%(n)$	51.8 (3. 42)	52.6(1.30)	51.7 (1, 13)	51.0 (999)	0.66	52.8 (1.35)	51.9 (1, 17)	50.6 (990)	0.35
Lipid-lowering drugs									
Oral blood glucose-lowering drugs	26.0 (1,528)	25.2 (494)	26.3 (516)	26.5 (518)	0.62	25.3 (495)	25.7 (504)	27.0 (529)	0.44
Insulin treatment	4.1 (239)	3.5 (68)	3.7 (73)	5.0 (98)	0.03	3.2 (64)	4.1(81)	4.8 (94)	0.05
Antihypertensive drugs	78.7 (4,625)	81.7 (1,599)	77.9 (1,525)	76.7(1,501)	< 0.01	81.0(1,585)	79.1 (1,549)	76.2 (1,491)	< 0.01
ARBs	36.3 (2,131)	39.6 (776)	34.9 (683)	34.3 (672)	< 0.01	39.5 (774)	35.2 (689)	34.1 (668)	< 0.01
ACEis	30.2 (1,775)	28.6 (559)	31.2 (611)	30.9 (605)	0.11	27.9 (546)	32.0 (624)	30.9 (605)	0.02
Dietary assessment	8.5 ± 2.7	9.2 ± 2.6	8.4 ± 2.7	7.9 ± 2.5	< 0.01	9.3 ± 2.6	8.6 ± 2.6	7.7 ± 2.5	< 0.01
erMedDiet score, 17-points									
Energy intake, kcal/d	$2,370.5\pm548.9$	$2,366.1\pm537.9$	$2,303.1 \pm 531.8$	$2,442.3 \pm 567.8$	< 0.01	$2,277.5 \pm 531.2$	$2,278.6\pm533.1$	$2,455.7 \pm 562.5$	< 0.01
Protein intake, % energy	16.7 ± 2.8	16.1 ± 2.6	16.7 ± 2.7	17.4 ± 3.0	< 0.01	16.1 ± 2.7	16.9 ± 2.7	17.3 ± 2.9	< 0.01
Vegetal /animal protein ratio, g/d	0.5 ± 0.2	0.67 ± 0.27	0.56 ± 0.19	0.48 ± 0.17	< 0.01	0.68 ± 0.28	0.56 ± 0.19	0.49 ± 0.17	< 0.01
Fat intake, % energy	39.6 ± 6.5	38.4 ± 6.4	39.7 ± 6.4	40.8 ± 6.5	< 0.01	38.5 ± 6.5	39.5 ± 6.3	40.9 ± 6.5	< 0.01
Carbohydrate intake, % energy	40.5 ± 6.8	42.4 ± 6.6	40.4 ± 6.5	38.7 ± 6.8	< 0.01	42.4 ± 6.8	40.5 ± 6.4	38.6 ± 6.8	< 0.01
Fiber intake, g/day	26.1 ± 8.7	30.4 ± 9.1	25.2 ± 7.8	22.8 ± 7.5	< 0.01	29.9 ± 9.5	26.4 ± 7.9	22.2 ± 7.0	< 0.01
Potassium intake, mg/day	$4,\!477.0\pm1,\!079.6$	$5,108.6\pm1,124.3$	$4,313.1 \pm 898.2$	$4,009.2\pm 884.4$	< 0.01	$4,953.4\pm1,189.3$	$4,501.7 \pm 924.5$	$3,975.8\pm866.0$	< 0.01
Calcium intake, mg/day	$1,034.0\pm 347.0$	$1,062.8\pm 353.6$	999.2 ± 327.9	$1,040.1\pm 355.9$	< 0.01	$1,030.0\pm 350.5$	$1,049.6 \pm 337.1$	$1,022.5 \pm 352.7$	0.04
Magnesium intake, mg/day	420.4 ± 108.2	457.7 ± 112.5	407.6 ± 102.2	396.0 ± 99.3	< 0.01	446.2 ± 117.8	425.2 ± 102.5	389.8 ± 95.6	< 0.01
Phosphorus intake, mg/day	$1,759.1 \pm 419.9$	$1,750.1 \pm 429.1$	$1,703.8 \pm 401.9$	$1,823.5 \pm 419.7$	< 0.01	$1,713.1 \pm 438.3$	$1,783.5\pm403.4$	$1,780.8\pm413.6$	< 0.01
Sodium intake, mg/day	$2,430.0 \pm 774.8$	$2,272.5\pm736.8$	$23,183.0\pm 679.8$	$2,699.4 \pm 828.6$	< 0.01	$2,187.8\pm712.4$	$2,412.4 \pm 689.3$	$2,689.6\pm 832.1$	< 0.01

Frontiers in Nutrition

TABLE 1 (Continued)

continuous variables, respectively. Fasting triglyceride concentration ≥ 150 mg/dL or specific treatment for lipid abnormality. YHDL concentration ≈40 mg/dL in men and <50 mg/dL in women or specific treatment for lipid abnormality.
Valle-Hita et al.

10.3389/fnut.2022.986190

1-SD increment. NEAP: β: -0.28 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -0.51 to -0.05 for each 1-SD increment). Results remained essentially the same after adding 1-year BMI change to the most adjusted model (data not shown). PRAL and NEAP were not significantly associated with UACR changes after 1-year of follow-up after modeling them as tertiles, nor as continuous variables. In the sensitivity analyses, excluding individuals with $<60 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ of eGFR or with >300 mg/g of UACR did not modify the main findings for both outcomes (data not shown). When we repeated the principal analyses, stratifying by baseline categories of eGFR (≥90; 60-90; <60 ml/min/1.73 m²) and UACR (<30; $\geq \! 30$ mg/g), the results presented a similar tendency (Supplementary Table 4). In participants with eGFR \geq 90 ml/min/1.73 m², significant associations were observed with eGFR changes when both dietary acid load indexes were modeled as continuous variables (PRAL: β : -0.28 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -0.56 to -0.01 for each 1-SD increment. NEAP: β: -0.31 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -0.58 to -0.03 for each 1-SD increment). The main analysis was repeated using other cut-offs points for the MedDiet score confounding factor (i.e., ≥12 points for high adherence) and similar results were found (Supplementary Table 5). We also explored the interactions between tertiles of PRAL and NEAP and the adherence to energy-reduced MedDiet, categories of eGFR and UACR, as well as intervention/control group, and no statistically significant findings were observed (all interactions, p > 0.05).

Figure 1 depicts the OR and 95% CI for ≥10% eGFR decline and ≥10% UACR increase according to tertiles of PRAL and NEAP. After multiple adjustments, participants in the highest tertile of PRAL and NEAP were significantly more likely to have a \geq 10% eGFR decline after 1 year of follow up compared to those in the lowest tertile, with ORs of 1.28 (95% CI: 1.07-1.54) for PRAL and 1.24 (95% CI: 1.03-1.0) for NEAP. When PRAL and NEAP were modeled as continuous variables (per each 1-SD increment) higher ORs were also observed. Compared to participants with low PRAL values at baseline, participants with the highest levels had a 23% (95% CI: 1.04-1.46) higher odds of ≥10% UACR increase after 1 year of follow-up after adjusting for potential confounders. No significant associations were found between NEAP and the odds of \geq 10% UACR increase or for 1-SD increment of PRAL and NEAP. When a \geq 5% eGFR decline and a \geq 5% UACR increase were assessed, the same results were found (Supplementary Table 6).

Discussion

The results of this prospective study conducted in older Spanish adults at high cardiovascular disease risk suggest that PRAL and NEAP are inversely associated with 1-year changes in eGFR, but not with 1-year UACR changes. Furthermore, participants with higher levels of both estimates of dietary acid load had higher odds of a \geq 10% eGFR decline, and those in the highest tertile of PRAL had 23% higher odds of a \geq 10% UACR increase. GFR and albuminuria are the main complementary biomarkers used in epidemiological studies to assess kidney function (3). As far as we know, this is the first study to prospectively evaluate the association between dietary acid load and kidney function concurrently assessing eGFR and UACR in a population of older adults with underlying comorbidities.

A large body of evidence has linked dietary acid load with kidney outcomes in several studies (9). However, to the best of our knowledge, there are only four cross-sectional studies and one longitudinal study investigating the potential relationship of dietary acid load with renal function defined by eGFR and/or CKD in older adults without CKD. These cross-sectional studies conducted in different cohorts of adults reported that higher dietary acid load was associated with higher odds of CKD and/or impaired kidney function as indicated by low eGFR after adjusting for multiple confounders (14, 16, 17, 33). Our observations are in accordance with these crosssectional studies since we observed a greater eGFR decline at 1 year with higher PRAL and NEAP scores, even after adjusting for baseline eGFR and other essential confounding factors. Interestingly, our supplementary stratified analyses according to categories of eGFR, which have seldom been performed in previous studies, revealed a similar non-significant tendency to worsen kidney function with increased dietary acid load. Consistent with our findings, the prospective analysis from the cohort of the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study of 15,055 apparently healthy middle-aged participants with preserved kidney function showed that higher levels of PRAL were associated with a 13% higher risk of CKD incidence over 21 years of follow-up (18).

Regarding albuminuria, which is considered a reliable marker of kidney damage (3), preceding studies have assessed its cross-sectional association with dietary acid load obtaining inconclusive findings. In The Jackson Heart Study, there was no association between estimated Net Acid Excretion (NAEes) and albuminuria (16). In contrast, the NHANES study reported a positive association between dietary acid load and albuminuria in 12,293 healthy American adults (17). Additionally, the researchers from The Uonuma CKD Cohort Study also found that higher NEAP was associated with a higher UACR and risk of albuminuria among 6,684 middle-aged Japanese adults (21). To date, no large prospective cohort study has focused on the relationship between dietary acid load and albuminuria in vulnerable older adults. In the current study, we report no association between PRAL and NEAP scores and 1-year changes in UACR. This could suggest that high dietary acid load may promote tubule-interstitial injury rather than glomerular damage. Nevertheless, we were not able to check this tubular damage hypothesis since spot/24h total proteinuria data were not available in our dataset (34). However, it is worthwhile to mention that when UACR was also assessed as an increase $\geq 10\%$

Valle-Hita et al.

TABLE 2 Multivariable-adjusted β -coefficients and 95% CI of 1-year changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m²) or in UACR (mg/g) across tertiles and per 1-SD increment of baseline PRAL and NEAP.

			PRAL (mEq/d)		
	T1	T2	Т3	p for trend	Continuous (1 SD**)
	<i>n</i> = 1,958	<i>n</i> = 1,958	n = 1,958		n = 5,874
A in eGF R , ml/min/1.73 m ²	-0.69 (-1.07 to -0.31)	-0.86 (-1.24 to -0.49)	-1.34 (-1.72 to -0.95)		
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-0.16(-0.70 to 0.37)	-0.52(-1.06 to 0.03)	0.062	-0.21 (-0.42 to 0.01)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.17 (-0.71 to 0.36)	$-0.64 (-1.21 \text{ to } -0.08)^*$	0.026	$-0.25 (-0.47 \text{ to } -0.03)^*$
	n = 1,213	n = 1,213	n = 1,213		n = 3,639
∆ in UACR, mg/g	4.37 (1.96 to 6.78)	2.74 (0.60 to 4.88)	1.39 (-0.62 to 3.39)		
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-1.20 (-4.32 to 1.93)	-2.31 (-5.28 to 0.66)	0.128	-0.88 (-2.00 to 0.25)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-1.63 (-4.84 to 1.58)	-2.99 (-6.34 to 0.37)	0.082	-1.22 (-2.51 to 0.08)
		NEAP (mEq/d	1)		
	n = 1,958	n = 1,958	n = 1,958		n = 5,874
Δ in eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m ²	-0.68 (-1.06 to -0.30)	-0.97 (-1.35 to -0.60)	-1.24 (-1.63 to -0.84)		
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-0.28 (-0.81 to 0.25)	-0.44 (-0.99 to 0.11)	0.116	$-0.22 (-0.44 \text{ to } -0.01)^*$
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.30 (-0.83 to 0.24)	-0.56 (-1.13 to 0.01)	0.056	$-0.28 (-0.51 \text{ to } -0.05)^*$
	n = 1,213	n = 1,213	n = 1,213		n = 3,639
∆ in UACR, mg/g	3.92 (1.49 to 6.34)	3.09 (1.14 to 5.03)	1.49 (-0.54 to 3.53)		
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-0.81 (-3.82 to 2.20)	-1.96 (-5.07 to 1.15)	0.214	-0.93 (-2.13 to 0.28)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.83 (-3.87 to 2.21)	-2.42 (-5.79 to 0.95)	0.154	-1.26 (-2.63 to 0.10)

**One SD = 15.6 mEq/d in PRAL and 8.1 mEq/d in NEAP

after 1 year of follow-up, which is a more clinical approach, we found a significant association with PRAL. Consequently, future longitudinal studies and clinical trials would be helpful to clarify these observations related to albuminuria and dietary acid load.

Overall, our findings in conjunction with the evidence available to date, suggests that following a diet with a low acid load could be an appropriate measure to improve renal function and, accordingly, decrease the risk of CKD development and progression among older individuals from middle-aged to elderly with underlying comorbid conditions.

The potential mechanisms by which high dietary acid load may induce kidney dysfunction are unclear, though possible mechanisms have been proposed for consideration. Acid retention has been proposed to activate the intracellular renin-angiotensin system, through the previous stimulation of aldosterone production, which might be implicated in the onset or progression of kidney damage (35, 36). Moreover, metabolic acidosis appears to contribute to endothelin-1 production, which in turn could be related to tubulointerstitial injury (37-39). Besides, high dietary acid load would also induce tubular toxicity activating the complement pathway and increasing renal medullary ammonia concentrations (40–42). There is also a high probability that acid retention increases the production of oxygen-free radicals and oxidative stress (43, 44). Consequently, it is crucial for kidney health to maintain appropriate levels of acid load, and diet may play an important role in this respect (11). It should be noted that in our study individuals with high levels of dietary acid load reported higher intakes of some food groups which have been directly or indirectly implicated in kidney function damage, such as total and animal protein intake (33, 45) or sugar and sweetened products (46). By contrast, as dietary acid load increased there was a lower consumption of fiber-rich foods, including fruits, vegetables, whole-grain cereals, and nuts. Thus, the potential beneficial effects of fiber on the kidney (47) could be lacking in those individuals with high dietary acid load.

This study has some limitations that deserve to be mentioned. First, the population consisted of older Spanish individuals at high cardiovascular risk, meaning the findings may not be generalizable to other populations. Furthermore, the Mediterranean lifestyle could imply healthier habits which, at the same time, may result in different macro- and

Valle-Hita et al



(A) Multivariable-adjusted OR (95% CIs) for \geq 10% eGFR decline by tertiles of baseline PRAL and NEAP and per 1-SD increment. (B) Multivariable-adjusted OR (95% CIs) for \geq 10% UACR increase by tertiles of baseline PRAL and NEAP and per 1-SD increment. eGFR, Estimated glomerular filtration rate; NEAP, Net Endogenous Acid Production; T, tertile; PRAL, Potential Renal Acid Load; UACR, Urine albumin/creatinine ratio. Percentage of participants with eGFR decline (>10%): tertile 1 of PRAL (n = 296; % = 15.1), tertile 2 of PRAL (n = 304; % = 15.5), tertile 3 of PRAL (n = 346; % = 17.7); tertile 1 of NEAP (n = 297; % = 15.2), tertile 2 of NEAP (n = 312; % = 15.9). tertile 3 of NEAP (n = 337; % = 17.2). Percentage of participants with UACR increase (>10%): tertile 1 of PRAL (n = 539; % = 44.4), tertile 2 of PRAL (n = 594; % = 49.0). All models were adjusted for age (years), sex, participating center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group (treatment/control), body mass index (kg/m²), smoking habits (never, current or former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education or graduate), leisure-time physical activity (METS/min/week in tertiles), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no) and hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), AREs (yes/no), ACEis (yes/no), **one SD = 15.6 mEq/d in PRAL and 8.1 mEq/d in NEAP.

micronutrients intake related to kidney function, such as potassium-rich or low-sodium dietary intakes. Second, as PREDIMED-Plus is a randomized controlled trial, though, all the analyses were adjusted for the intervention group, the lifestyle advice that participants received could be affecting our findings. Third, dietary acid load was calculated using PRAL and NEAP from dietary nutrient intake information obtained from FFQ data. Although this questionnaire was validated and carefully administered by trained dietitians, potential measurement errors and reporting bias could be present. Fourth, while SCr-based eGFR was used as a biomarker of kidney function, as is common in most epidemiologic studies, there are other more optimal markers such as inulin, iothalamate or 24h urinary creatinine clearance. Nevertheless, these procedures are expensive, time-consuming, and difficult measure in large populations. Finally, as in any observational study, although a substantial number of confounding factors were considered, confounding bias could not be completely ruled out and direct causality cannot be inferred. However, our study also has several strengths. Analyses were conducted using data from a large cohort, which has a wide selection of different variables to adjust the models for kidney function related-potential confounders. Moreover, it is important to highlight the prospective design that we performed and the joint assessment of two commonly used biomarkers of renal function. Another novel aspect of this study is the sensitivity and supplementary analyses conducted which gave robustness to the main results.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the current study conducted in a population of older Spanish adults with overweight/obesity and MetS shows that higher dietary acid load is associated with changes toward a worse eGFR and higher odds of \geq 10% eGFR decline and \geq 10% UACR increase. Nevertheless, further longitudinal and interventional studies are needed to clarify and confirm the consistency of these associations before considering a reduction in dietary acid load as part of strategies for preventing kidney function decline.

Data availability statement

There are restrictions on the availability of data for the PREDIMED-Plus trial, due to the signed consent agreements around data sharing, which only allow access to external researchers for studies following the project purposes. Requestors wishing to access the PREDIMED-Plus trial data used in this study can make a request to the PREDIMED-Plus trial Steering Committee chair:

Valle-Hita et al.

predimed_plus_scommitte@googlegroups.com. The request will then be passed to members of the PREDIMED-Plus Steering Committee for deliberation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the ethical standards of the Declaration of Helsinki by the Institutional Review Boards (IRBs). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

CV-H, NB-T, AD-L, ZV-R, IM, DC, AG, JM, ÁA-G6, JW, JVio, DR, JL-M, RE, FT, JL, LS-M, AB-C, JT, VM-S, XP, JG, PM-M, JVid, AA-Ga, LD, ER, AG-A, RB, MF, PP-O, AA-A, EG-G, DM-U, MM, RC, EMG-G, LT-S, MD-F, EG, CO-A, OC, AG-R, CG-S, CS-O, HS, JS-S, and NB designed and conducted the research. CV-H and AD-L analyzed the data. CV-H, NB-T, AD-L, and NB wrote the article. CV-H and AD-L are the guarantors of this work and, as such, had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. All authors revised the manuscript for important intellectual content and read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by the official Spanish Institutions for funding scientific biomedical research, CIBER Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y Nutrición (CIBEROBN) and Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), through the Fondo de Investigación para la Salud (FIS), which is co-funded by the European Regional Development Fund (six coordinated FIS projects leaded by JS-S and JVid, including the following projects: PI13/00673, PI13/00492, PI13/00272, PI13/01123, PI13/00462, PI13/00233, PI13/02184, PI13/00728, PI13/01090, PI13/01056, PI14/01722, PI14/00636, PI14/00618, PI14/00696, PI14/01206, PI14/01919, PI14/00853, PI14/01374, PI14/00972, PI14/00728, PI14/01471, PI16/00473, PI16/00662, PI16/01873, PI16/01094, PI16/00501, PI16/00533, PI16/00381, PI16/00366, PI16/01522, PI16/01120, PI17/00764, PI17/01183, PI17/00855, PI17/01347, PI17/00525, PI17/01827, PI17/00532, PI17/00215, PI17/01441, PI17/00508, PI17/01732, PI17/00926, PI19/00957, PI19/00386, PI19/00309, PI19/01032, PI19/00576, PI19/00017, PI19/01226, PI19/00781, PI19/01560, PI19/01332, PI20/01802, PI20/00138, PI20/01532, PI20/00456, PI20/00339, PI20/00557, PI20/00886, and PI20/01158); the Especial Action Project

entitled: Implementación y evaluación de una intervención intensiva sobre la actividad física Cohorte PREDIMED-Plus grant to JS-S; the European Research Council (Advanced Research Grant 2014-2019; agreement #340918) granted to ÁA-Gó; the Recercaixa (Number: 2013ACUP00194) grant to JS-S; grants from the Consejería de Salud de la Junta de Andalucía (PI0458/2013, PS0358/2016, and PI0137/2018); the PROMETEO/2017/017 and PROMETEO/2021/021 grants from the Generalitat Valenciana; Generalitat Valenciana AICO/2021/347 grant to JVid; the SEMERGEN grant; the Boosting young talent call grant program for the development of IISPV research projects 2019-2021 (Ref.: 2019/IISPV/03 grant to AD-L); the Societat Catalana d'Endocrinologia i Nutrició (SCEN) Clinical-Research Grant 2019 (IPs: JS-S and AD-L). Collaborative Nutrition and/or Obesity Project for Young Researchers 2019 supported by CIBEROBN entitled: Lifestyle Interventions and Chronic Kidney Disease: Inflammation, Oxidative Stress and Metabolomic Profile (LIKIDI study) grant to AD-L. Jordi Salas-Salvadó, gratefully acknowledges the financial support by ICREA under the ICREA Academia programme. CV-H receives a predoctoral grant from the Generalitat de Catalunya (2022 FI_B100108). None of the funding sources took part in the design, collection, analysis, interpretation of the data, or writing the report, or in the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

Acknowledgments

The authors would especially like to thank the PREDIMED-Plus participants for their enthusiastic collaboration, the PREDIMED-Plus personnel for their outstanding support and the personnel of affiliated primary care centers for their exceptional effort. CIBEROBN, CIBERESP, and CIBERDEM are initiatives of ISCIII, Madrid, Spain. We also thank the PREDIMED-Plus Biobank Network, part of the National Biobank Platform of the ISCIII for storing and managing the PREDIMED-Plus biological samples.

Conflict of interest

Author JS-S reported receiving research support from the Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia, Departament de Salut Pública de la Generalitat de Catalunya, the European Commission, the California Walnut Commission, Patrimonio Comunal Olivarero, La Morella Nuts, and Borges S.A; receiving consulting fees or travel expenses from California Walnut Commission, Eroski Foundation, Instituto Danone, Abbott Laboratories and Mundifarma, receiving non-financial support from Hojiblanca, Patrimonio Comunal Olivarero, and Almond Board of California; serving on the board of and receiving grant support through his institution from the International Nut and Dried Foundation

Valle-Hita et al.

and the Eroski Foundation; and grants and personal fees from Instituto Danone. Author ER reported receiving grants, personal fees, and non-financial support from the California Walnut Commission during the conduct of the study and grants, personal fees, non-financial support from Alexion; personal fees from Amarin; and non-financial support from the International Nut Council outside the submitted work. Author RE reported receiving grants from Instituto de Salud Carlos III and olive oil for the trial from Fundacion Patrimonio Comunal Olivarero/during the conduct of the study and personal fees from Brewers of Europe, Fundación Cerveza y Salud, Interprofesional del Aceite de Oliva, Instituto Cervantes, Pernaud Richar, Fundación Dieta Mediterránea, Wine and Culinary International Forum; non-financial support from Sociedad Española de Nutrición and Fundación Bosch y Gimpera; and grants from Uriach Laboratories outside the submitted work. Author XP reported receiving grants from ISCIII during the conduct of the study; receiving consulting fees from Sanofi Aventis, Amgen, and Abbott laboratories; receiving lecture personal fees from Esteve, Lacer and Rubio laboratories.

References

1. O'Sullivan ED, Hughes J, Ferenbach DA. Renal aging: causes and consequences. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2017) 28:407–20. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015121308

2. GBD Chronic Kidney Disease Collaboration. Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. (2020) 395:709–33. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30045-3

3. Levin A, Stevens PE, Bilous RW, Coresh J, De Francisco ALM, De Jong PE et al. Kidney disease: Improving global outcomes (KDIGO) CKD work group. KDIGO 2012 dinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int Suppl.* (2013) 3:1–150. doi: 10.1038/kisup.2012.73

4. Levey AS, Eckardt KU, Tsukamoto Y, Levin A, Coresh J, Rossert J, et al. Definition and dassification of chronic kidney disease: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO)z. *Kidney Int.* (2005) 67:2089–100. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00365x

5. van Westing AC, Küpers LK, Geleijnse JM. Diet and kidney function: a literature review. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* (2020) 22:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11906-020-1020-1

6. Abbate M, Mascaró CM, Montemayor S, Barbería-Latasa M, Casares M, Gómez C, et al. Energy expenditure improved risk factors associated with renal function loss in nafid and mets patients. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1-24. doi: 10.3390/nu13020629

7. Murakami K, Sasaki S, Takahashi Y, Uenishi K, Yamasaki M, Hisatomi Y, et al. Association between dietary acid-base load and cardiometabolic risk factors in young Japanese women. *Br J Nutr.* (2008) 100:642–51. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508901288

8. Frassetto LA, Todd KM, Morris RC, Sebastian A. Estimation of net endogenous noncarbonic acid production in humans from diet potassium and protein contents. Am J Clin Nutr. (1998) 68:576–83. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/68.3.576

 Mofrad MD, Daneshzad E, Azadbakht L. Dietary acid load, kidney function and risk of chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies. Int J Vitam Nutr Res. (2021) 91:343– 55. doi:10.1024/0300-9831/a000584

10. Bach KE, Kelly JT, Campbell KL, Palmer SC, Khalesi S, Strippoli GFM. Healthy dietary patterns and incidence of CKD: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2019) 14:1441–9. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00530119

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fnut.2022.986190/full#supplementary-material

11. Scialla JJ, Anderson CAM. Dietary acid load: a novel nutritional target in chronic kidney disease? *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis.* (2013) 20:141-9. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2012.11.001

12. Remer T. Influence of diet on acid-base balance. (2000) 13:221–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-139x.2000.00062.x

13. Kanda E, Ai M, Kuriyama R, Yoshida M, Shiigai T. Dietary acid intake and kidney disease progression in the elderly. *Am J Nephrol.* (2014) 39:145-52. doi: 10.1159/000358262

14. Mirmiran P, Yuzbashian E, Bahadoran Z, Asghari G, Azizi F. Dietary acidbase load and risk of chronic kidney disease in adults: Tehran lipid and glucose study. *Iran J Kidney Dis*. (2016) 10:119–25.

15. Ko BJ, Chang Y, Ryu S, Kim EM, Lee MY, Hyun YY, et al. Dietary acid load and chronic kidney disease in elderly adults: protein and potassium intake. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:1–10. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 85069

 Banerjee T, Tucker K, Griswold M, Wyatt SB, Harman J, Young B, et al. Dietary potential renal acid load and risk of albuminuria and reduced kidney function in the Jackson heart study. J Ren Nutr. (2018) 28:251-8. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2017.12.008

17. Banerjee T, Crews DC, Wesson DE, Tilea A, Saran R, Rios Burrows N, et al. Dietary acid load and chronic kidney disease among adults in the United States. *BMC Nephrol.* (2014) 15:1–12. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-15-137

18. Rebholz CM, Coresh J, Grams ME, Steffen LM, Anderson CAM, Appel LJ, et al. Dietary acid load and incident chronic kidney disease: results from the ARIC study. *Am J Nephrol.* (2015) 42:427–35. doi: 10.1159/000443746

19. Scialla JJ, Appel LJ, Astor BC, Miller ER, Beddhu S, Woodward M, et al. Net endogenous acid production is associated with a faster decline in GFR in African Americans. *Kidney Int.* (2012) 82:106–12. doi: 10.1038/ki.2012.82

20. Scialla JJ, Asplin J, Dobre M, Chang A, Lash J, Kallem RR, et al. Higher net acid excretion is associated with lower risk of kidney disease progression in patients with diabetes. *Kidney Int.* (2018) 91:204–15. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.09.012

21. Kabasawa K, Hosojima M, Takachi R, Nakamura K, Ito Y, Saito A, et al. Association of estimated dietary acid load with albuminuria in Japanese adults: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2019) 20:1-10. doi: 10.1186/s12882-019-1352-8

10.3389/fnut.2022.986190

Valle-Hita et al.

22. So R, Song S, Lee JE, Yoon HJ. The association between renal hyperfiltration and the sources of habitual protein intake and dietary acid load in a general population with preserved renal function: the KoGES study. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0166495. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166495

23. Alberti KGMM, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the international diabetes federation task force on epidemiology and prevention; National heart, lung, and blood institute; American heart association; World heart federation; International. *Circulation*. (2009) 120:1640–5. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644

24. Martínez-González MA, Buil-Cosiales P, Corella D, Bulló M, Fitó M, Vioque J, et al. Cohort profile: design and methods of the PREDIMED-Plus randomized trial. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2019) 48:387–80. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyy225

25. Willett WC, Howe R, Kushi LH. Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. Am J Clin Nutr. (1997) 65:1220S-88. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/65.4.1220S

26. Fernández-Ballart JD, Piñol JL, Zazpe I, Corella D, Carrasco P, Toledo E, et al. Relative validity of a semi-quantitative food-frequency questionnaire in an elderly Mediterranean population of Spain. Br J Nutr. (2010) 103:1808–16. doi: 10.1017/S0007114509993837

27. Moreiras O, Carvajal A, Cabrera L CC. Tablas de composición de alimentos' Food Composition Tables" Pirámide. Madrid: Pirámide (2005).

28. Mataix Verdú J. Tabla de composición de alimentos [Food Composition Tables]. Granada: Universidad de Granada (2003).

29. Remer T, Manz F. Potential renal acid load of foods and its influence on urine pH. J Am Diet Assoc. (1995) 95:791–7. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00219-7

30. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang Y, Castro AF, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med.* (2009) 150:604–12. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006

31. Levey AS, Inker LA, Matsushita K, Greene T, Willis K, Lewis E, et al. GFR decline as an end point for clinical trials in CKD: a scientific workshop sponsored by the national kidney foundation and the US food and drug administration. *Am J Kidney Dis*. (2014) 64:821–35. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.07.030

32. Schröder H, Zomeño MD, Martínez-González MA, Salas-Salvadó J, Corella D, Vioque J, et al. Validity of the energy-restricted mediterranean diet adherence screener. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:4971–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2021.06.030

33. Jee Ko G, Obi Y, Tortorici AR, Kalantar-Zadeh K. Dietary protein intake and chronic kidney disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. (2017) 20:77– 85. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0000000000342

34. Cravedi P, Remuzzi G. Pathophysiology of proteinuria and its value as an outcome measure in chronic kidney disease. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2013) 76:516-23. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12104

35. Ng HY, Chen HC, Tsai YC, Yang YK, Lee C Te. Activation of intrarenal renin-angiotensin system during metabolic acidosis. *Am J Nephrol.* (2011) 34:55-63. doi: 10.1159/000328742

36. Remuzzi G, Perico N, Macia M, Ruggenenti P. The role of renin-angiotensinaldosterone system in the progression of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2005) 68:57–65. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.09911.x

37. Khanna A, Simoni J, Hacker C, Duran MJ, Wesson DE. Increased endothelin activity mediates augmented distal nephron acidification induced by dietary protein. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2004) 15:2266–2275. doi: 10.1097/01.ASN.0000138233.78329.4E

38. Wesson DE, Simoni J, Broglio K, Sheather S. Acid retention accompanies reduced GFR in humans and increases plasma levels of endothelin and aldosterone. *Am J Physiol Ren Physiol.* (2011) 300:830–7. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00587.2010

39. Phisitkul S, Khanna A, Simoni J, Broglio K, Sheather S, Rajab MH, et al. Amelioration of metabolic acidosis in patients with low GFR reduced kidney endothelin production and kidney injury, and better preserved GFR. *Kidney Int.* (2010) 77:617-23. doi: 10.1038/ki.2009.519

40. Nath KA, Hostetter MK, Hostetter TH. Increased ammoniagenesis as a determinant of progressive renal injury. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (1991) 17:654–7. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(12) 80344-1

41. Nath KA, Hostetter MK, Hostetter TH. Pathophysiology of chronic tubulointerstitial disease in rats. J Clin Investig. (1985) 76:667–75. doi: 10.1172/JCI112020

42. Nagami GT, Hamm LL. Regulation of acid-base balance in chronic kidney disease. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis.* (2017) 24:274–9. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2017. 07.004

43. Irazabal M, Torres V. ROS and redox signaling in chronic kidney disease. Ann Intern Med. (2020) 162:ITC1-ITC14. doi: 10.7326/AITC201506020

44. Katholi RE, Woods WT, Taylor GJ, Deitrick CL, Womack KA, Katholi CR, et al. Oxygen free radicals and contrast nephropathy. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (1998) 32:64–71. doi: 10.1053/ajkd.1998.v32.pm9669426

45. Lew QLJ, Jafar TH, Koh HWL, Jin A, Chow KY, Yuan JM, et al. Red meat intake and risk of ESRD. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2017) 28:304-12. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016030248

 Karalius VP, Shoham DA. Dietary sugar and artificial sweetener intake and chronic kidney disease: a review. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. (2013) 20:157– 64. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2012.12.005

47. Chiavaroli L, Mirrahimi A, Sievenpiper JL, Jenkins DJA, Darling PB. Dietary fiber effects in chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled feeding trials. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 69:761–8. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.20 14.237

CITATION

Valle-Hita C, Becerra-Tomás N, Díaz-López A, Vázquez-Ruiz Z, Megías I, Corella D, Goday A, Martínez JA, Alonso-Gómez ÁM, Wärnberg J, Vioque J, Romaguera D, López-Miranda J, Estruch R, Tinahones FJ, Lapetra J, Serra-Majem L, Bueno-Cavanillas A, Tur JA, Martín-Sánchez V, Pintó X, Gaforio JJ, Matía-Martín P, Vidal J, Amengual-Galbarte A, Daimiel L, Ros E, García-Arellano A, Barragán R, Fitó M, Peña-Orihuela PJ, Asencio-Aznar A, Gómez-Gracia E, Martinez-Urbistondo D, Morey M, Casas R, Garrido-Garrido EM, Tojal-Sierra L, Damas-Fuentes M, Goñi E, Ortega-Azorín C, Castañer O, Garcia-Rios A, Gisbert-Sellés C, Sayón-Orea C, Schröder H, Salas-Salvadó J and Babio N (2022) Longitudinal association of dietary acid load with kidney function decline in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome. *Front. Nutr.* 9:986190. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.986190

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Valle-Hita, Becerra-Tomás, Díaz-López, Vázquez-Ruiz, Megías, Corella, Goday, Martínez, Alonso-Gómez, Wärnberg, Vioque, Romaguera, López-Miranda, Estruch, Tinahones, Lapetra, Serra-Majem, Bueno-Cavanillas, Tur, Martín-Sánchez, Pintó, Gaforio, Matía-Martín, Vidal, Amengual-Galbarte, Daimiel, Ros, García-Arellano, Barragán, Fitó, Peña-Orihuela, Asencio-Aznar, Gómez-Gracia, Martinez-Urbistondo, Morey, Casas, Garrido-Garrido, Tojal-Sierra, Damas-Fuentes, Goñi, Ortega-Azorín, Castañer, Garcia-Rios, Gisbert-Sellés, Sayón-Orea, Schröder, Salas-Salvadó and Babio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Supplementary Table 1. Consumption of food groups across tertiles of PRAL and NEAP at baseline of the study population with data on eGFR at 1-year of follow-up (n= 5874).

$\frac{1}{1000}$								
		PRAL (mEq/d)				NEAP (mEq/d)		
	T1	T2	T3		T1	T2	T3	1
	n = 1958	n= 1958	n= 1958	p-value	n= 1958	n= 1958	n= 1958	p-value
Food groups								
Fruits, g'day	495.9 ± 233.9	333.3 ± 153.9	254.4 ± 140.0	<0.01	480.4 ± 237.7	355.2 ± 161.9	248.0 ± 136.2	<0.01
Vegetables, g/day	406.0 ± 152.4	313.2 ± 112.7	263.3 ± 101.8	<0.01	395.1 ± 154.5	326.1 ± 117.5	261.3 ± 100.8	<0.01
Cereals, g/day	134.6 ± 67.6	147.1 ± 75.4	170.6 ± 86.5	<0.01	128.0 ± 65.1	151.9 ± 75.9	172.4 ± 86.2	<0.01
Whole grains, g/day	88.5 ± 118.8	87.3 ± 129.8	81.2 ± 133.2	0.157	98.1 ± 124.3	93.7 ± 135.7	65.2 ± 119.3	<0.01
Refined grains, g/day	117.4 ± 83.7	132.7 ± 91.2	165.5 ± 108.2	<0.01	104.9 ± 77.6	135.8 ± 92.6	174.8 ± 105.7	<0.01
Legumes, g/day	23.1 ± 13.1	20.0 ± 9.7	18.8 ± 9.7	<0.01	22.3 ± 12.9	20.7 ± 10.1	18.9 ± 9.8	<0.01
Meat, fish and eggs, g/day	248.6 ± 75.7	264.7 ± 74.1	308.0 ± 85.7	<0.01	235.9 ± 73.2	274.9 ± 71.5	310.5 ± 84.9	<0.01
Milk and dairy products, g/day	349.0 ± 210.9	342.9 ± 196.0	344.5 ± 194.2	0.61	344.4 ± 210.0	362.4 ± 201.2	329.7 ± 188.5	<0.01
Nuts, g/day	17.3 ± 18.6	14.5 ± 16.3	13.1 ± 15.4	<0.01	17.1 ± 18.9	15.0 ± 16.1	12.7 ± 15.1	<0.01
Olive oil, g/day	40.2 ± 17.2	39.8 ± 16.8	40.8 ± 16.5	0.14	39.2 ± 17.1	40.3 ± 16.8	41.3 ± 16.6	<0.01
Other fats, g/day	2.6 ± 6.1	3.1 ± 6.6	3.1 ± 6.8	0.07	2.6 ± 5.9	3.0 ± 6.5	3.2 ± 7.0	0.02
Sugar and sweetened products, g/day	46.9 ± 64.6	53.7 ± 71.6	65.3 ± 86.5	<0.01	47.3 ± 67.0	54.5 ± 75.2	64.0 ± 81.6	<0.01
Alcohol, g/day	11.3 ± 15.8	11.3 ± 15.4	11.1 ± 14.4	0.92	10.5 ± 15.2	11.3 ± 15.5	11.8 ± 14.8	0.04
Abbreviations: eGFR, Estimated glomerular fi	iltration rate; NEAP, No	et Endogenous Acid P	roduction; T, tertile;	PRAL, Potentia	al Renal Acid Load. V	'alues are presented as	means ± standard de	viations. P-
value was calculated by one-way analysis of var	riance test.							

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI

Cristina Valle Hita

DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME

	Baseline	1-year	Change	
	n= 5874	n=5675	n=5675	P-value
Carbohydrate intake, g/day	240.9 ± 72.5	209.1 ± 0.8	-31.6 ± 0.9	< 0.001
Protein intake, g/day	97.7 ± 22.0	95.4 ± 0.3	-2.2 ± 0.3	< 0.001
Fat intake, g/day	104.2 ± 28.3	103.7 ± 0.3	$\textbf{-0.7}\pm0.4$	0.07
Monounsaturated fatty acids, g/day	54.0 ± 16.1	58.7 ± 0.2	4.5 ± 0.2	< 0.001
Polyunsaturated fatty acids, g/day	18.0 ± 6.6	19.0 ± 0.08	1.0 ± 0.1	< 0.001
Saturated fatty acids intake, g/day	26.3 ± 8.4	22.8 ± 0.1	-3.5 ± 0.11	< 0.001
Fiber intake, g/day	26.1 ± 8.8	29.8 ± 0.1	3.7 ± 0.1	< 0.001
Phosphorus intake, mg/day	1759.11 ± 419.9	1780.2 ± 5.5	22.5 ± 5.6	< 0.001
Potassium intake, mg/day	4477.0 ± 1079.6	4673.6 ± 13.6	201.3 ± 14.5	< 0.001
Magnesium intake, mg/day	420.4 ± 108.2	453.9 ± 1.5	420.0 ± 1.4	< 0.001
Calcium intake, mg/day	1034.0 ± 347.0	992.9 ± 4.2	-40.1 ± 4.4	< 0.001
Sodium intake, mg/day	2430.0 ± 774.8	2081.1 ± 8.9	-345.8 ± 10.5	< 0.001

Supplementary Table 2. Baseline, one-year, and changes in dietary intake of macronutrients and micronutrients of the study population with data on eGFR at 1-year of follow-up (n= 5874).

Abbreviations: *eGFR*, Estimated glomerular filtration rate. Values are presented as means ± standard deviations. P-value was calculated by T-test.

_

-		eGFR			UACR	
	Excluded	Included		Excluded	Included	
	n=773	n= 5874	p-value	n= 3008	n= 3639	p-value
PRAL, mEq/day	-5.2 ± 16.1	-5.4 ± 15.6	0.66	-6.0 ± 16.5	$\textbf{-5.0} \pm 14.9$	0.01
NEAP, mEq/day	37.1 ± 8.6	37.0 ± 8.1	0.66	36.7 ± 8.4	37.2 ± 8.0	0.01
Age, years	64.8 ± 5.0	65.0 ± 4.9	0.27	65.1 ± 4.9	64.9 ± 5.0	0.04
Women, % (n)	400 (51.8)	2818 (48.0)	0.05	54.7 (1646)	43.2 (1572)	< 0.01
Intervention group, % (n)	399 (51.6)	2901 (49.4)	0.244	51.2 (1541)	48.3 (1759)	0.02
BMI, kg/m ²	32.8 ± 3.5	32.5 ± 3.4	0.04	32.6 ± 3.5	32.5 ± 3.4	0.11
PA, METS/min/week	1972.6 ± 1842.9	2528.0 ± 2350.4	< 0.01	2326.8 ± 2221.1	2576.4 ± 2364.5	< 0.01
Smoking status, % (n)			0.24			< 0.01
Never smoked	343 (44.4)	2605 (44.4)		47.5 (1430)	41.7 (1518)	
Former smoker	348 (45.0)	2528 (43.0)		40.5 (1219)	45.5 (1657)	
Current smoker	82 (10.6)	741 (12.6)		11.9 (359)	12.8 (464)	
Education level, $\%$ (n)			0.10			0.26
Primary education	379 (49.0)	2891 (49.2)		50.3 (1513)	48.3 (1757)	
Secondary education	204 (26.4)	1714 (29.2)		28.3 (850)	29.4 (1068)	
College/University	190 (24.6)	1269 (21.6)		21.4 (645)	22.4 (814)	
Creatinine	0.8 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.2	0.18	0.8 ± 0.22	0.8 ± 0.2	0.731
eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ²	84.6 ± 14.6	84.2 ± 14.0	0.47	83.1 ± 14.5	85.2 ±13.6	< 0.01
UACR, mg/g	21.7 ± 68.6	16.8 ± 48.9	0.05	18.1 ± 59.4	17.1 ± 48.7	0.58
CKD. % (n)	40 (5.8)	387 (6.6)	0.42	7.3 (214)	5.9 (213)	0.02
Type 2 diabetes, % (n)	250 (32.3)	1797 (30.6)	0.32	32.7 (983)	29.2 (1064)	0.02
Hypertension, % (n)	642 (83.1)	4941 (84.1)	0.45	83.6 (2515)	84.3 (3068)	0.44
Hypercholesterolemia, % (n)	553 (71.5)	4096 (69.7)	0.30	72.4 (2178)	67.9 (2471)	< 0.01
Medication use, % (n)				,(,)	()	
Lipid-lowering drugs	416 (53.8)	3042 (51.8)	0.29	53.9 (1.622)	50.5 (1836)	0.01
Oral blood glucose-lowering	216 (28.0)	1528 (26.0)	0.25			
drugs				28.2 (849)	24.6 (895)	< 0.01
Insulin treatment	40 (5.17)	239 (4.1)	0.15	4.5 (136)	3.9 (143)	0.23
Antihypertensive drugs	583 (75.4)	4625 (78.7)	0.04	77.3 (2324)	79.3 (2884)	0.05
ARBs	292 (37.8)	2131 (36.3)	0.42	38.0 (1143)	35.2 (1280)	0.02
ACEis	217 (28.1)	1775 (30.2)	0.22	28.0 (843)	31.6 (1149)	< 0.01
Dietary assessment				()		
erMedDiet score, 17-points	8.6 ± 2.7	8.5 ± 2.7	0.39	8.6 ± 2.7	8.5 ± 2.7	0.12
Energy intake, kcal/d	2325.2 ± 569.3	2370.5 ± 548.9	0.03	2343.6 ± 553.7	2383.2 ± 549.1	0.01
Protein intake, % energy	17.1 ± 2.8	16.7 ± 2.8	< 0.01	17.2 ± 2.9	16.4 ± 2.7	< 0.01
Fat intake. % energy	39.0 ± 6.9	39.6 ± 6.5	0.02	39.3 ± 6.6	39.8 ± 6.5	< 0.01
Carbohydrate intake. %	41.1 ± 7.1	40.5 ± 6.8	0.02			
energy	$\cdots = , \cdots$	1010 - 010	0.02	40.9 ± 6.9	40.3 ± 6.8	< 0.01
Fiber intake, g/day	26.1 ± 8.9	26.1 ± 8.8	0.92	26.9 ± 9.0	25.5 ± 8.5	< 0.01
Potassium intake, mg/day	4465.2 ± 1078.5	447.0 ± 1079.6	0.78	4587.0 ± 1119.8	43835 + 10360	< 0.01
Calcium intake. mg/dav	1037.0 ± 332.7	1034.0 ± 347.0	0.82	1059.8 ± 346.6	1013.4 ± 342.8	< 0.01
Magnesium intake, mg/dav	420.5 ± 110.8	420.4 ± 108.2	0.98	429.4 ± 111.00	412.9 ± 105.9	< 0.01
Phosphorus intake mg/day	1761.3 ± 429.4	1759.1 ± 419.9	0.89	1799.6 + 428.8	1726.1 + 411.5	< 0.01
Sodium intake mg/day	2386.9 + 798.4	2430.0 + 774.8	0.15	2419.3 ± 778.1	2429.6 + 777.4	0.59

Supplementary Table 3. Baseline characteristics of the study population (n= 6,647) according to included or excluded individuals from the analysis of eGFR and UACR.

Abbreviations: *ACEis*, Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors; *ARBs*, Angiotensin II receptor blockers; *eGFR*, Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; *erMedDiet*, energy-restricted Mediterranean diet, *NEAP*, Net Endogenous Acid Production; *T*, tertile; *BMI*, Body Mass Index; *PRAL*, Potential Renal Acid Load; *PA*, Physical activity; *eGFR*, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; *CKD*, Chronic Kidney Disease (eGFR<60 ml/min/1.73m²); *UACR*, Urine Albumin/Creatinine Ratio. Values are presented as percentages (n) for categorical variables and means \pm standard deviations for continuous variables. P-value was calculated by chi-square or one-way analysis of variance test for categorical and continuous variables, respectively.

		PRAL			
	T1	Τ2	Т3	p for Trend	Continuous (1 SD*)
Δ in eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ²					
eGFR categories					
\geq 90 ml/min/1.73m ²					
No.	n= 838	n= 838	n= 837		n= 2513
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-0.18 (-0.88 to 0.51)	-0.50 (-1.18 to 0.18)	0.151	-0.22 (-0.48 to 0.03)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.26 (-0.98 to 0.45)	-0.70 (-1.41 to 0.01)	0.056	-0.28 (-0.56 to -0.01)*
60 – 90 ml/min/1.73m ²					
No.	n= 992	n= 991	n= 991		n=2974
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	0.05 (-0.74 to 0.84)	-0.31 (-1.13 to 0.51)	0.463	-0.12 (-0.46 to 0.21)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	0.04 (-0.75 to 0.84)	-0.43 (-1.28 to 0.42)	0.331	-0.18 (-0.53 to 0.17)
< 60 ml/min/1.73m ²					
No.	n= 129	n= 129	n= 129		n= 387
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	0.03 (-2.67 to 2.74)	-0.77 (-3.30 to 1.77)	0.568	-0.40 (-1.35 to 0.56)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	0.80 (-1.95 to 3.57)	-0.52 (-3.24 to 2.20)	0.736	-0.24 (-1.30 to 0.81)
Δ in UACR, mg/g					
UACR categories					
< 30 mg/g					
No.	n= 1099	n= 1099	n= 1098		n= 3296
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-0.13 (-2.06 to 1.80)	0.07 (-1.56 to 1.70)	0.935	0.07 (-0.55 to 0.70)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.29 (-2.28 to 1.70)	-0.19 (-2.06 to 1.68)	0.835	-0.01 (-0.71 to 0.69)
\geq 30 mg/g					
No.	n= 115	n= 114	n=114		n=343
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-11.17 (-38.85 to 6.50)	-24.54 (-50.53 to 1.46)	0.072	-8.54 (-18.15 to 1.07)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-8.52 (-36.46 to 19.41)	-30.06 (-58.88 to -1.24)*	0.055	-10.71 (-22.26 to 0.84)
		NEAP			
Δ in eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ²					
eGFR categories					
\geq 90 ml/min/1.73m ²					
No.	n= 838	n= 838	n= 837		n= 2513
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-0.28 (-0.98 to 0.41)	-0.24 (-0.92 to 0.43)	0.494	-0.20 (-0.45 to 0.06)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.36 (-1.07 to 0.35)	-0.47 (-1.18 to 0.25)	0.207	-0.31 (-0.58 to -0.03)*
60 – 90 ml/min/1.73m ²					
No.	n= 992	n= 991	n= 991		n=2974
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-0.19 (-0.98 to 0.60)	-0.40 (-1.23 to 0.43)	0.344	-0.15 (-0.49 to 0.19)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.14 (-0.94 to 0.66)	-0.46 (-1.32 to 0.40)	0.287	-0.18 (-0.54 to 0.18)
< 60 ml/min/1.73m ²					
No.	n= 129	n= 129	n= 129		n= 387
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-1.15 (-3.81 to 1.50)	-1.10 (-3.73 to 1.54)	0.420	-0.60 (-1.58 to 0.38)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.55 (-3.29 to 2.18)	-1.07 (-3.85 to 1.71)	0.448	-0.49 (-1.56 to 0.58)
Δ in UACR, mg/g					
UACR categories					
< 30 mg/g					
No.	n= 1099	n= 1099	n= 1098		n= 3296
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-0.58 (-2.43 to 1.28)	0.11 (-1.66 to 1.89)	0.876	0.10 (-0.55 to 0.75)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.64 (-2.30 to 1.02)	-0.04 (-1.77 to 1.69)	0.999	0.04 (-0.66 to 0.74)
≥ 30 mg/g					
No.	n= 115	n= 114	n= 114		n=343
Model 1	0 (Ref.)	-9.54 (-37.37 to 18.29)	-27.10 (-37.37 to 18.29)	0.149	-9.56 (-19.69 to 0.56)
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-11.65 (-39.66 to 6.35)	-29.71 (-61.06 to 1.65)	0.087	-10.39 (-22.44 to 1.66)

Supplementary Table 4. Multivariable-adjusted β -coefficients and 95% CI for 1-year changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73m²) or 1-year changes in UACR (mg/g) across tertiles and per 1-SD increment of baseline PRAL and NEAP stratified by categories of eGFR and UACR.

Abbreviations: *eGFR*, Estimated glomerular filtration rate; *NEAP*, Net Endogenous Acid Production; *T*, tertile; *PRAL*, Potential Renal Acid Load; *UACR*, Urine albumin/creatinine ratio. Model 1: adjusted for age (years), sex and baseline eGFR or baseline UACR (in continuous, depending on the main outcome). Model 2: additionally adjusted for participating center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group (treatment/control), body mass index (kg/m²), smoking habits (never, current or former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education or graduate), leisure-time physical activity (METS/min/week in tertiles), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no) and hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), ARBs (yes/no), ACEis (yes/no). *p-value < 0.05. *One SD= 15.6 mEq/d in PRAL and 8.1 mEq/d in NEAP.

		PRAL (mEq/d)		
	T1	Τ2	Т3	p for Trend
Δ in eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ²	n= 1958	n= 1958	n= 1958	
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.14 (-0.68 to 0.39)	-0.60 (-1.16 to -0.04)*	0.037
eGFR decline ≥10%	n= 296; %= 15.1	n= 304; %= 15.5	n= 346; %= 17.7	
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.04 (0.87 to 1.25)	1.25 (1.05 to 1.50)*	0.017
Δ in UACR, mg/g	n= 1213	n= 1213	n= 1213	
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-1.53 (-4.75 to 1.69)	-2.83 (-6.19 to 0.57)	0.100
UACR increase ≥5%	n= 539; %= 44.4	n= 547; %= 45.1	n= 597; %= 49.2	
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.04 (0.88 to 1.23)	1.23 (1.03 to 1.46)*	0.021
		NEAP (mEq/d)		
Δ in eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ²	n= 1958	n= 1958	n= 1958	
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.27 (-0.80 to 0.26)	-0.51 (-1.08 to 0.06)	0.080
eGFR decline ≥10%	n= 297; %= 15.2	n= 312; %= 15.9	n= 337; %= 17.2	
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.06 (0.89 to 1.26)	1.21 (1.01 to 1.46)*	0.044
Δ in UACR, mg/g	n= 1213	n= 1213	n= 1213	
Model 2	0 (Ref.)	-0.72 (-3.77 to 2.33)	-2.23 (-5.58 to 1.11)	0.184
UACR increase ≥5%	n= 550; %= 45.3	n= 539; %= 44.4	n= 594; %= 49.0	
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	0.97 (0.82 to 1.14)	$1.18 (0.99 \text{ to } 1.41)^*$	0.053

Supplementary Table 5. Multivariable-adjusted β -coefficients and 95% CI of 1-year changes in eGFR (ml/min/1.73m2) or in UACR (mg/g) as well as adjusted OR and 95% CIs for \geq 10% eGFR decline or \geq 10% UACR increase by tertiles of baseline PRAL and NEAP.

Abbreviations: eGFR, Estimated glomerular filtration rate; NEAP, Net Endogenous Acid Production; T, tertile; PRAL, Potential Renal Acid Load; UACR, Urine albumin/creatinine ratio. All models were adjusted for age (years), sex, baseline eGFR or baseline UACR (in continuous, in logistic regression models depending on the main outcome), for participating center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group (treatment/control), body mass index (kg/m²), smoking habits (never, current or former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education or graduate), leisure-time physical activity (METS/min/week in tertiles), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no) and hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), ARBs (yes/no), ACEis (yes/no), Mediterranean diet adherence (high/low, \geq /< 12 points), energy intake (kcal/day in tertiles), sodium intake (mg/g in tertiles) and high leukocytes levels (yes/no). *p-value < 0.05.

Supplementary Table 6. Multivariable-adjusted OR (95% CIs) for ≥5% eGFR decline and ≥5% UACR increase by tertiles of baseline PRAL and NEAP and per 1-SD increment.

		PRAL			
	T1	Τ2	Т3	p for Trend	Continuous (1 SD*)
eGFR decline ≥5%					
No. (%)	527 (26.9)	547 (27.9)	578 (29.5)		1652 (28.1)
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.05 (0.92 to 1.21)	1.16 (1.01 to 1.34)*	0.037	1.08 (1.02 to 1.14)*
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.06 (0.92 to 1.23)	1.20 (1.04 to 1.40)*	0.017	1.10 (1.03 to 1.17)*
UACR increase ≥5%					
No. (%)	580 (47.8)	583 (48.1)	633 (52.2)		1796 (49.4)
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.02 (0.87 to 1.19)	1.21 (1.03 to 1.43)*	0.023	1.06 (0.99 to 1.13)
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.02 (0.86 to 1.20)	1.19 (1.00 to 1.42)*	0.054	1.05 (0.98 to 1.13)
		NEAP			
eGFR decline ≥5%					
No. (%)	532 (27.2)	546 (27.9)	574 (29.3)		1652 (28.1)
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	1.03 (0.90 to 1.19)	1.14 (0.99 to 1.32)	0.062	1.08 (1.02 to 1.14)*
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	1.04 (0.90 to 1.20)	1.18 (1.02 to 1.38)*	0.029	1.10 (1.03 to 1.17)*
UACR increase ≥5%					
No. (%)	589 (48.56)	581 (47.90)	626 (51.61)		1796 (49.4)
Model 1	1 (Ref.)	0.98 (0.83 to 1.15)	1.16 (0.98 to 1.36)	0.076	1.05 (0.98 to 1.12)
Model 2	1 (Ref.)	0.96 (0.82 to 1.14)	1.13 (0.95 to 1.35)	0.148	1.04 (0.97 to 1.12)

Abbreviations: eGFR, Estimated glomerular filtration rate; NEAP, Net Endogenous Acid Production; *T*, tertile; PRAL, Potential Renal Acid Load; UACR, Urine albumin/creatinine ratio. Model 1: adjusted for age (years) and sex. Model 2: additionally adjusted for participating center (categorized into quartiles by number of participants), intervention group (treatment/control), body mass index (kg/m²), smoking habits (never, current or former smoker), educational level (primary, secondary education or graduate), leisure-time physical activity (METS/min/week in tertiles), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no) and hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), ARBs (yes/no), ACEis (yes/no), Mediternaean diet adherence (high/low adherence), energy intake (kcal/day in tertiles), sodium intake (mg/g in tertiles) and high leukocytes levels (yes/no). *p-value < 0.05. *One SD= 15.6 mEq/d in NEAP.

Online supplementary material



Supplementary Figure 1. Flow chart of the study population

Chapter 3. Associations between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome.

Cristina Valle-Hita, Andrés Díaz-López, Nerea Becerra-Tomás, Estefania Toledo, Isabel Cornejo-Pareja, Itziar Abete, Antoni Sureda, Maira Bes-Rastrollo, J Alfredo Martínez, Francisco J Tinahones, Josep A Tur, Tany E Garcidueñas-Fimbres, Francisco París-Pallejá, Albert Goday, Nuria Goñi-Ruiz, Jordi Salas-Salvadó and Nancy Babio.

Overview of the novelty and significance of this publication

What is already known?

- Previous studies have consistently associated the consumption of UPF with several chronic non-communicable diseases. However, there is limited evidence concerning its impact on kidney function or CKD.
- Existing evidence suggests that UPF consumption is inversely associated with kidney function through SCr based-eGFR.

What does this study add?

- For the first time, our study evaluated the cross-sectional and prospective associations between UPF consumption and kidney function using eGFR based on CysC. This biomarker is more accurate and independent of certain risk factors than SCr.
- A negative association between UPF consumption and CysC based-eGFR at baseline and over 3-years of follow-up was observed.
- These results may provide new insights for the design of future evidence-based strategies to prevent kidney dysfunction, and they may also contribute valuable insights for enhancing clinical practices targeting older populations with cardiovascular risk.

Conclusion:

This study reinforces existing evidence indicating a potentially harmful association between UPF and health, specifically kidney function, in a Mediterranean population at high risk.

Clinical Nutrition 42 (2023) 2302-2310

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Clinical Nutrition

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/clnu

Original article

Associations between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome

Cristina Valle-Hita ^{a, b, c}, Andrés Díaz-López ^{a, b, c, d}, Nerea Becerra-Tomás ^{a, c, e}, Estefania Toledo ^{c, f}, Isabel Cornejo-Pareja ^{c, g}, Itziar Abete ^{c, h}, Antoni Sureda ^{c, i, j}, Maira Bes-Rastrollo ^{c, f}, J. Alfredo Martínez ^{c, k}, Francisco J. Tinahones ^{c, g}, Josep A. Tur ^{c, i, j}, Tany E. Garcidueñas-Fimbres ^{a, b, c}, Francisco París-Pallejá ¹, Albert Goday ^{c, m}, Nuria Goñi-Ruiz^{n, o}, Jordi Salas-Salvadó^{a, b, c, 1}, Nancy Babio^{a, b, c, 1}

^a Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia, Alimentaciò, Nutrició, Desenvolupament i Salut Mental ANUT-DSM, 43201 Reus, Spain ^b Institut d'Investigació Sanitària Pere Virgili (IISPV), 43204 Reus, Spain

^c Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y Nutrición, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Spain

^d Serra Hunter Fellow, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Nutrition and Mental Health Research Group (NUTRISAM), 43201 Reus, Spain

- e Department of Epidemiology & Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College London, St Mary's Campus, Norfolk Place,
- London, W2 1PG, UK

University of Navarra, Department of Preventive Medicine and Public Health, IdiSNA, 31008 Pamplona, Spain

- g Virgen de la Victoria Hospital, Department of Endocrinology, Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Málaga (IBIMA), University of Málaga, 29010 Málaga,
- Spain

^{h[°]University of Navarra, Department of Nutrition, Food Science and Physiology, IdiSNA, 31008 Pamplona, Spain}

- ¹ Health Research Institute of the Balearic Islands (IdISBa), 07120 Palma de Mallorca, Spain
- ^j Research Group on Community Nutrition & Oxidative Stress, University of Balearic Islands-IUNICS, 07120 Palma de Mallorca, Spain

^k Precision Nutrition Program, IMDEA Food, CEI UAM + CSIC, 28049 Madrid, Spain

¹ Atención Primaria Institut Catalá de la Salut. EAP Cap LLibertat. 43201 Reus. Spain

^m Cardiovascular Risk and Nutrition Research Group (CARIN), Hospital del Mar Research Institute (IMIM), Departament de Medicina, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona. 08003 Barcelona, Spain

ⁿ Servicio Navarro de Salud-Osasunbidea, Gerencia de Atención Primaria de Navarra, Navarra, Spain

 $^{
m o}$ Navarra Institute for Health Reseach, IdiSNA, Pamplona, Navarra, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

Accepted 29 September 2023

Article history:

Keywords:

Cystatin C

Received 22 July 2023

Ultra-processed food

Kidney function decline

Glomerular filtration rate

SUMMARY

Background & aims: Ultra-processed food (UPF) consumption has increased dramatically over the last decades worldwide. Although it has been linked to some cardiometabolic comorbidities, there is limited evidence regarding kidney function. This study aimed to cross-sectionally and longitudinally assess the association between UPF consumption and estimated-glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) based on Cystatin C (CysC).

Methods: Older adults (mean age 65 ± 5.0 years, 46% women) with overweight/obesity and metabolic syndrome (MetS) who had available data of CysC at baseline (n = 1909), at one-year and at 3-years of follow-up (n = 1700) were analyzed. Food consumption was assessed using a validated 143-item semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire and UPF consumption (% of g/d) at baseline and changes after one-year of follow-up were estimated according to NOVA classification system. Multivariable-adjusted linear and logistic regression models were performed to evaluate the cross-sectional associations between UPF consumption with eGFR levels and decreased kidney function (eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m2) at baseline. Multivariable-adjusted mixed-effects linear regression models were fitted to investigate the associations between one-year changes in UPF and eGFR over 3-years of follow-up. *Results:* Individuals with the highest baseline UPF consumption showed lower eGFR (β : -3.39 ml/min/

 1.73 m^2 ; 95% CI: -5.59 to -1.20) and higher odds of decreased kidney function (OR: 1.64; 95% CI: 1.21 to

¹ These authors are both Seniors.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2023.09.028

0261-5614/@ 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).





Abbreviations: BMI, Body Mass Index: CKD, Chronic Kidney Disease: CvsC, Cvstatin C: CI, Confidence Interval: E, Energy: FFO, Food Frequency Questionnaire: eGFR, estimated-Glomerular Filtration Rate; MedDiet, Mediterranean Diet; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome; METS, Metabolic Equivalent Task; PREDIMED, Prevención con Dieta Mediterránea; OR, Odds Ratios; T2D, type 2 diabetes; UPF, Ultra-Processed Food.

Corresponding author. Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia, Unitat de Nutrició Humana, Universitat Rovira i Virgili. C/ Sant Llorenç 21, Reus, 43201, Spain. E-mail address: nancy.babio@urv.cat (N. Babio).

C. Valle-Hita, A. Díaz-López, N. Becerra-Tomás et al.

Clinical Nutrition 42 (2023) 2302-2310

2.22) at baseline, compared to individuals in the lowest tertile. Participants in the highest tertile of oneyear changes in UPF consumption presented a significant decrease in eGFR after one-year of follow-up (β : 1.45 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: 2.90 to 0.01) as well as after 3-years of follow-up (β : 2.18 ml/ min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: 3.71 to 0.65) compared to those in the reference category. *Conclusions*: In a Mediterranean population of older adults with overweight/obesity and MetS, higher

UPF consumption at baseline and one-year changes towards higher consumption of UPF were associated with worse kidney function at baseline and over 3-years of follow-up, respectively. *Clinical Trial Registry number:* ISRCTN89898870.

© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

1. Introduction

The progressive loss of kidney function is one of the major health concerns in the ageing population, which could result in the onset of Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) [1]. Recent evidence shows that CKD affects around 10% of the general population worldwide and it is expected to be the 5th non-communicable cause of death in 2040 [2]. Apart from the fact that this global public health challenge is associated with lower quality of life and several cardiometabolic comorbidities [1,3–5], it also involves an economic burden on healthcare systems [2,4]. Consequently, it requires the urgent identification of those risk factors associated with kidney dysfunction and CKD to implement suitable preventive measures.

Lifestyle changes towards healthier habits such as being physically active, non-smoking or following traditional, home-cooked and healthy dietary patterns could be considered the main modifiable lifestyle behaviours that contribute to preserve kidney function and prevent the development of CKD [6] as well as related cardio-metabolic risk factors [7]. Considering dietary patterns, a recent meta-analysis of observational studies suggested that adhering to diets rich in unprocessed or minimally processed food such as fruits, vegetables, legumes or nuts and poor in red or processed meat and sugar-sweetened beverages, could be involved in the prevention of kidney function impairment and the delay of CKD progression [8]. Unfortunately, adherence to the Western diet, which implies a higher consumption of ultra-processed food (UPF), has been dramatically raising over the last decades around the world [9,10]. In general, UPF are industrial formulations generally characterized for having a scarce nutritional quality, high energy density and several added ingredients such as simple sugars, salt, fats, artificial colors, flavors, emulsifiers and stabilizers between other additives, which make them convenient products, readily available, affordable, with a long shelf-life and hyperpalatable. In addition, most of them are products with low dietary components beneficial to health such as fiber, and certain vitamins or minerals [11,12].

A significant body of scientific evidence has been reported about the relationship between UPF consumption and several chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease (CVD), hypertension, diabetes, obesity, even cancer and all-cause mortality [13,14]. However, only one cross-sectional study [15] and four prospective studies [16–19] have evaluated the potential relationship between UPF consumption and kidney function or CKD. Their findings suggested that higher consumption of UPF is inversely associated with reduced estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) [15,17], higher risk of kidney function decline [16,17] or CKD incidence [17,18]. Furthermore, in renal transplant recipients adults, it has been suggested that UPF consumption is associated with higher risk of all-cause mortality and renal function decline [20]. In addition, in a recent review, it has been discussed the potential relationship between UPF, kidney health and CKD, claiming for the inclusion of UPF in dietary guidelines for CKD prevention and managing [21]. All

studies have been conducted on adults or middle-aged individuals who were healthy or had CKD or renal transplant, and have assessed kidney outcomes through eGFR based on serum creatinine, a common biomarker of kidney function widely used in epidemiologic studies. However, long-term studies using optimal markers such as Cystatin C (CysC), which is not affected by sex, age, protein intake and muscle mass are absent [22,23]. In addition, it is still unclear whether the consumption of UPF is potentially associated with kidney health in elderly individuals who had underlying comorbid conditions such as obesity/overweight and metabolic syndrome (MetS). Hence, the main aims of this current study were to cross-sectionally and longitudinally assess the associations between UPF consumption and kidney function, through estimatedglomerular filtration rate (eGFR) based on Cystatin C (CysC), in a large cohort of Mediterranean older adults with overweight/ obesity and MetS.

2. Material & methods

2.1. Study design and population

The present study is part of the PREvención con DIeta MEDiterránea (PREDIMED)-Plus trial, which is an ongoing, multicenter, 8-year parallel-group and controlled intervention trial conducted in 23 Spanish centers, aiming to evaluate the effect of an intensive lifestyle weight loss intervention on CVD morbi-mortality compared to usual care advice. From 2013 to 2016, primary health care clinics, hospitals, universities and research institutes contributed to the enrollment of 6789 men (aged 55-75 years) and women (aged 60-75 years) free of CVD at baseline, with overweight or obesity (BMI 27-40 kg/m^2) and who met at least 3 components of the MetS [24]. Full details of the protocol and the study design can be accessed at https://www.predimedplus.com, and the inclusion/exclusion criteria have been extensively described elsewhere [25,26]. The PREDIMED-Plus was registered at the International Standard Randomized Controlled Trial registry in July 2014 (https://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN89898870).

In the current analysis, data from the LIKIDI sub-project conducted in the framework of the PREDIMED-plus trial was analyzed as an observational cross-sectional and prospective cohort study. In 5 out of the 23 PREDIMED-Plus recruiting centers, CysC levels were determined at baseline (n = 1909), at one-year (n = 1688) and at 3years of follow-up (n = 1482). Participants who did not complete the food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) and who reported implausible total energy intakes according to predefined limits (men <800 and >4000 kcal/day and women <500 and >3500 kcal/ day) [27] were excluded from the analyses.

After the final study protocol and procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Boards of each participating center in agreement with the ethical principles on human research established in the Declaration of Helsinki, written informed consent was provided by all participants. C. Valle-Hita, A. Díaz-López, N. Becerra-Tomás et al.

2.2. Dietary assessment and ultra-processed food

At baseline and after one-year of follow-up, participants completed a 143-item semi-quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) in a face-to-face interview held by trained dietitians. This FFQ, which is based on a previous validated one in the Spanish population [28], collected the frequency of consumption of each food item, with nine possible answers ranging from never or almost never to more than 6 times per day, during the preceding year. The responses for each item were subsequently transformed to grams per day. Two Spanish food composition tables were used to calculate total daily intake of energy, nutrients intake and food groups [29,30].

For the assessment of UPF consumption, NOVA classification system [31] was referred and food items were classified into one of the following four groups: unprocessed or minimally processed foods (NOVA 1), processed culinary ingredients (NOVA 2), processed foods (NOVA 3) and UPF (NOVA 4) [12]. Two independent dietitians performed the classification of the food items into one of the four groups and subsequently, different specialists in nutritional epidemiology from various recruiting centers participating in the study independently revised this procedure. Investigators discussed when discrepancies in classification of certain foods items raised and a decision was taken by consensus. Further details of the methods and the food items included in each group of de NOVA system in the PREDIMED-Plus have been described previously [32].

Therefore, the main exposure in this study was exclusively UPF. For each participant, the proportion of UPF in the total diet (% of grams of UPF/total grams of food intake per day) was calculated. Subsequently, one-year changes in UPF consumption were performed by subtracting the proportion of UPF in the total diet at one year minus the proportion at baseline.

2.3. Outcome ascertainment

Fasting blood samples were extracted at baseline, one-year and 3-years of follow-up. CysC concentrations were determined by Siemens Atellica NEPH 630 (Siemens Healthineers, Marburg, Germany) nephelometer using the Atellica CH CYSC_2 (Siemens Healthcare GmbH) assay with a limit of quantitation of 0.25 mg/L and an intra- and interassay coefficient of variation <10%. The eGFR was indirectly estimated from CysC using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equation [33]. Secondarily, baseline eGFR and decreased kidney function at baseline defined as eGFR lower than 60 ml/min/1.73 m², were assessed in the cross-sectional analysis.

2.4. Measurement of other covariates

Participants provided sociodemographic and lifestyle information through several questionnaires administered by trained staff. Physical activity was ascertained using the validated REGICOR (Registre Gironí del Cor) Short Physical Activity Questionnaire for adult population [34]. A validated 17-item energy-reduced Mediterranean Diet (erMedDiet) questionnaire [35] was used to assess the adherence to an MedDiet. Each item of this erMedDiet questionnaire was scored with 1 or 0 points, meaning compliance or not with a pre-established criterion. Therefore, the overall score ranged from 0 to 17 points, reflecting no-adherence or highest adherence to an erMedDiet, respectively. One-year changes in erMedDiet adherence were also calculated. Total daily energy, total carbohydrate, alcohol, sodium, phosphate, iron and fiber intakes, fruits and vegetables consumption and glycemic index were estimated according to data from the FFQ. One-year changes in the aforementioned dietary variables were also calculated (values at one-year minus values at baseline).

Following the study protocol, anthropometric variables such as weight, height or waist circumference were measured in duplicate, and body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing the weight in kilograms by the square of height in meters. Changes in body weight were calculated by subtracting weight at one-year minus weight at baseline. At baseline, urinary creatinine and albumin concentrations were determined using routine laboratory methods from spot morning urine samples and urine albumin creatinine ratio (UACR) was calculated by dividing these measures (mg/g). Resting blood pressure was measured in triplicate using a validated semiautomatic oscillometer (Omron HEM-705CP, Netherlands).

2.5. Statistical analysis

The data analyzed for this study was obtained from the latest available PREDIMED-plus database in December 2020. Participants were categorized into tertiles of proportions of UPF consumption at baseline and tertiles of changes of proportions of UPF consumption after one-year of follow-up. First tertile was used as the reference category. In addition, UPF consumption at baseline was also analyzed as a continuous variable (per 10% increment of UPF consumption). Baseline characteristics of the study population were reported as mean values and standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables or numbers and percentages (%) for categorical variables. One-way ANOVA and chi-square tests were used to compare the quantitative or general categorical characteristics of the studied population.

Based on the outcome of interest, we performed cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. First, multivariate linear and logistic regression models were fitted to estimate the cross-sectional associations between tertiles of UPF at baseline and eGFR (ml/min/ 1.73 m²) or decreased kidney function (eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m²) at baseline, respectively. Results were expressed as β -coefficients or odd ratios (OR) and their 95% confidence intervals (CI), as appropriate. Robust variance estimators were used in this analysis to correct for possible intra-cluster correlation, considering the participants who shared the same household as intra-cluster. Moreover, tests for linear trend were conducted by assigning the median value to each tertile of UPF consumption at baseline and modelling it as a continuous variable. Second, linear mixed-effects linear regression models with random intercepts at recruitment center, cluster family and participant level were performed to examine the longitudinal associations between tertiles of changes in UPF consumption after one-year of follow-up and eGFR $(ml/min/1.73 m^2)$ over 3-years of follow-up. The results were presented as β -coefficients and their 95% CI.

Based on previously reported risk factors for kidney function, in the cross-sectional analysis, four models with additional adjustment were fitted: Model 1 was adjusted by age (years) and sex (women/men); Model 2 was additionally adjusted by recruitment center (quartiles by number of participants), intervention group (intervention/control), BMI (kg/m²), smoking status (current/ former/never), education level (primary/secondary education/ graduate), civil status (single/married/widowed/divorced), physical activity (MET-min/week), alcohol intake (tertiles), type 2 diabetes (T2D) prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/ no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers drugs use (yes/no) and energy intake (kcal/d); Model 3: was additionally adjusted by erMedDiet adherence (tertiles). Model 4: was adjusted for the same variables that in the model 2 and for intake of sodium (mg/d), phosphate (U/I), iron (mg/d), fiber (g/d) and total carbohydrate (g/d), fruit and vegetables consumption (g/d) and glycemic

C. Valle-Hita, A. Díaz-López, N. Becerra-Tomás et al.

index (continuous). In the longitudinal analysis, only a multivariable-adjusted model was shown, which included all the aforementioned covariates as a fixed effect and was further adjusted by follow-up time (0, 1 or 3 years), the tertiles of changes in UPF consumption by follow-up time interaction, baseline UPF consumption (% of g/day), one-year changes in body weight (kg), one-year changes in intake of sodium (mg/d), phosphate (U/l), iron (mg/d), fiber (g/d) and total carbohydrate (g/d), one-year changes in glycemic index (continuous) instead of the variable at baseline. Moreover, an additional analysis adjusting this model for one-year changes in energy intake (kcal/d), in physical activity (MET-min/week) and in alcohol intake (g, tertiles) was performed.

As a sensitivity analysis, the association between tertiles of oneyear changes in UPF consumption with eGFR over 3-years of followup by excluding individuals with T2D, eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² and UACR \geq 300 mg/g at baseline were conducted to test the robustness of the longitudinal results. In addition, stratified analysis by sex (men/women) and intervention group (intervention/ control) were performed to assess potential modifications in the longitudinal associations. Interactions between tertiles of changes in UPF consumption and sex or intervention group were also explored by means of likelihood ratio tests, comparing the most adjusted linear mixed model with and without cross-product terms (all interactions, p > 0.05).

All statistical analyses were performed using Stata/SE software, version 17.0 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA) and two-tailed p value < 0.05 was deemed as statistically significant.

3. Results

Among the 1909 PREDIMED-Plus participants with available data for CysC levels, 58 and 209 individuals were excluded due to missing data in the FFQ and reporting extreme total energy intake at baseline and after one-year of follow-up, respectively. Therefore,

a total of 1851 participants were included in the current crosssectional analysis and 1700 participants in the longitudinal analysis (Fig. 1). Baseline characteristics according to included or excluded participants from the cross-sectional analysis are depicted in Supplementary Table 1. The mean $(\pm SD)$ age of these individuals was 65 \pm 5 years and 45.5% were women. The mean ($\pm SD$) of eGFR at baseline was 72.7 \pm 18.4 ml/min/1.73 m². At baseline, participants presented a mean (±SD) proportion of UPF consumption of 7.6 \pm 6.3%, for processed foods was 20.8 \pm 10.5%, for processed culinary ingredients was $2.8 \pm 1.2\%$ and for UMPF was $68.8 \pm 11.8\%$, all of which were reported in g/day. The general characteristics of the studied population according to UPF consumption tertiles at baseline are summarized in Table 1. Compared to participants in the lowest category of UPF consumption, those in the highest category were more likely to be men, younger, to have higher BMI, higher educational level and were less likely to be physically active. In terms of dietary assessment, participants with higher consumption of UPF presented a higher energy intake, a lower adherence to an erMedDiet and lower consumption of UMPF and processed foods at baseline, compared to those with a lower UPF consumption. Furthermore, individuals in the top tertile of UPF consumption presented higher CysC levels than those in the lowest tertile.

Table 2 shows cross-sectional associations between UPF consumption and kidney function. In the full-adjusted model, UPF consumption showed a statistically significant inverse association with eGFR (β : -2.72 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -4.89 to -0.54) and was positively associated with decreased kidney function showing an OR of 1.57 (95% CI: 1.16 to 2.12) at baseline. Similar results were observed when UPF was analyzed per 10% increment of UPF consumption across the different models. In the fully adjusted model, every 10% increase in the amount of UPF consumed in the diet was associated with a decrease in eGFR (β : -1.35 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -2.74 to -1.00) and higher odds of decreased kidney function at baseline (OR: 1.27; 95% CI: 1.06 to 1.52). Findings were in the same



Fig. 1. Flow diagram for study participants. Abbreviations eGFR, glomerular filtration rate; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire.

4. Discussion

Clinical Nutrition 42 (2023) 2302-2310

line in the longitudinal associations of changes in UPF consumption after one-year of follow-up with eGFR over 3-years of follow-up (Table 3). Participants in the highest tertile of changes in UPF consumption after one-year of follow-up presented a statistically significant decrease in eGFR after one-year of follow-up (β : -1.43 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -2.85 to -0.01) as well as after 3-years of follow-up (β : -2.12 ml/min/1.73 m²; 95% CI: -3.62 to -0.62) compared to those in the lowest tertile. These findings remained unchanged after adjusting for energy intake changes, physical activity changes and alcohol intake changes after one-year of follow-up (data not shown).

Results were essentially the same when we restricted the main longitudinal analysis to individuals without T2D, with eGFR > 60 ml/min/1.73 m² and UACR \leq 300 mg/g at baseline (Supplementary Table 2). No statistically significant interactions between UPF consumption and sex (p = 0.195) and intervention group assignment (p = 0.220) were found. However, the associations between one-year changes in UPF consumption and eGFR over 3-years of follow-up were statistically significant only in men and the control group (Supplementary Table 3).

As far as we know, this is the first time that the association between UPF consumption and kidney function has been assessed through eGFR based on the novel and accurate CysC biomarker in older individuals with overweight/obesity and MetS. The results showed that higher consumption of UPF was associated with a lower eGFR and higher odd of decreased kidney function at baseline. Moreover, one-year changes towards a higher consumption of UPF were related to a decrease in eGFR over 3-years of follow-up. These results may provide new insights for the design of future evidence-based strategies to prevent kidney dysfunction or even help in clinical practice targeting older populations with cardiovascular risk.

So far, the evidence regarding the relationship between UPF consumption and kidney function is scarce. Nonetheless, our findings were consistent with the preceding studies. Mirroring our results from the cross-sectional analysis, the HEXA (Health Examinees) study which included 134,544 healthy Korean middle-aged individuals showed that higher consumption of UPF was

Table 1

Baseline characteristics of the study participants according to tertiles of ultra-processed food consumption in the PREDIMED-Plus (n = 1851).

	Proportions of UPF co	nsumption in the diet at base	eline (% of g/day)	
	T1	T2	T3	p-value
	n = 617	n = 617	n = 617	
Age, years	65.9 ± 4.8	65.1 ± 4.9	64.1 ± 5.2	< 0.001
Women, n (%)	313 (50.7)	292 (47.3)	237 (38.4)	< 0.001
Intervention group, n (%)	312 (50.6)	314 (51.0)	292 (47.3)	0.383
BMI, kg/m ²	32.2 ± 3.3	32.6 ± 3.3	32.6 ± 3.5	0.024
Physical activity, METS/min/week	2846 ± 2449	2532 ± 2232	2325 ± 2248	< 0.001
Smoking status, n (%)				0.126
Never smoked	278 (45.1)	249 (40.4)	237 (38.4)	
Former smoker	266 (43.1)	294 (47.7)	291 (47.2)	
Current smoker	73 (11.8)	74 (12.0)	89 (14.4)	
Education level, n (%)			. ,	< 0.001
Primary education	344 (55.8)	328 (53.2)	268 (43.4)	
Secondary education	178 (28.9)	174 (28.2)	216 (35.0)	
Academic or graduate	95 (15.4)	115 (18.6)	133 (21.6)	
NOVA 4: UPF consumption, % of g/day	2.7 ± 1.0	5.9 ± 1.1	14.2 ± 7.0	< 0.001
NOVA 3: Processed foods consumption, % of g/day	21.6 ± 12.0	20.6 ± 10.0	20.2 ± 9.3	0.064
NOVA 2: Processed culinary ingredients consumption, % of	2.8 ± 1.2	2.9 ± 1.2	2.8 ± 1.1	0.023
g/day	53.0 13.1	70.0 10.0		0.001
NOVA 1: Unprocessed and minimally processed foods consumption, % of g/day	72.9 ± 12.1	70.6 ± 10.2	62.9 <u>+</u> 10.6	<0.001
erMedDiet score, 17-points	9.5 ± 2.6	8.4 ± 2.4	7.5 ± 2.5	< 0.001
Fruits and vegetables consumption (g/d)	784.3 ± 283.0	729.2 ± 242.7	666.4 ± 239.8	< 0.001
Energy intake, kcal/d	2311 ± 530	2415 ± 505	2577 ± 548	< 0.001
Total carbohydrate intake (g/d)	233.8 ± 70.9	246.5 ± 69.0	264.3 ± 75.0	< 0.001
Sugar intake, g/day	8.6 ± 13.7	15.7 ± 22.1	52.3 ± 93.1	< 0.001
Fiber intake, g/day	27.4 ± 9.4	26.5 ± 8.4	25.1 ± 7.8	< 0.001
Sodium intake (mg/d)	2316.5 ± 805.0	2452.1 ± 745.3	2674.3 ± 814.7	< 0.001
Phosphorus intake (mg/d)	1740.7 ± 428.5	1741.2 ± 414.8	1781.7 ± 407.1	0.140
Iron intake (mg/d)	16.4 ± 4.0	16.6 <u>+</u> 3.8	17.0 <u>+</u> 3.8	0.022
Glycemic index	55.6 ± 5.0	55.1 ± 4.8	54.5 ± 5.7	0.001
Cystatin C, mg/dl	1.04 (0.2)	1.04 (0.2)	1.08 (0.3)	0.003
eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m ² at baseline	73.4 ± 18.4	73.27 ± 18.0	71.6 ± 18.9	0.149
Type 2 diabetes, n (%)	188 (30.5)	165 (26.8)	183 (29.7)	0.316
Hypertension, n (%)	512 (83.0)	532 (86.2)	527 (85.4)	0.255
Hypercholesterolemia, n (%)	413 (67.0)	395 (64.0)	410 (66.5)	0.512
Medication use, n (%)				
Lipid-lowering drugs	323 (52.4)	297 (48.1)	311 (50.4)	0.334
Oral blood glucose-lowering drugs	161 (26.1)	134 (21.7)	148 (24.0)	0.197
Insulin treatment	32 (5.2)	24 (3.9)	32 (5.2)	0.466
Antihypertensive drugs	489 (79.3)	505 (81.9)	500 (81.0)	0.498
ARBs	195 (31.6)	203 (32.9)	210 (34.0)	0.661
ACEis	200 (32.4)	213 (34.5)	222 (36.0)	0.415

Abbreviations: ACEis, Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors; ARBs, Angiotensin II receptor blockers; eGFR, Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; erMedDiet, energyrestricted Mediterranean diet, METS, Metabolic Equivalent of Task; T, tertile; BMI, Body Mass Index; UPF, Ultra-processed food. Decreased Kidney Function was defined as eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m². Values are reported as means ± standard deviations for continuous variables and number (%) for categorical variables. P-value was calculated by one-way analysis of variance test or chi-square for continuous and categorical variables, respectively. C. Valle-Hita, A. Díaz-López, N. Becerra-Tomás et al.

Clinical Nutrition 42 (2023) 2302-2310

Table 2

Cross-sectional associations between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function in the PREDIMED-Plus study (n = 1851).

	Proportions of UPF cons	sumption in the diet at baselin	ne (% of g/day)		Per 10% increment of UPF consumption at baseline
	T1 (n = 617)	T2 (n = 617)	T3 (n = 617)	p-trend	(n = 1851)
UPF consumption at baseline, % of g/day	2.7 ± 1.0	5.9 ± 1.1	14.2 ± 7.0		7.6 ± 6.3
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²) ^a	73.93(72.49-75.37)	73.44 (72.12–74.75)	70.82 (69.41-72.23)		
Model 1 ^b	0 (Ref.)	-1.01 (-2.95 to 0.94)	-4.16 (-6.15 to -2.17)	< 0.001	-2.46 (-3.79 to -1.14)
Model 2 ^b	0 (Ref.)	-0.72 (-2.64 to 1.19)	-3.51 (-5.54 to -1.47)	0.001	-1.86 (-3.18 to -0.55)
Model 3 ^b	0 (Ref.)	-0.49 (-2.44 to 1.46)	-3.11 (-5.19 to -1.02)	0.003	-1.60 (-2.93 to -0.28)
Model 4 ^d	0 (Ref.)	-0.30 (-2.26 to 1.66)	-2.72 (-4.89 to -0.54)	0.015	-1.35 (-2.74 to -1.00)
Decreased Kidney	144 (23.3)	153 (24.8)	184 (29.8)		481 (26.0)
Function, n (%) ^c					
Model 1 ^d	1 (Ref.)	1.18 (0.90 to1.55)	1.76 (1.35 to 2.29)	< 0.001	1.41 (1.20 to 1.66)
Model 2 ^d	1 (Ref.)	1.15 (0.87 to 1.52)	1.66 (1.25 to 2.20)	< 0.001	1.33 (1.13 to 1.57)
Model 3 ^d	1 (Ref.)	1.16 (0.88 to 1.53)	1.66 (1.25 to 2.22)	< 0.001	1.32 (1.11 to 1.57)
Model 4 ^d	1 (Ref.)	1.10 (0.83 to 1.46)	1.57 (1.16 to 2.12)	0.004	1.27 (1.06 to 1.52)

Abbreviations: eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; UPF, Ultra-processed food; T, Tertiles; Ref, Reference.

Model 1 was adjusted for age (years) and sex (women/men). Model 2 was additionally adjusted for center (quartiles by number of participants), intervention group (intervention/control), body mass index (kg/m²), smoking status (current/former/never), education level (primary/secondary education/graduate), civil status (single/married/ widowed/divorced), physical activity (MET-min/week), alcohol intake (g, tertiles), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers drugs (yes/no) and energy intake (kcal/d). Model 3 was additionally adjusted for Mediterranean Diet adherence (points, tertiles). Model 4 was adjusted for the same variables that in model 2 and for intake of sodium (mg/d), phosphorus (mg/d), iron (mg/d), fiber (g/d) and total carbohydrate (g/d), fruits and vegetables consumption (g/d) and glycemic index (continuous).

^a Multivariable adjusted means of eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m²) at baseline. (Model 3).
 ^b Multivariable adjusted β-coefficients and 95% CI for baseline eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m²) according to baseline tertiles of proportions of UPF consumption in the diet as well as per 10% increment of the UPF consumption at baseline.

^c Decreased Kidney Function was defined as eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m².

^d Multivariable adjusted Odd Ratios and 95% CI for baseline eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² according to baseline tertiles of proportions of UPF consumption in the diet as well as per 10% increment of the UPF consumption at baseline.

Table 3

Longitudinal associations between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function in the PREDIMED-Plus study (n = 1700).

	Changes in proportions of	of UPF consumption in the	e diet after one-year of fol	low-up (% of g/da	y)		
	T1 (n = 567)	T2 (n = 567)	T3 (n = 566)	T2 vs. T1	p-value	T3 vs. T1	p-value
Change in UPF consumption after one-year of follow-up, % of g/day	-7.9 ± 5.3	-2.0 ± 0.8	1.8 ± 3.1	difference		difference	
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²) over 3-ye Multivariable adjusted model	ars						
Baseline	72.09 (69.65 to 74.54)	71.55 (69.24 to 73.86)	71.92 (69.53 to 74.31)				
1-year	70.91 (68.45 to 73.36)	69.55 (67.22 to 71.87)	69.31 (66.91 to 71.70)				
1-year change	-1.19 (-2.19 to -0.18)	-2.01 (-3.01 to -1.00)	-2.61 (-3.62 to -1.61)	-0.81 (-2.24 to 0.60)	0.259	-1.43 (-2.85 to -0.01)	0.049
3-years	67.56 (65.07 to 70.05)	66.50 (64.14 to 68.86)	65.27 (62.83 to 67.71)				
3-years change	-4.54 (-5.59 to -3.48)	-5.05 (-6.10 to -3.99)	-6.65 (-7.72 to -5.58)	-0.51 (-2.00 to 0.98)	0.501	-2.12 (-3.62 to -0.62)	0.006

Abbreviations: eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; UPF, Ultra-processed food; T, Tertiles.

Model was adjusted for age (years), sex (women/men), follow-up time (years), the tertiles of changes in UPF consumption by follow-up time interaction, baseline UPF consumption (% of g/day, continuous), intervention group (intervention/control), body mass index (kg/m²), smoking status (current, former, never), education level (primary, secondary education, graduate), civil status (single, married, widowed, divorced), physical activity (MET-min/week), alcohol intake (g, tertiles), diabetes prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers drugs (yes/no), energy intake (kcal/d), one-year changes in body weight (kg), one-year changes in intake of sodium (mg/d), phosphorus (mg/d), fiber (g/d) and total carbohydrate (g/d), one-year changes in fruits and vegetables consumption (g/d) and one-year changes in glycemic index (continuous).

associated with higher prevalence of CKD and lower values of eGFR at baseline [15]. Our prospective analysis supports the results from the four previously published cohort studies [16–19]. In the Seniors-ENRICA (Estudio sobre Nutrición y Rlesgo CArdiovascular en España) cohort, Spanish older individuals with higher consumption of UPF presented higher risk of renal function decline after 6-years of follow-up [16]. Similarly, in The Lifelines cohort, UPF consumption was positively associated with incident CKD after approximately 4-years of follow-up among Dutch adults [17]. Moreover, results from the ARIC (Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities) study showed a positive association between UPF consumption and risk of incident CKD during a median follow-up of 24-years in a population of 14,679 middle-aged US adults [18].

Additionally, in two large-scale adult populations from China (TCLSIH, Tianjin Chronic Low-grade Systemic Inflammation and Health) and the United Kingdom (UK Biobank), higher UPF consumption was also statistically significant associated with a higher risk of incident CKD [19]. The fact that the present study used for the first time CysC to estimate eGFR when evaluating its association with UPF consumption strengthens the evidence concerning the relationship between UPF consumption and kidney function since this biomarker is reported to be independent of several factors in contrast to creatinine [23].

In contrast to the limited research focus on UPF and kidney function, it is worth mentioning that there is more evidence on the association between dietary patterns aligned with lower consumption of UPF, such as the Mediterranean diet, and kidney function or CKD [36]. To date, the most recent systematic review and meta-analysis performed by Hansrivijit et al., suggested that adhering to a Mediterranean diet is associated with a lower risk of CKD [37].

Several factors linked to UPF could partially explain the observed associations. It is well-known that UPF have a poor nutritional profile due to their low fiber content [38,39], as well as their high simple sugars [40-42] and sodium content [43,44], which might play a harmful role in kidney health. In fact, we observed that those participants in the highest tertile of UPF consumption at baseline presented significantly lower fruit and vegetables consumption, fiber intake and higher sugar consumption. In addition, the integration of additives to UPF composition makes them an inorganic phosphate source which has been associated with eGFR decline and CKD by previous research [45-47]. Furthermore, recent evidence suggests that certain plastic packaging compounds such as phthalates or bisphenols are related to CKD [48]. All these compounds and others not mentioned before, as non-caloric artificial sweeteners or neo-formed contaminants, may also have an indirect effect on kidney function by being implicated in inflammation procedures [39], gut barrier permeability [49,50], and the onset or even the progression of comorbidities including obesity [51,52], hypertension [45,53], diabetes [54,55], and cardiovascular disease [46,56].

Some limitations deserve to be mentioned. First, as participants included in our analysis were older Mediterranean individuals with overweight/obesity and MetS, findings cannot be extrapolated to the general population. Second, causality cannot be established due to the observational study design. Third, individuals included in the current study are under a lifestyle intervention program which may influence our results. Nevertheless, our analyses were adjusted by intervention group and body weight changes, obtaining similar findings. Furthermore, subgroup analyses stratifying by intervention group assignment were in the same line with those for the entire cohort. Fourth, the FFQ used in this study was not specifically developed to assess UPF consumption and the estimation through NOVA classification system has been subject of discussion in the last year, existing disagreement between authors regarding some concerns such as the definition of UPF, bias for misclassification or whether the concept of UPF inform dietary guidelines beyond information already available in conventional classification systems [57-59]. However, the NOVA system has been widely used in epidemiological studies as a suitable food processing classification method and could be a good tool to give simple advice messages to the general population. Finally, although the FFQ is an appropriate and common tool used in nutritional studies, recall bias and potential measurement errors cannot entirely be ruled out. Nevertheless, this validated FFQ was carefully administered by trained dietitians, and individuals reporting implausible energy intake were excluded in attempt to avoid this bias. The current study also has several strengths that should be highlighted such as the novel estimation of eGFR based on CysC, a more optimal and accurate biomarker of kidney function [22,23]. Other strengths include the relatively large sample size, the consistent results using repeated measures for outcomes over 3-years of follow-up, the control for an extended range of confounders and the robust results from our subgroup and sensitivity analysis.

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, in a Mediterranean population of older adults with overweight/obesity and MetS, higher UPF consumption at baseline and one-year changes towards higher consumption of UPF were associated with worse kidney function at baseline and over 3years of follow-up, respectively. Although this study supports existing evidence regarding the potentially harmful association between UPF and health and specifically kidney function, further long-term studies are needed, especially those applying suitable methods such as CysC based-eGFR, and conducted in different populations, which explore the underlying mechanism for these associations.

Funding statement

This work was supported by the official Spanish Institutions for funding scientific biomedical research, CIBER Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y Nutrición (CIBEROBN) and Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), through the Fondo de Investigación para la Salud (FIS), which is co-funded by the European Regional Development Fund (six coordinated FIS projects leaded by JS-S and Jesús Vioque, including the following projects: PI13/00673, PI13/00492, PI13/ 00272, PI13/01123, PI13/00462, PI13/00233, PI13/02184, PI13/ 00728, PI13/01090, PI13/01056, PI14/01722, PI14/00636, PI14/ 00618, PI14/00696, PI14/01206, PI14/01919, PI14/00853, PI14/ 01374, PI14/00972, PI14/00728, PI14/01471, PI16/00473, PI16/ 00662, PI16/01873, PI16/01094, PI16/00501, PI16/00533, PI16/ 00381, PI16/00366, PI16/01522, PI16/01120, PI17/00764, PI17/ 01183, PI17/00855, PI17/01347, PI17/00525, PI17/01827, PI17/00532, PI17/00215, PI17/01441, PI17/00508, PI17/01732, PI17/00926, PI19/ 00957, PI19/00386, PI19/00309, PI19/01032, PI19/00576, PI19/ 00017, PI19/01226, PI19/00781, PI19/01560, PI19/01332, PI20/ 01802, PI20/00138, PI20/01532, PI20/00456, PI20/00339, PI20/ 00557, PI20/00886, PI20/01158); the Especial Action Project entitled: Implementación y evaluación de una intervención intensiva sobre la actividad física Cohorte PREDIMED-Plus grant to JS-S; the European Research Council (Advanced Research Grant 2014–2019; agreement #340918) granted to Miguel Ángel Martínez-González.; the Recercaixa (number 2013ACUP00194) grant to JS-S and NB; grants from the Consejería de Salud de la Junta de Andalucía (PI0458/2013, PS0358/2016, PI0137/2018); the PROMETEO/2017/ 017 grant from the Generalitat Valenciana; the SEMERGEN grant; the Boosting young talent call grant program for the development of IISPV research projects 2019-2021 (Ref.: 2019/IISPV/03 grant to AD-L); the Societat Catalana d'Endocrinologia i Nutrició (SCEN) Clinical-Research Grant 2019 (IPs: JS-S and AD-L). Collaborative Nutrition and/or Obesity Project for Young Researchers 2019 supported by CIBEROBN entitled: Lifestyle Interventions and Chronic Kidney Disease: Inflammation, Oxidative Stress and Metabolomic Profile (LIKIDI study) grant to AD-L. Jordi Salas-Salvadó, gratefully acknowledges the financial support by ICREA under the ICREA Academia programme. C.V-H. received a predoctoral grant from the Generalitat de Catalunya (2022 FI_B100108). TEG-F. received a grant from Government of Mexico (grant number 769789). AD-L received a Serra Hunter Fellowship from Generalitat de Catalunya. None of the funding sources took part in the design, collection, analysis, interpretation of the data, or writing the report, or in the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

Authors' contributions

CV-H, AD-L, NB-T, ET, IC-P, IA, AS, MB-R, JAM, FJT, JAT, TEG-F, FP-P, AG, NG-R, JS-S, and NB designed and conducted the research. CV-H and NB analysed the data. CV-H, NB, AD-L and NB-T wrote the article. All authors revised the manuscript for important intellectual content and read and approved the final manuscript. The corresponding author attests that all listed authors meet authorship criteria and that no others meeting the criteria have been omitted. CV-H and NB are the guarantors of this work and, as such,

C. Valle-Hita, A. Díaz-López, N. Becerra-Tomás et al.

had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethical standards

All participants provided written informed consent. The study protocol and procedures were approved according to the ethical standards of the Declaration of Helsinki by the Institutional Review Boards (IRBs) of all the participating institutions.

Data availability

There are restrictions on the availability of data for the PREDIMED-Plus trial, due to the signed consent agreements around data sharing, which only allow access to external researchers for studies following the project purposes. Requestors wishing to access the PREDIMED-Plus trial data used in this study can make a request to the PREDIMED-Plus trial Steering Committee chair: predimed_plus_scommitte@googlegroups.com. The request will then be passed to members of the PREDIMED-Plus Steering Committee for deliberation.

Conflict of interest

JS-S reported receiving research support from the California Walnut Commission, Patrimonio Comunal Olivarero, La Morella Nuts, and Borges S.A; receiving consulting fees or travel expenses from Instituto Danone, Abbott Laboratories and Mundifarma, receiving nonfinancial support from Hojiblanca, Patrimonio Comunal Olivarero, and Almond Board of California; serving on the board of and receiving grant support through his institution from the International Nut and Dried Foundation and the Eroski Foundation. All other authors declare no competing interests.

Acknowledgments

The authors would especially like to thank all PREDIMED-Plus participants for their enthusiastic collaboration, the PREDIMED-Plus personnel for their outstanding support and the personnel of affiliated primary care centers for their exceptional effort. CIBER-OBN, CIBERESP and CIBERDEM are initiatives of ISCIII, Madrid, Spain. We also thank the PREDIMED-Plus Biobank Network, part of the National Biobank Platform of the ISCIII for storing and managing the PREDIMED-Plus biological samples.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2023.09.028.

References

- O'Sullivan ED, Hughes J, Ferenbach DA. Renal aging: causes and consequences. J Am Soc Nephrol 2017;28:407-20. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2015121308. [2] Kovesdy CP. Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease: an update 2022. Kidney
- Int Suppl 2022;12:7–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kisu.2021.11.003. Fang Y, Gong AY, Haller ST, Dworkin LD, Liu Z, Gong R. The ageing kidney: [3]
- molecular mechanisms and clinical implications. Ageing Res Rev 2020;63: 101151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2020.101151
- GBD Chronic Kidney Disease Collaboration. Global, regional, and national [4]burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2020;395:709–33. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30045-3.
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group KDIGO 2012 clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int Suppl 2013;3:1–150. Van Westing AC, Küpers LK, Geleijnse JM. Diet and kidney function: a litera-
- [6] ture review. Curr Hypertens Rep 2020;22:1-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11906-020-1020-1.

Clinical Nutrition 42 (2023) 2302-2310

- [7] Luyckx VA, Tuttle KR, Garcia-Garcia G, Gharbi MB, Heerspink HJL, Johnson DW, et al. Reducing major risk factors for chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int Suppl 2017;7:71-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kisu.2017.07.003.
- [8] Bach KE, Kelly JT, Campbell KL, Palmer SC, Khalesi S, Strippoli GFM. Healthy dietary patterns and incidence of CKD: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2019;14:1441–9. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.00530119
- Baker P, Machado P, Santos T, Sievert K, Backholer K, Hadjikakou M, et al. [9] Ultra-processed foods and the nutrition transition: global, regional and national trends, food systems transformations and political economy drivers. Obes Rev 2020;21:1-22. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13126
- [10]Hariharan D, Vellanki K, Kramer H. The western diet and chronic kidney disease. Curr Hypertens Rep 2015; 17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11906-014-0529-6. Gibney MJ. Ultra-processed foods: definitions and policy issues. Curr Dev Nutr
- [11]2019:3:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/cdn/nzv07
- Monteiro CA, Cannon G, Levy RB, Moubarac JC, Louzada MLC, Rauber F, et al. [12] Ultra-processed foods: what they are and how to identify them. Publ Health Nutr 2019;22:936-41. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980018003762.
- [13] Chen X, Zhang Z, Yang H, Qiu P, Wang H, Wang F, et al. Consumption of ultraprocessed foods and health outcomes: a systematic review of epidemiological studies. Nutr J 2020;19:1–10.
- [14] Valicente VM, Peng CH, Pacheco KN, Lin L, Kielb EI, Dawoodani E, et al. Ultraprocessed foods and obesity risk: a critical review of reported mechanisms. Adv Nutr 2023;14:718-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advnut.2023.04.006
- [15] Kityo A, Lee SA. The intake of ultra-processed foods and prevalence of chronic kidney disease: the health Examinees study. Nutrients 2022;14:1–11. https:// doi.org/10.3390/nu14173548
- [16] Rey-García J, Donat-Vargas C, Sandoval-Insausti H, Bayan-Bravo A, Moreno-Franco B, Banegas JR, et al. Ultra-processed food consumption is associated with renal function decline in older adults: a prospective cohort study. Nutrients 2021;13:1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13020428. Cai Q, Duan MJ, Dekker LH, Carrero JJ, Avesani CM, Bakker SJL, et al. Ultra-
- [17] processed food consumption and kidney function decline in a populationbased cohort in The Netherlands. Am J Clin Nutr 2022;116:263–73. https:// doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqac073
- [18] Du S, Kim H, Crews DC, White K, Rebholz CM. Association between ultraprocessed food consumption and risk of incident CKD: a prospective cohort study. Am J Kidney Dis 2022;80:589–598.e1. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2022.03.016.
- [19] Gu Y, Li H, Ma H, Zhang S, Meng G, Zhang Q, et al. Consumption of ultraprocessed food and development of chronic kidney disease: the Tianjin chronic low-grade systemic inflammation and health and UK Biobank cohort studies. Am J Clin Nutr 2023;117:373–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajcnut.2022.11.005. Osté MCJ, Duan MJ, Gomes-Neto AW, Vinke PC, Carrero JJ, Avesani C, et al.
- [20] Ultra-processed foods and risk of all-cause mortality in renal transplant recipients. Am J Clin Nutr 2022;115:1646-57. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/ ngac053
- [21] Avesani CA, Cuppari L, Nerbass FB, Lindholm BSP. Ultraprocessed food and chronic kidney disease - double trouble. Mak It IT; 2016. p. 1–297. https:// loi.org/10.1201/9781315366784.
- [22] Filler G, Bökenkamp A, Hofmann W, Le Bricon T, Martínez-Brú C, Grubb A. Cystatin C as a marker of GFR - history, indications, and future research. Clin Biochem 2005;38:1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2004.09.025.
- Zou LX, Sun L, Nicholas SB, Lu Y, K SS, Hua R. Comparison of bias and accuracy [23] using cystatin C and creatinine in CKD-EPI equations for GFR estimation. Eur J Intern Med 2020;80:29-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2020.04.04
- [24] Alberti KGMM, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the international diabetes federation task force on epidemiology and prevention; National heart, lung, and blood institute; American heart association; World heart federation; International. Circulation 2009;120:1640-5. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.19264
- [25] Martínez-González MA, Buil-Cosiales P, Corella D, Bulló M, Fitó M, Vioque J, et al. Cohort profile: design and methods of the PREDIMED-Plus randomized trial. Int J Epidemiol 2019;48:387–3880. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyy225. Sayón-Orea C, Razquin C, Bulló M, Corella D, Fitó M, Romaguera D, et al. Effect
- [26] of a nutritional and behavioral intervention on energy-reduced mediterranean diet adherence among patients with metabolic syndrome: interim analysis of the PREDIMED-plus randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2019;322: 1486–99. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.14630.
- Willett WC, Howe R, Kushi LH. Adjustment for total energy intake in epide-miologic studies. Am J Clin Nutr 1997;65:12205-85. [27]
- [28] Fernández-Ballart JD, Piñol JL, Zazpe I, Corella D, Carrasco P, Toledo E, et al. Relative validity of a semi-quantitative food-frequency questionnaire in an elderly Mediterranean population of Spain. Br J Nutr 2010;103:1808-16. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114509993837. Moreiras O, Carvajal A, Cabrera L, Cuadrado C. Tablas de composición de ali-
- [29] mentos (Food Composition Tables). Madrid, Spain: Ediciones Pirámides S.A.; 2005.
- Mataix Verdú J. Tabla de composición de alimentos [Food Composition Ta-[30] bles]. Spain: Granada; 2003.
- [31] Monteiro CA, Cannon G, Moubarac JC, Levy RB, Louzada MLC, Jaime PC. The un Decade of Nutrition, the NOVA food classification and the trouble with ultraprocessing. Publ Health Nutr 2018;21:5-17. https://doi.org/10.1017 136898001700023
- [32] Konieczna J, Morey M, Abete I, Bes-Rastrollo M, Ruiz-Canela M, Vioque J, et al. Contribution of ultra-processed foods in visceral fat deposition and other

C. Valle-Hita, A. Díaz-López, N. Becerra-Tomás et al.

Clinical Nutrition 42 (2023) 2302-2310

adiposity indicators: prospective analysis nested in the PREDIMED-Plus trial. Clin Nutr 2021;40:4290–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2021.01.019. [33] Inker LA, Schmid CH, Tighiouart H, Eckfeldt JH, Feldman HI, Greene T, et al.

- [33] Inker LA, Schmid CH, Tighiouart H, Eckfeldt JH, Feldman HI, Greene T, et al. Estimating glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine and cystatin C. N Engl J Med 2012;367:20–9. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1114248.
- [34] Molina I, Sarmiento M, Peñafiel J, Donaire D, Garcia-Aymerich J, Gomez M, et al. Validation of the regicor short physical activity questionnaire for the adult population. PLoS One 2017;12:1-14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0168148.
- [35] Schröder H, Zomeño MD, Martínez-González MA, Salas-Salvadó J, Corella D, Vioque J, et al. Validity of the energy-restricted mediterranean diet adherence screener. Clin Nutr 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CLNU.2021.06.030.
- [36] Pérez-Torres A, Caverni-Muñoz A, González García E. Mediterranean diet and chronic kidney disease (CKD): a practical approach. Nutrients 2023;15:1–10. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15010097.
- [37] Hansrivijit P, Oli S, Khanal R, Ghahramani N, Thongprayoon C, Cheungpasitporn W. Mediterranean diet and the risk of chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nephrology 2020;25:913–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/nep.13778.
- [38] Mirmiran P, Yuzbashian E, Asghari G, Sarverzadeh S, Azizi F. Dietary fibre intake in relation to the risk of incident chronic kidney disease. Br J Nutr 2018;119:479-85. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114517003671.
- [39] Xu H, Huang X, Rus UR, Krishnamurthy VM, Cederholm T, Ärnlöv J, et al. Dietary fiber, kidney function, inflammation, and mortality risk. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2014;9:2104-10. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.02260314.
 [40] Rebholz CM, Young BA, Katz R, Tucker KL, Carithers TC, Norwood AF, et al.
- [40] Rebholz CM, Young BA, Katz R, Tucker KL, Carithers TC, Norwood AF, et al. Patterns of beverages consumed and risk of incident kidney disease. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2019;14:49–56. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.06380518.
- [41] Cheungpasitporn W, Thongprayoon C, O'Corragain OA, Edmonds PJ, Kittanamongkolchai W, Erickson SB. Associations of sugar-sweetened and artificially sweetened soda with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nephrology 2014;19:791-7. https://doi.org/10.1111/ nep.12343.
- [42] Karalius VP, Shoham DA. Dietary sugar and artificial sweetener intake and chronic kidney disease: a review. Adv Chron Kidney Dis 2013;20:157-64. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ackd.2012.12.005.
- https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ackd.2012.12.005.
 [43] Yuzbashian E, Asghari G, Mirmiran P, Amouzegar-Bahambari P, Azizi F. Adherence to low-sodium Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension-style diet may decrease the risk of incident chronic kidney disease among high-risk patients: a secondary prevention in prospective cohort study. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2018;33:1159-68. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfx352.
- [44] Valtuille R. Potential novel benefits of sodium restriction in chronic kidney disease. Curr Hypertens Rev 2021;17:59–66.
- [45] Rubio-Aliaga I, Krapf R. Phosphate intake, hyperphosphatemia, and kidney function. Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol 2022;474:935–47. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00424-022-02691-x.

- [46] Rubio-Aliaga I. Phosphate and kidney healthy aging. Kidney Blood Press Res 2020;45:802-11. https://doi.org/10.1159/000509831.
- [47] Vervloet MG, Sezer S, Massy ZA, Johansson L, Cozzolino M, Fouque D. The role of phosphate in kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 2017;13:27–38. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrneph.2016.164.
- [48] Tsai HJ, Wu PY, Huang JC, Chen SC. Environmental pollution and chronic kidney disease. Int J Med Sci 2021;18:1121-9. https://doi.org/10.7150/ ijms.51594.
- [49] Cronin P, Joyce SA, O'toole PW, O'connor EM. Dietary fibre modulates the gut microbiota. Nutrients 2021;13:1–22. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13051655.
- [50] Suez J, Korem T, Zeevi D, Zilberman-Schapira G, Thaiss CA, Maza O, et al. Artificial sweeteners induce glucose intolerance by altering the gut microbiota. Nature 2014;514:181-6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13793.
- [51] Kabir ER, Rahman MS, Rahman I. A review on endocrine disruptors and their possible impacts on human health. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 2015;40: 241–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2015.06.009.
- [52] Haverinen E, Fernandez MF, Mustieles V, Tolonen H. Metabolic syndrome and endocrine disrupting chemicals: an overview of exposure and health effects. Int J Environ Res Publ Health 2021;18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18241 3047.
- [53] Mohammad J, Scanni R, Bestmann L, Hulter HN, Krapf R. A controlled increase in dietary phosphate elevates BP in healthy human subjects. J Am Soc Nephrol 2018;29:2089–98. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2017121254.
- [54] Malik VS, Popkin BM, Bray GA, Després JP, Willett WC, Hu FB. Sugarsweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2010;33:2477-83. https://doi.org/10.2337/ dc10-1079.
- [55] Mancini FR, Affret A, Dow C, Balkau B, Clavel-Chapelon F, Bonnet F, et al. High dietary phosphorus intake is associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes in the large prospective E3N cohort study. Clin Nutr 2018;37: 1625-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2017.07.025.
 [56] Juul F, Vaidean G, Parekh N. Ultra-processed foods and cardiovascular dis-
- [56] Juul F, Vaidean G, Parekh N. Ultra-processed foods and cardiovascular diseases: potential mechanisms of action. Adv Nutr 2021;12:1673–80. https:// doi.org/10.1093/advances/nmab049.
- [57] Astrup A, Monteiro CA, Ludwig DS. Does the concept of "ultra-processed foods" help inform dietary guidelines, beyond conventional classification systems? NO. Am J Clin Nutr 2022;116:1482–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/ nqac123.
- [58] Monteiro CA, Astrup A. Does the concept of "ultra-processed foods" help inform dietary guidelines, beyond conventional classification systems? yes. Am J Clin Nutr 2022;116:1476-81. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqac122.
 [59] Astrup A, Monteiro CA. Does the concept of "ultra-processed foods" help
- [59] Astrup A, Monteiro CA. Does the concept of "ultra-processed foods" help inform dietary guidelines, beyond conventional classification systems? Debate consensus. Am J Clin Nutr 2022;116:1489–91. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/ajcn/nqac230.

Supplementary Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the PREDIMED-Plus study population according to included or exclude	d
individuals from the analysis.	

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Total	Included	Excluded	
	n= 6874	n= 1851	n= 5023	p-value
Age, years	65.0 ± 4.9	65.0 ± 5.0	64.9 ± 4.9	0.374
Women, n (%)	3335 (48.5)	842 (45.5)	2493 (49.6)	0.002
Intervention group, n (%)	3406 (49.6)	918 (49.6)	2488 (49.5)	0.963
BMI, kg/m^2	32.6 ± 3.5	32.5 ± 3.4	32.6 ± 3.5	0.091
Physical activity, METS/min/week	2463 ± 2301	2568 ± 2321	2424 ± 2293	0.022
Smoking status, n (%)				0.013
Never smoked	3034 (44.1)	764 (41.3)	2270 (45.2)	
Former smoker	2983 (43.4)	851 (46.0)	2132 (42.4)	
Current smoker	857 (12.5)	236 (12.8)	621 (12.4)	
Education level, n (%)				< 0.001
Primary education	3357 (48.9)	940 (50.8)	2417 (48.2)	
Secondary education	1986 (28.9)	568 (30.69)	1418 (28.3)	
Academic or graduate	1526 (22.2)	343 (18.5)	1183 (23.6)	
NOVA 4: UPF consumption, % of g/day	8.0 ± 6.8	7.6 ± 6.3	8.1 ± 6.9	0.002
NOVA 3: Processed foods consumption, % of g/day	20.2 ± 10.7	20.8 ± 10.5	20.0 ± 10.7	0.003
NOVA 2: Processed culinary ingredients consumption,	26 ± 12	20112	26 ± 1.2	<0.001
% of g/day	2.0 ± 1.2	2.8 ± 1.2	2.0 ± 1.3	<0.001
NOVA 1: Unprocessed and minimally processed foods	(0.2 + 11.0)	(0.0 ± 11.0)	(0.2 + 12.6)	0.110
consumption, % of g/day	69.2 ± 11.8	68.8 ± 11.8	69.3 ± 12.6	0.110
erMedDiet score, 17-points	8.5 ± 2.6	8.5 ± 2.6	8.5 ± 2.7	0.785
Emits and vacatables consumption (a/d)	730.2 ± 286.7	731.5 ± 295.9	726.6 ± 260.3	0.5304
Fruits and vegetables consumption (g/d)				
Energy intake, kcal/d	2416 ± 633	2434 ± 539	2410 ± 664	0.156
Total carbohydrate intake (g/d)	246.5 ± 81.2	245.9 ± 84.1	248.2 ± 72.7	0.3063
Sugar intake, g/day	29.7 ± 69.5	25.5 ± 59.0	31.2 ± 73.0	0.003
Fiber intake, g/day	26.5 ± 9.2	26.3 ± 8.6	26.6 ± 9.4	0.351
Sodium intake (mg/d)	2482.8 ± 867.3	2483.5 ± 890.4	2481.0 ± 802.2	0.916
Phosphorus intake (mg/d)	1788.2 ± 458.2	1800.6 ± 471.9	1754.5 ± 417.1	< 0.001
Iron intake (mg/d)	16.8 ± 3.9	16.8 ± 4.5	16.7 ± 3.9	0.689
Glycemic index	53.9 ± 5.2	53.5 ± 5.1	55.0 ± 5.2	< 0.001
Cystatin C, mg/dl	1.05 ± 0.23	1.05 (0.2)	1.04 ± 0.16	0.552
eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ² at baseline	72.7 ± 18.3	72.7 ± 18.4	72.1 ± 15.2	0.811
Type 2 diabetes, n (%)	2093 (30.5)	536 (29.0)	1557 (31.0)	0.103
Hypertension, n (%)	5758 (83.8)	1571 (84.9)	4187 (83.4)	0.130
Hypercholesterolemia, n (%)	4813 (70.0)	1218 (65.8)	3595 (71.6)	< 0.001
Medication use, n (%)	16.8 ± 4.4	16.8 ± 4.5	16.7 ± 3.9	0.689
Lipid-lowering drugs	3557 (51.8)	931 (50.3)	2626 (52.3)	0.145
Oral blood glucose-lowering drugs	1779 (25.9)	443 (23.9)	1336 (26.6)	0.025
Insulin treatment	283 (4.1)	88 (4.8)	195 (3.9)	0.106
Antihypertensive drugs	5368 (78.1)	1494 (80.7)	3874 (77.1)	0.001
ARBs	2495 (36.3)	608 (32.9)	1887 (37.6)	< 0.001
ACEis	2049 (29.8)	635 (34.3)	1414 (28.2)	< 0.001

Abbreviations: ACEis, Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors; ARBs, Angiotensin II receptor blockers; eGFR, Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; erMedDiet, energy-restricted Mediterranean diet, METS, Metabolic Equivalent of Task; T, tertile; BMI, Body Mass Index; UPF, Ultra-processed food. Decreased Kidney Function was defined as eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73m². Values are reported as means \pm standard deviations for continuous variables and number (%) for categorical variables. P-value was calculated by one-way analysis of variance test or chi-square for continuous and categorical variables, respectively.

In the analyses, there were missing data for NOVA 1 in 36 participants (0.52%), NOVA 2 in 36 participants (0.52%), NOVA3 in 36 participants (0.52%), NOVA 4 in 36 participants (0.52%), erMedDiet adherence in 5 participants (0.7%), fruits and vegetables consumption in 36 participants (0.52%), energy intake in 36 participants (0.7%), total carbohydrate intake in 36 participants (0.52%), fiber intake in 36 participants (0.52%), sugar intake in 36 participants (0.52%), sodium intake in 36 participants (0.52%), phosphorus intake in 36 participants (0.52%), iron intake in 36 participants (0.52%), glycemic index in 36 participants (0.52%), eGFR in 4965 participants (72.2%), CysC in 4965 participants (72.2%),.

Supplementary Table 2. Sensitivity analysis of the association between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function over 3-years of follow-up excluding individuals with T2D, eGFR <60ml/min/1.72m² and UACR ≥300mg/g

Cristina Valle Hita

		Chanzas in anonomians	of ITDF concurrention in the	lint office and woon of fol	10/ mi	of ~/do)	
		Changes in proportions of	or UFF consumption in the	utet atter otte-year of tot	oz) dn-won	ui g/uay)	
	T1	T2	T3	T2 vs. T1 difference	p-value	T3 vs. T1 difference	p-value
eGFR (ml/min/1.73m²) over 3-years							
Individuals free of T2D	(n=401)	(n=401)	(n=400)				
Baseline	71.69 (69.38 to 73.99)	72.95 (70.81 to 75.09)	72.77 (70.53 to 75.01)				
1-year	70.62 (68.30 to 72.94)	71.68 (69.53 to 73.84)	69.94 (67.69 to 72.19)				
1-year change	-1.07 (-2.23 to 0.10)	-1.27 (-2.43 to -0.11)	-2.83 (-3.99 to -1.67)	-0.20 (-1.85 to 1.44)	0.809	-1.77 (-3.41 to -0.12)	0.035
3-years	67.92 (65.57 to 70.27)	68.11 (65.91 to 70.31)	66.47 (64.18 to 68.77)				
3-years change	-3.77 (-4.99 to -2.55)	-4.84 (-6.07 to -3.62)	-6.29 (-7.52 to -5.07)	-1.08 (-2.80 to 0.65)	0.221	-2.53 (-4.26 to -0.80)	0.004
Individuals with eGFR ≥60ml/min/1.73m²	(n=421)	(n=421)	(n=420)				
Baseline	79.88 (77.63 to 82.14)	79.05 (76.91 to 81.19)	79.47 (77.27 to 81.67)				
1-year	76.98 (74.70 to 79.25)	75.14 (72.99 to 77.29)	75.35 (73.13 to 77.57)				
1-year change	-2.91 (-4.08 to -1.74)	-3.91 (-5.08 to -2.75)	-4.12 (-5.29 to -2.95)	-1.01 (-2.66 to 0.65)	0.233	-1.22 (-2.87 to 0.44)	0.150
3-years	73.44 (71.13 to 75.75)	71.45 (69.25 to 73.66)	70.67 (68.40 to 72.95)				
3-years change	-6.44 (-7.66 to -5.23)	-7.60 (-8.82 to -6.37)	-8.80 (-10.04 to -7.56)	-1.15 (-2.88 to 0.58)	0.192	-2.35 (-4.09 to -0.62)	0.008
Individuals with UACR <300mg/g	(n=562)	(n=562)	(n=561)				
Baseline	72.09 (69.65 to 74.54)	71.55 (69.24 to 73.86)	71.92 (69.53 to 74.30)				
1-year	70.91 (68.45 to 73.36)	69.55 (67.22 to 71.87)	69.31 (66.91 to 71.70)				
1-year change	-1.19 (-2.19 to -0.18)	-2.00 (-3.01 to -1.00)	-2.61 (-3.62 to -1.61)	-0.82 (-2.24 to 0.60)	0.259	-1.43 (-2.85 to -0.004)	0.049
3-years	67.56 (65.07 to 70.05)	66.50 (64.14 to 68.87)	65.27 (62.83 to 67.71)				
3-years change	-4.54 (-5.59 to -3.48)	-5.05 (-6.10 to -3.99)	-6.65 (-7.72 to -5.58)	-0.51 (-2.00 to 0.98)	0.501	-2.12 (-3.62 to -0.62)	0.006
Abbreviations: T2D, Type 2 diabetes; eGFR, estim	nated Glomerular Filtration Rate	; UPF, Ultra-processed food; T,	Tertiles.				
Linear Mixed Models were used to assess the longiti	udinal association between char	iges in UPF consumption after c	one-year of follow-up and eGFR	over time by excluding indiv	viduals with J	'2D, eGFR <60ml/min/1.72n	1 ² and UACR

≥300mg/g. Model was adjusted for age (years), sex (women/men), follow-up time (years), the tertiles of changes in UPF consumption by follow-up time interaction, baseline UPF consumption (% of g/day, continuous), intervention group (intervention/control), body mass index (kg/m²), smoking status (current, former, never), education level (primary, secondary education, graduate), civil status (single, married, widowed, divorced), physical activity (METmin/week), alcohol intake (g, tertiles), diabetes prevalence (yes/no)(except for analysis excluding individuals with diabetes), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers drugs (yes/no), energy intake (kcal/d), one-year changes in body weight (kg), one-year changes in intake of sodium (mg/d), phosphorus (mg/d), iron (mg/d), fiber (g/d) and total carbohydrate (g/d), one-year changes in fruits and vegetables consumption (g/d) and one-year changes in glycemic index (continuous).

•	nateria	
	ntary n	
•	olemei	
	e supt	
;	ullu	

Ì Supplementary Table 3. Associations between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function over 3-years of follow-up stratified by sex and intervention group

•					
	Changes in proportions	s of UPF consumpti	on in the diet after one-year of	fo %) dn-wollof	i g/day)
	T2 vs. T1 difference	p-value	T3 vs. T1 difference	p-value	p-interaction
eGFR (ml/min/1.73m ²) over 3-years					
Men					0.195
1-year change	-0.77 (-2.80 to 1.26)	0.457	-1.97 (-4.01 to 0.07)	0.059	
3-years change	0.10 (-2.02 to 2.23)	0.924	-2.58 (-4.72 to -0.45)	0.018	
Women					
1-year change	-0.16 (-2.10 to 1.77)	0.869	-0.52 (-2.45 to 1.41)	0.596	
3-years change	-0.48 (-2.53 to 1.57)	0.646	-1.76 (-3.82 to 0.30)	0.094	
Intervention group					0.220
1-year change	-1.95 (-4.00 to 0.10)	0.062	-0.49 (-2.54 to 1.55)	0.636	
3-years change	-0.34 (-2.50 to 1.82)	0.760	-0.03 (-2.20 to 2.13)	0.975	
Control group					
1-year change	-0.90 (-2.85 to 1.06)	0.369	-1.11 (-3.06 to 0.85)	0.268	
3-years change	-2.53 (-4.57 to -0.49)	0.015	-3.52 (-5.59 to -1.45)	0.001	
Abbreviations: eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtra	tion Rate; UPF, Ultra-processed food; 7	T, Tertiles.			
Linear Mixed Models were used to assess the lon	gitudinal association between changes	in UPF consumption	after one-year of follow-up and eC	FR over time strat	ifying by sex and
intervention group. Model was adjusted for age (y	ears), sex (men/women)(except for and	alysis stratified by sex), follow-up time (years), the tertile	s of changes in UPI	F consumption by
follow-up time interaction, baseline UPF consumpt	ion (% of g/day, continuous), intervent	tion group (intervention	n/control)(except for analysis stratifi	ed by intervention g	group), body mass
index (kg/m ²), smoking status (current, former, nev	er), education level (primary, secondary	y education, graduate),	civil status (single, married, widowe	d, divorced), physic	cal activity (MET-

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME

min/week), alcohol intake (g, tertiles), diabetes prevalence (yes/no)(except for analysis excluding individuals with diabetes), hypercholesterolemia prevalence (yes/no), hypertension prevalence (yes/no), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers drugs (yes/no), energy intake (kcal/d), one-year changes in body weight (kg), one-year changes in intake of sodium (mg/d), phosphorus (mg/d), iron (mg/d), fiber (g/d) and total carbohydrate (g/d), one-year changes in fruits and vegetables consumption (g/d) and one-year changes in glycemic index (continuous). The n of each group and category was for men T1: n= 312; T2: n= 312; T3: n= 312; for women T1: n= 255; T2: n= 255; T3: n= 254; for intervention

group T1: n= 277; T2: n= 276; T3: n= 276; and for control group T1: n= 291; T2: n= 290; T3: n= 290.

Cristina Valle Hita



VI. Discussion

VI. DISCUSSION

Prior evidence has highlighted the potentially crucial relevance of diet to kidney health. The current dissertation aimed to further investigate the associations between different dietary factors - specifically dietary patterns, dietary acid load, and UPF - and kidney function in an older Mediterranean population with overweight or obesity and MetS.

Although each chapter of this doctoral thesis contains a discussion section, a general discussion is presented below to summarize all findings, address important considerations that could not be discussed previously, and provide new scientific evidence that has emerged since the studies of this thesis were published. The overall strengths and limitations derived from this research are also described in this section.

1. General discussion

The results of this dissertation are substantially valuable as they provide new prospective evidence to the existing body of literature in the field of diet, kidney function, and CKD. In particular, the results of the current doctoral thesis showed a beneficial association between healthy dietary patterns, specifically the MedDiet, and kidney function, assessed longitudinally by eGFR, in older Mediterranean adults with underlying comorbidities. In contrast, the dietary acid load indexes PRAL and NEAP demonstrated a prospective negative association with eGFR levels and UACR; which was in line with the detrimental association observed between the consumption of UPF, a food group characterized by a high dietary acid load, and eGFR over 3 years of follow-up.

The findings in **chapter 1** regarding the adherence to a MedDiet and its association with kidney function were consistent with previous scientific literature^{199–204} such as the systematic review and meta-analysis led by Hansrivijit et al., which reported that the MedDiet had a relevant impact on the prevention of CKD, with a 10% reduction in the risk of CKD observed for each one-point increase in the MedDiet score¹⁵⁴. In our longitudinal study, an *a priori* Mediterranean dietary pattern was evaluated using two different approaches - the 17-item erMedDiet and the Trichopoulou-MedDiet - which were based on different scoring criteria. The first mentioned score was obtained from a pre-defined questionnaire that uses absolute values in accordance with established scientific knowledge about the healthy levels of certain food intakes and specific cultural and dietary considerations, whereas the calculation of the Trichopoulou score depends only on the distribution of the study population, as gender-specific median cut-offs are used for the estimation. These score

discrepancies may partly explain why we observed a statistically significant association between changes towards greater adherence to the 17-item erMedDiet score after one year of follow-up and better eGFR as well as 38% lower odds of eGFR decline, but not with the Trichopoulou-MedDiet score.

This prospective study also revealed that the DASH diet score, *a priori* index based on the studied population distribution, was not significantly associated with kidney function outcomes. There is conflicting research regarding the relationship between the DASH diet and kidney function or CKD; while some authors¹⁶⁹ agreed with our non-significant findings, others have observed significant positive associations with eGFR decline²⁰⁵ or the risk of CKD^{156,206}. Given that the DASH diet is relatively similar to the MedDiet and has been widely demonstrated to have a beneficial effect on hypertension²⁰⁷, a recognized risk factor of CKD, further studies are required to clarify any inconsistencies, which are probably due to differences in the populations studied and the methods used to assess dietary intake.

Traditionally, protein intake has been a major focus in the field of kidney research, and for many years, limiting protein intake has been part of the recommendations for people with some degree of kidney function decline^{171,208}. Nevertheless, recent evidence suggests that the source of the protein should be considered as important as the quantity. In fact, in 2017, the Protein Diet Score was developed to assess protein intake on the basis of both total amount and source, using the plant-to-animal protein ratio, and it was found to be positively associated with eGFR²⁰⁹. However, this association was not observed in present thesis where we conducted a separate analysis of the two components of the Protein Diet Score and found that only the total protein intake component showed a significant negative association with eGFR, suggesting that the quantity of protein intake may be responsible for this detrimental association. To the best of our knowledge, Møller et al.²⁰⁹ and the work conducted as part of this thesis are the only studies that have used the Protein Diet Score in relation to kidney function; therefore, additional research with longer follow-up periods is warranted to elucidate the implications of protein intake on CKD prevention.

Both the Mediterranean and DASH diets have been described as healthy, plant-based dietary patterns because they are mainly composed of nutrient-dense foods of plant origin, such as vegetables, fruits, nuts, and legumes, which are also considered alkaline-forming foods. By contrast, these diets are characterized by an extremely low consumption of acid-inducing foods, which include red and processed meats, sugar-sweetened beverages, baked goods, sweets, and convenience foods, among other UPF^{158,210,211}. In the introduction section, it was

> outlined that diet is a critical contributor to the maintenance of the acid-base status in gastrointestinal tract of humans. Dietary acid load has been proposed as an index of the quality and acidity of dietary patterns^{158,210,212}. Given that associations between dietary acid load and an increased risk of CKD have been described previously^{183,213}, in chapter 2 we aimed to explore the association between the two most common indexes of dietary acid load, eGFR and UACR. Our results indicated that the PRAL and NEAP indexes were negatively associated with one-year changes in eGFR levels, but not with changes in UACR. In line with this, in our study population, a significant positive association was also reported between both dietary acid load indexes and the odds of eGFR decline after one-year of follow-up as well as between the PRAL index and the odds of UACR increase. These results regarding eGFR and UACR could indicate that dietary acid load may influence kidney function through tubular damage, without affecting the permeability of the glomerulus. The findings of this thesis related to dietary acid load align with the findings of prior crosssectional studies on eGFR, CKD²¹⁴⁻²¹⁷, and UACR²¹⁵⁻²¹⁷. In addition, to date, only the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) trial has longitudinally examined the association between dietary acid load and CKD, finding a 13% higher risk of incident CKD among participants with higher PRAL²¹⁸, which was in line with our study results. Accordingly, due to the lack of clear evidence, especially in people at high risk, such as older populations with other comorbid conditions, more studies, and ideally prospective longitudinal ones, are urgently needed to verify the associations discussed in the current doctoral thesis.

> As mentioned, a group of acid-forming foods is the UPF¹⁷⁸, the consumption of which has increased alarmingly in recent decades¹⁴⁷. UPF is a relevant source of potentially harmful nutrients and micronutrients, including free sugars, trans fatty acids, and/or sodium¹⁸⁴, which have been extensively related to an increased risk of non-communicable diseases^{147,186}. Nonetheless, research into the possible impact of UPF on kidney function is scarce. Therefore, **in chapter 3**, the cross-sectional and prospective associations between UPF and eGFR were investigated in older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS. To the best of our knowledge, this was the first epidemiological study examining these associations using the CysC to estimate eGFR. This biomarker exhibits some advantages over others, such as appearing to be less dependent on important factors in older adults, such as aging, muscle mass, and diet^{7,9,219}. The results of this study extend the associations observed by other authors^{187–192} regarding the role of UPF on kidney function and CKD, suggesting that both baseline consumption and changes towards higher consumption might decrease eGFR;

hence, UPF consumption could worsen the function of the kidneys. In the long term, this could lead to the development of CKD. In fact, a very recent systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies observed a 25% increased risk of incident CKD among individuals with the highest consumption of UPF in comparison to those with the lowest consumption²²⁰. To ensure the accumulation of reliable evidence and to draw robust conclusions, it would be worthwhile in the future to further analyze this association in other populations, also using CysC as a biomarker of eGFR and over longer follow-up periods.

From a mechanistic perspective, several explanations have been proposed for the observed associations between the components of the diet studied in the present doctoral thesis and kidney function. On the one hand, the potential protective impact of the Mediterranean dietary pattern on kidney function could be primarily due to the high content of fiber, vitamins, minerals, phytosterols, and other antioxidant and anti-inflammatory compounds in its foods^{160,221}. Furthermore, extra virgin olive oil and nuts are the major sources of dietary fat in the Mediterranean culture; more specifically, these foods contribute substantially to the intake of mono- and polyunsaturated fatty acids^{160,221}. All these components may synergistically affect kidney function not only in a direct manner^{149,222-226} but also indirectly, as previous scientific evidence has suggested that some of these dietary compounds could modulate inflammatory procedures, endothelial function, oxidative stress^{224,225,227-232}, blood lipid profiles^{224,233,234}, insulin resistance^{224,225,235,236}, and blood pressure^{233,234,237}. Therefore, they also have been linked to a reduced risk of some CKD risk factors, including hypertension, obesity, metabolic syndrome, and diabetes^{225,231,233,234,238}. On the other hand, the plausible detrimental effect of high acid load diets and UPF may be attributed to the lack of the beneficial compounds mentioned above, particularly the lower fiber content, in addition to the increased amount of simple sugars, trans-fatty acids, phosphate, and/or sodium¹⁸⁴, which have been implicated not only in CKD239-246 but also in related-comorbidities and mechanisms²⁴⁶⁻²⁴⁸, such as gut barrier permeability disturbances^{249,250}. Besides, foods with a high acid load, such as UPF, are convenience products that are usually readily available on the market in plastic packaging. Certain constituents of this packaging have recently been suggested to be transferred to the food²⁵¹, and may have some adverse health effects, such as changes in the gut microbiota^{252,253}, inflammatory processes²⁵⁴, higher risk of obesity or diabetes^{252,253,255}, and, ultimately, kidney function decline^{256,257}. Finally, some other plausible explanations for the potential relationship between dietary acid load and kidney function that have been hypothesized, include activation of the RAAS and the complement pathway, production of endothelin-1, ammoniagenesis, and oxidative stress, which have been linked to acid retention and metabolic acidosis^{44,258}.

In brief, the prospective epidemiological studies derived from the current doctoral thesis support the potential role of certain factors of the diet – dietary patterns, dietary acid load, and UPF –on kidney function and CKD. According to our findings, healthy dietary patterns, especially the MedDiet, which is characterized by a high content of nutrient-dense foods with a low dietary acid load, such as fruits, vegetables, nuts, or legumes, and by contrast a low consumption of UPF, may be beneficial for preventing CKD in people with overweight or obesity and MetS. Therefore, even though more studies are still warranted to provide stronger scientific evidence in this area, recommendations to adhere to a diet low in acid load, such as the MedDiet pattern, and to limit the consumption of UPF as much as possible may be prudent, not only for the prevention of the onset and progression of kidney function decline or CKD, but also for the general health of the population and the protection against other non-communicable diseases. Furthermore, from a public health standpoint, dietary guideline design, and clinical practice perspective, these recommendations could be more informative, understandable, and meaningful than advice based solely on individual nutrients.

2. Strengths and limitations

The present doctoral thesis has several strengths and potential limitations that deserve to be addressed. Given the potential limitations, the findings should be interpreted with caution.

Firstly, one of the main **limitations** is the observational nature of the study design, which limits the ability to infer causality; therefore, only associations can be claimed. Secondly, as with any observational study, it is important to recognize that potential confounding factors cannot be entirely ruled out. Nevertheless, the statistical models performed in this investigation were adjusted for a wide range of relevant covariates related to dietary factors as well as kidney function to minimize the risk of confounding bias. Thirdly, given that the population studied was older Mediterranean adults with overweight or obesity and MetS, it might be difficult to extrapolate our findings to other populations. Consequently, to reinforce our conclusions, further research is necessary in populations from other regions and age groups. Fourthly, an FFQ was used to assess exposure to dietary patterns, dietary acid load and UPF. Although this type of questionnaire is widely used in nutritional epidemiological studies for collecting usual dietary intake data, it is sensitive to measurement
> errors, recall bias, and misclassification of food and nutrient intake. Nonetheless, it should be mentioned that this FFQ was validated and carefully administered by trained dieticians. In addition, in all the studies comprising this thesis, participants who reported implausible values of energy intake were excluded from the analyses. Finally, it should not be overlooked that the observational studies in this work are based on a randomized clinical trial in which participants underwent a lifestyle intervention program, which might have influenced the results. However, all our analyses were adjusted for the allocation to the intervention group. We also performed interaction tests and subgroup analyses and the results remained consistent. The current investigation also has notable strengths that should be highlighted. To begin with, the relatively large sample size and the prospective design should be mentioned. The PREDIMED-Plus has a wide collection of variables that let us adjust the statistical models for an extended range of potential confounding factors. Additionally, the utilization of a validated, semi-quantitative FFQ administrated by trained dieticians was another significant advantage. Additional approaches and sensitivity analyses to the main results were tested to reinforce the robustness of the findings. Finally, it is noteworthy that the optimal and accurate CysC biomarker was available for GFR estimation in the chapter of this thesis that examined the associations between UPF and kidney function.



VII. Conclusions

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME Cristina Valle Hita

VII. CONCLUSIONS

In this section of the current doctoral dissertation, the conclusions drawn from the three original research articles conducted on Mediterranean older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS are presented in response to each hypothesis posited at the beginning of this thesis.

Hypothesis 1: High adherence to *a priori* healthy dietary patterns might be associated with better kidney function in a Mediterranean population of older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS.

- A higher upward change in the adherence to a 17-item erMedDiet score was associated with improvements in eGFR changes and with lower odds of ≥10% eGFR decline after one-year of follow-up. The Trichopoulou-MedDiet and DASH diet scores were not associated with eGFR changes or eGFR decline.
- Higher one-year change toward a greater adherence into the Protein Diet Score was associated with a worsening of eGFR.

<u>Hypothesis 2</u>: Higher dietary acid load might be associated with worse kidney function in a Mediterranean population of older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS.

- PRAL and NEAP were inversely associated with one-year changes in eGFR, but not one-year UACR changes.
- Higher levels of both estimates of dietary acid load were associated with higher odds of ≥10% eGFR decline after one-year of follow-up, and a higher PRAL index was additionally associated with higher odds of ≥10% UACR increase.

<u>Hypothesis 3</u>: Consumption of UPF might decrease kidney function in a Mediterranean population of older adults with overweight or obesity and MetS.

- Higher consumption of UPF was cross-sectionally associated with a lower eGFR and higher odds of decreased kidney function (eGFR<60 ml/min/1.73m²) at baseline.
- One-year changes towards a higher consumption of UPF were associated with a decrease in eGFR over 3-years of follow-up.

Therefore, the main conclusions of this doctoral thesis support the beneficial association between adherence to the MedDiet and kidney function in older Mediterranean adults with overweight or obesity and MetS. In addition, the results suggest that increased dietary acid load and UPF consumption may have an adverse impact on kidney function.

VIII. Global and future insights



VIII. GLOBAL AND FUTURE INSIGHTS

Even though the prevalence, incidence, and mortality rates related to CKD are expected to continue increasing in the coming decades, scientific evidence strongly supports the fact that lifestyle modifications, especially dietary changes, may substantially improve the situation. Consequently, these modifications may reduce these rates, in addition to contributing to a better quality of life for the population, healthier aging, and a reduced burden on the healthcare system.

The findings of the present doctoral thesis provide additional evidence to the existing literature in the field of nutritional epidemiology of kidney function and CKD, which may lead to a better understanding of the associations between the consumption of certain foods or dietary patterns, eGFR, and consequently kidney function and the potential development of the disease. These results could also be of value for the future design or enhancement of dietary guidelines aimed at the prevention of CKD, in conjunction with previous scientific studies available in this area.

As this dissertation may inspire near-future research, our limitations and other important considerations should be addressed beforehand to clarify and confirm the reported associations.

- Randomized controlled clinical trials with long follow-up periods and large samples designed to evaluate the potential impact of different dietary factors on kidney function and CKD would be of great interest to help provide recommendations based on cause-and-effect evidence.
- Since our findings were observed within the framework of a Mediterranean older adult population with underlying comorbidities, additional long-term studies conducted in the general population as well as in individuals under specific conditions, with different ages or in other geographical regions, are needed in the future to extrapolate the results of this investigation.
- Improvements in the methods used to evaluate dietary intake in nutritional epidemiology would greatly aid the comparison of findings from different studies. Some suggestions, that could be helpful in overcoming limitations and enhancing the representation of regular dietary consumption, include collecting data on new food varieties, formulations, and trends; taking into account cooking methods; standardizing food portion sizes; and updating food databases.

- In line with the previous point, to improve the comparability of results among different investigators, a consensus in kidney health research should be reached on the most appropriate and practical methods for assessing kidney function and CKD, in particular regarding the equations and biomarkers used to estimate GFR.
- The potential underlying mechanisms involved in the associations that have been reported in this thesis are not yet clearly understood. Given genetic factors have been suggested to play an important role in CKD, the study of the interplay between diet and genes, known as nutrigenetics, would be an interesting line of research to explore in the future in order to clarify the findings discussed in this work.
- In this sense, the application of Mendelian randomization studies as an alternative to randomized clinical trials with genetic sequencing techniques would be especially promising in the near future, offering a robust framework for the investigation of causality in complex biological pathways between dietary risk factors and kidney health outcomes.
- Omics sciences, and more specifically metabolomics, could also be an appropriate approach to identify potential biomarkers of the dietary components discussed in this thesis and to better understand their impact on metabolism and the pathophysiological mechanisms behind the development of both kidney function and related comorbidities.
- The concept of "brain–gut–kidney axis" has received increasing attention over the past few years^{259,260}. Certain nutrients, food groups, and specific types of dietary patterns have been postulated to alter the gut microbiota²⁵⁹. In addition, dysbiosis and related metabolites have been linked to various problematic conditions and diseases, such as the loss of kidney function and the onset of CKD²⁶¹. Future investigations examining the impact of the interaction between diet and microbiota on kidney function decline and CKD would therefore be valuable and may enable a better appreciation of further plausible mechanisms behind the associations observed in the current doctoral thesis.

IX. References



IX. REFERENCES

- 1. Naber T, Purohit S. Chronic kidney disease: Role of diet for a reduction in the severity of the disease. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(9):1-16. doi:10.3390/nu13093277
- Wallace MA. Anatomy and Physiology of the Kidney. Pathophysiol Kidney Dis Hypertens. 1998;68(5):799-820. doi:10.1016/B978-1-4160-4391-1.50007-2
- Yang J, He W. Chronic Kidney Disease. 1st ed. Springer Singapore; 2020. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9131-7
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group. KDIGO 2024 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease. Kidney. Vol 105.; 2024. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2023.10.018
- 5. Levey AS, Gansevoort RT, Coresh J, et al. Change in Albuminuria and GFR as End Points for Clinical Trials in Early Stages of CKD: A Scientific Workshop Sponsored by the National Kidney Foundation in Collaboration With the US Food and Drug Administration and European Medicines Agency. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2020;75(1):84-104. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2019.06.009
- Levey AS, Coresh J, Tighiouart H, Greene T, Inker LA. Measured and estimated glomerular filtration rate: current status and future directions. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2020;16(1):51-64. doi:10.1038/s41581-019-0191-y
- Zou LX, Sun L, Nicholas SB, Lu Y, K SS, Hua R. Comparison of bias and accuracy using cystatin C and creatinine in CKD-EPI equations for GFR estimation. *Eur J Intern Med.* 2020;80(April):29-34. doi:10.1016/j.ejim.2020.04.044
- Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med.* 2009;150(9):604-612. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006
- Filler G, Bökenkamp A, Hofmann W, Le Bricon T, Martínez-Brú C, Grubb A. Cystatin C as a marker of GFR - History, indications, and future research. *Clin Biochem.* 2005;38(1):1-8. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2004.09.025
- Vassalotti JA, Centor R, Turner BJ, Greer RC, Choi M, Sequist TD. Practical Approach to Detection and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease for the Primary Care Clinician. *Am J Med.* 2016;129(2):153-162.e7.

doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2015.08.025

- Swedko PJ, Clark HD, Paramsothy K AA. Serum creatinine is an inadequate screening test for renal failure in ischemic stroke patients. *Arch Intern Med.* 2003;163(356-60):47-52. doi:10.1001/archinte.163.3.356.
- Stephen R, Jolly SE, Nally J V., Navaneethan SD. Albuminuria: When urine predicts kidney and cardiovascular disease. *Cleve Clin J Med.* 2014;81(1):41-50. doi:10.3949/ccjm.81a.13040
- Ammirati AL. Chronic Kidney Disease. 2020;66(Suppl 1). doi:10.1590/1806-9282.66.S1.3
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group.
 KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney inter, Suppl.* 2013;3:1–150. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2021.05.021
- Patnaik R, Khan MTA, Spencer I, Aziz H. Chronic Kidney Disease Classification Predicts Short-Term Outcomes of Patients Undergoing Pancreaticoduodenectomy. *J Gastrointest Surg.* 2022;26(12):2534-2541. doi:10.1007/s11605-022-05512-9
- Chen TK, Knicely DH, Grams ME. Chronic Kidney Disease Diagnosis and Management: A Review. JAMA. 2019;322(13):1294-1304. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.14745
- Inker LA, Shafi T, Okparavero A, et al. Effects of Race and Sex on Measured GFR: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2016;68(5):743-751. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.06.021
- Levey AS, Becker C, Inker LA. Glomerular Filtration Rate and Albuminuria for Detection and Staging of Acute and Chronic Kidney Disease in Adults: A Systematic Review. JAMA. 2015;313(8):837-846. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.0602
- Kovesdy CP. Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease: an update 2022. *Kidney Int Suppl.* 2022;12(1):7-11. doi:10.1016/j.kisu.2021.11.003
- Sundström J, Bodegard J, Bollmann A, et al. Prevalence, outcomes, and cost of chronic kidney disease in a contemporary population of 2·4 million patients from 11 countries: The CaReMe CKD study. *Lancet Reg Heal - Eur.* 2022;20:1-14.

doi:10.1016/j.lanepe.2022.100438

- Bikbov B, Purcell CA, Levey AS, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet.* 2020;395(10225):709-733. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30045-3
- Hill NR, Fatoba ST, Oke JL et al. Global Prevalence of Chronic Kidney Disease -A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One.* 2016;11(7). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0158765
- 23. GBD 2017 Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet*. 2018;392(10159):1736-1788. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32203-7
- 24. GBD Chronic Kidney Disease Collaboration. Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2020;395(10225):709-733. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30045-3
- Gorostidi M, Sánchez-Martínez M, Ruilope LM, et al. Chronic kidney disease in Spain: Prevalence and impact of accumulation of cardiovascular risk factors. *Nefrologia.* 2018;38(6):606-615. doi:10.1016/j.nefroe.2018.04.010
- 26. Instituto Nacional de Estadística. Instituto Nacional de Estadística. Discapacidad. Cifras absolutas. Enfermedades crónicas diagnosticadas por CCAA y sexo. Población de 6 y más años con discapacidad. Published 2020. https://ine.es/jaxi/Tabla.htm?tpx=51400&L=0
- Instituto Nacional de Estadística. Notas de prensa.Defunciones según la Causa de Muerte. 2023;2023:19 de diciembre de 2023.
- Ortiz A, Wanner C, Gansevoort R. Chronic kidney disease as cardiovascular risk factor in routine clinical practice: A position statement by the Council of the European Renal Association. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* 2023;38(3):527-531. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfac257
- 29. Agarwal A, Nath KA. Pathophysiology of Chronic Kidney Disease Progression: Organ and Cellular Considerations. Elsevier Inc.; 2019. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-815876-0.00018-8

- Matovinović MS. Pathophysiology and Classification of Kidney Diseases. *eJIFCC*. 2009;20(1):2-11.
- Charles C, Ferris AH. Chronic Kidney Disease. Prim Care Clin Off Pract.
 2020;47(4):585-595. doi:10.1016/j.pop.2020.08.001
- Juncos LA, Lopez-ruiz A, Juncos LI. Fisiopatología De La Enfermedad Renal Crónica.;
 2013.
- Reiser J, Altintas MM. Podocytes. *F1000Research*. 2016;5:1-19. doi:10.12688/f1000research.7255.1
- Avraham S, Korin B, Chung JJ, Oxburgh L, Shaw AS. The Mesangial cell the glomerular stromal cell. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2021;17(12):855-864. doi:10.1038/s41581-021-00474-8
- Remuzzi G, Perico N, Macia M, Ruggenenti P. The role of renin-angiotensinaldosterone system in the progression of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* 2005;68(SUPPL. 99):57-65. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.09911.x
- Mukoyama M, Kuwabara T. Role of renin-angiotensin system blockade in advanced CKD: to use or not to use? *Hypertens Res.* 2022;45(6):1072-1075. doi:10.1038/s41440-022-00902-7
- World Health Organization. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). Published 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds)
- Gansevoort RT, Correa-Rotter R, Hemmelgarn BR, et al. Chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular risk: Epidemiology, mechanisms, and prevention. *Lancet*. 2013;382(9889):339-352. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60595-4
- Jankowski J, Floege J, Fliser D, Böhm M, Marx N. Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Kidney Disease Pathophysiological Insights and Therapeutic Options. *Circulation*. 2021;143(11):1157-1172. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.050686
- 40. World Health Organization. Anaemia. https://www.who.int/healthtopics/anaemia#tab=tab_1
- 41. Sridharan K. Chronic kidney disease mineral and bone disorder: A guide for general practice. *Aust J Gen Pract.* 2023;52(1-2):52-57. doi:10.31128/AJGP-03-22-6365
- 42. Liu Z, Su G, Guo X, et al. Dietary interventions for mineral and bone disorder in

people with chronic kidney disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;(9). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010350.pub2

- 43. National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. Mineral & Bone Disorder in Chronic Kidney Disease. Accessed February 9, 2024. https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/kidney-disease/mineral-bone-disorder
- Kim HJ. Metabolic Acidosis in Chronic Kidney Disease: Pathogenesis, Clinical Consequences, and Treatment. *Electrolyte Blood Press*. 2021;19(2):29-37. doi:10.5049/EBP.2021.19.2.29
- KDIGO Conference Participants. Genetics in Chronic Kidney Disease: Conclusions from a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Controversies Conference. 2022;101(6):1126-1141. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2022.03.019.
- 46. Singh N, Nainani N, Arora P, Venuto RC. CKD in MYH9-Related Disorders. Am J Kidney Dis. 2009;54(4):732-740. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2009.06.023
- 47. Freedman BI, Hicks PJ, Bostrom MA, et al. Polymorphisms in the non-muscle myosin heavy chain 9 gene (MYH9) are strongly associated with end-stage renal disease historically attributed to hypertension in African Americans. *Kidney Int.* 2009;75(7):736-745. doi:10.1038/ki.2008.701.Polymorphisms
- Foundation NK. Genetics and Kidney Disease. Accessed February 9, 2024. https://www.kidney.org/atoz/content/genetics-kidney-disease
- 49. Kazancioğlu R. Risk factors for chronic kidney disease: An update. *Kidney Int Suppl.*2013;3(4):368-371. doi:10.1038/kisup.2013.79
- Dummer PD, Limou S, Rosenberg AZ, et al. APOL1 Kidney Disease Risk Variants: An Evolving Landscape. Semin Nephrol. 2015;35(3):222-236. doi:10.1016/j.semnephrol.2015.04.008
- 51. Corredor Z, Filho MI da S, Rodríguez-Ribera L, et al. Genetic Variants Associated with Chronic Kidney Disease in a Spanish Population. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):1-11. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-56695-2
- 52. Su SL, Lu KC, Lin YF, et al. Gene polymorphisms of angiotensin-converting enzyme and angiotensin II Type I receptor among chronic kidney disease patients in

a Chinese population. JRAAS - J Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone Syst. 2012;13(1):148-154. doi:10.1177/1470320311430989

- Wheeler E, Thomas S. Diagnosis and Long-term Management of Uromodulin Kidney Disease. *Cureus*. 2019;11(3):1-4. doi:10.7759/cureus.4270
- Köttgen A, Glazer NL, Dehghan A, et al. Multiple loci associated with indices of renal function and chronic kidney disease. *Nat Genet.* 2009;41(6):712-717. doi:10.1038/ng.377
- Kong X, Liu L, Zuo L, et al. Association between family members of dialysis patients and chronic kidney disease: a multicenter study in China. *BMC Nephrol.* 2013;14(1):1. doi:10.1186/1471-2369-14-19
- 56. Ferguson R, Grim CE, Opgenorth TJ. A familial risk of chronic renal failure among blacks on dialysis? J Clin Epidemiol. 1988;41(12):1189-1196. doi:10.1016/0895-4356(88)90023-6
- 57. Levey AS, Titan SM, Powe NR, Coresh J, Inker LA. Kidney disease, race, and gfr estimation. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2020;15(8):1203-1212. doi:10.2215/CJN.12791019
- Patzer RE MW. Influence of race, ethnicity and socioeconomic status on kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2012;8(9):533-541. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2012.117.Influence
- Peralta CA, Katz R, DeBoer I, et al. Racial and ethnic differences in kidney function decline among persons without chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22(7):1327-1334. doi:10.1681/ASN.2010090960
- Kasembeli AN. African origins and chronic kidney disease susceptibility in the human immunodeficiency virus era. World J Nephrol. 2015;4(2):295. doi:10.5527/wjn.v4.i2.295
- 61. Nzerue CM, Demissochew H, Tucker JK. Race and kidney disease: role of social and environmental factors. *J Natl Med Assoc.* 2002;94(8 Suppl).
- Cheung KL, Crews DC, Cushman M, et al. Risk Factors for Incident CKD in Black and White Americans: The REGARDS Study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2023;82(1):11-21.e1. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2022.11.015
- 63. Eneanya ND, Boulware LE, Tsai J, et al. Health inequities and the inappropriate use of race in nephrology. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2022;18(2):84-94. doi:10.1038/s41581-021-

00501-8

- O'Sullivan ED, Hughes J, Ferenbach DA. Renal aging: Causes and consequences. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(2):407-420. doi:10.1681/ASN.2015121308
- 65. Nitta K, Okada K, Yanai M, Takahashi S. Aging and chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* 2014;38(1):109-120. doi:10.1159/000355760
- Levey AS, Inker LA CJ. Chronic Kidney Disease in Older People. JAMA J Am Med Assoc. 2015;314(6):557-558. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.15993
- Mallappallil M, Friedman EA, Delano BG, Mcfarlane SI, Salifu MO. Chronic kidney disease in the elderly: Evaluation and management. *Clin Pract.* 2014;11(5):525-535. doi:10.2217/cpr.14.46
- Levey AS, Atkins R, Coresh J, et al. Chronic kidney disease as a global public health problem: Approaches and initiatives – a position statement from Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes. *Kidney Int.* 2007;72(3):247-259. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5002343
- Farrell DR, Vassalotti JA. Screening, identifying, and treating chronic kidney disease: why, who, when, how, and what? *BMC Nephrol.* 2024;25(1):34. doi:10.1186/s12882-024-03466-5
- Poggio ED, Rule AD, Tanchanco R, et al. Demographic and clinical characteristics associated with glomerular filtration rates in living kidney donors. *Kidney Int.* 2009;75(10):1079-1087. doi:10.1038/ki.2009.11
- Glassock RJ, Rule AD. Aging and the Kidneys: Anatomy, Physiology and Consequences for Defining Chronic Kidney Disease. *Nephron.* 2016;134(1):25-29. doi:10.1159/000445450
- 72. Bairey Merz CN, Dember LM, Ingelfinger JR, et al. Sex and the kidneys: current understanding and research opportunities. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2019;15(12):776-783. doi:10.1038/s41581-019-0208-6
- 73. Carrero JJ, Hecking M, Chesnaye NC, Jager KJ. Sex and gender disparities in the epidemiology and outcomes of chronic kidney disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2018;14(3):151-164. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2017.181
- 74. Ricardo AC, Yang W, Sha D, et al. Sex-related disparities in CKD progression. J Am

Soc Nephrol. 2019;30(1):137-146. doi:10.1681/ASN.2018030296

- 75. Cobo G, Hecking M, Port FK, et al. Sex and gender differences in chronic kidney disease: Progression to end-stage renal disease and haemodialysis. *Clin Sci.* 2016;130(14):1147-1163. doi:10.1042/CS20160047
- 76. Neugarten J, Acharya A, Silbiger SR. Effect of gender on the progression of nondiabetic renal disease: A meta-analysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2000;11(2):319-329. doi:10.1681/ASN.V112319
- Halbesma N, Brantsma AH, Bakker SJL, et al. Gender differences in predictors of the decline of renal function in the general population. *Kidney Int.* 2008;74(4):505-512. doi:10.1038/ki.2008.200
- 78. Hallan S, De Mutsert R, Carlsen S, Dekker FW, Aasarød K, Holmen J. Obesity, smoking, and physical inactivity as risk factors for CKD: Are men more vulnerable? *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2006;47(3):396-405. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2005.11.027
- 79. Jafar TH, Schmid CH, Stark PC, et al. The rate of progression of renal disease may not be slower in women compared with men: A patient-level meta-analysis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2003;18(10):2047-2053. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfg317
- Argeri R, Thomazini F, Lichtenecker DCK, Thieme K, do Carmo Franco M, Gomes GN. Programmed Adult Kidney Disease: Importance of Fetal Environment. *Front Physiol.* 2020;11:1-7. doi:10.3389/fphys.2020.586290
- Wendy E H, Rees M, Kile E, Mathews JD, Wang Z. A new dimension to the Barker hypothesis: Low birthweight and susceptibility to renal disease. *Kidney Int.* 1999;56(3):1072-1077. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.1999.00633.x
- Kanda T, Murai-Takeda A, Kawabe H, Itoh H. Low birth weight trends: possible impacts on the prevalences of hypertension and chronic kidney disease. *Hypertens Res.* 2020;43(9):859-868. doi:10.1038/s41440-020-0451-z
- Grillo MA, Mariani G, Ferraris JR. Prematurity and Low Birth Weight in Neonates as a Risk Factor for Obesity, Hypertension, and Chronic Kidney Disease in Pediatric and Adult Age. *Front Med.* 2022;8:1-9. doi:10.3389/fmed.2021.769734
- 84. White SL, Perkovic V, Cass A, et al. Is Low Birth Weight an Antecedent of CKD in Later Life? A Systematic Review of Observational Studies. *Am J Kidney Dis.*

2009;54(2):248-261. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2008.12.042

- Gilarska M, Raaijmakers A, Zhang ZY, et al. Extremely Low Birth Weight Predisposes to Impaired Renal Health: A Pooled Analysis. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* 2019;44(5):897-906. doi:10.1159/000502715
- Lillås BS, Tøndel C, Aßmus J, Vikse BE. Low birthweight is associated with lower glomerular filtration rate in middle-aged mainly healthy women. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* 2022;37(1):92-99. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfaa306
- 87. Dai L, Zhuang J, Fan L, et al. Association between birth weight and the risk of chronic kidney disease in men and women: Findings from a large prospective cohort study. *Med Adv.* 2023;1(1):44-52. doi:10.1002/med4.8
- Das SK, Mannan M, Faruque ASG, Ahmed T, McIntyre HD, Al Mamun A. Effect of birth weight on adulthood renal function: A bias-adjusted meta-analytic approach. *Nephrology.* 2016;21(7):547-565. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/nep.12732
- Jiang Z, Wang Y, Zhao X, et al. Obesity and chronic kidney disease. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2023;324(1):E24-E41. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00179.2022
- 90. Silverwood RJ, Pierce M, Hardy R, et al. Low birth weight, later renal function, and the roles of adulthood blood pressure, diabetes, and obesity in a British birth cohort. *Kidney Int.* 2013;84(6):1262-1270. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.223
- 91. World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. Published 2021. Accessed February 9, 2024. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-andoverweight
- 92. World Health Organisation (WHO). WHO | Waist Circumference and Waist–Hip Ratio. Report of a WHO Expert Consultation. Geneva, 8-11 December 2008.
 2008;(December):8-11. http://www.who.int
- 93. Ruilope LM, Ortiz A, Lucia A, et al. Prevention of cardiorenal damage: importance of albuminuria. *Eur Heart J.* 2023;44(13):1112-1123. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehac683
- Luyckx VA, Tuttle KR, Garcia-Garcia G, et al. Reducing major risk factors for chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int Suppl.* 2017;7(2):71-87. doi:10.1016/j.kisu.2017.07.003
- 95. Nehus E. Obesity and chronic kidney disease. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2018;30(2):241-246.

doi:10.1097/MOP.000000000000586

- 96. Usherwood T, Lee V. Advances in chronic kidney disease pathophysiology and management. *Aust J Gen Pract.* 2021;50(4):188-192. doi:10.31128/AJGP-11-20-5735
- Hollenberg NK. Obesity and the kidney: Why is the kidney at risk? *Kidney Int*.
 2007;71(3):187-188. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5002029
- 98. Chang AR, Grams ME, Ballew SH, et al. Adiposity and risk of decline in glomerular filtration rate: meta-analysis of individual participant data in a global consortium. BMJ. 2019;364:k5301. doi:10.1136/bmj.k5301
- Hsu CY, Iribarren C, McCulloch CE, Darbinian J, Go AS. Risk factors for end-stage renal disease - 25-year follow-up. *Arch Intern Med.* 2009;169(4):342-350. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2008.605
- 100. Hsu C yuan, McCulloch CE, Iribarren C, Darbinian J, Go AS. Body Mass Index and Risk for End-Stage Renal Disease. *Ann Intern Med.* 2006;144(1):21-28. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-144-1-200601030-00006
- 101. Friedman AN, Kaplan LM, le Roux CW, Schauer PR. Management of Obesity in Adults with CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2021;32(4). doi:10.1681/ASN.2020101472
- 102. López-Heydeck SM, Robles-Navarro JB, Montenegro-Morales LP, et al. Factores de riesgo y de estilo de vida asociados a enfermedad renal crónica [Risk and lifestyle factors associated to chronic kidney disease]. *Rev Med Inst Mex Seguro Soc.* 2020;58(3):305-316. doi:10.24875/rmimss.m20000035
- 103. Federation WO. World Obesity Atlas 2024.; 2024.
 https://data.worldobesity.org/publications/?cat=22
- Stasi A, Cosola C, Caggiano G, et al. Obesity-Related Chronic Kidney Disease:
 Principal Mechanisms and New Approaches in Nutritional Management. *Front Nutr.* 2022;9. doi:10.3389/fnut.2022.925619
- 105. Singh AK, Kari JA. Metabolic syndrome and chronic kidney disease. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. 2013;22(2):198-203. doi:10.1097/MNH.0b013e32835dda78
- 106. Thomas G, Sehgal AR, Kashyap SR, Srinivas TR, Kirwan JP, Navaneethan SD. Metabolic Syndrome and Kidney Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2011;6(10). doi:10.2215/CJN.02180311

- 107. Saklayen MG. The Global Epidemic of the Metabolic Syndrome. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* 2018;20(2):12. doi:10.1007/s11906-018-0812-z
- 108. Alberti KGMM, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: A joint interim statement of the international diabetes federation task force on epidemiology and prevention; National heart, lung, and blood institute; American heart association; World heart federation; International . *Circulation*. 2009;120(16):1640-1645. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644
- Raikou VD, Gavriil S. Metabolic Syndrome and Chronic Renal Disease. *Diseases*. 2018;6(1). doi:10.3390/diseases6010012
- Petersmann Dirk; Müller, Ulrich A.; Landgraf, Rüdiger; Nauck, Matthias;
 Freekmann, Guido; Heinemann, Lutz; Schleicher, Erwin AMW. Definition,
 Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes*.
 2019;127(S 01):S1-S7. doi:10.1055/a-1018-9078
- 111. Foundation NK. Diabetes A Major Risk Factor for Kidney Disease. Accessed February 9, 2024. https://www.kidney.org/atoz/content/diabetes
- 112. Shen Y, Cai R, Sun J, et al. Diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for incident chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease in women compared with men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Endocrine*. 2017;55(1):66-76. doi:10.1007/s12020-016-1014-6
- Lea JP, Nicholas SB. Diabetes mellitus and hypertension: key risk factors for kidney disease. J Natl Med Assoc. 2002;94(8 Suppl).
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Diabetes Work Group.
 KDIGO 2022 Clinical Practice Guideline for Diabetes Management in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney Int.* 2022;102(5):S1-S127. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2022.06.008
- 115. Inker LA, Astor BC, Fox CH, et al. KDOQI US Commentary on the 2012 KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of CKD. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2014;63(5):713-735. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.01.416
- 116. International Diabetes Federation. *IDF Diabetes Atlas. 10th Edition.*; 2021. https://www.diabetesatlas.org
- 117. James MT, Grams ME, Woodward M, et al. A Meta-analysis of the Association of

Estimated GFR, Albuminuria, Diabetes Mellitus, and Hypertension With Acute Kidney Injury. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2015;66(4):602-612. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.02.338

- 118. Weldegiorgis M, Woodward M. The impact of hypertension on chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease is greater in men than women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Nephrol.* 2020;21(1):506. doi:10.1186/s12882-020-02151-7
- 119. Georgianos PI, Agarwal R. Hypertension in chronic kidney disease Treatment standard 2023. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2023;38(12):2694-2703. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfad118
- 120. Ku E, Lee BJ, Wei J, Weir MR. Hypertension in CKD: Core Curriculum 2019. Am J Kidney Dis. 2019;74(1):120-131. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2018.12.044
- 121. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Blood Pressure Work Group. KDIGO 2021 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Blood Pressure in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney Int.* 2021;99(3S):S1-S87. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2020.11.003.
- 122. Sarnak MJ, Greene T, Wang X, et al. The Effect of a Lower Target Blood Pressure on the Progression of Kidney Disease: Long-Term Follow-up of the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study. *Ann Intern Med.* 2005;142(5):342-351. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-142-5-200503010-00009
- 123. Lv J, Ehteshami P, Sarnak MJ, et al. Effects of intensive blood pressure lowering on the progression of chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Can Med Assoc J.* 2013;185(11):949-957. doi:10.1503/cmaj.121468
- 124. West R. Tobacco smoking: Health impact, prevalence, correlates and interventions. *Psychol Heal.* 2017;32(8):1018-1036. doi:10.1080/08870446.2017.1325890
- 125. Kopp W. Pathogenesis of (smoking-related) non-communicable diseases—Evidence for a common underlying pathophysiological pattern. *Front Physiol.* 2022;13. doi:10.3389/fphys.2022.1037750
- 126. Xia J, Wang L, Ma Z, et al. Cigarette smoking and chronic kidney disease in the general population: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2017;32(3):475-487. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfw452

- 127. Hannan M, Ansari S, Meza N, et al. Risk factors for CKD progression overview of findings from the CRIC study. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2021;16(4):648-659. doi:10.2215/CJN.07830520
- 128. Kelly JT, Su G, Zhang L, et al. Modifiable lifestyle factors for primary prevention of CKD: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2021;32(1):239-253. doi:10.1681/ASN.2020030384
- Hallan SI, Orth SR. Smoking is a risk factor in the progression to kidney failure. *Kidney Int.* 2011;80(5):516-523. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.157
- 130. Jin A, Koh WP, Chow KY, Yuan JM, Jafar TH. Smoking and Risk of Kidney Failure in the Singapore Chinese Health Study. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(5):e62962. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062962
- Eid HA, Moazen EM, Elhussini M, et al. The Influence of Smoking on Renal Functions Among Apparently Healthy Smokers. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2022;15:2969-2978. doi:10.2147/JMDH.S392848
- Salvatore SP, Troxell ML, Hecox D, Sperling KR, Seshan S V. Smoking-Related Glomerulopathy: Expanding the Morphologic Spectrum. *Am J Nephrol.* 2015;41(1):66-72. doi:10.1159/000371727
- OECD/WHO. Step Up! Tackling the Burden of Insufficient Physical Activity in Europe.
 OECD Publi. OECD; 2023. doi:10.1787/500a9601-en
- Posadzki P, Pieper D, Bajpai R, et al. Exercise/physical activity and health outcomes: an overview of Cochrane systematic reviews. *BMC Public Health*. 2020;20(1):1724. doi:10.1186/s12889-020-09855-3
- Anderson E, Durstine JL. Physical activity, exercise, and chronic diseases: A brief review. *Sport Med Heal Sci.* 2019;1(1):3-10. doi:10.1016/j.smhs.2019.08.006
- 136. Zelle DM, Klaassen G, Van Adrichem E, Bakker SJL, Corpeleijn E, Navis G.
 Physical inactivity: A risk factor and target for intervention in renal care. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2017;13(3):152-168. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2016.187
- 137. Zhu Y, Bu Y, Zhang G, et al. Association of physical activity with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Aging (Albany NY)*. 2020;12:19221-19232. doi:10.18632/aging.103747

- 138. Hawkins MS, Sevick MA, Richardson CR, Fried LF, Arena VC, Kriska AM. Association between physical activity and kidney function: National health and nutrition examination survey. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2011;43(8):1457-1464. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e31820c0130
- Chen IR, Wang SM, Liang CC, et al. Association of Walking with Survival and RRT Among Patients with CKD Stages 3–5. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2014;9(7). doi:10.2215/CJN.09810913.
- 140. MacKinnon HJ, Wilkinson TJ, Clarke AL, et al. The association of physical function and physical activity with all-cause mortality and adverse clinical outcomes in nondialysis chronic kidney disease: a systematic review. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis.* 2018;9(11):209-226. doi:10.1177/2040622318785575
- Stump CS. Physical Activity in the Prevention of Chronic Kidney Disease. *Cardiorenal Med.* 2011;1(3):164-173. doi:10.1159/000329929
- 142. Bishop NC, Burton JO, Graham-Brown MPM, Stensel DJ, Viana JL, Watson EL. Exercise and chronic kidney disease: potential mechanisms underlying the physiological benefits. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2023;19(4):244-256. doi:10.1038/s41581-022-00675-9
- Baker LA, March DS, Wilkinson TJ, et al. Clinical practice guideline exercise and lifestyle in chronic kidney disease. *BMC Nephrol.* 2022;23(1):1-36. doi:10.1186/s12882-021-02618-1
- 144. Ronto R, Wu JH, Singh GM. The global nutrition transition: trends, disease burdens and policy interventions. *Public Health Nutr*. 2018;21(12):2267-2270. doi:10.1017/S1368980018000423
- 145. Bodirsky BL, Dietrich JP, Martinelli E, et al. The ongoing nutrition transition thwarts long-term targets for food security, public health and environmental protection. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):19778. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-75213-3
- 146. Kramer H. Kidney Disease and the Westernization and Industrialization of Food. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2017;70(1):111-121. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.11.012
- 147. Zhang Y, Giovannucci EL. Ultra-processed foods and health: a comprehensive review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* 2022;63(31):10836-10848. doi:10.1080/10408398.2022.2084359

- 148. Martini D, Godos J, Bonaccio M, Vitaglione P, Grosso G. Ultra-Processed Foods and Nutritional Dietary Profile: A Meta-Analysis of Nationally Representative Samples. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(10). doi:10.3390/nu13103390
- van Westing AC, Küpers LK, Geleijnse JM. Diet and Kidney Function: a Literature Review. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* 2020;22(2):1-9. doi:10.1007/s11906-020-1020-1
- Soltani S, Jayedi A. Adherence to healthy dietary pattern and risk of kidney disease:
 A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Int J Vitam Nutr Res.* 2022;92(3-4):267-279. doi:10.1024/0300-9831/a000647
- Kim SM JJ. Nutritional management in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Korean J Intern Med.* 2020;35(6):1279-1290. doi:10.3904/kjim.2020.408
- 152. Evans M, Lewis RD, Morgan AR, et al. A Narrative Review of Chronic Kidney Disease in Clinical Practice: Current Challenges and Future Perspectives. *Adv Ther.* 2022;39(1):33-43. doi:10.1007/s12325-021-01927-z
- Kramer H. Diet and Chronic Kidney Disease. *Adv Nutr.* 2019;10(8):S367-S379. doi:10.1093/advances/nmz011
- Hansrivijit P, Oli S, Khanal R, Ghahramani N, Thongprayoon C, Cheungpasitporn W. Mediterranean diet and the risk of chronic kidney disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nephrology*. 2020;25(12):913-918. doi:10.1111/nep.13778
- 155. Joshi S, McMacken M, Kalantar-Zadeh K. Plant-Based Diets for Kidney Disease: A Guide for Clinicians. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2021;77(2):287-296. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.10.003
- 156. Mozaffari H, Ajabshir S, Alizadeh S. Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension and risk of chronic kidney disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Clin Nutr.* 2020;39(7):2035-2044. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2019.10.004
- Ikizler TA, Burrowes JD, Byham-Gray LD, et al. KDOQI Clinical Practice Guideline for Nutrition in CKD: 2020 Update. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2020;76(3):S1-S107. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.05.006
- Scialla JJ, Anderson CAM. Dietary Acid Load: A Novel Nutritional Target in Chronic Kidney Disease? *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis.* 2013;20(2):141-149.

doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2012.11.001

- 159. Cespedes EM, Hu FB. Dietary patterns: from nutritional epidemiologic analysis to national guidelines2. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2015;101(5):899-900. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.110213
- Guasch-Ferré M, Willett WC. The Mediterranean diet and health: a comprehensive overview. J Intern Med. 2021;290(3):549-566. doi:10.1111/joim.13333
- 161. Appel LJ, Moore TJ, Obarzanek E, et al. A Clinical Trial of the Effects of Dietary Patterns on Blood Pressure. N Engl J Med. 1997;336(16):1117-1124. doi:10.1056/nejm199704173361601
- 162. Holt EM, Steffen LM, Moran A, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption and its relation to markers of inflammation and oxidative stress in adolescents. J Am Diet Assoc. 2009;109(3):414-421. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2008.11.036
- 163. Steinberg D, Bennett GG, Svetkey L. The DASH Diet, 20 Years Later. JAMA.
 2017;317(15):1529-1530. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.1628
- 164. Suri S, Kumar V, Kumar S, et al. DASH Dietary Pattern: A Treatment for Noncommunicable Diseases. *Curr Hypertens Rev.* 2019;16(2):108-114. doi:10.2174/1573402115666191007144608
- 165. Chiavaroli L, Viguiliouk E, Nishi SK, et al. DASH Dietary Pattern and Cardiometabolic Outcomes: An Umbrella Review of Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(2). doi:10.3390/nu11020338
- Banerjee T, Liu Y, Crews DC. Dietary Patterns and CKD Progression. *Blood Purif.* 2016;41(1-3):117-122. doi:10.1159/000441072
- 167. Ajjarapu AS, Hinkle SN, Li M, Francis EC, Zhang C. Dietary patterns and renal health outcomes in thegeneral population: A review focusing on prospective studies. *Nutrients.* 2019;11(8). doi:10.3390/nu11081877
- 168. He LQ, Wu XH, Huang YQ, Zhang XY, Shu L. Dietary patterns and chronic kidney disease risk: a systematic review and updated meta-analysis of observational studies. *Nutr J.* 2021;20(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/s12937-020-00661-6
- 169. Bach KE, Kelly JT, Campbell KL, Palmer SC, Khalesi S, Strippoli GFM. Healthy dietary patterns and incidence of CKD: A meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Clin J Am*

Soc Nephrol. 2019;14(10):1441-1449. doi:10.2215/CJN.00530119

- 170. Kelly JT, Palmer SC, Wai SN, et al. Healthy dietary patterns and risk of mortality and ESRD in CKD: A meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2017;12(2):272-279. doi:10.2215/CJN.06190616
- 171. Pereira RA, Ramos CI, Teixeira RR, Muniz GAS, Claudino G, Cuppari L. Diet in chronic kidney disease: An integrated approach to nutritional therapy. *Rev Assoc Med Bras.* 2020;66(Suppl 1):59-67. doi:10.1590/1806-9282.66.S1.59
- 172. Hernando N, Wagner CA. Mechanisms and Regulation of Intestinal Phosphate Absorption. *Compr Physiol.* 2018;8(3):1065-1090. doi:10.1002/cphy.c170024
- 173. Goraya N, Munoz-Maldonado Y, Simoni J, Wesson DE. Fruit and Vegetable Treatment of Chronic Kidney Disease-Related Metabolic Acidosis Reduces Cardiovascular Risk Better than Sodium Bicarbonate. *Am J Nephrol.* 2019;49(6):438-448. doi:10.1159/000500042
- 174. Goraya N, Simoni J, Jo CH, Wesson DE. A comparison of treating metabolic acidosis in CKD stage 4 hypertensive kidney disease with fruits and vegetables or sodium bicarbonate. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2013;8(3):371-381. doi:10.2215/CJN.02430312
- 175. Ko GJ, Rhee CM, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Joshi S. The Effects of High-Protein Diets on Kidney Health and Longevity. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2020;31(8). doi:10.1681/ASN.2020010028
- 176. Osuna-Padilla IA, Leal-Escobar G, Garza-García CA, Rodríguez-Castellanos FE. Carga ácida de la dieta; mecanismos y evidencia de sus repercusiones en la salud. *Nefrología.* 2019;39(4):343-354. doi:10.1016/j.nefro.2018.10.005
- Frassetto L, Remer T, Banerjee T. Dietary Contributions to Metabolic Acidosis. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2022;29(4):373-380. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2022.03.008
- Avesani CA, Cuppari L, Nerbass FB, Lindholm B SP. Ultraprocessed food and chronic kidney disease - double trouble. *Clin Kidney J.* 2023;16(11):1723-1736. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfad103
- Sahın N, Gunsen U. Dietary acid load and cardiovascular diseases. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* 2023;63(28):9033-9038. doi:10.1080/10408398.2022.2066063

- Kraut JA, Madias NE. Metabolic acidosis: pathophysiology, diagnosis and management. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2010;6(5):274-285. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2010.33
- 181. Frassetto LA, Todd KM, Morris RC, Sebastian A. Estimation of net endogenous noncarbonic acid production in humans from diet potassium and protein contents. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1998;68(3):576-583. doi:10.1093/ajcn/68.3.576
- Remer T, Manz F. Potential Renal Acid Load of Foods and its Influence on Urine pH. J Am Diet Assoc. 1995;95(7):791-797. doi:10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00219-7
- 183. Mofrad MD, Daneshzad E, Azadbakht L. Dietary acid load, kidney function and risk of chronic kidney disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Int J Vitam Nutr Res.* 2021;91(3-4):343-355. doi:10.1024/0300-9831/a000584
- 184. Monteiro CA, Cannon G, Levy RB, et al. Ultra-processed foods: What they are and how to identify them. *Public Health Nutr.* 2019;22(5):936-941. doi:10.1017/S1368980018003762
- 185. Padial M, Taylor A, Sabatino A, Piccoli GB, Avesani CM. From ultra-processed foods towards healthy eating for CKD patients: a proposal of educational infographics. J Nephrol. Published online 2023. doi:10.1007/s40620-023-01817-3
- 186. Monteiro CA, Cannon G, Lawrence M, Costa Louzada ML, Pereira Machado P. Ultra-Processed Foods, Diet Quality, and Health Using the NOVA Classification System.; 2019. https://www.fao.org/3/ca5644en/ca5644en.pdf
- 187. Kityo A, Lee SA. The Intake of Ultra-Processed Foods and Prevalence of Chronic Kidney Disease: The Health Examinees Study. *Nutrients*. 2022;14(17):1-11. doi:10.3390/nu14173548
- 188. Cai Q, Duan MJ, Dekker LH, et al. Ultraprocessed food consumption and kidney function decline in a population-based cohort in the Netherlands. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2022;116(1):263-273. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqac073
- 189. Rey-García J, Donat-Vargas C, Sandoval-Insausti H, et al. Ultra-processed food consumption is associated with renal function decline in older adults: A prospective cohort study. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(2):1-13. doi:10.3390/nu13020428
- 190. Du S, Kim H, Crews DC, White K, Rebholz CM. Association Between

Ultraprocessed Food Consumption and Risk of Incident CKD: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2022;80(5):589-598.e1. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2022.03.016

- 191. Gu Y, Li H, Ma H, et al. Consumption of ultraprocessed food and development of chronic kidney disease: the Tianjin Chronic Low-Grade Systemic Inflammation and Health and UK Biobank Cohort Studies. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2023;117(2):373-382. doi:10.1016/j.ajcnut.2022.11.005
- 192. Liu M, Yang S, Ye Z, et al. Relationship of ultra-processed food consumption and new-onset chronic kidney diseases among participants with or without diabetes. *Diabetes Metab.* 2023;49(4):101456. doi:10.1016/j.diabet.2023.101456
- 193. Fernández-Ballart JD, Piñol JL, Zazpe I, et al. Relative validity of a semi-quantitative food-frequency questionnaire in an elderly Mediterranean population of Spain. Br J Nutr. 2010;103(12):1808-1816. doi:10.1017/S0007114509993837
- 194. Moreiras O, Carvajal A, Cabrera L, Cuadrado C. *Tablas de Composición de Alimentos (Food Composition Tables)*. Ediciones Pirámides S.A.; 2005.
- 195. Mataix Verdú J. Tabla de Composición de Alimentos [Food Composition Tables].; 2003.
- Schröder H, Zomeño MD, Martínez-González MA, et al. Validity of the energyrestricted Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener. *Clin Nutr.* Published online July 6, 2021. doi:10.1016/J.CLNU.2021.06.030
- 197. Inker LA, Schmid CH, Tighiouart H, et al. Estimating Glomerular Filtration Rate from Serum Creatinine and Cystatin C. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(1):20-29. doi:10.1056/nejmoa1114248
- 198. Molina L, Sarmiento M, Peñafiel J, et al. Validation of the regicor short physical activity questionnaire for the adult population. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(1):1-14. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0168148
- 199. Cai Q, Dekker LH, Bakker SJL, de Borst MH, Navis GJ. Dietary patterns based on estimated glomerular filtration rate and kidney function decline in the general population: The lifelines cohort study. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(4). doi:10.3390/nu12041099
- 200. Hu EA, Steffen LM, Grams ME, et al. Dietary patterns and risk of incident chronic

kidney disease: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2019;110(3):713-721. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqz146

- 201. Huang X, Jiménez-Molén JJ, Lindholm B, et al. Mediterranean diet, kidney function, and mortality in men with CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2013;8(9):1548-1555. doi:10.2215/CJN.01780213
- 202. Geng TT, Jafar TH, Neelakantan N, Yuan JM, van Dam RM, Koh WP. Healthful dietary patterns and risk of end-stage kidney disease: the Singapore Chinese Health Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2021;113(3):675-683. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqaa348
- 203. Díaz-López A, Bulló M, Martínez-González MÁ, et al. Effects of mediterranean diets on kidney function: A report from the PREDIMED trial. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2012;60(3):380-389. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.02.334
- 204. Tirosh A, Golan R, Harman-Boehm I, et al. Renal function following three distinct weight loss dietary strategies during 2 years of a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Care.* 2013;36(8):2225-2232. doi:10.2337/dc12-1846
- 205. Lin J, Fung TT, Hu FB, Curhan GC. Association of dietary patterns with albuminuria and kidney function decline in older white women: A subgroup analysis from the nurses health study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2011;57(2):245-254. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2010.09.027
- 206. Rebholz CM, Crews DC, Grams ME, et al. DASH (Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension) Diet and Risk of Subsequent Kidney Disease. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2016;68(6):853-861. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.05.019
- 207. Filippou CD, Tsioufis CP, Thomopoulos CG, et al. Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) Diet and Blood Pressure Reduction in Adults with and without Hypertension: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Adv Nutr.* 2020;11(5):1150-1160. doi:10.1093/advances/nmaa041
- King AJ, Levey AS. Dietary Protein and Renal Function. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1993;3(11):1723-1737. doi:10.1681/ASN.V3111723
- 209. Møller G, Sluik D, Ritz C, et al. A protein diet score, including plant and animal protein, investigating the association with hba1c and eGFR-The PREVIEW project. *Nutrients.* 2017;9(7):1-14. doi:10.3390/nu9070763

- 210. Remer T. Influence of diet on acid-base balance. 2000;13(4):221-226.
 doi:10.1046/j.1525-139x.2000.00062.x.
- 211. Kanda E, Ai M, Kuriyama R, Yoshida M, Shiigai T. Dietary acid intake and kidney disease progression in the elderly. *Am J Nephrol.* 2014;39(2):145-152. doi:10.1159/000358262
- Osuna-Padilla IA, Leal-Escobar G, Garza-García CA, Rodríguez-Castellanos FE. Dietary acid load: Mechanisms and evidence of its health repercussions. *Nefrologia*. 2019;39(4):343-354. doi:10.1016/j.nefroe.2019.08.001
- 213. Silva L, Moço SA, Antunes ML, Ferreira AS, Moreira AC. Dietary Acid Load and Relationship with Albuminuria and Glomerular Filtration Rate in Individuals with Chronic Kidney Disease at Predialysis State. *Nutrients*. 2022;14(1). doi:10.3390/nu14010170
- 214. Mirmiran P, Yuzbashian E, Bahadoran Z, Asghari G, Azizi F. Dietary acid-base load and risk of chronic kidney disease in adults: Tehran lipid and glucose study. *Iran J Kidney Dis.* 2016;10(3):119-125. http://www.ijkd.org/index.php/ijkd/article/view/2442/841
- 215. Banerjee T, Tucker K, Griswold M, et al. Dietary Potential Renal Acid Load and Risk of Albuminuria and Reduced Kidney Function in the Jackson Heart Study. J Ren Nutr. 2018;28(4):251-258. doi:10.1053/j.jrn.2017.12.008
- 216. Banerjee T, Crews DC, Wesson DE, et al. Dietary acid load and chronic kidney disease among adults in the United States. *BMC Nephrol.* 2014;15(1):1-12. doi:10.1186/1471-2369-15-137
- 217. Kabasawa K, Hosojima M, Takachi R, et al. Association of estimated dietary acid load with albuminuria in Japanese adults: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Nephrol.* 2019;20(1):1-10. doi:10.1186/s12882-019-1352-8
- Rebholz CM, Coresh J, Grams ME, et al. Dietary Acid Load and Incident Chronic Kidney Disease: Results from the ARIC Study. *Am J Nephrol.* 2015;42(6):427-435. doi:10.1159/000443746
- 219. Fang Y, Gong AY, Haller ST, Dworkin LD, Liu Z, Gong R. The ageing kidney: Molecular mechanisms and clinical implications. *Ageing Res Rev.* 2020;63:101151. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2020.101151

- 220. Xiao B, Huang J, Chen L, et al. Ultra-processed food consumption and the risk of incident chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Ren Fail.* 2024;46(1). doi:10.1080/0886022X.2024.2306224
- 221. Saura-Calixto F, Goñi I. Definition of the Mediterranean Diet Based on Bioactive Compounds. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* 2009;49(2):145-152. doi:10.1080/10408390701764732
- 222. Wang K, Qian D, Hu Y, Cheng Y, Ge S, Yao Y. Nut Consumption and Effects on Chronic Kidney Disease and Mortality in the United States. *Am J Nephrol.* 2022;53(6):503-512. doi:10.1159/000524382
- 223. Mazidi M, Kengne AP, Siervo M, Kirwan R. Association of Dietary Intakes and Genetically Determined Serum Concentrations of Mono and Poly Unsaturated Fatty Acids on Chronic Kidney Disease: Insights from Dietary Analysis and Mendelian Randomization. *Nutrients.* 2022;14(6). doi:10.3390/nu14061231
- 224. Cases A, Cigarrán-Guldrís S, Mas S, Gonzalez-Parra E. Vegetable-Based Diets for Chronic Kidney Disease? It Is Time to Reconsider. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(6). doi:10.3390/nu11061263
- 225. Wallace TC, Bailey RL, Blumberg JB, et al. Fruits, vegetables, and health: A comprehensive narrative, umbrella review of the science and recommendations for enhanced public policy to improve intake. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* 2020;60(13):2174-2211. doi:10.1080/10408398.2019.1632258
- 226. Chiavaroli L, Mirrahimi A, Sievenpiper JL, Jenkins DJA, Darling PB. Dietary fiber effects in chronic kidney disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled feeding trials. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2015;69(7):761-768. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2014.237
- 227. Hart MJ, Torres SJ, McNaughton SA, Milte CM. Dietary patterns and associations with biomarkers of inflammation in adults: a systematic review of observational studies. *Nutr J.* 2021;20(1):1-14. doi:10.1186/s12937-021-00674-9
- 228. Stromsnes K, Correas AG, Lehmann J, Gambini J, Olaso-Gonzalez G. Anti-Inflammatory Properties of Diet: Role in Healthy Aging. *Biomedicines*. 2021;9(8). doi:10.3390/biomedicines9080922
- 229. Galland L. Diet and Inflammation. Nutr Clin Pract. 2010;25(6):634-640.

doi:10.1177/0884533610385703

- 230. Gorzynik-Debicka M, Przychodzen P, Cappello F, et al. Potential Health Benefits of Olive Oil and Plant Polyphenols. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2018;19(3).
 doi:10.3390/ijms19030686
- 231. Nocella C, Cammisotto V, Fianchini L, et al. Extra Virgin Olive Oil and Cardiovascular Diseases: Benefits for Human Health. *Endocrine, Metab Immune Disord* - Drug Targets. 2018;18(1):4-13. doi:10.2174/1871530317666171114121533
- 232. Xu H, Huang X, Rus UR, et al. Dietary fiber, kidney function, inflammation, and mortality risk. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2014;9(12):2104-2110. doi:10.2215/CJN.02260314
- 233. Dinu M, Pagliai G, Casini A, Sofi F. Mediterranean diet and multiple health outcomes: an umbrella review of meta-analyses of observational studies and randomised trials. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2018;72(1):30-43. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2017.58
- 234. Vitale M, Masulli M, Calabrese I, et al. Impact of a Mediterranean Dietary Pattern and Its Components on Cardiovascular Risk Factors, Glucose Control, and Body Weight in People with Type 2 Diabetes: A Real-Life Study. *Nutrients*. 2018;10(8). doi:10.3390/nu10081067
- 235. Mirabelli M, Chiefari E, Arcidiacono B, et al. Mediterranean Diet Nutrients to Turn the Tide against Insulin Resistance and Related Diseases. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(4). doi:10.3390/nu12041066
- Martins FO, Conde S V. Impact of Diet Composition on Insulin Resistance. Nutrients. 2022;14(18). doi:10.3390/nu14183716
- 237. Filippou CD, Thomopoulos CG, Kouremeti MM, et al. Mediterranean diet and blood pressure reduction in adults with and without hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clin Nutr.* 2021;40(5):3191-3200. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2021.01.030
- 238. Papadaki A, Nolen-Doerr E, Mantzoros CS. The Effect of the Mediterranean Diet on Metabolic Health: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Controlled Trials in Adults. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(11). doi:10.3390/nu12113342
- 239. Lo WC, Ou SH, Chou CL, Chen JS, Wu MY, Wu MS. Sugar- and artificially-

sweetened beverages and the risks of chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and dose–response meta-analysis. *J Nephrol.* 2021;34(6):1791-1804. doi:10.1007/s40620-020-00957-0

- 240. Karalius VP, Shoham DA. Dietary Sugar and Artificial Sweetener Intake and Chronic Kidney Disease: A Review. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis.* 2013;20(2):157-164. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2012.12.005
- Rubio-Aliaga I. Phosphate and Kidney Healthy Aging. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* 2020;45(6):802-811. doi:10.1159/000509831
- 242. Rubio-Aliaga I, Krapf R. Phosphate intake, hyperphosphatemia, and kidney function. *Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol.* 2022;474(8):935-947. doi:10.1007/s00424-022-02691-x
- 243. Vervloet MG, Sezer S, Massy ZA, Johansson L, Cozzolino M, Fouque D. The role of phosphate in kidney disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2017;13(1):27-38. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2016.164
- 244. Smyth A, O'Donnell MJ, Yusuf S, et al. Sodium Intake and Renal Outcomes: A Systematic Review. Am J Hypertens. 2014;27(10):1277-1284. doi:10.1093/ajh/hpt294
- 245. Cirillo M, Bilancio G, Cavallo P, Palladino R, Terradura-Vagnarelli O, Laurenzi M. Sodium intake and kidney function in the general population: an observational, population-based study. *Clin Kidney J.* 2021;14(2):647-655. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfaa158
- 246. Borrelli S, Provenzano M, Gagliardi I, et al. Sodium Intake and Chronic Kidney Disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(13). doi:10.3390/ijms21134744
- 247. Rippe JM, Angelopoulos TJ. Relationship between Added Sugars Consumption and Chronic Disease Risk Factors: Current Understanding. *Nutrients*. 2016;8(11). doi:10.3390/nu8110697
- 248. Wong SK. A Review of Current Evidence on the Relationship between Phosphate Metabolism and Metabolic Syndrome. *Nutrients*. 2022;14(21). doi:10.3390/nu14214525
- Cronin P, Joyce SA, O'Toole PW, O'Connor EM. Dietary fibre modulates the gut microbiota. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(5):1-22. doi:10.3390/nu13051655
- 250. Suez J, Korem T, Zeevi D, et al. Artificial sweeteners induce glucose intolerance by

altering the gut microbiota. *Nature*. 2014;514(7521):181-186. doi:10.1038/nature13793

- 251. de Paula LCP, Alves C. Food packaging and endocrine disruptors. J Pediatr (Rio J).
 2023;100 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S40-S47. doi:10.1016/j.jped.2023.09.010
- Calero-Medina L, Jimenez-Casquet MJ, Heras-Gonzalez L, et al. Dietary exposure to endocrine disruptors in gut microbiota: A systematic review. *Sci Total Environ*.
 2023;886:163991. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.163991
- 253. Gálvez-Ontiveros Y, Páez S, Monteagudo C, Rivas A. Endocrine Disruptors in Food: Impact on Gut Microbiota and Metabolic Diseases. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(4). doi:10.3390/nu12041158
- 254. Liu Z, Lu Y, Zhong K, Wang C, Xu X. The associations between endocrine disrupting chemicals and markers of inflammation and immune responses: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* 2022;234:113382. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.113382
- 255. Yilmaz B, Terekeci H, Sandal S, Kelestimur F. Endocrine disrupting chemicals: exposure, effects on human health, mechanism of action, models for testing and strategies for prevention. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. 2020;21(1):127-147. doi:10.1007/s11154-019-09521-z
- 256. Zhang X, Flaws JA, Spinella MJ, Irudayaraj J. The Relationship between Typical Environmental Endocrine Disruptors and Kidney Disease. *Toxics*. 2023;11(1). doi:10.3390/toxics11010032
- 257. Mahmoodpoor F, Rahbar Saadat Y, Barzegari A, Ardalan M, Zununi Vahed S. The impact of gut microbiota on kidney function and pathogenesis. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 2017;93:412-419. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2017.06.066
- Wesson DE, Buysse JM, Bushinsky DA. Mechanisms of Metabolic Acidosis– Induced Kidney Injury in Chronic Kidney Disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2020;31(3):469-482. doi:10.1681/ASN.2019070677
- 259. Cabała S, Ożgo M, Herosimczyk A. The Kidney–Gut Axis as a Novel Target for Nutritional Intervention to Counteract Chronic Kidney Disease Progression. *Metabolites*. 2024;14(1). doi:10.3390/metabo14010078
- 260. Yang T, Richards EM, Pepine CJ, Raizada MK. The gut microbiota and the braingut-kidney axis in hypertension and chronic kidney disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* 2018;14(7):442-456. doi:10.1038/s41581-018-0018-2
- 261. Hills RD, Pontefract BA, Mishcon HR, Black CA, Sutton SC, Theberge CR. Gut Microbiome: Profound Implications for Diet and Disease. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(7). doi:10.3390/nu11071613



X. Appendices

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME Cristina Valle Hita UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME Cristina Valle Hita UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME Cristina Valle Hita

X. APPENDICES

1. Scientific contributions

Publications derived from the present work:

Valle-Hita C, Díaz-López A, Becerra-Tomás N, Martínez-González MA, García VR, Corella D, Goday A, Martínez JA, Alonso-Gómez ÁM, Wärnberg J, Vioque J, Romaguera D, López-Miranda J, Estruch R, Tinahones FJ, Lapetra J, Serra-Majem L, Cano-Ibáñez N, Tur JA, Rubín-García M, Pintó X, Delgado-Rodríguez M, Matía-Martín P, Vidal J, Fontao SM, Daimiel L, Ros E, Toledo E, Sorlí JV, Roca C, Abete I, Moreno-Rodriguez A, Crespo-Oliva E, Candela-García I, Morey M, Garcia-Rios A, Casas R, Fernandez-Garcia JC, Santos-Lozano JM, Diez-Espino J, Ortega-Azorín C, Comas M, Zulet MA, Sorto-Sanchez C, Ruiz-Canela M, Fitó M, Salas-Salvadó J, Babio N. *Prospective associations between a priori dietary patterns adherence and kidney function in an elderly Mediterranean population at high cardiovascular risk.* Eur J Nutr. 2022 Sep;61(6):3095-3108. doi: 10.1007/s00394-022-02838-7. Epub 2022 Apr 2. PMID: 35366708; PMCID: PMC9363380.

Valle-Hita C, Becerra-Tomás N, Díaz-López A, Vázquez-Ruiz Z, Megías I, Corella D, Goday A, Martínez JA, Alonso-Gómez ÁM, Wärnberg J, Vioque J, Romaguera D, López-Miranda J, Estruch R, Tinahones FJ, Lapetra J, Serra-Majem L, Bueno-Cavanillas A, Tur JA, Martín-Sánchez V, Pintó X, Gaforio JJ, Matía-Martín P, Vidal J, Amengual-Galbarte A, Daimiel L, Ros E, García-Arellano A, Barragán R, Fitó M, Peña-Orihuela PJ, Asencio-Aznar A, Gómez-Gracia E, Martinez-Urbistondo D, Morey M, Casas R, Garrido-Garrido EM, Tojal-Sierra L, Damas-Fuentes M, Goñi E, Ortega-Azorín C, Castañer O, Garcia-Rios A, Gisbert-Sellés C, Sayón-Orea C, Schröder H, Salas-Salvadó J, Babio N. *Longitudinal association of dietary acid load with kidney function decline in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome.* Front Nutr. 2022 Sep 30;9:986190. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.986190. PMID: 36245494; PMCID: PMC9563235.

Valle-Hita C, Díaz-López A, Becerra-Tomás N, Toledo E, Cornejo-Pareja I, Abete I, Sureda A, Bes-Rastrollo M, Martínez JA, Tinahones FJ, Tur JA, Garcidueñas-Fimbres TE, París-Pallejá F, Goday A, Goñi-Ruiz N, Salas-Salvadó J, Babio N. *Associations between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome.* Clin Nutr. 2023 Oct 2;42(12):2302-2310. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2023.09.028. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 37852024.

Other publications:

Valle-Hita C, Salas-Huetos A, Fernández de la Puente M, Martínez MÁ, Canudas S, Palau-Galindo A, Mestres C, Manzanares JM, Murphy MM, Marquès M, Salas-Salvadó J, Babio N. *Ultra-processed food consumption and semen quality parameters in the Led-Fertyl study.* Hum Reprod Open. 2024; 2024(1):hoae001. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoae001. PMID: 38283622; PMCID: PMC10813743.

Nishi SK, Khoury N, <u>Valle Hita C</u>, Zurbau A, Salas-Salvadó J, Babio N. *Vegetable and Fruit Intake Variety and Cardiovascular Health and Mortality: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies.* Nutrients. 2023 Nov 24;15(23):4913. doi: 10.3390/nu15234913. PMID: 38068771; PMCID: PMC10707746.

Indira Paz-Graniel, Nancy Babio, Stephanie K. Nishi, Miguel Ángel Martínez-González, Dolores Corella, Montserrat Fitó, Alfredo Martínez, Ángel M. Alonso-Gómez, Julia Wärnberg, Jesús Vioque, Dora Romaguera, José López-Miranda, Ramon Estruch, Francisco J. Tinahones, José Manuel Santos-Lozano, J. Luís Serra-Majem, Aurora Bueno-Cavanillas, Josep A. Tur, Vicente Martín Sánchez, Javier Pintó, Miguel Delgado-Rodríguez, Pilar Matía-Martín, Josep Vidal, Cristina Calderon-Sanchez, Lidia Daimiel, Emili Ros, Fernando Fernández-Aranda, Estefania Toledo, Cristina Valle-Hita, Jose V. Sorli, Camille Lassale, Antonio Garcia-Rios, Alejandro Oncina-Canovas, Francisco Javier Barón-López, M. Angeles Zulet, Elena Rayó, Rosa Casas, Esther Thomas-Carazo, Lucas Tojal-Sierra, Miguel Damas-Fuentes, Miguel Ruiz-Canela, Sara De las Heras-Delgado, Rebeca Fernandez-Carrión, Olga Castañer, Patricia J. Peña-Orihuela, Sandra Gonzalez-Palacios, Pilar Buil-Cosiales, Albert Goday, and Jordi Salas-Salvadó. How Did the COVID-19 Lockdown Pandemic Affect the Depression Symptomatology in Mediterranean Older Adults Metabolic Syndrome?. Depression Anxiety. 2023. with and doi: https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/6765950. Article ID 6765950.

Marti A, Fernández de la Puente M, Canudas S, Zalba G, Razquin C, <u>Valle-Hita C</u>, Fitó M, Martínez-González MÁ, García-Calzón S, Salas-Salvadó J. *Effect of a 3-year lifestyle intervention on telomere length in participants from PREDIMED-Plus: A randomized trial.* Clin Nutr. 2023 Sep;42(9):1581-1587. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2023.06.030. Epub 2023 Jul 10. PMID: 37478811.

García S, Pastor R, Monserrat-Mesquida M, Álvarez-Álvarez L, Rubín-García M, Martínez-González MÁ, Salas-Salvadó J, Corella D, Goday A, Martínez JA, Alonso-Gómez ÁM, Wärnberg J, Vioque J, Romaguera D, Lopez-Miranda J, Estruch R, Tinahones FJ, Lapetra J, Serra-Majem L, Riquelme-Gallego B, Pintó X, Gaforio JJ, Matía P, Vidal J, Vázquez C, Daimiel L, Ros E, Sayón-Orea C, Guillem-Saiz P, <u>Valle-Hita C</u>, Cabanes R, Abete I, Goicolea-Güemez L, Gómez-Gracia E, Tercero-Maciá C, Colom A, García-Ríos A, Castro-Barquero S, Fernández-García JC, Santos-Lozano JM, Cenoz JC, Barragán R, Khoury N, Castañer O, Zulet MÁ, Vaquero-Luna J, Bes-Rastrollo M, de Las Heras-Delgado S, Ciurana R, Martín-Sánchez V, Tur JA, Bouzas C. *Metabolic syndrome criteria and severity and carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions in an adult population.* Global Health. 2023 Jul 13;19(1):50. doi: 10.1186/s12992-023-00948-3. PMID: 37443076; PMCID: PMC10339536.

Fernández de la Puente M, Salas-Huetos A, <u>Valle-Hita C</u>, Babio N, Murphy MM, Canudas S, Salas-Salvadó J. *Is telomere length a biomarker of sperm quality? A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies.* Andrology. 2023 Jun 16. doi: 10.1111/andr.13482. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 37328426.

2. Participation in national and international conferences

Conference: PHD DAY - Institut d'Investigació Sanitària Pere Virgili, Universitat Rovira i Virgili. Reus, Spain. 22 June 2023.

Authors: <u>Valle-Hita C</u>, Díaz-López A, Becerra-Tomás N, Cornejo-Pareja I, Toledo E, Abete I, Sureda A, Bes-Rastrollo M, Alfredo Martínez J, Tinahones FJ, Tur JA, Garcidueñas-Fimbres T, París-Pallejá F, Goday A, Goñi-Ruiz N, Salas-Salvadó J and Babio N.

Title: Associations between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function in an elderly Mediterranean population with metabolic syndrome.

Format: Flash oral communication.

Conference: XXIX Congreso Nacional de Medicina General y de Familia y V Jornada SEMG Andalucía. Granada, Spain. 14-17 June 2023.

Authors: <u>Valle-Hita C</u>; Díaz López A; Becerra Tomás N; París Pallejá F; Salas Salvadó J; Babio N, PREDIMED-Plus investigators.

Title: Asociación entre el consumo de alimentos ultraprocesados y la función renal en una población mediterránea con síndrome metabólico.

Format: Oral communication.

Conference: Sessió Científica del CCNIEC 2023 ON ES DIRIGEIX LA RECERCA EN NUTRICIÓ? TENDÈNCIES I NECESSITATS DE LA SOCIETAT. Barcelona, Spain. 27 April 2023.

Authors: <u>Valle-Hita C</u>, Díaz-López A, Becerra-Tomás N, Cornejo-Pareja I, Toledo E, Abete I, Sureda A, Bes-Rastrollo M, Alfredo Martínez J, Tinahones FJ, Tur JA, Garcidueñas-Fimbres Tany E, Goday A, Goñi-Ruiz N, Salas-Salvadó J and Babio N.

Title: Associations between ultra-processed food consumption and kidney function in an elderly Mediterranean population with metabolic syndrome.

Format: Short oral communication.

Conference: 39th International Symposium on Diabetes and Nutrition. Athens, Greece. 16-19 June 2022.

Authors: <u>Valle-Hita C</u>; Becerra-Tomás N, Díaz-López A, Martínez-González MA, Megías I, Corella D, Fitó M, Martínez JA, Alonso-Gómez AM, Wärnberg J, Vioque J, Romaguera D, López-Miranda J, Estruch R, Tinahones FJ, Lapetra J, Serra-Majem L, Bueno-Cavanillas A, Tur JA, Martín Sánchez V, Pintó X, Delgado-Rodríguez M, Matía-Martín P, Vidal J, Vázquez C, Daimiel L, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J and Babio N

Title: Longitudinal association of Dietary Acid Load with Kidney Function Decline in an older adult population with metabolic syndrome

Format: Oral communication.

Conference: XII Symposium Ciber Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y Nutrición. Virtual Event. 26 – 28 October 2021.

Authors: <u>Valle-Hita C</u>, Díaz-López A, Becerra-Tomás N, Martínez-González MA, Martínez-Rodríguez MA, Corella D, Fitó M, Martínez JA, Alonso-Gómez AM, Wärnberg J, Vioque J, Romaguera D, López-Miranda J, Estruch R, Tinahones FJ,Lapetra J, Serra-Majem L Bueno-Cavanillas A, Tur JA, Martín Sánchez V, Pintó X, Delgado-Rodríguez M, Matía-Martín P, Vidal J, Vázquez C, Daimiel L, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J and Babio N.

Title: Prospective association of a priori dietary patterns and kidney function in the PREDIMED-plus study.

Format: e-Poster.

Conference: 38th International Symposium on Diabetes and Nutrition. Virtual Event. 21 – 24 June 2021.

Authors: <u>Valle-Hita C</u>, Díaz-López A, Becerra-Tomás N, Martínez-González MA, Martínez-Rodríguez MA, Corella D, Fitó M, Martínez JA, Alonso-Gómez AM, Wärnberg J,

Vioque J, Romaguera D, López-Miranda J, Estruch R, Tinahones FJ,Lapetra J, Serra-Majem L Bueno-Cavanillas A, Tur JA, Martín Sánchez V, Pintó X, Delgado-Rodríguez M, Matía-Martín P, Vidal J, Vázquez C, Daimiel L, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J and Babio N. **Title:** Prospective association of a priori dietary patterns and kidney function in the PREDIMED-plus study.

Format: e-Poster.

3. Mobility

Length: three months (September – December 2023).

Institution: Guasch group, Department of Public Health, Section of Epidemiology, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences at University of Copenhagen.

Supervisor: Dr. Marta Guasch.

Objective: To collaborate and participate in the confection of a scientific paper in the context of the Danish National Birth Cohort.

4. Food frequency questionnaire. PREDIMED-Plus Study

		Nodo	Paciente	1	licito	F	echa a	ctual		Nur	nero	
	ESTUDIO	14040	raciente	ТГ	ISILA	Día	Mes	s Año		670	JEC	
	PREDIMED									510	100	
	PLUS	00			00	0 (0			0 -
		1 1		D	DD	1	DOO	DDC	1) (D (1) (DDC	D
		22		2)	2	20	2	220	2) (2 2 0	220	2
	Frecuencia	33		3)	3	3 (3	3	3	3 3 (3 3 0	3)
	de consumo			4	4	0	4	4) (4)	4 4 (4) (4) (4)
	de alimentos	00			0							5
	de annientos				0	0						
	///	88		R	8	0						D
ma	arque así así no marque	99	99990	9	9	0	9 (9	9	9900	9 9 9	9
0			00000									
D	Po	or tavor, ma	rque una única o	pción	para ca	da alin	nento.					
de c	onsumo por término medio dura	aro que indi ante el año r	ica la frecuencia		CON	SUMO	MEDIO	DURAN	TE EL A	ÑO PAS	SADO	
_0	le tener en cuenta también la va	riación vera	no/invierno.	NUNCA	AL MES	AI	A SEMA	NA		41	DÍA	
OS 3	prejemplo, si toma helados 4 ve meses de verano, el consumo n	ces/semana romedio al a	solo durante	O CASI	1.2	1	2.4	E C	1	2.2	4.6	C .
1		,		NONGA	1-5		2-4	5-0		2-3	4-0	0+
1	Leche entera (1 taza, 200 co			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	Leone semidesnatada (1 ta:	200 oc)		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	Leche condensada (1 taza,	∠UU CC)		0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4 5	Nata o crema de leche (1/2	taza)		00	8	00	00	2	00	0	00	0
6	. Batidos de leche (1 vaso 20)0 cc)		0	2	00	00	0	00	00	00	00
7	. Yogurt entero (1, 125 gr.)			0	0	00	0	0	0	0	00	0
8	. Yogurt descremado (1, 125	gr.)		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
9	. Petit suisse (1, 55 gr.)	•		õ	ŏ	0		0	0	0	0	0
10	. Requesón o cuajada (1/2 ta:	za)		õ	Õ	0	0	0	0	õ	0	0
11	. Queso en porciones o cren	noso (1, po	rción 25 gr.)	0	Ō	Ō	0	Õ		ō	õ	õ
12	. Otros quesos: curados, ser	nicurados (Manchego,								-	
	Bola Emmental) (50 gr.)			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Doid, Emmontai											
13	B. Queso blanco o fresco (Bur	rgos, cabra) (50 gr.)	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc
13 14	. Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130	rgos, cabra cc)) (50 gr.)	0 0	00	0	0	00	00	00	00	0
13 14 15	 Bola, Erminitation, (60 gl.) Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) 	rgos, cabra cc)) (50 gr.)	000	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	000	0 0 0	0 0 0
13 14 15	9. Queso blanco o fresco (Bur 1. Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 1. Helados (1 cucurucho) 1. Un plato o ración de 100-150	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except) (50 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI	AL MES	0 0 0 A I	A SEMA	0 0 0 NA	000	AL	DÍA	0 0 0
13 14 15	 Desco blanco o fresco (Bur Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c 	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad) (50 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1 - 3	0 0 AL	A SEMA 2 - 4	0 0 NA 5 - 6	0	C	DÍA 4 - 6	6+
13 14 15	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natilas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) 	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad) (50 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	0 0 AL 1	A SEMA	NA 5 - 6	0 0 0	AL 2-3	DÍA 4 - 6	6+
13 14 15 16 17	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 rac 	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza)) (50 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	0 0 1 0	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5 - 6	0 0 0 1 0 0	AL 2-3	DÍA 4 - 6	6+
13 14 15 16 17 18	Coueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racio Control de 100 control	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza)) (50 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1 - 3	AL 0 0	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5 - 6	0 0 1 0 0 0	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	0 0 0 0 0
13 14 15 16 17 18 19	Cueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racio Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 racio Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ación)) (50 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	AL 0 0 0	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5 - 6	0 0 1 0 0 0	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	6+ 000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	Courso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cerdo (1 ración)	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ración)) (50 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	AL 1 0 0 0 0	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6	0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	6+ 000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21	Cueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración)	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza) ón o pieza) ración)) (50 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	AL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 0 0 0 0 0	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	6+ 00000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22	Cueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Conejo o liebre (1 ración) Hícado (ternera cardo en er	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza) ón o pieza) ración)) (50 gr.)		AL MES 1-3	AL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	A SEMA	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	6+ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23	Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Conejo o liebre (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, pollo Otras vícoarac (coroco	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza) ón o pieza) ración) D) (1 ración)) (50 gr.)		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 00000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 0000000	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25	Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Conejo o liebre (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, pollo Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz lamón serrano o paletillo (1	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza) ón o pieza) ración) o) (1 ración) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja) (50 gr.) o cuando 	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 0000000000	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26	Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Conejo o liebre (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, pollo Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York jamón corido d	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza) ón o pieza) ración) o) (1 ración) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 g) (50 gr.) o cuando 		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 0000000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 2-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	DÍA 4-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27	Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Carne de	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza) ón o pieza) ación) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30) (50 gr.) o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) 0 gr.) 0 morcilla		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 00000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 0000000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 2-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	DÍA 4-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27	Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Carne de	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza) ón o pieza) ación) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 g (1 loncha, 30 g (1 loncha, 30 g (1 loncha, 30 g (1 loncha, 30 g) (50 gr.) o cuando so cuando gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.)		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 00000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28	 Joueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Carnes y corderas (sesos, coraz Jamón York, jamón cocido (Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-oras (25 or) 	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza) ón o pieza) ación) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 g (1 loncha, 30 g nón, chorizi arra, sobras) (50 gr.) o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, sada) (50 gr.)		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 00000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 33 24 25 26 27 28 29	Source of the second seco	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad sión o pieza) ón o pieza) ación) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 g (1 loncha, 30 g inón, chorizi arra, sobras albóndigas) (50 gr.) o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, sada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades)		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 00000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	Source of the second seco	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ación) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 q (1 loncha, 33 q (1 loncha, 33 q ara, sobras albóndigas gr.)) (50 gr.) o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ;ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades)		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 00000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	 Jamón York, jamón cocido (1 ración) Cares o la cocido (1 ración) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra cocido (1 ración) Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ración) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 ración) Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50 	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ración) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 g (1 loncha, 30 g (1 loncha, 30 g (1 loncha, 30 g arra, sobras albóndigas gr.) yuado, bes) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, sada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza,		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Conejo o liebre (1 ración) Grans de cordero (1 ración) Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (1 Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50) Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescadilla, (1 plato, pieza o 	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ración) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 strain, sobras albóndigas gr.) yuado, bes ración)) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando gr.) o gr.) o gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, sada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza,		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32	 Loueso blanco o fresco (Bur 2. Queso blanco o fresco (Bur 2. Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130 3. Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c 3. Huevos de gallina (uno) 4. Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ració 5. Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració 6. Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r 6. Carne de cerdo (1 ración) 5. Conejo o liebre (1 ración) 6. Conejo o liebre (1 ración) 7. Carne de cordero (1 ración) 6. Conejo o liebre (1 ración) 7. Conejo o liebre (1 ración) 6. Carnes procesadas (salchief mortadela, salchichas, butífa 7. Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) 7. Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a 7. Tocino, bacon, panceta (50 7. Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescadilla, (1 plato, pieza o 7. Pescado azul: sardinas, atúr 	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ración) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha) g(1 lonc) (50 gr.) o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) 0 gr.) 0 gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 000000000 0000 0	AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 ración) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ración) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 ración) Conejo o liebre (1 ración) Cornejo o liebre (1 ración) Cornejo o liebre (1 ración) Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (Carnes procesadas (salchichmortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50) Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescadoilla, (1 plato, pieza o ración 130 gr.) 	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ración) o) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha) g(1 lonch) (50 gr.) o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racion) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 racion) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 ración) Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cerdor (1 ración) Conejo o liebre (1 ración) Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (1 carion) Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50 Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescado blanco: mero, leng pescado lanco: mero, leng pescado salados: bacalao, sala 	rgos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) nación) on, molleja loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha, 30) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón ón, 60 gr. en seco)		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racion) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 racion) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 ración) Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cerdor (1 ración) Conejo o liebre (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, polle Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz) Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50 Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescadilla, (1 plato, pieza o Pescados salados: bacalao, sala Ostras, almejas, mejillones y 	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ón o pieza) nación) ón, molleja loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 lo) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón ón, 60 gr. en seco). (6 unidades)		AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	
13 14 15 16 17 18 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racio) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 racio) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cordero (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, pollo Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50) Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescadilla, (1 plato, pieza o Pescados salados: bacalao, sala Ostras, almejas, mejillones y Calamares, pulpo, chipirones, 	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ón o pieza) nación) ón, molleja loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 loncha, 30 g(1 loncha, 30) g(1 lonch) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón ón, 60 gr. en seco). (6 unidades) (1 ración, 200 gr.)		ALMES 1-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	000 NA 5-6 00000000000 0000 0 0000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	
13 14 15 16 17 18 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racio) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 racio) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cordero (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, pollo Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50) Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescadilla, (1 plato, pieza o Pescados salados: bacalao, sala Ostras, almejas, mejillones y Calamares, pulpo, chipirones, Crustáceos: gambas, langos 	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ón o pieza) nación) ón, molleja loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 gr.) guado, bes ración) n, bonito, cc) zones (1 racia y similares jibia (sepia) stinos, ciga) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón ón, 60 gr. en seco). (6 unidades) (1 ración, 200 gr.). las, etc. (4-5		AL MES 1-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	NA 5-6 0000000000 0000 0 0000	1 0000000000 0000 0 0000	AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	
13 14 15 16 17 18 20 21 22 324 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racio) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Carne de cordero (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, pollo Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50) Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescadilla, (1 plato, pieza o Pescados salados: bacalao, sala Ostras, almejas, mejillones y Calamares, pulpo, chipirones, Crustáceos: gambas, langos piezas, 200 gr.) 	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ón o pieza) nación) ón, molleja loncha, 30 (1 loncha, 30 gr.) guado, bes ración) n, bonito, cc) zones (1 racia y similares jibia (sepia) stinos, ciga) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón ón, 60 gr. en seco). (6 unidades) (1 ración, 200 gr.) las, etc. (4-5		AL MES 1-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	NA 5-6 000000000 0000 0 0000 0		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 324 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Aueso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racio) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cerdo (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, pollo Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50) Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescadilla, (1 plato, pieza o Pescados salados: bacalao, sala Ostras, almejas, mejillones y Calamares, pulpo, chipirones, Crustáceos: gambas, langos piezas, 200 gr.) 	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ón o pieza) ón o pieza) cración) do) (1 ración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 (1 loncha,) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón ón, 60 gr. en seco) (6 unidades) (1 ración, 200 gr.) las, etc. (4-5 rdinas, anchoas,		AL MES 1-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	000 NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 32 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racio) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 ració) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cordero (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, pollo Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (1 Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50) Pescado blanco: mero, leng pescadilla, (1 plato, pieza o Pescados salados: bacalao, sala Ostras, almejas, mejillones y Calamares, pulpo, chipirones, Crustáceos: gambas, langos piezas, 200 gr.) Pescados y mariscos enlatados bonito, atún) (1 lata pequeña o mec 	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ón o pieza) finon o) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón ón, 60 gr. en seco) (6 unidades) (1 ración, 200 gr.) las, etc. (4-5 rdinas, anchoas, 50 gr.)		AL MES 1-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 1 0000000000000000000000000000000000	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	000 NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 32 4 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 4 35 36 37 38	 Dueso blanco o fresco (Bur Queso blanco o fresco (Bur Natillas, flan, puding (1, 130) Helados (1 cucurucho) Un plato o ración de 100-150 se indique otra c Huevos de gallina (uno) Pollo o pavo CON piel (1 racio) Pollo o pavo SIN piel (1 racio) Carne de ternera o vaca (1 r Carne de cordero (1 ración) Hígado (ternera, cerdo, pollo Otras vísceras (sesos, coraz Jamón serrano o paletilla (1 Jamón York, jamón cocido (1 Carnes procesadas (salchich mortadela, salchichas, butifa Patés, foie-gras (25 gr.) Hamburguesa (una, 50 gr.), a Tocino, bacon, panceta (50) Pescado salados: bacalao, sala Ostras, almejas, mejillones y Calamares, pulpo, chipirones, atúr (1 plato, pieza o ración 130 gr.) Crustáceos: gambas, langos piezas, 200 gr.) Pescados y mariscos enlatados bonito, atún) (1 lata pequeñao mec Pescados y mariscos en ace 	gos, cabra cc) gr., except antidad ción o pieza) ón o pieza) ón o pieza) ón o pieza) cración) ón, molleja loncha, 30 (1 loncha,) (50 gr.) o cuando o cuando s) (1 ración) gr.) o gr.) o, morcilla, ada) (50 gr.) (3 unidades) ugo, merluza, aballa, salmón ón, 60 gr. en seco). (6 unidades) (1 ración, 200 gr.). las, etc. (4-5 rdinas, anchoas, 50 gr.) s, anchoas,		AL MES 1-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 1 00000000000 0000 0 0000 0 0000 0 0 0	A SEMA 2-4 00000000000000000000000000000000000	000 NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	

© Departamento de Medicina Preventiva

UNIVERSIDAD DE NAVARRA

	Por favor, marque una única opción para cada alimento.		CON	SUMO	MEDIO	DURAN	TE EL A	ÑO PAS	SADO	
		NUNCA	AL MES	A	LA SEMA	NA		AL	DÍA	
U	n plato o ración de 200 grs., excepto cuando se indique	NUNCA	1 - 3	1	2 - 4	5 - 6	1	2 - 3	4 - 6	6 +
	39. Acelgas, espinacas	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	40. Col, coliflor, brócoles	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	41. Lechuga, endivias, escarola (100 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	42. Tomate crudo (1, 150 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	43. Zanahoria, calabaza (100 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
l	44. Judías verdes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	45. Berenjenas, calabacines, pepinos	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	46. Pimientos (150 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	47. Espárragos	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	48. Gazpacho andaluz (1 vaso, 200 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1	49. Otras verduras (alcachofa, puerro, cardo, apio)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1	50. Cebolla (media unidad, 50 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1	51. Ajo (1 diente)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	52. Perejil, tomillo, laurel, orégano, etc. (una pizca)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	53. Patatas fritas comerciales (1 bolsa, 50 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
	54. Patatas fritas caseras (1 ración, 150 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
	55. Patatas asadas o cocidas	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	56. Setas, níscalos, champiñones	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C

2

			CON	SUMO	MEDIO	DURAN	TE EL A	NO PASADO				
		NUNCA	AL MES	A	A SEMA	NA	AL DÍA					
	Una pieza o ración	NUNCA	1 - 3	1	2 - 4	5 - 6	1	2 - 3	4 - 6	6 +		
	57. Naranja (una), pomelo (uno), o mandarinas (dos)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	58. Plátano (uno)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	59. Manzana o pera (una)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	60. Fresas/fresones (6 unidades, 1 plato postre)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	61. Cerezas, picotas, ciruelas (1 plato de postre)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	62. Melocotón, albaricoque, nectarina (una pieza)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	63. Sandía (1 tajada, 200-250 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\odot	0		
	64. Melón (1 tajada, 200-250 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
2	65. Kiwi (1 unidad, 100 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	66. Uvas (un racimo, 1 plato postre)	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0		
2	67. Aceitunas (10 unidades)	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0		
	68. Frutas en almíbar o en su jugo (2 unidades)	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	0		
	69. Dátiles, higos secos, uvas-pasas, ciruelas-pasas (50 gr.)	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0		
	70. Almendras (30 gr.)	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0		
	71. Pistachos (30 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			
	72. Nueces (30 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	73. Otros frutos secos (30 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
1	74 . : Cuéntes días a la samana toma fruita sama postra?		00	10	20	30	40	50	60	70		

		CON	SUMO	MEDIO	DURAN	TE EL A	EL AÑO PASADO					
10 mm mm m m m	NUNCA	AL MES	A	A SEMA	NA		AL	DÍA				
Un plato o ración	NUNCA	1 - 3	1	2 - 4	5 - 6	1	2 - 3	4 - 6				
75. Lentejas (1 plato, 150 gr. cocidas)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
76. Alubias (pintas, blancas o negras) (1 plato, 150 gr. cocidas)	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0				
77. Garbanzos (1 plato, 150 gr. cocidos)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
78. Guisantes, habas (1 plato, 150 gr. cocidas)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
79. Pan blanco, pan de molde (3 rodajas, 75 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
🗳 80. Pan negro o integral (3 rodajas, 75 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
81. Cereales desayuno (30 gr.)	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
82. Cereales integrales: muesli, copos avena, all-bran (30 gr.).	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	0	0				
83. Arroz blanco (60 gr. en crudo)	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0				
84. Arroz integral (60 gr. en crudo)	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	0				
85. Pasta: fideos, macarrones, espaguetis, otras (60 gr. en crudo)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
86. Pasta integral (60 gr. en crudo)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
87. Pizza (1 ración, 200 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1			

n Departamento de Medicina Preventiva

UNIVERSIDAD DE NAVARRA

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI DIETARY FACTORS AND KIDNEY FUNCTION: INSIGHTS FROM A POPULATION OF OLDER MEDITERRANEAN ADULTS WITH OVERWEIGHT OR OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME Cristina Valle Hita

marque asi	as. 0	í no marqu	Je €		Repita	el núm y v	nero de la uelva a r	a 1ª hoja narcarlo	20			0 D - 2 3
		CONS	SUMO ME	DIO DUI	RANTE	ELAÑO	PASAD	0		4 4 (4 4 0	4
Con que frecuencia consume?	NUNCA O CASI	AL MES	A LA S	SEMANA			AL DÍA			5 5 (6 6 (5
	NUNCA	1-3	1 2	-4 5	- 6	1 2	2-3 4	-6 6	+		DOC	D
88. Alimentos fritos en casa 89. Alimentos fritos fuera de casa	00	000	00	000			000			880 990	8 8 (9 9 (8 9
Por favor, marque una única opción r	oara ca	da alim	ento.		CON	SUMO	MEDIO	DURAN	TEEL		ADO	
Jna cucharada o porción individua	al. Para	a freír, utiliza e	untar, en total:	NUNCA O CASI	AL MES	A	LA SEMA			AL	DÍA	
		1	in total.	NUNCA	1-3	1	2-4	5 - 6	1	2-3	4 - 6	6+
91. Aceite de oliva virgen luna cucharada	sopera	sopera	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0
92. Aceite de oliva de oruio (una c	uchara	da sone	ara)	10	0	2	0	0	0	00	0	0
93. Aceite de maíz (una cucharada	sopera)			0	0	00	0	0	12	2	0
94. Aceite de girasol (una cucharac	da sope	era)		l õ	0	õ	0	õ	0	0	0	õ
95. Aceite de soja (una cucharada	sopera)			0	õ	0	0	0	õ	0	0	0
96. Mezcla de los anteriores (una	cuchara	da sope	era)	0	0	O	O	0	0	0	0	0
97. Margarina (porción individual, 12	gr.)			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
98. Mantequilla (porción individual,	12 gr.)			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
99. Manteca de cerdo (10 gr.)				0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
100. Marca de aceite de oliva que u	usa ha	bitualm	ente:				23(23(4 (5 (4 (5 (89 89	No ma aq	arque uí
CONCUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL		SADO		NUNCA	AL MES	A	LA SEMA	NA		AL	DÍA	
CONSOMO MEDIO DORANTE EL	ANO PA	SADU		NUNCA	1 - 3	1	2-4	5 - 6	1	2 - 3	4 - 6	6 +
01. Galletas tipo María (4-6 unidades	s, 50 gr	.)		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
02. Galletas integrales o de fibra (4	4-6 unic	lades, 5	0 gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
03. Galletas con chocolate (4 unida	des, 50) gr.)		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
04. Repostería y bizcochos hecho	s en ca	asa (50	gr.)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
05. Croissant, ensaimada, pastas o	de té u	otra bo	ollería									
industrial comercial (uno, 50	gr.)			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
07. Magdalanaa (1.0 midadat				0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
08 Pasteles (upp 50 ms)				0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
vo. rasteles (uno, su gr.)				0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
09 Churros norras y similares /1 m	ación	100 ar \		0	6			0	-	1		0
09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r	ación, ' ,)	100 gr.)		00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
 Churros, porras y similares (1 r. 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polyo-cacaos solubles) 	ación, * r.) (1 cuch	100 gr.) harada d	e postre)	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	0
09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.)	ación, * r.) (1 cucł	100 gr.) harada d	e postre)	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	000
09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.)	ación, ⁻ r.) (1 cucł	100 gr.) harada d	e postre)	00000	00000	00000	00000	00000	00000	00000	0000	0000
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 	ación, ² r.) (1 cucł	100 gr.) harada d SADO	e postre)	NUNCA 0 CASI	AL MES	0000	LA SEMA	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	00000	0 0 0 0	DÍA	0000
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 	ación, ² (1 cucł AÑO PAS	100 gr.) harada d SADO	e postre)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1 - 3	0 0 0 0 0 0	LA SEMA 2-4	UNA 5 - 6	1	AL	DÍA 4-6	6+
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 	ación, (1 cuch AÑO PAS	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una	e postre)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3		LA SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6	1 0	AL	DÍA 4 - 6	6+
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 	ación, r.) (1 cuch AÑO PA: cocinad lato)	100 gr.) narada d SADO OS (una	e postre)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	LA SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6	0 0 0 0 1	AL	DÍA	6+
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 	ación, r.) (1 cuch AÑO PAS cocinad lato) stre)	100 gr.) narada d SADO OS (una	e postre)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	0 0 0 0 A 1 0 0 0	LA SEMA 2-4	INA 5-6	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	6+ 0000
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 	ANO PAS ANO PAS Cocinad lato) stre) ada sol	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una pera = 2	e postre) ración) 20 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	A 1 0000	LA SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	6+ 0000
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Distante de tomate frito, ketchup 	AÑO PA: AÑO PA: cocinad lato) stre) ada sop (1 cuc	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una pera = 2 haradita	e postre) ración) '0 gr.)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	0000 A 1 00000	LA SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6	1 0000	AL 2-3	DÍA 4-6	6+ 0000
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Picante: tabasco, pimienta, pir 20. Sol (una cucharadita) 	AÑO PA: AÑO PA: cocinad lato) stre) ada sop (1 cuc mentól	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una pera = 2 haradita n (una p	e postre) ración) '0 gr.) .) jizca)	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3	A 1 00000	LA SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 00000	AL 2-3 0 0 0 0	DÍA 4-6	6+ 0000000
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Picante: tabasco, pimienta, pir 20. Sal (una pizca) 	ANO PAS ANO PAS Cocinad lato) stre) ada soj (1 cuc mentó	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una boera = 2 haradita n (una p	e postre) ración) ?0 gr.) .) .ij.	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0000 A 1 000000	LA SEMA 2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 000000	AL 2-3 0 0 0 0 0 0	DÍA 4-6	6+
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.). CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE EL A 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Picante: tabasco, pimienta, pir 20. Sal (una pica) 21. Mermeladas (1 cucharadita) 	ANO PAS ANO PAS Cocinad lato) stre) ada soj (1 cuc mentó	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una boera = 2 haradita n (una p	e postre) ración) 20 gr.) .) .ij.	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0000 A 1 0000000	LA SEMA 2-4	5-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	1 000000	AL 2-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	DÍA 4-6	6+
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 g 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE ELA 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Picante: tabasco, pimienta, pir 20. Sal (una pizca) 21. Mermeladas (1 cucharadita) 22. Azúcar (1 cucharadita) 	ación, r.) (1 cuch año PA: cocinad lato) stre) ada soj (1 cuc mentór	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una boera = 2 haradita n (una p	e postre) ración) 20 gr.) .) 	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	20000 A 1 000000000000000000000000000000	2-4	5-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	1 0000000	AL 2-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	DÍA 4-6	6+
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gi 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE ELA 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Picante: tabasco, pimienta, pir 20. Sal (una pizca) 21. Mermeladas (1 cucharadita) 22. Azúcar (1 cucharadita) 23. Miel (1 cucharadita) 	ANO PAS ANO PAS Cocinad lato) stre) ada soj (1 cuc mentó)	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una bera = 2 haradita n (una p	e postre) ración) 20 gr.) .) .) 	NUNCA O CASI NUNCA	AL MES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	A 1 00000000000000000000000000000000000	2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 00000000	AL 2-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	DÍA 4-6	6+
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gi 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE ELA 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Picante: tabasco, pimienta, pir 20. Sal (una pizca) 21. Mermeladas (1 cucharadita) 22. Azúcar (1 cucharadita) 23. Miel (1 cucharadita) 24. Snacks distintos de patatas frito palomitas maíz eto (1 balca) 	ANO PAS ANO PAS cocinad lato) stre) ada soj (1 cuc mentó) tas: gu	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una poera = 2 haradita n (una p sanitos	e postre) ración) 20 gr.) .) .) .) .) .) .,		ALMES 1-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	1 000000000 (2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6	6+ 000000000 (
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gi 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE ELA 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Picante: tabasco, pimienta, pir 20. Sal (una pizca) 21. Mermeladas (1 cucharadita) 22. Azúcar (1 cucharadita) 23. Miel (1 cucharadita) 24. Snacks distintos de patatas fritipalomitas, maíz, etc. (1 bolsa, 5 25. Otros alimentos de frecuente 	ANO PAS ANO PAS Cocinad lato) stre) ada soj (1 cuc mentó) tas: gu 50 gr.)	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una poera = 2 haradita n (una p sanitos mo:	e postre) ración) 20 gr.) .) .) .) .) .) .,		ALMES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	A 1 00000000000000000000000000000000000	2-4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	NA 5-6	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6	6+ 000000000000000000000000000000000000
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE ELA 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Picante: tabasco, pimienta, pir 20. Sal (una pizca) 21. Mermeladas (1 cucharadita) 22. Azúcar (1 cucharadita) 23. Miel (1 cucharadita) 24. Snacks distintos de patatas fritipalomitas, maíz, etc. (1 bolsa, 5 25. Otros alimentos de frecuente 25.1 	ación, fr.) (1 cuch año PA: cocinad lato) stre) ada soj (1 cuc mentó) (1 cuc mentó) tas: gu 50 gr.) consu	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una opera = 2 haradita n (una p sanitos mo:	e postre) ración) 20 gr.) .) .) .) .) .) .,		ALMES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	A 1 0 0000000000000000000000000000000	2-4	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 00000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000 0 0
 09. Churros, porras y similares (1 r 10. Chocolates y bombones (30 gr 11. Cacao en polvo-cacaos solubles 12. Turrón (1/8 de barra, 40 gr.) 13. Mantecados, mazapán (90 gr.) CONSUMO MEDIO DURANTE ELA 14. Croquetas, empanadillas, prec 15. Sopas y cremas de sobre (1 p 16. Mostaza (una cucharadita de po 17. Mayonesa comercial (1 cuchar 18. Salsa de tomate frito, ketchup 19. Picante: tabasco, pimienta, pir 20. Sal (una pizca) 21. Mermeladas (1 cucharadita) 22. Azúcar (1 cucharadita) 23. Miel (1 cucharadita) 24. Snacks distintos de patatas frit palomitas, maíz, etc. (1 bolsa, 5 25. Otros alimentos de frecuente 25.1 	ación, r.) (1 cuch año PA: cocinad lato) stre) ada soj (1 cuc mentó) (1 cuc tas: gu 50 gr.) consu	100 gr.) harada d SADO OS (una poera = 2 haradita n (una p sanitos mo:	e postre) ración) 20 gr.) .) .) .) .) .) .,		ALMES 1-3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	A 1 0 0000000000000000000000000000000	2-4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	NA 5-6 00000000000000000000000000000000000		AL 2-3 000000000000000000000000000000000000	DÍA 4-6 000000000000000000000000000000000000	6+ 000000000 0 00

© Departamento de Medicina Preventiva UNIVERSIDAD DE NAVARRA

Por favo										
Por fave		NUNCA	CON	SUMO		DURAN	IEELA	NO PAS	ADO	_
	or, marque una única opción para cada alimento.	O CASI	AL IVIES	1	2 - 4	5-6	1	2.3	4-6	6.
126	Behidas carbonatadas con aziúcar: bobidas con colo	nonon								
120.	limonadas tánicas etc. (1 batellín 200 co)	0			0					
127	Behidas carbonatadas baias on calorías, behidas	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
127.	light (1 hetellie, 200 ee)	-			-					
100	Tumo do pompio poturol /1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
120.	Zumo de haranja hatural (1 vaso, 200 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
129.	Zumos naturales de otras frutas (1 vaso, 200 cc)	0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
130.	Zumos de frutas en botella o enlatados (200 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
131.	Caté descateinado (1 taza, 50 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
132.	. Café (1 taza, 50 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
133.	. Té (1 taza, 50 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
134.	Mosto (100 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
135.	Vaso de vino rosado (100 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
136.	Vaso de vino moscatel (50 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
o 137.	Vaso de vino tinto joven, del año (100 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
\$ 138.	Vaso de vino tinto añeio (100 cc)	0	0	õ	0	0	0	0	0	
<u>.</u> 139.	Vaso de vino blanco (100 cc)	õ	õ	0	0	0	õ	0	0	1
··· 140.	Vaso de cava (100 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	õ	0	0	
× 141	Cerveza (1 jarra 330 cc)	0		0	0	0	0	0	0	
142	Licores anís o anisetes (1 cona 50 cc)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
1/12	Destiledos: whichy vodka ginghra coñac (1 cons 50 cd)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
144.	¿A que edad empezó a beber alcohol (vino, cerveza o l regularidad (más de siete "bebidas" a la semana)?	icores)	, incluy	endo e	l que t	oma co	on las d	comida	s con	
	Edad (años) 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Unidad									
145.	¿Cuántos años ha bebido alcohol con regularidad (má	s de si	ete "be	ebidas	" a la s	emana	a)?			
	0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Decena									
	Image: Allos Image: Organization of the second									

4

125. Otros alimentos de frecuente consumo (continuación)

140							,				140			1								140	. 2									
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9		0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9		0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	(8)	0
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9		0	1	2	3	4	5	6	0	(8)	9		0	1	2	3	4	5	6	D	(8)	0

Muchas gracias por su colaboración

© Departamento de Medicina Preventiva UNIVERSIDAD DE NAVARRA